# Nation-building in Malaysia 1946–1974

James P. Ongkili

Singapore Oxford University Press Oxford New York 1985 Oxford University Press Oxford Lendon New Yerk Toronto Kuala Lumpur Singapore Hong Kong Tokyo Delhi Bombay Calcuta Madrus Kenechi Nairobi Der et Salaam Capte Town Melbourne Auckland

and associates in Beirut Berlin Ibadan Mexico City Nicosia © Oxford University Press 1985

OXFORD is a trademark of Oxford University Press

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or ransmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, polsocopping, recording or otherwise, without the prior permission of Oxford University Press

ISBN 0 19 582574 8



Printed in Singapore by Koon Wah Printing Pte. Ltd. Published by Oxford University Press 10, New Industrial Road, Singapore 1953.

# 370352

# 2 O ALIG 1985

Perpustakaan Negaraj Malaysia

# Preface

This book is a thematic study, an examination of the process of political evolution which gave birth first to Malaya and then to Malayia and the major problem that had to be faced by those directly involved in guiding the destiny of the country, namely, communalism. Malayia might not have gone through a phase of violent struggle to achieve independence but the way to nationod was nonetheless thorny because of the plural nature of the society.

Undoubtedly, communalism was the fundamental problem of nation-building in Malaysia during the period under study. Communal groups, such as the various political parties, ranging from the UMNO-MCA-MIC Alliance, the PAP, the PMIP, to the 'SUPP, BARJASA, UYKO, USNO and others, sought representation during the period of nation-building from the Malayan Union of 1946 to the formation of Malaysia in 1963. Every major effort to establish a nation highlighted communalism in the country; but the same problem of communalism also determined at length the nature of politics and political system which the Malaysians adopted.

It is pertinent to mention here that what is attempted is a broad historical view of the efforts made by the Malayan/Malayaian leadership to weld together disparate parts so that there would emerge a general sense of national consciousness. It is not a study of the psychological and sociological aspect of communalism. Malaysis's peculiar communal problems have been studied by many scholars belonging to various disciplines. Very few indeed have been inclined to look at the problem from the perspective of those who have been entrusted with the serious responsibility of running the government of the country.

Although at the time when I first began this academic study my own experience was limited to that of a former civil servant, I was subsequently placed in a situation where I had first-hand experience of the kind of problems which the Malayan/Malayaian leadership had to grapple with in dealing with a very heterogeneous society. If there is an easy

#### PREFACE

solution to the very acute problem of communalism, I am certain it would have been adopted a long time ago.

The sources used here have been as varied as possible. In addition to published official and unofficial documents, I have been fortunate in being able to interview and have discussions with Malaysian, Singaporean and British leaders and personalities who played significant roles in the events of the period under study.

I would like to record my appreciation and deep gratitude to the numerous individuals and institutions that have helped me in the course of preparing this work which was originally written as a Ph.J. dissertation. Among these must be mentioned Professor S. Arasaramam who initially supervised the research. As the second and greatly involved therevisor, Royal Professor Ungku A. Azir, sucrificed a lot of his busy time as Vice-Chancellor to the benefit of the present writter. Among many other academics who gave the benefit of their varied and valuable viewpoints on the issues and problems of nation-building in Malaysia were Professors K. J. Ratam, Wang Gungwu, Khoo Kay Kim, J. M. Chandran, Zamal Abidim bin Abdul Wahid, (the late) Wong Lin Ken, Nicholas Tarling and Damador Prasad Singhal.

Through the assistance of the University of Malaya, I was able to go to Britain to consult records on Malaya, Sarawak and Sabah, particularly at the Public Record Office and the State Papers Room of the British Museum. Professor C. D. Cowan of the School of Oriental and African Studies helped greatly with suggestions as to where to locate various research materials in London.

In Malaysia itself, the Arkib Negara (National Archives) proved helpful and useful. Both the Sarawak Museum and Archives and the Sabah Central Archives assuted me in obtaining sources which helped to fill in gaps in the histories of the two Borneo states. The staffs of these institutions were very obliging indeed.

Had it not been for the fourteen months which I was invited to spend at the Institute of Southeast Asian Studies, Singapore, the dissertation would not have been completed so soon. The Director, Professor Kernial Singh Sandhu, and his staff were immensely helpful, while Peggy Lee Giok Huay, Celina Heng Sang Noi and Ong Beng Thye patiently typed the dissertation.

JAMES P. ONGKILI

Department of History University of Malaya Kuala Lumpur 1982

# Contents

	Preface	v
	Tables	ix
	Abbreviations	x
I	Background	1
	Malay Society	1
	The Indigenous Society of Sarawak and Sabah	3
	The Growth of Immigrant Communities	5
	The Development of Foreign Administration	8
	Political Activity in Malaya prior to 1941	17
	The Impact of the Japanese Occupation	19
2	The Unification of the Malay Peninsula, 1946-1948	38
	The MacMichael Mission	38
	The Malayan Union Proposals	40
	Malay Reactions	42
	The Federation of 1948	53
	Opposition to the Federation Proposals	59
	Overview	67
3	In Quest of Racial Unity	75
	The Emergency and Race Relations	75
	Constitutional Developments during the Emergency	88
	The Growth of Party Politics	91
	The 1955 Elections: the Dawn of Nationhood	94
4	A Nation is Born	105
	Education and Language	105
	Citizenship	112
	The Alliance and the Achievement of Independence	114
	Economic Planning and Rural Poverty	122

	The Socio-economic and Political Bargain and Communal Harmony		126
			120
5	From Malaya to Malaysia		137
	Political-Constitutional Developments in Sarawak and Sabah, 1946-1961		
	Bornean Federation		137
	The Rationale for Malaysia		149
	Malaya-Singapore Merger		151
	Northern Borneo and Malaysia		154
	Bennai and Malaysia		101
	Brunei and Malaysia		170
6	The Challenges to the Malaysian Concept		181
•	'Malaysian Malaysia' and the Singapore Separation		181
	Bornean Reactions to the Separation		187
	The Anatomy of Separation	1.44	190
	Political Trends, 1965-1969		193
	The 1969 Elections and 13 May		199
			199
7	The 'Bargain' and the New Economic Policy		215
	The 'Bargain' in Retrospect		216
	The NEP and Nation-building		223
	Epilogue		231
	Bibliography		
	Index		234
	ITHEA		267

CONTENTS

viii

# Tables

1	Racial Composition of Malaya and Singapore	153
2	Racial Composition of Malaya, Singapore and the Borneo Territories (Sarawak, Brunei and Sabah)	154
3	Parliamentary Election Results	202
4	State Election Results	202
5	Expenditure on Rural Development, Second Malayan Five Year Plan, 1961-1965	217
6	Expenditure on Agricultural Development, First Malaysia Plan, 1966-1970	218
7	Figures Relating to Division One Government Officers by Racial Groups, as on 1 November 1968	221

# Abbreviations

AJPH	Australian Journal of Politics and History
AMCJA	All-Malaya Council of Joint Action
API	Angkatan Pemuda Insaf
BARJASA	Barisan Raayat Jati Sarawak
BMA	British Military Administration
CCO	Clandestine Communist Organization
CCP	Chinese Communist Party
CEC	Central Executive Committee
CIAM	Central Indian Association of Malava
CLC	Communities Liaison Committee
CMC	Central Military Committee
Cominform	Communist Information (Bureau)
Comintern	Communist International
CPA	Commonwealth Parliamentary Association
DAP	Democratic Action Party
DAS	Dayak Association of Sarawak
FAMA	Federal Agricultural Marketing Authority
FAS	The Facts About Sarawak (book, q.v.)
FELCRA	Federal Land Consolidation and Rehabilitation Authority
FELDA	Federal Land Development Authority
FIDA	Federal Industrial Development Authority (now known as Malaysian Industrial Development Authority)
FIMA	Federal Industrial Marketing Authority
FMS	Federated Malay States
FOA	Farmers' Organization Authority
FRU	Federal Reserve Unit
GLU	General Labour Union
HMSO	His/Her Majesty's Stationery Office
IBRD	International Bank for Reconstruction and Development

#### ABBREVIATIONS

IGC	Inter-Governmental Committee
IIL	Indian Independence League
IMP	Independence of Malaya Party
INA	Indian National Army
ISEAS	Institute of Southeast Asian Studies
JEBAT	Journal of the Historical Society, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia
JHSUM	Journal of the Historical Society, University of Malaya
JMBRAS	Journal of the Malayan Branch, Royal Asiatic Society
JSBRAS	Journal of the Straits Branch, Royal Asiatic Society
JSEAH	Journal of Southeast Asian History
JSEAS	Journal of Southeast Asian Studies
JSSS	Journal of the South Seas Society
KMM	Kesatuan Melayu Muda
KMS	Kesatuan Melayu Singapura
KMT	Kuomintang
KRIS	Kesatuan Raayat Indonesia Semenanjong
LPN	Lembaga Padi dan Beras Negara
MARA	Majlis Amanah Ra'ayat
MARDI	Malaysian Agricultural Research and Development Institute
MCA	Malayan Chinese Association
MCP	Malayan Communist Party
MDU	Malayan Democratic Union
MIC	Malayan Indian Congress
MIDF	Malaysian Industrial Development Finance
MNP	Malay Nationalist Party
MNUS	Malay National Union of Sarawak
MPABA	Malayan People's Anti-British Army
MPAJA	Malayan People's Anti-Japanese Army
MPU	Malayan Planning Unit
MRLA	Malayan Races Liberation Army
MSC	Malaysian Solidarity Convention
MSCC	Malaysia Solidarity Consultative Committee
NAP	National Association of Perak
NCC	National Consultative Council
NEP	New Economic Policy
NOC	National Operations Council
PANAS	Party Negara Sarawak

XII	ABBREVIATIONS
PAP	People's Action Party
PBDS	Parti Bangsa Dayak Sarawak
PERNAS	Pertubuhan Nasional
PETA	Pembela Tanah Air
PKMM	Partai Kebangsaan Melayu Malaya
PMCJA	Pan-Malayan Council of Joint Action
PMFTU	Pan-Malayan Federation of Trade Unions
PMIP	Pan-Malayan Islamic Party
PPP	People's Progressive Party (before 1956 called Perak Progressive Party)
PUTERA	Pusat Tenaga Raayat
RIDA	Rural Industrial Development Authority
RISDA	Rubber Industry Smallholders' Development Authority
SAYA	Sarawak Advanced Youths' Association
SCA	Sabah Chinese Association
SCA	Sarawak Chinese Association
SCBA	Straits Chinese British Association
SEAC	South-East Asia Command
SEDC	State Economic Development Corporation
SFTU	Singapore Federation of Trade Unions
SITC	Sultan Idris Training College
SMR	Standard Malaysian Rubber
SNAP	Sarawak National Party
STS	Special Training School
SUPP	Sarawak United People's Party
TCLP	Tan Cheng Lock Papers
UDA	Urban Development Authority
UDP	United Democratic Party
UMNO	United Malays National Organization
UNKO	United National Kadazan Organization
UPKO	United Pasok Momogun Kadazan Organization
USNO	United Sabah National Organization
YMAS	Young Malay Association of Sarawak

ABBR EVIATIONS

XII

# Background

Ist order to be able to examine the course of nation-building and the problem of communalism in Malaysa properly it is important, first and foremost, to understand the background of the people who make up Malaysian society. That society was of multiracial origin and each ethnic group had is distinctive place and predilection before the Second World War. Indeed by 1946 it was this multiracial background which dictated the nature and course of the political development that began the process of nation-building in Malaysia.

## Malay Society

The Malays were the first politically-organized indigenous people of the Peninsula in that the earliest political states were founded by them. It has been aptly remarked that:

The Malays owed allegiance territorially to their sultans. Culturally their allegiance was to lakam, and most specifically to the maritime branch of it opexing Malayain languages and having a common tradition of culture, trade and intermarriage among the royal families, extending along the coasts of Malaya, Sumatra and Borneo and parts of Java and other inland; it

Migration from ialand South-East Asia to the Peninsula was a common phenomenon in the days before Britain and Holland introduced some measure of control in the twentieth century. The rise of the Malacca Sultanate led to migration from Sumatra to the Peninsula. The process of migration continued throughout the succeeding centuries. Most of the Malay migrants from the neighbouring ialands were easily absorbed or sainmilated into the existing Malay population of the Peninsula. No doubt this was facilitated by their cultural similarities. Their Inguistic and religious affinities in particular fostered cultural adaptation and the process was accentuated from the ninettenth century onwards as their common rural pattern of life contrasted more and more with that of the non-Malay immigrants.

The traditional sultanates were often riverine centres which were largely self-sufficient and isolated from their neighbours. Indeed it was often only in times of war or disputes about succession that one sultanate had much to do with another.<sup>2</sup> It was this self-sufficiency and the compact nature of the sultanates which to some extent engendered a spirit of contentedness among many Malays until recently. Most Malays lived a simple kampong life. Despite the lush primeval jungle which always threatened to mvade their kampongs, these indigenous people were blessed by Nature with a climate and habitat which readily produced food and other baic necessities of life. It was this ease with which life could be tolerably sustained that gave not only the Malays but also the Dayaks, Melanaus, Kadazans, Bajaus and other indigenous communities lime for leaver as well as hard work.<sup>3</sup>

It is to be noted that the use of leiuure was often misunderstood or purposefully characterized as laziness by some members of the ruling Brish group and the non-Malay communities. This accussion became more pronounced in the increasingly competitive world of tin and tubber exploitation in the twentieth century so that the Malays and other indigenous communities were branded as unreliable, erratic workers; they supposedly looked upon wage-earning often as a merely temporary means of occupying themselves, especially if they were farmers who usually preferred to return to their kampongs for their more permanent occupations. In point of fact, there were hundreds of thousands of Malays who proved their diligence by staying steadfatdy and faithfully in their jobs and spending longer hours than others as civil servants, teachers,

It is interesting to note the words of a Malay who claimed to be the first to analyse the psychology of his own race; he wrote in 1928:

of their failings and weaknesses, the worse that has been said against them is that hey are lary and improvident. Even in these, one is tempted to refute the charge, since those that have made this observation had probably formed their opinion from the minentry who live in towns and work generally a servants to Europeans and others. But these Malays are as a rule the degenerate examples of the race who are superfield by the glare of the luxunous life of eviluation and are easily visitimised by the temptations that abound in towns. The majority that live in the country scape the notice of the ordinary European observer, and though they and balc solities as compared to other races, it cannot be doubted that they work sufficiently hard on their unall holdings to enable them to get all their wants which, as country Reopel are naturally few and limited.<sup>4</sup>

The use of non-indigenous labour in the years of the expansion of the tin and rubber industries was often prompted by very simple practical considerations. In the case of the tin industry, it has been said that:

Except for the work of clearing the forests and bunkes on the land, which was given to the Malays or the Sakati who were more dexterous in the use of the parage, all the work in the mines was done by the Chinse: Difference in tace, religion, temperament, languages, customs, and mining supersitions, obvious conomic self-interest, and the social requirements of living together in a mine precluded Chines: employers from employing non-Chinse: labourers.\*

As a result even Indian labour, cheaper than Chinese labour, was not considered for the mining industry.

In the case of rubber the position of indigenous labour has been explained in the following manner:

The use of local people for regular tasks on the rubber estates was mainly confined to the states of Johore, Kedah and Kehntan, here fewer immigrant workers were available. Elsewhere Malays were employed chiefly for the clearing of land under contract, for their seasonal preoccupation with activities on their own farms usually made them unuitable as members of a regular labour force. By 1917 the total number of mdigenous Malay workers on estates in the Peninsula is likely to have reached around 20,000 including the estimated \$,500 in the FMS.... The doop in numbers thereafter probably coincided both with workening economic conditions and with the coming to maturity of rubber trees planted on the worker' own holdings.<sup>2</sup>

Certainly the conditions under which, at least in the early years of the industries, the labourers lived, uprooted from normal family life and practically frended in with limited physical mobility, could hardly attract the indigenous population who, even if they were poor, were not contractually ited to anyone and therefore not forced to work to a rigid timetable. Drastic and intolerable socio-economic conditions in China and India compelled large numbers of people to emigrate from time to time, hoping to improve their lot before returning to their homeland. Similar conditions did not exist in Malaya to induce the Malays to abandon their existing occupations. Landlessness was not a problem for the Malays in the nineteenth century: increasingly, it becames on the twentieth century which has therefore witnessed a gradual drift of Malay population to the urban areas.

### The Indigenous Society of Sarawak and Sabah

While Melaka was the focus of the Malay world in the Malay Peninsula, Brunci emerged as a similar focus further to the east of the Straits of Melaka. Both Sarawak and Sabah were parts of the Brunci Sultanate before coming under foreign administration in the course of the inneteenth century.<sup>4</sup>

The Brunei Sultanate shared many similarities with those in the

Peninsula. The Sultan was the apex of political authority and below him there was a hierarchy of chiefs: four *wazir*, eight *chietia* and sixteen *menteri*.<sup>9</sup> Except that the titles were different, Kedah, Pahang and Perak also subscribed to the multiple-four system of chiefs.

Owing to physical vastness and the absence of an efficient system of transport and communication, there was also a wide dispersal of political gower in the Brunei political system and various major chiefs wielded significant power in specific territories. This was accentuated by the decline of the Sultanate after the prosperous and notable reign of Sultan Bukkah in the early sixteenth century.

The indigenous people of Sarawak and Sabah are more heterogenous than those of the Peninsula and-an important point-many of them are not Muslims. The indigenous communities of Sarawak include the Hans or Sea Dayaks, the Bidayuhs or Land Dayaks, the Kayans, the Kenyahs and the Kelabits, all of whom are non-Muslim. The Muslim groups are the Kedayans, the Bisayas and a good proportion of the Melanaus. In the case of Sabah, the Isrgest indigenous groups are the Murrus and the Kadazans (formerly known as Dusuns). These are largely non-Muslim. There are also numerous groups of people who are physically and culturally akin to the Malays of the Pennsula and are Muslim, amely the Bajaus, the Bruneis, the Sulus, the Illanuns, the Kedayans and other smaller groups.<sup>10</sup>

Although Brunei was also an important trading centre, the kingdom was relatively remote from the commonly-used trade route between East and West Asia whereas the Peninsula was the meeting point for traders from these two regions. More frequent contacts with the external world required a higher degree of adaptation of the indigenous people. For example, there was greater intellectual-literary ferment in the Peninsula-Sumatra region than in Brunei. The development of Malay literature in the Peninsula-Sumatra region owed much to the coming of Islam. Evidence of this is the existence of a number of works known to posterity such as the Hikayat Raja-Raja Pasai, Sulalatus-Salatin (more popularly known as the Sejarah Melayu), Hikayat Muhammad Hanafiah, and Hikayat Amir Hamzah. Intellectual-literary leadership, not surprisingly, was provided by the ulama (religious scholars) from outside the region such as Sheikh Nuruddin Al-Raniri or by locals such as Shamsuddin Pasai, Hamzah Fansuri, and Abdul Rauf Singkel.11 Brunei too came under Islamic influence but, perhaps again because of its geographical position, it did not draw as many Islamic scholars from West Asia. Furthermore, there is no evidence that Brunei ever produced any scholar of the standing of Hamzah Fansuri or Abdul Rauf Singkel.

Similarly, in the nineteenth century, although Sarawak, Sabah and the

Peninsula all came under official or unofficial British administrative control, technological developments in the Malay Peninsula occurred at a far faster rate owing largely to the growth of the tim-mining industry. The transformation which occurred in the Peninsula beginning in the last quarter of the nintectenth century had a deep impact on the Malays, so that increasingly Malay thinking was prococupied with the necessity to check the spread of non-Malay influence. The indigenous society in Sarawak and Sabah, being less exposed, did not have to cope with the challenge faced by the Peninsular Malays in the early decades of the twentieth century.

### The Growth of Immigrant Communities

The Chinese and Indians had been visiting the Malaysian region as early as the beginning of the Christian era but it was only after the establishment of British control in the region that they began to come in large numbers and stayed.

The Chinese who ventured to Malaysia in the early days were mostly traders who frequented Melaka, Pulau Pinang and then Singapore as these entrepols developed. Not a few decided to settle permanently and became the forefathers of the present "Baba Chinese", especially in Melaka and Pulau Pinang.<sup>12</sup> The number of Chinese immigrants increased rapidly in the second half of the nineteenth century as they were attracted to the lucrative exploitation of tin-bearing districts in Perak and Selangor.<sup>13</sup> Simultaneously the Chinese moved into Johor from Singapore to open up large gambier and pepper plantations. Temenggong Ibrahim's famous kangkiu system ensured a modicum of sublity which did not prevail in the mining areas of Larut and Kelang.<sup>14</sup>

From the later nineteenth century to 1934 indentured Chinese labourers were brought to Malaya in ever increasing numbers through the wi-kich method of crearitument.<sup>31</sup> Even during the Depresion years the number of arrivals often exceeded the number who returned to China. In Sarawak, Rajah Charles Brooke employed a basically similar method of engaging Chinese contractors to obtain Chinese labourers at the turn of the century: while in Sabah the Chartered Company made many attempts to get Chinese peasants and refugees from the 1911 Chinese revolution and 1937 Sino-Japanese War for the rubber plantations and public works of the territory.<sup>16</sup> By the time restrictions were imposed on Chinese immigration to Malaya in 1931, the community comprised a very significant proportion of the total population of the Peninsula, namely well over one-third.<sup>17</sup> Far more Chinese eventually settled in Malay at han in Sarawak and Sabah.<sup>14</sup> Consequently the political impact

of the Chinese tended to be more heavily felt in the Peninsula than in northern Borneo.

From their traditional role as traders in sailing junks, the Chinese expanded their economic activities on that by the beginning of the twentich century they had become the principal owners of commercial timmining in Malaya. It was only at the beginning of the 1930s, with the increasing use of mining technology, that the European hater of the capital outlay overtook theirs.<sup>19</sup> Chinese ownership of the other major export earner of Malaya, mbber, also became increasingly important, amounting to 12.5 per cent of all the estates (excluding those less than 100 areas which were classified as small-holdings) in the Stratis Settlements and the Federated Malay States. The importance of the Chinese in the Malayan economy by the time of the Second World War (1941) is perhaps best summed up by Purcell:

Chinese ownerchip of tim-mines and rubber estates is no real indication of their share of the weakh of the country. Chinese had, for instance, large holdings in European rubber companies, Malaya's important and growing secondary industries were very largely in Chinese hands. The pineapple industry, the last two decades, as entirely a Chinese enterprise. Canned pineapples in 3938 accounted for 1.2 per cent of Malaya's entire export rade. In Sungapore, Penang, Kuala Lumpur, Klang, John and texwhere the Chinese owned oil mills, biscut factores, rubber works for the manufacture of shoes, tyres owned oil mills, biscut factores, rubber works for the manufacture of shoes, syste occurs not moders, savmills, and suce factores, there were Chinese shipping companies; they ran motor agencies and repair shops; the bulk of the retail trade verywhere was in their hands. One indication of the wealch of the community is the fact that in 1941 the Malayan Chinese remitted to China over \$110,000,000 (12,18,3),000.<sup>20</sup>

It is instructive to note that the Chinese were not only divided into different clans with their distinctive dialects but that their business activities were conducted largely along exclusive clan-dialect lines. The discipline within each clan group was often so effective that it could undereut and run the economic position of a rival group when it chose to do so. The majority of pre-war Chinese in Malaysia retained some links with the homeland, although such ties loosened in the course of time. By the 1930s many of those born in China had begotten children in Malaya, but many regarded this as the unfortunate consequences of revolution, cvil war and the Simo-Japanese conflict in their homeland.

Although Indians<sup>21</sup> came to Malaya in noticeable numbers as early as the British acquisition of Pulau Pinng in 1786, it was only around the beginning of the twentieth century that they begin to arrive at steadily increasing rate. The growth of the rubber industry after 1910 and the development of railways and roads in Malaya necessitated a greatly

increased labour force which the Indian immigrants helped to supply. By 1907 the governments of the Straits Settlements and the Federated Malay States had set up an Indian Immigration Committee to take charge of and promote the immigration of Indian labour. The Committee ran an Indian Immigration Fund which defrayed the passage, accommodation and other expenses of Indian labourers attracted to Malaya, especially under the *knowa* method of recruitment.<sup>22</sup>

The kangar system drew mainly persons from South India so that although Punjabis, Bengalis and other North Indians also came to Malaya, the Tamilis, Malayaless and Telgus predominated among the immigrants. Eventually, four-fifths of the Indians who came to Malaya were Tamils. The largest number of Indians who came before the Japanec Occupation found their way into the rubber plinataions, the railways and public works of Malaya.<sup>23</sup> An Agent of the Indian Government was appointed in 1923, with the consent of the Labour Department of Malaya, to supervise the employment conditions of Indian labourers. He was given the legal right to visit any estate during working hours and make enquires among labourers. He sent annual reports to India:

These reports were as much directed at officialdom in India, as at Indian public opmion. They served to transform the nature of the Indian emigrant problem. It changed from one of exclusive concern with the mechanics and procedures of emigration and recruitment to a concern for the living and working conditions, and the weffare and prospects of the large numbers of Indians who had come to live in Malaya. The Indian Government now began to look closely into the wages, cost of living, and housing and health facilities experienced by their nationalis in Malaya.<sup>24</sup>

It has also been pointed out that 'the presence of the agent of the Government of another country as a protector of labourers' interests naturally arounded some political feelings and helped to keep the Indian labourer conscious of the influence of Indian nationalism, even though the Agent was not a political officer<sup>7, 34</sup> The average Indian worker stayed only for a few years in Malaya and following the Depression years of the early 1930s nationalist public opinion made the Indian Government impose a total ban on all forms of assisted emigration of labour to Malaya in 1938.<sup>24</sup>

It might have been thought that this curtailment of labour supply would have encouraged those who were already in Malaya to remain in their new home. But it has been said that 'demographically the suspension of the flow of migrants was one of the causes of the comparative failure of Indians to settle, and of the decline in importance, both absolutely and relatively, of the Indian component in Malaya's population.<sup>27</sup> The Indians comprised 15.1 per cent in 1931 and 10.8 per cent in 1947 of the

### total population of Malaya, not including Singapore.28

Few Indians migrated to northern Borneo. Even by 1960, when immigration to Sarawak and Sabah had become severely restricted, Indians comprised less than 1 per cent of the population of Sarawak and less than 4 per cent of that of Sabah. Efforts by the Brooke and Chartered Company Governments to autract Indian immigrants had a singular history of failure, one which was repeated during the colonial period from 1946 to 1963.<sup>29</sup>

### The Development of Foreign Administration

#### (a) Malaya

British rule in Malaya was launched when the English East India Company, in its effort to foster and protect its lucrative trade route between India and China, obtained Pulau Pinang from Sultan Abdullah of Kedah in 1786; in 1819 Stamford Raffles hoisted the Union Jack over Singapore. The Anglo-Dutch Treaty of 1824 gave the British complete control over the Straits of Melaka. 30 The three outposts of Pulau Pinang, Singapore and Melaka became the Straits Settlements in 1826 and formed the stepping-stones to subsequent British intervention in the Malay Peninsula. Still the process of British penetration of the Peninsula took a long time. Even when the Straits Settlements began to prove a drain on the coffers of the East India Company after the company lost its monopoly of the China trade in the 1830s, the British Government made no move to take over responsibility for these outposts despite persistent expressions of dissatisfaction with Indian administration by the merchants of the Straits Settlements. It was only in 1867 that the Settlements were transferred to the Colonial Office and collectively became a Crown Colony.31 The Settlements remained a Colony until the Japanese invasion in 1941.

The Transfer of 1867 in a sense laid the foundation for the subsequent forward movement. It has been shown that the British movement into the Peninsula cannot be easily attributed to any single factor.<sup>32</sup> Still Emerson's observation is not without validity:

The Birtish forward movement in the Malay Penninula coincided very closely in time with that of the Durch across the Straits of Malacca after the treaty of 1871 had removed the earlier treaty restrictions on Durch action in Achini, but there seems no reason to supper that the slightly later date of the British advance can be attributed to any fear of an expansion of Durch ambitions to include the Peninsula as well as Sumatra. Both were symptomatic of the new imperialist spirit which was beginning to be filt at the time, as was the continued French advance in Indo-

Clua. There can be no doubt that imitation is a real factor in the stimulation of the imperialist sentiment, and it may well be that the Dutch declaration of war on the Achines strengthened the determination of the merchants and officials to put an end to the continual daturbances in the Malay States, but this determination was of far carlter burth. The Brinita action was clearly determined by local considerations rather than by any foreign pressures, although it might have been delayed even longer if neighbouring regions had continued their half-century of caim.<sup>33</sup>

Although at the time he wrote Emerson had no access to confidential documents, his reference to local considerations as the prime factor determining the British action rested on a firmer foundation than he realized. By the early 1870s the Straits merchants had successfully established their influence in London itself. Their persistent lobbying at the Colonial Office could hardly have been an insignificant factor in Lord Kimberley's decision to consider the possibility of interfering actively in the Malay States.34 It is now well known that Sir Andrew Clarke acted beyond the instructions given to him but the Pangkor Engagement of 1874 was nonetheless ratified. Setting the pattern of British intervention, the sixth article of the Engagement stated, 'That the Sultan receive and provide a suitable residence for a British Officer to be called Resident. who shall be accredited to his Court, and whose advice must be asked and acted upon on all questions other than those touching Malay Religion and Customs."35 It has been well said that during the twenty years following the intervention in Perak 'a colonial government, ruling its own population through colonial departments and recognizing no native authority as an executive instrument, had brought into being a system of rule in which the native authority was sovereign, native hierarchies preserved, and native institutions used as agencies of government'.36 To carry out the paraphernalia of indirect rule, Britain's colonial officials, headed by the Governor of the Straits Settlements, proceeded to make arrangements which witnessed Selangor coming under British protection in 1874. Pahang accepting a British Resident in 1888, and Negeri Sembilan requesting in 1889 and receiving in 1895 a British Resident.37 These three states, together with Perak, were grouped to form the Federated Malay States (FMS) in 1896. The FMS arrangement remained until the Japanese Occupation.

The expansion of British intervention led to further extension of indirect rule when in 1909 the Anglo-Siamese Treaty stated that 'The Siamese Government transfers to the British Government all rights and suzerainty, protection, administration, and control whatsoever which they posses over the States of Kelantan, Trigganu, Kedah, Perlis and adjacent silands, 'as 'Thus Britian acquired the four northern Malay states.

Each of the four states accepted the appointment of a British Adviser with powers similar to those of the British Resident in each of the FMS. Meanwhile lohor in the south, having lost its nominal suzerainty over Pahang and Terengganu, also gradually gravitated into British influence and control. A British promise of protection came in 1885, and in 1914 a treaty provided for the appointment of a British General Adviser whose powers were again broadly similar to those of the Residents and the other four Advisers.39 However Kelantan, Terengganu, Kedah, Perlis and lohor remained outside the FMS and were collectively known as the Unfederated Malay States (UFMS). The administrative arrangements of the FMS and the UFMS continued to be the forms by which Britain sought to implement its policies in the Peninsula until the Second World War. As one British student of Malayan affairs put it, 'From the borders of Siam down to Singapore all the Malay States had accepted British advice and Britain had secured a zone of influence against trespass by any other European power'.40

As a Crown Colony from 1807 onwards the Straits Settlements had an Executive Council and a Legislative Council choich was established in 1909 and was empowered to legislate on matters of federal importance. A British officer styled Resident-General (later remaned Chief Secretary and then Federal Secretary) coordinated the administrative affairs of the FMS. Each of the nime Maly states had a State Council presided over by the Ruler and responsible for legislating on matters pertaining to the individual states. As in Sarawak and Sabah in the prewar period, no universal suffrage was ever employed to elect members of these legislative and state councils in Malaya. The unofficial members were nominated, not elected, to other seas by the British authorities.

The Governor of the Straits Settlements was also High Commissioner to the Malay States and, from 1888, the Borneo territories of Sarawak, Brunei and North Borneo (Sabah). He presided over both the Settlement Executive and Legislative Councils and the Federal Council, thus ensuing the coordination of British direct and indirect rule in the Colony and the nine Malay states. As the highest-ranking British official in Malaya, the Governor coun High Commissioner, with the aid of his usually energetic Residents and Advaers, was able not only to represent the views of Whitehall but also to promote the growth of a British Malaya in which, from the days of intervention in the late initectenth century until the Japance invasion in 1941, his advice had to be 'asked and acted upon all questions other than those to uculing Malay Religion and Customs'. The Malay Rulers, though nominally still sovercign, had come under the effective dominance of the British official

Nevertheless, although it is clear that Britain imposed an effective administrative control over Malaya between 1874 and the Second World War, it is important to bear in mind that not the whole of the Peninsula was directly colonized. While the Strains Settlements were a Crown Colony from 1867, the nine Malay states remained legally autonomous. Each state had its own civil service, albeit heavily influenced by the British Resident or Adviser, and the Krajsan (Government) functioned in the name of the Ruler. Wide-ranging though the British control over Malaya was in the pre-war period, the indirect rule over the Malay states allowed the survival of a lingering impression and belief among the Malay Rulers that they still held the partimony of their states and that the British were in their midds as fineds and protectors who therefore should be treated with Malay traditional courtesy and afforded the dignity due to any well-meaning ally.

Britain in fact grew increasingly conscious of her lack of direct control, especially over the UFMS. It was largely for this reason that in the 1920s and 1930s High Commissioners Sir Lawrence Guillemard (1920-7) and Sir Cecil Clementi (1930-3) advocated Decentralization (of powers) in the FMS in order to foster administrative uniformity with the UFMS.41 But the Malays, in particular, suspected that if the idea was to loosen the FMS in order to tie up the UFMS with it in one all-embracing British administrative loop the Decentralization proposal would be detrimental to Malay interests. The Malay Rulers of the UFMS therefore generally opposed the idea. On the whole, however, the British encountered few problems in the maintenance of their dominance over pre-war Malaya. The Settlement, FMS and UFMS legislatures functioned in the manner of typical colonial legislatures, with their members having to take an oath of allegiance to the British Crown. Without the introduction of the electoral process, no popular representation was possible and the different communities of Malaya lived in a plural society with little political consciousness or nationalist awareness towards Malaya.

#### (b) Sarawak

In the late 1830s rebellion broke out in Siniawan, Sarawak, against a local chief, the Pangiran Mahkota. The Sultan of Brunei was unable to uppress the uprising and eventually James Brooke, an Englishman, entered the scene and helped to quell the rebellion. The result was that the Sultan of Brunei formally recognized James Brooke as the Rajah of Sarawak in 1841.<sup>42</sup>

The ensuing century saw the development of a highly personalized

and paternalistic rule which left little room for political initiative among the communities of Sarawak.<sup>43</sup> The Brookes treated the indigenous people of their kingdom with a Victorian humanitarianism which, among other things, sought to insulate them from harsh treatment of the sort meted out to colonized peoples elsewhere. James Brooke propounded:

I have, both by precept and example, shown what can be done; but it is for the [Brinsh] Government to judge what means, if any, they will place at my dispoal by intention, my wish, is to example pracely by attacking and heraking up the praze towns; not only prazes direct, but prazes indirect. Here again the Government must judge. I wish to correct the matter character, to gain and hold an influence in Bomeo proper, to introduce gradually a better system of government, to open the intensit, to encourage the poor natives, to remove the clogs on trade, to develop new sources.<sup>44</sup>

As did the British in the Peninsula, the Brookes in Sarawak paid considerable attention to the Malays. Their leaders were awarded honorific titles akin to those of aristocratic Brunnei, such as Datu Patinggi. Datu Bandar and Datu Imam, 45 and to accustomed had the Malays become to Brooke paternal treatment that in 1946, when the Rajah decided to deliver his once romantic kingdom to the British Crown, there were anti-exusion protests from sections of the Malay community (as well as others).

The Brookes devoted their attention also to protecting the Dayaks and kindted non-Malay indigenous peoples of Sarawak. In particular, the second Rajah, Charles Brooke, spent long years as an administrator among the Ibans and firmly believed that nothing could be more unjust than to expose his peace-loving native wards to the predatory activities of junt-stock companies, privaters and imperialists. He drew examples from the Dutch policy of native subjugation in which the Javanese were reduced to 'a very abused and oppressed people, being forced both to provide labour for the Government, as well as to comply with the demands of their own native chiefs.<sup>46</sup> The Brookes made use of traditiona native chiefs as much as the Dutch did in the Netherlands East Indies but being more simply paternalistic and less economically motivated than the Dutch, the Rajaha, in principle if not in practice, continually emphasized the welfare of the Sarawak indigenous leaders and their people.

When he succeeded James Brooke in 1868, Charles Brooke continued the protective policy of his uncle. While he was still the chief administrator under his uncle, Charles Brooke initiated a forum in which the local leaders of Sarawak could know one another and exchange views by establishing a General Council in 1867.<sup>47</sup> Despite the expansion of the

administration and the associative role of this Council, Sarawak remained politically backward. Towards the end of his long reign, Charles Brooke indirectly attempted to windicate the nature of his own rule in Sarawak when he brooded philosophically over the future of Asia and wrote in 1907. My own opminon is that before we reach the middle of this century all nations now holding large Colonial possessions will have met with very severe reverse, and that the tens of millions of Europeans will not be able to hold their own against the hundreds of millions of Earopeans will not are daily gaining substantial power.<sup>446</sup> In an age when almost all the states of Asia were helplessly under Western dominance<sup>459</sup> and the dawn of Asian nationalism was a mere glimmer.<sup>500</sup> Charles Brooke certainly deserves some credit for his prophetic overview of Western imperialism in Asia.

But despite this perceptiveness about the course of Asian political changes, it is to be noted that in his own Sarawak Charles Brooke, and also his successor, fell far short of fulfilling their declared intention to prepare their subjects for eventual self-government. The third and last Rajah, Charles Vyner Brooke, who succeeded his father in 1917, ruled very much in the tradition of his predecessors; and during the centenary of Brooke rule he publicly admitted in the preamble to the 1941 Sarawak Constitution that the time had only then come for 'terminating for ever the Era of Autocratic Rule which has so far characterised our Government'.51 The 1941 Sarawak Constitution itself appeared prima facie to be a liberal document which provided for a new state council, the Council Negri, and an executive council, the Supreme Council. Yet fourteen of the twenty-five Council Negri members were official members while all the eleven unofficial members were appointed by the Rajah-in-Council. The majority of the members of the Supreme Council, likewise, were members of the Sarawak Civil Service ... a majority of whom shall be members of the Council Negri',52

In practice, the 1941 Sarawak Constitution merely transferred the personal rule of the Rajah into the hands of his own bureaucrats. It merely glowed the 'Autocratic Rule' the Rajah was so conscious of there was no substantive political change, inasmuch as the members of the two Councils were clearly the fathful servans of the Rajah himself. No less significant, especially in terms of the political evolution of a modern state, the 1941 Sarawak Constitution was silent on any system of adult suffrage which would have introduced the pople to democratic processes of government. In the event, the new Council Negri had only a short existence before the Japance overran Sarawak in December 1941.

The Sarawak administration grew and expanded with the faithful service of British civil servants who were recruited almost entirely from

Britain. In commemorating the centenary of Brooke rule, the nine 'Cardinal Principles of the Rule of the English Rajahs' were reaffirmed. The eighth Principle is of particular interest: 'That the goal of selfgovernment shall always be kept in mind, that the people of Sarawak shall be entrusted in due course with the governance of themselves, and that continuous efforts shall be made to hasten the reaching of this goal by educating them in the obligations, the responsibilities and the privileges of citizenship.'53 In some ways, therefore, the second and third Rajahs anticipated the time when their personal rule would become untenable and their successors would have to give way to demands for self-rule from the people. But partly because education was neglected by the Brookes, who entrusted this important matter to rival Christian missions, Chinese school boards and a few Malay pedagogic centres,34 civic and political understanding likewise saw only a very inconsequential advance in the pre-war years. This was especially true among the largest ethnic grouping, namely the non-Malay indigenous peoples.

That Brooke rule insulated the indigenous peoples of Sarawak from abue and colonial exploitation can hardly be denied. The Malay and non-Malay peoples of Sarawak were certainly more humanly treated under their English Rajah than were the Javanese under the Dutch culture system or the Vietamese under the so-called assimilation' and association' programmes of the French.<sup>35</sup> But it can be said that the benevolent Rajahs over-protected the indigenous peoples of Sarawak: in a manner of speaking, the indigenous peoples were like birds in a golden cage, pampered and unruffled by winds of change; but when the cage door was opened, first by the Japanese in 1941 and then by the Birish Government in 1946, it was found that the birds had lost the art of flying. The different communities of Sarawak were largely unharmed but they were also politically innocent under Brooke rule. Clearly, the time of nationalist awarenes was yet to come.

#### (c) Sabah

The beginning of the end of Brunei rule in Sabah occurred in December 1877 when some sections of Sabah were ceded to Baron von Overbeck who was acting on behalf of the British firm of Dent Brothers. In subsequent years more territory was ceded piecerneal. A limited Provisional Association was formed to exploit Sabah and several tations were established by employees of the Association. By 1881 the Association was able to persuade the British Government to grant a charter of corporation and Sabah came under the administration of the British North Borneo (Chartered) Company.<sup>56</sup>

At a time when joint-stock companies were clearly considered anachronistic instruments of government, the granting of the Royal Charter to the North Borneo Company by the British Government wara demonstration of the backwardness of the territory.<sup>37</sup> Nevertheless, the Charter laid down the political and administrative bases upon which the Company Court of Directors in London and their Governor and officers in Sabah should manage an area of over 39,000 square miles. The Charter, which was closely adhered to by the Company until the Japanees invasion in 1941, required *inter alia* that the Company should by degrees abolish lavery. refrain from interfering with the religion of any clan or people of the territory, develop the area, make and maintain public works, promote immigration, grant lands to investors, afford free access to British hipping. and impose no monopoly of trade in the territory.<sup>48</sup>

The Chartered Company, like the Brooke Rajahs, was preoccupied with the establishment of a bureaucracy in Sabah. In this respect the most significant provision of the Charter, in so far as the peoples of the territory were involved, was Article 9 which required that:

In the administration of justice by the Company to the people of Borneo, or to any of the inhabitants thereof, careful regard shall always be had to the customs and have of the class or tribe on ration to which the partier stepectively belong, especially with respect to the holding possession transfer and disposition of lands and goods, and testate or intestate succession thereto, and marriage, divorce, and legitmacy, and other rights of property and personal rights.<sup>34</sup>

Here at least is evidence that the territory was constituted into a political entity, separate from the Brunei Sultanze, at a period in British history when some regrad for the well-being of the subject peoples, ableit paternalistic, was manifest. As the Rajahs of Sarawak were imbued with Victorian humanitarianism, so the promoters of the Chartered Company were enjoined to protect the welfare of the indigenous and other communities of Sabah from 1881 onwards. Notwithstanding that, it must be pointed out that stable government was of paramount importance to the Company itself in its overriding effort to open up the territory and thereby attract investors, planters and speculators to Sabah.<sup>60</sup> The chief aim was to establish good government in order to ensure the success of a business concern which had been launched with the blessing of the British Government.<sup>81</sup>

An Àdvisory Council was set up in 1883 with the aim of providing to the Governor and his officers a channel of communication with the various communities in the territory. But in practice this Council hardly promoted political understanding among the people. Its members were composed of the higher officers of the Company, representatives of the European planters and Chiness metchang roups.<sup>44</sup> Not only were all the

members nominated by the Governor, but it is also significant to note that the indigenous peoples of the territory were not represented on this Council. Despite the Charter provision *vis-a-vis* the welfare of the indigenous communities, their non-representation on the Advisory Council clearly demonstrates the fact that the Company was far more interested in the economic than in the political advancement of the territory.

Late in the nineteenth century the Company's rule in Sabah faced a major challenge. Beginning in 1894, intermittent disturbances crupted on the cast and west coasts as well as in the interior of Sabah. The problem for the Company centred on a man of mixed Bajau and Sulu parentage called Mat (Muhammad) Salich. He was matried to a relative of the Sular Sulu and lived as the chief of a small village up the Sugur River on the cast coast.<sup>95</sup> Under the *ancin regime* he would have remained an influential headman but the presence of the Company changed that. It has been remarked that a discerning government would have incorporated him into the administration; instead it began to harass him.<sup>64</sup>

There is no evidence that Mat Salleh was implicated in the initial trouble in late 1894 which involved the killing of two Dayak traders who had penetrated to the headwaters of the Sugur. Mat Salleh was prepared to come to terms with the Company but none of the British administrators looked upon him as the legitimate indigenous leader which he was. They insisted on submission and further required that he should allow himself to be banished. Later a promise made to him that he and his followers would be forgiven and that the Company would delegate its authority over the people in the Tambunan Valley to him was not fulfilled. And so Mat Salleh resisted the Company until he was killed in January 1900. This was not the end of the resistance; other reclicitrant groups rose from time to time though without ever really threatening to break the hold the Company had over Sabah.\*\*

On its part, the Company fought determinedly to ensure the stability which it perennially sought in order to make Sabah an attractive area for investment. In 1912 a Legidative Council was established to replace the Advisory Council. All nominated, the members of the new Council comprised official members, representatives of the European economic interests and a representative of the Chinese community. While the Chinese representation was later increased to two members, the Council again included no representative of the indigenous peoples of the Legislative Council remained largely advisory in practice. It functioned as a source of information on the economic temperament and development of the territory for the Governor and the Court of Directors rather than as

a training ground for local leaders in an eventually self-governing Sabah. The Legislative Council existed uneventfully and apolitically until the Japanese invasion in late 1941.

An interesting experiment in local government was attempted in 1936. A local authority was formed by combining villages in the Bingkor race of the Interior Residency for administrative purposes. The Committee formed to run the day-to-day affairs of the Authority was led by O. K. K. Sedomon bin Gunsmand. Af first the Authority functioned promisingly; but lack of financial support and experience beset its native leaders, who were expected to rely almost entirely upon the meagre revenue of the poor Bingkor area for the implementation of their projects and local authority services. The local authority received some financial sustance from the Education and Medical Departments, but this made no difference to the increasing budgetary needs of the authority.<sup>457</sup> Ultimately the experiment failed, thereby demonstrating the impossibility of initiating even grassroots political education successfully without the long-term assistance of a governing Company disposed towards the granting of eventual self-government to Sabh.<sup>48</sup>

Whereas the Brooke Rajahs at least repeatedly stated that it was their intention to lead the people of Sarawak to self-rule and attempted to substantize their pledge by granting the 1941 Constitution to their subjects on a silver platter,<sup>49</sup> the Chartered Company never in its sixtyyear rule indicated such a wish for the people of Sabah. Undisturbed by other imperial powers, thanks to the British protectorate of 1888, the Company portrayed itself by 1941 as a management concern which to all intents and purposes was happy to continue to husband Sabah as its economic doman well into an indeterminate future.

### Political Activity in Malaya prior to 1941

Until recently there has been little research into the subject of political activity in Malaya before the Second World War. Yet there has been a widespread impression that, compared to other countries in South-East Asia, there was a conspicuous absence of political activity in Malaya until after 1945. While it is undeniable that political activity here neared the degree of turbulence observable, for example, in Burma or Indonesia, Malaya and Singapore were by no means politically dormant. Singapore, in fact, was the headquarters of Kuominitang (KMT) activity<sup>70</sup> as well as the nerve centre of the Chinese communist movement in the Narjang (the Chinese term for South-East Asia).<sup>271</sup> During the Second World War, it was the base of the Indian Independence Movement led by Subhas Chandra Bose.<sup>272</sup>

But Malaya's politics before 1945 were highly cosmopolitan in nature, reflecting the multiracial character of the population. Any political development in China and India found an immediate response here, though not always on a large scale-the extent of each response was determined by the size of the particular ethnic or sub-ethnic group involved. Hence political activities involving the Chinese always tended to be more difficult for the British Government to control.<sup>73</sup>

The Malays were comparatively less turbulent and in fact, between 1900 and 1941, there was less internal turmoil and unrest in Malay society than in Chinese society (in China) or in Indian society (in India). Admittedly, Malay society was exposed to developments in the Middle East as well as to those in Indonesia.74 The Kaum Muda Islamic reformist movement, which emerged in the early twentieth century and neither progressed nor retrogressed within a period of about forty years, is one example.75 The Kesatuan Melayu Muda (KMM), an anti-establishment political party founded in 1938, was indirectly influenced to some extent by the radicalism then prevailing in Indonesia.76 There were also some Malays from time to time involved in the Malayan Communist Party (MCP), which was founded around 1930-1.77 But, by and large, the Malays did not respond to external political stimuli. Numerically, the activists and the radicals were a small minority. They made little significant impact on Malay society. Although, since the 1920s, there had emerged a literate and vocal group which consistently aired Malay grievances and anxieties about the future of the Malays in their own country, the pattern of leadership in Malay society remained relatively unchanged. 74 Political associations which were not led by the traditional ruling class found it difficult to make any impression on the common people.

However, on the eve of the Second World War the political situation in Malaya and Singapore could, by no stretch of the imagination, be considered calm. Owing to the Suno-Japanees War, the Chinese-both the Kuomintang and the communists- were actively involved in anti-Japanee campaigns. The communists, for once, found massive support among Chinese workers. They fomented strikes throughout Malaya and Singapore.<sup>37</sup> The Indians, egged on by developments in India and Nehru's visit in 1937; formed the Central India Association of Malaya (CIAM) whose leaders were to be among the most important supporters of Subhas Chandra Bose.<sup>40</sup>

The Malays were obviously alarmed by the activities of the non-Malays and began to organize themselves more elaborately. Malay state associations merged in Persk, Selangor, Kelantan, Pahang and Negeri Sembilan.<sup>41</sup> That pan-Malayan Malay consciousness grew at this time is

shown by the organization of the first 'national' Malay congress in Kuala Lumpur in 1937. This was followed by a second congress in Singapore in 1935: a third was held in Kuala Lumpur in 1939 and a fourth in Singapore in 1940. A fifth congress scheduled to be held in Ipoh in 1941 did not materialize because of the war.<sup>82</sup>

But in all these political activities, there was clearly no cohesion among the various ethnic groups. The idea of a future Malayan nation was perhaps already in the minds of some of the more radical Malay leaders but its shape and dimensions were not very clear. In the ensuing years, many of the radical leaders aimed for political union with Indonesia.83 The traditional leaders, at this stage, did not think of independence. The non-Malays were too preoccupied with China and India, except for a handful of the local-born. The principal representative of this small group was Tan Cheng Lock who, when he was in the Straits Legislative Council until his retirement in 1934-5, campaigned strenuously for the admission of Malavans into the Civil Service, for the abandonment of the official majority in the Legislative Council, for the introduction of elections and for the inclusion of non-Europeans in the Executive Council;84 he can be said to have at least foreseen the dawn of self-government in the not too distant future. What further developments would have taken place subsequent to 1941 had the war not broken out is open to speculation. Suffice it to say that when the Japanese ousted the British from Malaya, the door was opened to developments which few could have anticipated before 1941.

### The Impact of the Japanese Occupation

Because there had been little political awakening among the indigenous communities of Sarawak and Sabah when the Japanese invaded the territories in December 1941, the occupying power encountered little or no opposition and found it relatively easy to induce many of these who worked in the Brooke and Chartered Company administrations, with the exception of the Europeans, to serve the new regime.<sup>45</sup> In Malaya<sup>46</sup> leaders of the KMM who had been arrested by the British on the eve of the war were released by the Japanese following the fall of Singapore on 15 February 1942.

Owing to the earlier contact between KMM leaders and the Fujiuara Kikar (a fifth column organization based in Bangkok), KMM members gave every assistance to the conquering Japanese army. While their leader, firshim Yaacob, was still detained in Singapore, some members of the KMM in Joho under the leadership of Mustrapha Haji Hussin (Vice-

President of KMM) and Onan bin Haji Siraj (brother-in-law of Ibrahim Yaacob) formed the Barian Penuda Kestutan Melayu Muda whose immediate objective was to ensure the safety of KMM members detained in Singapore upon the Japanese conquest of the island. It seems likely that the Barian Penuda was needed because KMM tiself was in disarray owing to the imprisonment of the majority of its leaders.<sup>97</sup>

After the release of Ibrahim Yaacob and his close associates, there was still little that KMM could do in the ensuing months to achieve its political objective of working towards eventual independence for Malaya: KMM had no clear idea as to Japanese future policy for Malaya; above all, its initial concern was to render protection to the Malays in the wake of atrocines committed by the conquering Japanese soldiers.<sup>48</sup>

The Japanese, on their part, were quite clear what Malaya meant to them. The available war documents now reveal that:

In the draft plan for military government under the command of the Southern Expeditionary Forces (..., Nampo Sogun), Sogun military administrators conevered Malaya to be 'Japan's economic and military base' in order to 'establish an economic self-unfficiency in the South'. For this end, in another document, they brushed axid can yu consideration for granting independence to Malaya and planned to incorporate the territory mito 'permanent' Japance possessions. Tokyo had consterndy maintained through the war years until July 1945 this policy of granting no independence to the Malays.<sup>44</sup>

After the Japance had completed their conquest of Malaya in February 1942 and that of Java and Sumatra a month later, KMM could sense that ut had outlived its usefulness. In an endeavour to keep the spirit of its struggle alive, leaders of the KMM such as Ishak Haji Muhammad, Hasan Manan, Abdul Karim Rashid, Onan bin Haji Straj, Ahmad Boestamam, Taharuddin Ahmad, Jafar Sidek, Pachik Ahmad and Pahang on the east to consolidate KMM bases. This was, possibly, the immediate cause which prompted the Japanese administration, in June 1942, to direct Ibrahim Yazocho to disband the KMM.<sup>10</sup> The ban was imposed on KMM because the Japanese feared that if KMM was allowed to expand its activities, other groups might ask for similar provideges.<sup>31</sup>

KMM leaders, however, were absorbed into the Japanese establishment. Ibrahim Yacob became the adviser on Malay affairs to Watanabe, the Director-General of the Japanese Military Administration, while Ishak Haji Muhammad, Abdullah Kamel, Taharuddin Ahmad and Mohamed Zallehuddin were employed on the Beria Malai and other publications brought out by the Propaganda Department.<sup>92</sup>

The Japanese dealt another serious blow to KMM's ambition of achieving independence for Malaya by formally transferring, on 18

October 1943, the four northern Malay states of Perlis, Kedah, Kelantan and Terengganu to Tnaland. To comfort Ibrahim Yaacob further, the Japance choes him to establish the *Giya Gan* (Volanteer Army) and *Giya Tai* (Volanteer Corps) in Malaya. *Giya Gan* was a fighting force whereas *Giya Tai* was more specifically concerned with the preservation of public peace and order. In Indonesia, the *Giya Gan* was more popularly known as the *Pembela Tamah Ain* (PETA). Both units were to comprise Malay youths and they contributed substantially to the growth of political consciousness and nationalism. By the middle of 1944, some 2,000 Malay youths were tasid to have been recruited into the *Giya Gan* with a central training camp and barracks in Johor Bahru. In July 1944 the *Giya Gan* was used in anti-guerrilla operations and clashes with the MPAJA occurred in the jungle of Koat Tinggi, Johor. But the Japanese kept a tight control over the *Giya Gan* aligned pender and the operations of the unit to develop moto a truly independent army.<sup>83</sup>

Even while the Japanese administration was keeping a vigilant watch over the activities of the ex-KMM leaders and their followers, the politcal situation was changing rapidly. Japan's defect in the war appeared mereasingly imminent. Hence Indonesia had been promised independence in September 1944 and the decision was soon made to grant it to Malaya also. In mid-1945 Ibrahim Yaacob and his associates were called upon to form *Keatuaan Raayat Indonesia Semenanjong* or KRIS (All-out Effort of the People) to prepare for independence. In the words of Yoichi Itagaka, the specialist in Malay affairs sympathetic to Ibrahim Yaacob's cause:

The plan of the KRIS movement directly resulted from the Second Singapore Conference of Secretary-General [at] of the Military Administrations of Java, Sumatra, Celebes and Malaya on July 20, 1945. The aim of the Conference wasto discuss the problem of 'Quick Independence of Indonesia' and related issues. Military Administration of Malaya had to take a necessary step for the unavoidable polincial repercussions of Indonesian independence upon the Malays in Walaya, in view of the fact that the hylighly regioese when Malaya and Sumatra were treated as a unit area of Military Administration immediately after the Japanes occupation. Furthermore, on the occasion of the declaration of future independence for Indonesian made by Prime Manister Koiso on September 7, 1944. the Malaya of Singapore attempted to hold celebration meetings and to form Indonesian Association, which, however, was not permitted by the Japanese Ambriny.

What was more important might have been the fact that the desperate decrease in Mulay population after the cession of four northern Malay States (Perla, Kedah, Kelantan and Trengganu) to Thaland...the increasing difficulties in living conditions due to the ruing prices, and the accumulation of docontent and disapontiment in the Japanese Military Administration, were cauting it to lose the support of Malays. In such conditions, therefore, it was very natural that the idea was taken up to encourage their political awakening by recognizing their long-chershed indionesis Rays and also by imposing them who have the language, culture, religion, customs, and race in common with Indonesian.<sup>44</sup>

Ibrahim Yaacob lost no time in attempting to revive the former branches of KMM all over the country as the branches of KRIS. His plan was for Malaya to be granted independence as an integral part of Indonesia.95 While he was still in Taiping engaged in negotiations with his Japanese advisers on 13 August 1945, he met a returning delegation of Indonesian nationalists at the Taiping airstrip. The Indonesian group, led by Soekarno and Mohammad Hatta, was continuing its return journey to Indonesia after independence negotiations with the Japanese at Saigon.96 It was at this meeting in Taiping that Soekarno reportedly shook hands with Ibrahim Yaacob and said, 'Let us form one single Motherland for all the sons of Indonesia.' Ibrahim Yaacob answered, 'We, the Malays in Malaya, are with loyalty in full support of the idea of a single Motherland, with Malaya as a part of Free Indonesia."97 Two days later, Japan announced her surrender; Soekarno and Hatta proclaimed the Republic of Indonesia on 17 August 1945, without Malaya and British Borneo; and the KRIS had no option but to resolve to continue an obviously downhearted struggle for the independence of the Peninsula.

The Malays in general were not as anti-Japanese as the Chinese, but this was not so much because 'loyalty to their Sultans was in their blood' or because the Chinese boycott of cheap Japanese goods prompted Malays to 'align themselves with the Japanese rather than with the Chinese'.98 (The proportion of Malays who were adversely affected by such boycotts was small, in view of the fact that the great majority of them, despite a general shortage of consumer goods, remained tolerably self-sufficient in their kampongs.) In the first place, the Japanese needed the cooperation of the Malays against the British. Secondly, the Japanese shelved their initial plan to abolish the status of the Sultans and reverted to a policy in many ways similar to that of British paternalism in pre-war days by reinstating all the trappings of Malay royalty by January 1943.99 Thirdly, as the Japanese professed to assist nationalist movements in the lands which they occupied, they obviously regarded the Malays as the logical inheritors of the British political legacy in Malaya. Thus the Japanese adopted a comparatively lenient attitude towards the Malays, which contrasted markedly with the harsh treatment meted out to the Chinese and which engendered among the Malays themselves a feelingalbeit far from universal-of tolerance towards the occupying regime.

The bitterness of the Chinese towards the Japanese had been increasing

since the latter's invasion of Manchuria in 1931. In the hearts of most Chinese in Malaya and northern Borneo, the Japanese Occupation was simply an extension of the war in the homeland where even the rival KMT and Communists had managed to form a united front, although an uneasy one, to fight the Japanese in 1937. The more conservative and westernized Chinese here organized a small volunteer force-DALFORCE-and, together with a few hundred known communists, fought the Japanese in the northern outskirst of Singapore. Following the fall of that Island, the Japanese rounded up and executed many of the total number perishing in this way exceeding five thousand'.<sup>100</sup> This further incensed the Chinese and deepened their grudge against the Japanese.

A significant development was the understanding reached between the retreating British Military officers and MCP leaders to organize a resistance movement in the Peninsula. Guerrillas were trained in Singapore and sent out in separate Independent Forces which became the components of the Malayan People's Anti-Japanese Army (MPAJA). The MPAJA guerrillas were mostly Chinese and they proclaimed as their objectives the liberation of Malaya from the Japanese and the setting up of an independent Malayan People's Republic. 101 For all practical and ideological purposes, the MPAJA was a communist organization. Although only a small number of Malays joined the MPAJA, it had an understanding with the Malay radicals. In point of fact they all wished to end Japanese rule and establish power bases for themselves in Malaya. To this end, the MPAJA, in particular, agreed with the returning British to plan a joint operation against the Japanese but the dropping of atomic bombs on Hiroshima and Nagasaki and the resulting abrupt proclamation of Japanese surrender made the execution of the planned operation unnecessary 102

It is significant that while collaborating with the MPAJA, the British made little attempt to mobilize the Malays as allies against the Japanese. There were thousands of Malays who were in various departments and sections of the civil service and police force who could have been far better organized than actually happened in the months before the fall of British Malaya. Indeed, in Johor alone Malay volunteer forces numbered over a thousand but they were hardly encouraged by the British authorities to fight with them against the invading Japanese. Similarly, the Pahang Wataniah (Pahang Volunteers) functioned almost entirely on their own nationalistic initiative. As one Malay, who was trained as a radio operator before the Japanese Occupation, posed the matter, 'Why were not the Malays told to form resistance groups, as the MPAJA were,

by the British? Thousands of technically-trained Malays were not put to the jungle. Could it be that if the British had done so a Malay 3-Star guerrilla movement would have emerged in Malay2<sup>2108</sup> (The S-Star was the MFAJA emblem.) At any rate, the overall impression is that there were ample signs of Malay political and nationalist (frevour as demonstrated by the activities of the Malay Unions and the KMM in the 1930s and that Britain's anxiety not to promote such nationalist (Malay apirations so long as Whitehall withded to maintain its dominance in Malaya was to a considerable degree responsible for the lack of mobilization of the Malaya during the Japaneee Occupation.<sup>164</sup>

In northern Borneo, the Allies parachuted advanced reconnaissance patrols into the interior of Sarawak and these eventually made contact with local anti-Japanese resistance groups. Heavy fighting between these guerrillas and the Japanese took place, especially along the lower and middle reaches of the Batang Rajang in the Third Division of the territory.105 By and large however, the indigenous communities-with the exception of small numbers in Kuching, Sibu and Miri-lived much as the majority of Malays did in the Peninsula. Comparatively few were singled out for oppression by the Japanese, notwithstanding the fact that most laboured under the fear that the occupying regime might actually ravage their kampongs and longhouses. 106 As in Malaya, too, the Chinese in Sarawak and Sabah bore the brunt of Japanese machinations and highhandedness, and for basically the same reasons as in Malaya. Apart from the Japanese being their traditional enemy, the Chinese forming the highest income group of all the non-European communities attracted the attention of the Japanese. This became increasingly so as the occupation wore on and as, among other debilitating things, the value of the Japanese paper currency-supposed to be at par with the Straits dollar-depreciated to almost nothing.107 Chinese and European property became irresistible sources of revenue for the insolvent occupation government. The Japanese evoked the wrath of the Chinese further by inhumanly rounding up Chinese women and girls and forcing them into prostitution or plain rape orgies. 108

While the Chinese in Malaya and Singapore organized their anti-Japanese activities almost independently of the other communities, in Starawak and Sabah they often worked clockly with the indigenous communities to sabotage their common enemy. In Sabah, a multiracial resistance movement known as the Kinabalu Guerrillas, was organized in 1942. Led by Albert Kwok Fen Nam, Muas, Korom and others, these guerrillas established liaison with the American-backed resistance movement in the southern Philippines.<sup>1099</sup> A plan was drawn up whereby a general uprising against the Japanese in Sabah with assistance from Sulu

would be organized. However, a serious breakdown in communications occurred between the guerrilla headquarters in Sabah and their much needed allies in Sulu and when the armed struggle, known as the Double Tenth Uprising, was launched on 10 October 1943, the guerrillas gained initial advantage but were soon subdued by the Japanese who poured reinforcements into the affected areas in Jesselton, Innanam, Menggatal, Tuaran and Tamparuli.<sup>110</sup> The anti-Japanese guerrillas in Sarawak were not as well organized as those in Sabah, but multiracial groups of Jocal people fought the Japanese with determination in the coastal urban centres. The Muruts of Pensiangan and Tenom in the interior of Sabah and many of the Ibans and kindred indigenous groups of Sarawak reenacted their half-forgotten cultural habit of head-hunting; scores of heads of retreating Japanese were taken by these independent-minded peoples as they helped the Allies in the manner they thought best to beat out Japanese tall hiding in the Borneo jungle in 1945.<sup>111</sup>

As Sarawak and Sabah did not have large numbers of Indians, it was not there but in Malava, where they accounted for over 10 per cent of the population, that this community played a rather conspicuous role in the war. In many ways, the Japanese attitude towards the Indians was similar to that which they adopted towards the Malays. Indians were encouraged to free themselves and their motherland (India) from the clutches of the British and to work for national independence as part of Japan's 'Greater East Asia Co-Prosperity Sphere' with the 'Great Spirit of Cosmocracy' as its guiding principle.112 The Indian revolutionary nationalist, Rash Behari Bose, was chosen by the Japanese to lead the Indian Independence League (IIL) which had been formed in Thailand. before the outbreak of the war in Malaya, as the political arm of a movement by Indian leaders in South-East Asia to liberate India. The military arm of the movement, the Indian National Army (INA), was formed in December 1941 and was led by Capt. Mohan Singh of the British Indian Army stationed in Malaya (which had surrendered to the Japanese). Broad agreement had been reached and conferences were held in Tokyo and Bangkok but the Indian leaders were suspicious of Japanese intentions and were inclined to heed more the nationalist voice of the Indian National Congress. "There were tensions between the Japanese and the Independence League, and between the League and the Indian National Army, Because of these disputes no concrete progress was achieved.'113 Rash Behari Bose, who had long lived in Japan 'proved unpopular and unsuccessful. He was too obviously a Japanese puppet, and it is said in Malaya that his lapanese cap did more than any other one thing to alienate Indian support.'114 Six months after its formation, the INA had attracted about 16,000 volunteers but Mohan Singh, who had been

made a Major, subsequently resigned because *inter alia* he reasoned that there were insufficient soldiers for the INA to take action independently of the Japanese who were hovering around watching closely the activities of the Indian nationalist movement.

The Indian independence movement received widespread Indian support only after the arrival of Subhas Chandra Bose in Singapore in July 1943. A former president of the Indian National Congress, he had been in Germany where he attempted to secure assistance for the Indian nationalist cause from Hitler. Transported to Singapore in a German submarine, Bose took steps to rejuvenate the INA which 'became under his leadership a united, disciplined body trained in the use of arms; and he attracted a large personal following that was fanatically devoted to him'.115 He toured Malaya and attracted not only new volunteers for the INA but also members for the IIL, branches of which were opened in every main town and even in the estates.<sup>116</sup> The seriousness and determination of the Indian nationalists at this time were demonstrated by the establishment of their provisional government in exile, the Azad Hind Government, proclaimed in Singapore in October 1943 with Chandra Bose as its Prime Minister and Malayan Indian leaders occupying some of its other offices.117 The provisional Government received much moral and financial support from wealthy and educated Indians in Malaya but its fortunes declined with those of the Japanese regime as the Second World War wore on.

Chandra Bose, as one opinion put it, 'was distinctly authoritarian, not only because he had studied German political and social philosophy, but also because the mental constitution of a middle-class Bengali is likely to harbour a perceptible bias in favour of dictatorial regimes'.<sup>118</sup> His powerful perconality instilled life into the movement but the INA and the Azad Hind Government failed to achieve the goal of liberating India because these organizations had inadequate means to work independently of the Japanees. The support of the Indians in Malaya and Singapore failed to rectify this shortcoming. The INA had its only real campaign in Burma at the beginning of 1945 and in this, despite Japanees aid, it uffered reverses and a number of its men deserted to the British.<sup>119</sup>

. . .

It is evident that the Japanese Occupation produced varying effects upon the different ethnic communities of Malaysia. Because of the comparatively lenient attitude of the Japanese towards the Malays and the indigenous communities of northerm Borneo, relatively fewer of them suffered death or extreme deprivation. This accounted partly for the

#### BACKGROUND

lesser participation of these communities in the war effort. (There was also, of course, the British decision not to train many Malay guerrillas, as mentioned earlier.) It seems likely that if the Japance had treated them more brutally, the Malays, Ibans, Mclanaus, Kadarans, Bajaus and kindred indigenous groups might have mustered far strongere resistance to the occupying regime. However, Japanese treatment of the Chinese and occasionally the rest of the population was so brutal that it led to sabotage and various forms of chicancery, extortion and double-claing. Such laxities were embarked upon sometimes as forms of reprisal against the Japanese or those who collaborated with them but often they were simply ways of sustaining life in conditions of economic and social chaos. Inevitably large fortunes were made, especially by those who had little or no scruples about legality or conventional behaviour.

It would be untrue to suggest that only the Chinese fell into the social malaise engendered by the chaotic conditions of the occupation years. In avyring degrees all the communities found it expedient and necessary, for the sake of sustaining life, to succumb from time to time to the pattern of behaviour cogently described in a discussion of the effects of the Japanese Occupation on the Chinese: "Birbery of individual Japanese, black market deals, smuggling and racketeering in various degrees, became the keys to success and propertiy... But the habits of law and order were largely lost in the business sector."<sup>2100</sup>

To some extent, the Indians were on the horns of a dilemma. The Japanese courted them ostensibly to struggle for the independence of their motherland. But it soon became obvious to the Indian nationalitiss in Malaya that it was not the intention of the occupying regime to hand over real power to their protegies in the foresceable future. Consequently, an atmosphere of dismaying political stalemate prevailed in Indian-Japanese relations. Partnership with the Japanese also had its divisive effects upon the Indian community. While the INA sometimes used coercion, backed by the Japanese kemperiat, to gain financial help from wealthy Indians, there were those among the wealthy who chose to use their material contribution as insurance against the brutal arm of the Japanese police state but, especially as the INA demands grew, 'the wealthy Indians felt harsased, and avoided payment by various mense', '1<sup>21</sup>

Yet, like other political upheavals telswhere, the Japanese invasion and subsequent rule of three years and eight months proved catalytic in several important respects to the various communities of Malaysia. The Japanese Occupation produced changes, especially in Malaya and Singapore, which were hardly anticipated by the British. While British remained 'Great' in Starawak and Sabah where she took over from the semi-private Brooks and Chartered Company and turned the two terri-

#### NATION-BUILDING IN MALAYSIA

tories into Crown Colonies in 1946, the developments during the occupation years led the population of Malaya to question the right of Britain to re-impose her pre-war hegemony. The more conservative and usually well-to-do Chinese continued to support the KMT. Their nationalist feeling continued to be chiefly directed towards helping in Generalissimo Chiang Kai-shek's struggle against the Communists in the homeland. Many Chinese in Malaya remained politically apathetic, while other Chinese (and other Atsian) who were treated as equals in Japanese intermment Camps were disappointed to find their former British POW mates treating them as subject people again in 1946. Of more pregnant consequence, the Chinese communists who had formed their MCP in pre-war days had now well-night perfected their guerrilla actics; not long after the end of the Japanese Occupation, they were to employ the same tactics against the British.

While Javaharlal Nehru had characterized the Indians in Malaya as living in a 'political backwater' in 1937.<sup>122</sup> he himself must have been amazed at the turn of events which not only avakened many Indians politically but also turned that 'political backwater' into the seedbed of a movement which sought to liberate his own motherland by forming the IIL, the INA and the provisional Azad Hind Government. The Malayan Indians involved in the independence movement were to found the Malayan Indian Congress (MIC) in 1946.

Two strands of political mobilization were evident among the Malays. The formation of the Kesatuan Melayu Singapura (KMS) in 1926 in many ways marked the real beginning of a modern Malay political movement. It inspired the formation of similar politically-orientated bodies during the following decade and especially from 1937 onwards, when the various Malay Unions in the Peninsula fostered political mobilization by holding the four congresses and enlivening the columns of the literary societies and pamphlets. At the same time, it cannot be denied that Indonesian nationalism had influenced another group of Peninsular Malays who formed the KMM and pursued a more radical approach to political progress for their people. While many of the more pliant and conservative Malays were induced to enter the Japanese administration, the KMM stole the political limelight by outwardly cooperating with the Japanese but actively plotting to discredit Japanese rule and win independence for the Peninsula. Ironically, both the conservative and the radical Malay intelligentsia were much influenced by Japanese anti-colonialism and leadership of Asian nationalism. Someone wrote in anticipation of the return of the pre-war colonial power, 'The British will find that the people of this new Malaya are vitalised by a new political outlook, so that they should not be surprised if they do not find

the former docility and limp submissiveness to authority<sup>1,123</sup> It was thus hardly surprising that the politically awakened Malays challenged the British when the latter attempted to impose a highly-centralized form of government under the guise of the Malayan Union in 1946. This brings us to a very crucial point within the context of this study of race relations in Malaysia.

As has been shown above, a conglomeration of developments, outside and within Malava, resulted in a sharp division between the Malavs and the Chinese during the Japanese Occupation. The same situation did not arise in Sarawak and Sabah mainly because there was no indigenous political movement with an anti-British stance and prepared to cooperate with the Japanese in pursuing independence and because, accordingly, the Japanese did not find the situation suitable for whipping up the spirit of indigenous nationalist feeling. Moreover, and by no means less important, owing to the comparative lack of economic development. Sabah and Sarawak never became important centres of overseas Chinese nationalism. Therefore, while in Sarawak and Sahah the indigenous population and the Chinese were able to make common cause against the Japanese, in Malava the intensity of anti-Japanese feeling among the Chinese and the official pro-Malay policy of the Japanese together tended to stir up hostility between the two major racial groups which had already had a mild confrontation, confined to the press and debates in legislative councils, in the 1920s and 1930s regarding questions of citizenship and privileges.124

The growing strength of the Chinese-dominated MPAJA, as the war drew to an end, served only to accentuate Malay fears and the situation was aggravated during the brief interregnum after the lapanese surrendered and before the British returned to assume control of Malava. One writer comments, 'For the first few weeks [after the Japanese surrender] as the only power in Malaya, the MPAIA virtually held complete control of the peninsula, especially the more remote inland regions'.125 They indiscriminately carried out a campaign of vendetta against those they considered Japanese collaborators, including a large number of Malays, All at once, it appeared to the Malays that the possibility of Chinese political control in Malaya had become a probability. With some instigation from the Japanese, the Malays retaliated. From late 1945 to early 1946 several parts of the country were torn by racial clashes, the most serious of which probably occurred in the Batu Pahat-Muar area and Sungai Manik near Teluk Anson.126 A great deal of Malava's politics, in the early post-war years, can be understood only against this background. The clashes of 1945-6 have influenced the growth of communalism in Malaysia's politics127 more than most people realize. The total effects of the Japanese Occupation period, not only in Malaya but also in South-East Asia as a whole, have been succinctly summed up by a scholar of Harvard University:

The war...dud accentuate nationalist sentiments and the determination to achieve independence. First, Japan granted at least the illusion of independence to Jsome South-East Asian countries], and at the time of capitulation sanctioned the formation of the Republic of Indonesis and Vienzam in Indochina. During due war a second source of encouragement to independence was the Atlantic Charter and the formation of a United Nations Organization in San Francisco. To Southeast Asian news of these two plecks were heard over short-wave radio sets at the risk of reprisal. Promises concerning the autonomy of dependent peoples were accepted with deep trust and literalized.

In addition to nationalism the immediate aftermaths of V-J day accentuated another tendency present before the war in Southeast Asia. It was a tendency which the rapid capitulation of Western powers in the winter of 1941-a1 had reinforced, namely, loss of prestige for Europeans. Before the war the European colonialm way not have been held in high esterem, but a least their assumption of power went unquestioned by the man in the street and field. During and immediately after the war, neither power nor prestige were available to bolster European colonial claims in Southeast Asia.<sup>124</sup>

It will be apparent that if, in any one of the comparatively more homogeneous societies of South-East Asia, the war effected a major transformation in almost every aspect of life, in Malava the consequences were far greater. The two largest communities in the country-the Malays and the Chinese-emerged from the war with high expectations, believing that the colonial powers would, sooner rather than later, embark on a policy of decolonization. The need to prepare for imminent independence was strongly felt especially among the younger generation whose traumatic experience during the war enabled them to reach political maturity more rapidly than the older generation. Unfortunately, the two major communities did not share the same vision of Malaya's political future. The Chinese either continued to look to China as the principal object of their political loyalty or spoke in terms of a single Malayan citizenship which should confer equal rights on all inhabitants who chose to make Malava their home. The Malays, on the other hand, either jealously asserted their claim of 'Malaya for the Malays' or cherished the hope of early independence within 'Greater Indonesia'. The stage was therefore set for a period of political bargaining or attempts by one group to outmanocuvre the other. But it was the British administration which made the first move on the political chess board.

#### BACKGROUND

1. T. H. Silcock and Ungku A. Ariz, "Nationalism in Malaya", in W. L. Holland (ed.), Anian Nationalism and the West, New York, 1933, p. 279. It Mould also be observed that the traditional alignance of the Malay was to be state or sultanate, for example Terengganu or Palang, rather than to his race. There was 'state' or 'nationalist' rather than racial consciousness in the Malay world.

2. J. M. Gullick, Indigenous Political Systems of Western Maleya, London, 1958; C. C. Brown (trans.), Sejarah Melaya or Malay Annals, Kuala Lumpur, 1970.

j. F. Swettenham, British Malaya, London 1997, especially ch. 7; R. O. Wunstedt, "The Croumstances of Malay Life" in R. J. Williamo (ed.), Papers on Malay Subject, Kuala Lumper, 1933; B. Sandin, The Sea Daykei of Bornes, London, 1997, A. Richards (ed.), The Sea Daykei and other Rear of Sawaway, Kaching, 1963 (peripetint of 1932 edition); H. H.N. Faran, Annag Pinnitive People in Bornes, London, 1932; and T. R. Williams, The Dense: A Netth Bornes Society, New York, 1954.

4. See M. G. Swift, Malay Peasant Society in Jelebu, London, 1965; and Wan A. Hamid, 'Religon and Culture of the Modern Malay' in Wang Gungwu (ed.), Melaysia: A Survey, New York, 1964, pp. 179–89.

 One of them [Abdul Majid bin Haji Zainuddin], The Melays in Melaya, Singapore, 1928, p. 78. For a markinal discussion of the subject, see S. H. Alataa, The Myth of the Lazy Native, London, 1977.

6. Wong Lin Ken, The Malayan Tin Industry to 1914, Tucson, 1965, p. 65.

7. Colin Barlow, The Natural Rubber Industry: Its Development, Technology, and Economy in Malaysia, Kuala Lumpur, 1978, pp. 48-9.

 H. Low 'Selesilah (Book of Descent) of the Rajahs of Brunet', JSBRAS, No. 5, June 1880, pp. 1-35; H. R. Hughes-Hallet, 'A Sketch of the History of Brunet', JMBRAS, 18, Pt. 2, 1940, pp. 23-42; J. P. Ongkili, 'Pre-Western Brunet, Sarawak and Sabah', Nusantara, Bil. J, January 1973, pp. 49–68.

 Peter Leys, 'Observations on the Brunei Political System 1883-1885' (with notes by Robert M. Pringle), JMBRAS, 41, Pt. 2, December 1968, p. 118.

10. See L. W. Jones, The Population of Bornes, London, 1966, pp. 12, 15; Lee Yong Leng. North Bornes (Sabah), Singapore, 1965, pp. 58-62.

 See, for example, A. Johns, 'Muslim Mystics and Historical Writing' in D. G. E. Hall (cd.), *Historians of South East Asia*, London, 1961; Syed Naguib Al-Attas, *The Mysticium of Hamzah Fannen*, Kuala Lumpur, 1970; and Mohd. Taib Osman, *Kessusteraan Melayu Lama*, Kuala Lumpur, 1965, pp. 73–86.

12. Sec J. D. Vaughan, The Manners and Cattoms of the Chinese of the Strain Statimenett, Kuala Lumpur, 1971 (reprint of 1879 editions); L. L. Bird, The Golden Chersones and the Way Thaher, Kuala Lumpur, 1967 (reprint of 1885 edition), pp. 132–4, 188–93, and 288–94; and Song Ong Sung, One Handred Year' History of the Chinese in Singapore, Singapore, 1967 (reprint of 1923 edition).

13. Khoo Kay Kim, The Weitern Malay States, 1850-1873, Kuala Lumpur, 1972, Pts. II and III; N. Ginsburg and C. F. Robert, Jr., Malaya, Seattle, 1958, ch. 8.

14 C. M. Tumbull, 'Cambier and Perper Trade in Johore in the Nigeteenth Century', JSSS, 15, Pt. 1, 1959.]. C. Jackson, *Planters and Speculatory: Chinnes and European Agricultural Europius in Malaya*, 1986-1921. University of Malaya Press, Kuala Lompur, 1960, Pp. 15-22, 24-30, Carl A. Trocki, 'The Origin of the Kangchu System, 1740-1860', JMBRA54, 44, P. 24, 1996.

15. This resembled the kangany method for Indian labour mentioned below and entailed the employment of Chinase recruiters or brokers who went to China to obtain prospective labourers. The recruiter, known as *kheh thau*, arranged the pasage in return for which the bloourers, or *in-kheh*, very often peasans from rural Chinese provinces, igned contracts or made explicit undertakings to work for employers associated with the recruiter. The employers in MJaya smally paid off the recruiters which the babours remained ford to the employers small and dotted the tabourers indentiated for years. See J. N. Parmer, Colonia Labor Policy and Administration: A History of Labor in the Robert Plantation Industry in Malaya, C1340-1941, New York, 1960, pp. 27–37; and R. N. Jackson, Immigrant Labour and the Devidement of Malaya, 1984-1984.

 See A. M. Cooper, Men of Sarawak, Kuala Lumpur, 1968, chs. 4 and 11; W. J. Chater, Sarawak Long Age, Kuching, 1969, pp. 66–70; and K. G. Tregonning, A History of Modern Saluh, 1841–1965, Singapore, 1965, ch. 7.

 Excluding Singapore, the Chinese comprised 33.9 per cent in 1931 and 38.4 per cent in 1947 of the population of Malaya. Federation of Malaya. Official Year Book, 1961, p. 36. See also C. A. Vileland, "The 1947 Census of Malaya", Pacific Affairs, 22, No. 1, March 1949, pp. 59–63.

14. In Stawak, there were 13,646 (24 per cent) Chinese in 1939, and 14,515 (26 per cent) in 1937, while in Sabah, there were 50,056 (16 per cent) Chanse in 1931, and 14,374 (22 per cent) in 1937. The figures are from Jones, op. (1, p. 6); and the percentage-approximator-are of the total population of the territory in each case. By comparison there were 1,435,000 Chinese in 1931 and 1,853,000 in 1947 in Malaya (excluding Singapore). Federation of Malaya, Official Yare Bee, 1987, p. 51.

19. V. Purcell, The Chinese in Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, 1967 (reprint of 1948 edition), p. 237.

20. Ibid., pp. 241-2. See G. W. Skinner, Leadership and Power in the Chinese Community of Thailand, Ithaca, N.Y., 1958, chs. 4 and 5 and R.-J. Coughin, Double Identity: The Chinese in Modern Thailand, Hong Kong, 1960, chs. 3 and 6 for the economic roles and clan life of the Chinese which were in many ways similar to those in Malaya.

21. Unless otherwise stated, the term 'Indian' is used in this study to include all persons of related origin, for instance Pakistanis and Ceylonese.

22. Under this arrangement, Malayan employers sent Indian agents (kangany) to India to persuade prospective labourers, especially in the kangany i own home districts, to apply for free passage to Malaya. The kangany method of labour recruitment is discussed in S. Araaaranam, Indian in Malayia and Singapore, Kuala Lumpur, 1970, pp. 16–20.

23. There were Indian middle class people in Malaya, such as doctors, lawyers, teachers and clerks, but most of these came originally from similar classes in India or Ceylon rather than from the ranks of the immigrant labourers in Malaya. See Usha Mahajani, The Role of Indian Minerine in Burge and Malaya, Bombay, 1960, pp. 98–103.

24 Arasaratnam, op. cit., p. 24.

25. Silcock and Aziz, op. cit., p. 287.

26. Usha Mahajani erroneously states that the ban was on 'unassisted emigration of Indian labour' to Malaya, op. cit., p. 109.

27. Silcock and Aziz, op. cit., p. 276.

28. Federation of Malaya, Official Year Book, 1961, p. 36.

29. Jones, op. cit., p. 203.

 N. Tatling, Anglo-Dutch Rivelry in the Malay World, 1780-1824, London, 1962, ch. 5; and R. Bonney, Kedah 1771-1821: The Search for Security and Independence, Kuula Lumpur, 1971.

 C. M. Turnbull, The Strain Settlements, 1826-67, London, 1972, chs. 9 and 10; and N. Tarling, British Policy in the Malay Peninsula and Archipelago, 1824-1871, Kuala Lumpur, 1969.

32. See C. D. Cowan, Nineteenth-Century Malaya: The Origins of British Political Control,

London, 1961; and D. McIntyre, 'Britain's Intervention in Malaya: the Origin of Lord Kimberley's Instructions to Sir Andrew Clarke in 1873', JSEAH, 2, No. 3, 1961.

33. R. Emerson, Malaysia: A Study in Direct and Indirect Rule, Kuala Lumpur, 1964 (reprint of 1937 edition), p. 112.

34. For a detailed discussion of the subject, see Khoo Kay Kim, 'The Origin of British Administration in Malaya', JMBRAS, 39, Pt. 1, 1966.

35. C. N. Parkinson, British Intervention in Malaya 1867-1877, Singapore, 1960, App. A. 36. E. Sadka, The Protected Malay States 1874-1895, Singapore, 1968, p. 379.

37. W. G. Maxwell and W. S. Gibson (eds.), Treaties and Engagements Affecting the Malay States and Borneo, London, 1924, pp. 35-6; 63-4; and 68-9.

38. Ibid., p. 88.

39. E. Thio, British Policy in the Malay Peninsula 1880-1910, Singapore, 1969, passim.

40. R. O. Winstedt, A History of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, 1968, p. 240.

41. J. S. Sidhu, 'Decentralization of the Federated Malay States 1930-34', Peninjau Sejarah, 1, No. 1, June 1966, pp. 17-28.

42. For a history of the establishment of the Brooke regime in Sarawak see S. Runciman, The White Rajahy, London, 1960; and N. Tarling, Britain, The Brookes and Brunei, Kuala Lumpur, 1971.

43. In 1960, the population of Sarawak comprised: indigenous 68 per cent, Chinese 31 per cent, and Europeans and others 1 per cent. See L. W. Jones, op. cit., p. 203.

44. R. Payne, The White Rajahs of Sarawak, London, 1960, pp. 59-60.

45. S. Baring-Gould and C. A. Bampfylde, A History of Sarawak Under its Two White Rajahs, 1839-1908, London, 1909, chs. 3 and 7.

46. C. Brooke, Ten Years in Sarawak, London, 1866, Vol. 2, p. 317.

47. Of the twenty-one' members' of the first Council meeting at Binnlui in September 1867, 'no one tepresented the great interior hinterland; and direct representation of the sla to any extent was not to come for more than thirty years. The early Councils were drawn mainly from the accessible countal plain of the south-west.' Government of Sarawak, *Council Negri Cristmary*, 1867-1962, Ruching, 2967, p. 1.

48. Payne, op. cit., p. 137. Charles Brooke penned the opinion quoted in a tract titled 'Queries, Past, Present and the Future' which he published in London.

49. See K. M. Panikkar, Asia and Western Dominance, London, 1959; R. Emerson, From Empire to Nation, Cambridge, Mass., 1962; and D. P. Singhal, 'Nationalism and Communism in South-East Asia', 752H 3, No. 1, March 1962.

50. W. L. Holland (ed.), Asian Nationalism and the West, New York, 1953; G. A. Almond and J. S. Coleman (ed.), The Politics of the Developing Areas, New Jersey, 1960; and Emerson, From Empire to Nation, especially Ch. 1-3.

51. Government of Sarawak, The Sarawak Government Gazette, Kuching, 24 September 1941, p. 616.

52. Ibid., p. 617.

53. Runciman, op. cit., p. 249.

54. Proto 1030, there were 25 government schools which were entirely Malay (Idamic) and in which the use and tracking of English was debarred before 190, 37 mission schools, and over 100 Chinese schools, (ilterview with A.G. Smith former Director of Education, Sarawak, Hull, March 1971.) See also Jones, op. cit., pp. 57–66; No survey of literacy was ever undertaken during the Brooke period.

55. J. D. Legge, indonesia, New Jersey, 1964, pp. 68–78; D. G. E. Hall, A History of Southeast Aria, London, 1964, chs. 28, 33 and 42; and D. J. Steinberg (ed.), In Search of Southeast Asia: A Modern History, Kuala Lumper, 1971, chs. 18, 20 and 24.

56. See O. Rutter, British North Borneo, London, 1922; L. R. Wright. The Origins of

British Borneo, Hong Kong, 1970.

57. K. G. Tregonning, 'Steps in the Acquisition of North Borneo', Historical Studies: Australia and New Zealand, 5, No. 19, 1952.

58. For the text of the Royal Charter, see the Company's Handbook of British North Borneo, 1836, pp. 113-28.

59. Ibid., p. 123.

60. Rutter, op. cit., cht. 51 and 10. For an illustrative study of one of the main products, see D. W. John and J. C. Jackson, The Tobacco Industry of North Bornee: A Dustinctive Form of Plantation Agriculture", JSEA5, 4, No. 1, March 1937, pp. 88-106, see also J. P. Ongkith, "Kelekan Ekonomi Kompeni Berpiagam Sabah, 1881–1941", Melaysia in History, 16, No. 1, June 1973, pp. 9-15.

61. K.G. Tregonning in his Under Chattred Company Rele, Singapore, 1991 (and edu, 1965, ar A Hinory of Medm Sakak, Mein-1968) gives the impression that the Chattred Company was a very humane institution which hushanded Sahah faithfully and bought in to stability and progress. There is a lot of truth in such an assertion and admittedly the Company brought relative peace to a once-wild country. Yet, such an impression is one-did countery. Yet, such an impression is one-did units it is also pointed our that the Company hand clint effort to hids this particular the test of the site of the

62. The Advisory Council was so much a creature of the Company Government, and so little a body representing the people of the territory, that Rutter saw no distinction between it and the Company administration. See Rutter, op. cit, ch. 6.

63. K. G. Tregonning, 'The Mat Salleh Revolt (1894-1905)', JMBRAS, 29, Pt. 1, 1956, pp. 20-36.

64. K. G. Tregonning, A History of Modern Sabah, pp. 200-1.

65. Ibid., see chapter on 'Rebels', pp. 197-222.

66. The locu of power and extent of political participation by the people were summed up by the Company Handbavin inspira? The Government anisated by a Legitative Council consisting of nine official and five unofficial members, the unofficial members being mominated by the different communities and appointed by the Governor subject to the approval of the Court of Directors. Coeffinance are marced by the Governor, with the advice of the Court. J, but the Court of Directors reverb en right to diallow any such Ordinance in the same way as the Crown retinin a power of vero in the case of Crown Colonics', log 4, 11 Pro potions remained so until the Bpaneer Courapion.

67. Tregonning, A History of Modern Sabah, pp. 127-8.

68. Interviews with Datuk G. S. Sundang, O. K. K. Tambakau, O. K. K. Zainal bin Kerahu about their experiences in the pre-war period. All agreed that the Chartered Company rule was oppressive and debilitating.

69. The communities of Sarawak made no demand for a constitution at the time, thereby manifesting that they were not politically prepared or nationalistically aware. Neither was there any significant reaction to that Constitution.

70. See Wang Gungwu, 'Sun Yat-en and Singapore', JSSS, 15, Pt. 2, December 1959, pp. 53-68; Lee Ah-chai, 'Policies and Politics in Chinese Schools in the Straits Settlements and Federated Malay States, 1764–1941' (M.A. Thesii, University of Malaya, Singapore, 1957); Ping Poh Seng, 'The Kuomintang in Malaya, 1912–1941, 'JSEAH, 2, No. 1, March 1961, pp. 1–141, V. Purcell, The Chinese in Malaya, 2020-204.

#### BACKGROUND

71. See Khoo Kay Kim, 'The Beginnings of Political Extremism in Malaya 1915-1935' (Ph.D. Thesis, University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, 1973), pp. 197-303; G. Z. Hanrahan, The Communist Struggle in Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, 1971, pp. 19-60.

72. See G. P. Ramachandra, 'The Indian Independence Movement in Malaya 1942-45' (M.A. Thesis, University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, 1970).

73. See Khoo Kay Kim, 'The Beginnings of Political Extremism in Malaya',

 See W. R. Roff, The Origins of Malay Nationalism, Singapore, 1967; Radin Soenarno, 'Malay Nationalism, 1900–1945', JSEAH, 1, No. 1, March 1960, pp. 1–28; Silcock and Azr, op. cit., pp. 384-6.

 See W. R. Roff, 'Kaum Muda-Kaum Tua: Innovation and Reaction Amongst the 4 Malays, 1900–1944' in K. G. Tregonning (ed.), Papers on Malayan History, Singapore, 1062, pp. 163–92.

76. See W. R. Roff, The Origins of Malay Nationalism, pp. 221-14.

77. See Khoo Kay Kim, 'The Beginnings of Political Extremism in Malaya', pp. 128-9, 254-346.

78. See Khoo Kay Kim, 'Malay Society, 1874–1920's', JSEAS, 5, No. 2, September 1974, pp. 179–98.

79. See Stephen Leong, "Source, Agencies and Manifestations of Overseas Chinese Nationalism in Malaya 1941-1945" (Ph.D. Thesis, University of California, Los Angeles, 1970). Norman Primer, 'Chinese Elaste Worker's Strates in Malaya in March 1971" in C.D. Cowan (ed.), 'The Economic Development of Southeast Asia, London, 1964; M. R. Stenson, Industrial Conflicts in Malaya, London, 1970, pp. 19-24.

80. Arasaratnam, op. cit., pp. 96-111; Stenson, op. cit., pp. 25-33.

81. See W. R. Roff, The Origins of Malay Nationalism, pp. 211-47.

82. Muhammad Yunus Hamidi, Sejarah Pergerakan Politik Melayu Semenanjong, Kuala Lumpur (19612), pp. 5-6.

83. See Radin Soenarno, op. cit., pp. 16-22; Ahmad Boestamam, Dr. Burhanuddin: Putera Setia Melayu, Kuala Lumpur, 1972, pp. 4, 77.

84. Soh Eng Lim, 'Tan Cheng Lock', JSEAH, 1, No. 1, March 1960, p. 33.

85. See M. Hall, Kinabalu Guerrillas, Sarawak Press Ltd., Kuching, [1949?], ch. 1; and S. Runciman, op. cit., p. 255.

86. For a contemporary account of the Japanese invasion of the Peninsula and Singapore, see 1. Morrison, Malayan Postscript, London, 1942.

 Abd. Malek Haji Md. Hanafiah, "Sejarah Perjuangan Kesatuan Melayu Muda 1937-1945" (B.A. Hons. Academic Exercise, Department of History, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, 1974), pp. 233-6.

 Ibid., pp. 261-2. On the subject of KMM's cooperation with the Japanese, see Lt.-Gen. Fujiwara Iwaichi, F. Kikes Japanese Amy Intelligence Operations in Southeast Asia during World War II, Hong Kong., 1983. Translated by Yoji Akashi.

 Yoji Akashi, 'Education and Indoctrination Policy in Malaya and Singapore under the Japanese Rule, 1943–1945', Melaysian Journal of Education, 13, No. 1/2, December 1976, p. 1.

90. Abd. Malek Haji Md. Hanafiah, op. cit., p. 274.

91. Halinah Bamadhaj, 'The Impact of the Japanese Occupation of Malaya on Malay Society and Politics' (M.A. Thesis, Auckland University, 1975), pp. 93-4.

92. I. K. Agastja (Ibrahim Yaacob), Sedjarah dan Perdjuangan di Malaya, Jogjarkata, 1951, p. 101.

93. Ibid., p. 106; Abd. Malek Haji Md. Hanafiah, op. cit., pp. 287-97; Interview with Ishak Haji Muhammad, Ulu Langat, March 1978. For the war-time activities of KMM, see also F. S. Chapman, *The Jungle is Neutral*, London, 1949, passim. 94. Yoichi Itagaki, 'Some Aspects of the Japanese Policy for Malaya Under the Occupation, with Special Reference to Nationalism' in K.G. Tregonning (ed.), Papers on Malayan History, Singapore, 1962, pp. 362-3.

95. Ibrahim Yaacob, Sekitar Malaya Merdeka, Djakarta, 1957, p. 28.

 Abd. Malek Haji Md. Hanafiah, op.cit., pp. 302-7; Khoo Kay Kim, 'Ibrahim Yaakob dan KMM', Widya, No. 21, May 1979, p. 39.

97. Soenarno, op. cit., p. 25; Ibrahim Yaacob, Sekitar Melaya Merdeka, p. 29.

98. B. Simandjuntak, Malayan Federalism, 1945-1963, Kuala Lumpur, 1969, p. 10.

99. For an extended discussion, see Yoji Akashi, 'Japanese Military Administration in Malaya-Its Formation and Evolution in Reference to Sultans, the Islamic Religion, and the Moslem-Malays, 1941-1945', Atian Studies, 7, No. 1, April 1969, pp. 81-110.

100. V. Purcell in his Introduction in 1954 to G. Z. Hanrahan, op. cit., pp. 10 and 62. Writing earlier in 1945, however, Purcell stated that between 40,000 and 100,000 perished in the purce. See V. Purcell. The Chinese in Malaya, p. 231.

101. Hanrahan, op. cit., ch. 3. The KMT in Malaya, although officially banned as a political party since 1923, also actively participated in the anti-Japanese effort by collecting funds for the parent organization in the homeland and organizing resistance groups, such as DALFORCE.

102. Another guerrilla resistance group was built by the British in their plan to re-occupy Malys. Known as force 15, in Malysin Section gained eilimitemis from members of the various communities from July 1943 onwards. It worked out a worke aprendi with the WPA/A while antroparing in margine military unplyJ and direction from the Alles. How-ever, it dobundel without seeing much action when the War ended abruptly. Harnahan, or, ott., pp. 7–34. and R. Chutterbuck, *The Long Larg War*, Endon, 1970, p. 16.

101. Discussion with Ungku A. Aziz.

104. See G. Maxwell, The Civil Defence of Malaya, London, 1944; V. Purcell, Malaya: Outline of a Colony, London, 1946; and R. Winstedt, Britain and Malaya, 1780-1948, London, 1949, for a pologetic versions of the British position in Malaya.

105. M. Hall, Labuan Story, Jesselton, 1958, pp. 254-70; and T. Harrisson, World Within: A Borneo Story, London, 1959.

106. As the occupation years wore on, Japanese atrocities became commonplace in Borneo, as they did in the Peninsula and Singapore. See Chin Kee Onn, Malaya Upide Down, Singapore, 1946, and Morrison, op. cit.

107. See M. R. Stenson, Industrial Conflict in Malaya, London, 1970, pp. 67-8.

108. Tregonning narrates, 'There was widespread conscription of women for protintuiton and a regimentation of men and women for labour... As in Malaya, the first signs of disstanfaction came from the Chinese. Their shops had been looted, their trade had been efimmated, their women had been raped or appropriated.' (A History of Meden Sabah, pp. 216-17) See 2106 Chin Kee Onn, or, cit., ch. 2.

109. Interviews with Assistant Superintendents of Police, Mohammed Yassin Anik and Ansibin, both of Sabah, who were active in the resistance movement from 1943 to 1945. Kuala Lumpur, June 1971. See also F. G. Whelan, Stories from Sabah History, Singapore, 1968, dr. 5.

110. For a vivid narrative of the Double Tenth Uprising, see M. Hall, Kinabalu Guerillas, chs. 2 and 3.

111. K. G. Tregonning, North Borneo, London, 1960, p. 164; and Harrisson, op. cit.

112. W. H. Elsbree, Japan's Role in Southeast Asian Nationalist Movements, 1940 to 1945, Cambridge, Mass., 1953, pp. 15-41.

113. Arasaratnam, op. cit., p. 105; see also Ramachandra, op. cit.

114. Silcock and Aziz, op. cit., p. 296.

#### BACKGROUND

115. C. Chaudhuri, 'Subhas Chandra Bose-His Legacy and Legend', Pacific Affairs, 26, No. 4, December 1953, p. 356.

116. Usha Mahajani, op. cit., pp. 145-8.

117. Arasaratnam, op. cit., p. 105; and J. Lebra, 'Japanese Policy and the Indian National Army', Asian Studies, 7, No. 1, April 1969, pp. 44-9.

118. Chaudhuri, op. cit., p. 356. See also S. P. Cohen, 'Subhas Chandra Bose and the Indian National Army', Pacific Affairs, 36, No. 4, winter 1963-64, pp. 411-20.

119. K. K. Ghosh, 'The Indian National Army-Motives, Problems and Significance', Asian Studies, 7, No. 1, pp. 4-5; and Arasaratnam, op. cit., p. 107.

120. Silcock and Aziz, op. cit., p. 295.

121. Arasaratnam, op. cit., p. 106.

122. Silcock and Aziz, op. cit., p. 287.

123. Chin Kee Onn, op. cit., p. 208. See also C. Du Bois, Social Forces in Southeast Asia, Cambridge, Mass., 1959, ch. 3, for (inter alia) the outlook of nationalism in the area after 1940.

124. For some idea of this confrontation, see Roff, Origins of Malay Nationalism, pp. 207-10.

125. Hanrahan, op. cit., p. 87.

146. There are few published works on the subject of Sino-Mulky clushes during duk period. The between sources is A. O. L. Burridge, "Read Relations in Johand," Another Jonnal of Polinic and Hittory, 1, 2, 1957, pp. 51-64, rez also Hari Abdullah, "Kahangjian din Gerakan Tenters Sedendage March dukan Sejarah Darak Murd and Sings Parky," JEBAT, 1/4. 1971/75. urgublished sources include Mohd. Noordan Sogite, "The Gommanics Listions Committee and Pote-War Communal Relations in Mulky: A Historical Source Bools' (University of Mulky, Microfilm Boil; Charali Bani, "Hair Parka, Seyarh Holongne, Ru Zaman Pendukahan Jopun schinger Penerintahan Tentera Inggerin (BMA), 1942-1949' (BA. Hons. Thesis, Department of History, University of Mulaya, Johor, 1907-195, Musak Munrak, 'Sgrath Musrayak in Mujkan VL, Bane Phane, Johor, 1907-195, 'Musak in Munrak, 'Sgrath Musrayak in Mujkan' (Mul Johor, 1907-195).

127. For a study of the nature of communal politics in Malaya, see K.J. Ratmam, Communalism and the Political Protess in Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, 1965. 128. See Du Bois, op. cit., pp. 52-3.

# The Unification of the Malay Peninsula, 1946–1948

Dissrit her complete defeat by the Japanese with the fall of Singapore on 15 February 1944. Britain, for economic, imperial and strategic reasons, worked conscientiously for her return to Malaya. As early as July 1943 the Colonial Office set up a Malayan Pitanning Unit (MPU) composed minily of Britshi officials with Malayan experience and charged with the responsibility of working out future British policy for Malaya and Singapore.

## The MacMichael Mission

The outcome of the planning and preparation by the MPU was summarized by the Secretary of State for the Colonies in answering a question in the House of Commons on 10 October 1945:

His Majetty's Government have given careful consideration to the future of Malaya and the need to promote the sense of unity and common citizenship which will develop the country's strength and capacity in due course for selfgovernment within the British Commonwealth.

Our policy will call for a constitutional Union of Malaya and for the institution of a Malayan citizenship which will give equal citizenship rights to those who can claim Malaya to be their homeland. For these purpoes fresh agreement will need to be arranged with the Malay State Rulers and fresh constitutional measures for the Straits Sertlements...

The Malyan Union will consist of the nine States in the Maly Penninula and of the two British Settlements of Penang and Malacca. The Settlement of Singapore at this stage requires separate constitutional treatment and in view of its special contomic and other interests provision will be made for it to be constituted as a separate Colony.<sup>1</sup>

It was recognized that in order to implement the new proposals, it would be necessary to obtain the consent of the nine Malay states with which Britain had signed treaties enabling her to exercise indirect rule in Malaya before the Japanese Occupation. For this purpose, Sir Harold Mac-Michael was despatched to Malaya concurrently with the statement made in the House of Commons.

Since it was the British policy for post-war Malaya which highlighted Malay loyalist and patriotic sentiments at the time, it is instructive to see how MacMichael proceeded to secure the signatures of the Malay Rulers to the new Agreements. MacMichael's terms of reference directed him to invite cach Malay Ruler's co-operation in the establishing of a fresh constitutional organisation of Malaya which has been approved by His Majetty's Government and communicated to' him. More revealingly, MacMichael was' subchroid as Special Representative of His Majesty's Government to conclude with each Ruler on behalf of His Majesty's Government o formal Agreement by which he will cede full junidiction to His Majetty in his State'.<sup>2</sup> Clearly, the British intention was to gain much wider control over the Malay Rulers than they had had in prewar days.

MacMichael toured all the nine states of the Peninsula. He claimed that he had observed propriety and due respect in his meetings with the Rulers. His Majesty's Special Representative vouched that before every Ruler:

I opened the proceedings in all cases by explaining the object of my mission and my terms of reference and thereafter, in general terms, but always with completer frankness, the uliant features and justification of the policy which had been adopted by His Majestry's Government and which it was proposed to carry out *after the grant of jurisdition*, namely, the creation of a Malayan Union and the grant of common citizenship to all who had made Malaya their real home.<sup>3</sup>

During his stay of eighty-two days in Malaya, from 11 October 1945 to 1 January 1946, MacMichael succeeded in obtaining the signatures of the nine Malay Rulers to the new Agreements. Britain's wish to possess and exercise full jurisdiction over the internal and external affairs of Malaya was realized in so far as the Rulers signed the British-drafted Agreements before the Special Representative. It is difficult to deny, however, that the Special Representative went about his mission not only with a strong element of haste but also with undisguised arrogance; the Malay Rulers and their subjects soon represented the proceedings as a dictatorial and opportunistic attempt on the part of Britain to colonize directly the Malay states which were no more than British protectorates in pre-war days. This attempt was a clear breach of promise: the pre-war British promise to uphold the sovereignty of each of the nine Malay states. But, beside the impression of a British conspiracy, it was the astounding provisions of the Malayan Union proposals of 1946 which really aroused Malay sentiments.

## NATION-BUILDING IN MALAYSIA

# The Malayan Union Proposals

Pursuing her post-war policy for Malaya in a planned manner, Britain published two White Papera-on 22 January and 4 March 1946-which clearly showed a drastic change in attitude and approach towards the Malay states. Undoubtedly, the second White Paper contained the clearest and most precise definition of the Malayan Union proposals and it demonstrated the fact that Britain was set in her policy of dividing her Malayan dependencies into two distinct entities, namely, the Malayan Union and Singapore.

Briefly, the Malayan Union, comprising the nine Malay states and Pulau Pinang and Melaka as earlier announced, would have a central Legislative Council with up to twenty-two official and twenty-one nominated unofficial members presided over by the Governor of the Malayan Union. The Governor would have a veto power over bills passed by the Council. There would be a central Executive Council with six official and five unofficial members, the latter to be appointed by the Governor. Clearly, these central government bodies were almost identical with those usually found in British crown colonies. There was no intention of introducing the electoral process in the Malayan Union; the people's voice was obviously regarded as a thing of the distant future.

In so far as consideration had to be given to the position of the Mahy Rulers whose sovereignty in their respective states Britain had recognized and maintimed throughout the pre-war period, provision was made for the setting up of a Council of Sultans which was to consist of the Governor as President and the Rulers, the Chief Secretary, the Attorney-General and the Financial Secretary of the Mahyan Union as members. More systematic than the periodic *athware* of the pre-ware rat, this Council would meet twice a year.<sup>4</sup> The Council's functions were 'to consider legislation, relating solely to matters of Muhammadan religion, which the Maly Adviory Council in any State has approved for enactment; and to advite the Governor on any matter which, the may refer to the Council for discussion, or on any matter which, which his prior consent, any Sultan may propose for discussion'.<sup>3</sup> In short, even Muslim religious affairs were to be courcelled by the British authorities.

There was to be a State Council in each of the Malay states and Settlement Councils in Pulau Pinang and Melaka. 'Each such Council will consist of the Resident Commissioner of the State or Settlement as Chairman, and of such ex-officio Members, Nominated Official Members, Nominated Unofficial Members and Elected Members as may be prescribed by law or regulation'.<sup>6</sup> The State and Settlement Councils were empowered to make laws on any subject which was declared by the Governor-in-Council to be of a purely local nature or in respect of which powers of legislation had been 'delegated to them by the Legislative Council, but any such law may be altered or repealed by the Union Legislature and will be void if repugnant to Union legislation'.<sup>7</sup> The arrangement demonstrated unequivocally the Malayan Union Government's responsibility for initiating a strong central government in Kuala Lumpur, one which would rectify the failure of the pre-war decentralization.

Also at state level, the Malay Advisory Council in each state would, as mentioned earlier, consist of the Ruler and other Malays he might appoint. This Advisory Council was given the function, as the title implies, of advising the Ruler on all matters affecting Islam in the state or which might 'be referred to the Council at the request of the Resident Commissioner with the Governor's approval, and on the making of laws which relate solely to Muhammadan religion and do not involve taxation or tithe's "Huss, at state level, too, Islamic affain which were expressly the domain of the Rulers in pre-war days were to come under the enormous, all-embracing powers of the Malayan Union Governor and his licutenants, the Reident Commissioners.

The provisions on citizenship in the Malayan Union proposals must be clearly understood, not only because they accounted to a considerable extent for the heightening of Malay sentiments but also because they bore significance in relation to subsequent developments on the matter. The second White Paper laid down that the Order-in-Council on the matter would provide that the following persons would be Malayan Union citizens:

(a) Any person born in the Malayan Union or Singapore before the date when the Order comes into force, who is ordinarily resident in the Malayan Union or Singapore on that date.

(b) Any person of eighteen years of age or over ordinarily resident in the Malayan Union or Singapore on the date when the Order comes into force, who have resided in the Malayan Union or Singapore for a period of ten years during the fifteen years preceding the 15th of February, 1942, and who swears or affirms or takes the oath of allegiance (i.e. to be faithful and loyal to the Government of the Malayan Union).

(c) Any person born in the Malayan Union or Singapore on or after the date when the Order comes into force.

(d) Any person born outside the Malayan Union and Singapore on or after the date when the Order comes into force, whose father is a Malayan Union citizen at the time of that person's birth and either was born in the Malayan Union or Singapore or was a Malayan Union citizen under (b) above or had obtained a certificate of naruralization. The minor children (viz: children under eighteen) of persons in categories (a) and (b) will abo be Malayan Union citizens.<sup>9</sup>

#### NATION-BUILDING IN MALAYSIA

At the discretion of the Governor, and subject to certain residential and character qualifications, certificates of naturalization as Malayan Union citizens could be granted; but 'a Malayan Union citizen who becomes naturalized in a foreign state will cease to be a Malayan Union citizen<sup>1,10</sup>

At least three significant points can be seen in the provisions on citizenship above. First, despite the decision to separate Singapore from the rest of Malaya in 1946, the British kept the door open for those in Singapore to become Malayan Union citizens if they gualified and chose to do so. Secondly, for the first time in its history the Peninsula was to be unified under one form of citizenship. Thirdly, category (c) meant that ius soli citizenship was advocated for all 'Malavans' irrespective of race, colour or creed. It was this third point on citizenship which the Malays found threatening and considered damaging to their community. But, this particular aspect apart, the Malayan Union proposals as a whole bore testimony to the British wish to return to Malaya in a position of administrative strength and political prestige. Britain brought with her a neat bundle of colonial proposals which the Malays found astonishing and deeply disappointing when compared to the benevolent British indirect rule of the pre-war period. The Malays thereupon reacted against the Malayan Union scheme.

## Malay Reactions

Because of the prevailing unsettled conditions in the Peninsula resulting from the Japanese Occupation, it was not surprising that the majority of the Rulers tended to welcome the returning British who had been far more benevolent in pre-war days than the high-handed and harsh Japanese during the occupation years. It was in this relatively pro-British atmosphere that MacMichael pressed on with his efforts to acquire the Rulers' signatures. Yet it is significant that the earliest adverse reactions of Malays to the Malayan Union proposals were those of the Rulers themselves. Before signing the new Agreement on 14 November 1945. the Yang di-Pertuan Besar of Negeri Sembilan, Tuanku Abdul Rahman, is reported to have been given very little time to consider the proposals. Speaking also on behalf of the four Undang (territorial chieftains) whose concurrence was necessary before his signing the British document, the Ruler maintained that 'During the two days which was all the time Sir Harold MacMichael and his party could give us there was the veiled implication that what we had been compelled to do might be held against us and furthermore we were told that as Johore, Selangor and Pahang had already signed it was pointless our not doing so'.11 There was a much stronger reaction in Kedah where the question of sovereignty was

#### THE UNIFICATION OF THE MALAY PENINSULA

deeply involved. Article 3 of the Anglo-Kedah Agreement of 1923 stated that 'His Britannic Majesty will not transfer or otherwise dispose of his rights of suzerainty over the State of Kedah to another power and will not merge or combine the State of Kedah to another power and will not merge or combine the State of Kedah to another power and will not merge or combine the State of Kedah to another power and will not merge or combine the State of Kedah to another without the written consent of his Highmest the Sultan in Council '12 Indeed, it was in the case of Kedah that haste and the use of threat on the part of the British Representative were clear. Sultan Badlishah later wrote to Sir Frank Swettenham:

I was presented with a verbal ultimatum with a time limit, and in the event of my refusing to sign the new agreement, which I call the Instrument of Surrender, a successor, who would sign it, would be appointed Sultan. Members of the State Council were compelled to sign an undertaking that they would advise me to sign it. I was told that this matter was personal and confidential, and was not allowed to tell my people what had taken place.<sup>13</sup>

It is also recorded that while maintaining his politeness until his guest had left, Sultan Badishah later 'called for his yellow Rolls-Royce and rode down to Alor Setar post office to send, that very evening, a telegram *en clair* to the Secretary of State declaring that as he had signed under duress the treaty was null and void<sup>1,4</sup>

As in the cases of Negeri Sembilan and Kedah, MacMichael gave little more than twenty-four hours' notice to the Sultan of Perak to consider and sign the Agreement. While the Yang di-Pertuan Best of Negeri Sembilan and the Sultan of Kedah were refused any opportunity to consult other Malay leaders in their states about the proposals in the Agreements, Sultan Abdul Azie Of Perak was allowed to do so and found that all the major Perak chiefs had serious reservations and doubts about the proposals. Sultan Abdul Azie deplored the severely short notice given and subsequently emphasized:

The transaction survour of haste. One cannot but regret the necessity for extreme speed in deciding the destiny of a nation when a little delay would have been conducive to wider counsel. In signifying my assent to the Agreement against my better judgement, I did so because I was cought in the atmosphere of haste and because I was engrossing my unshaken loyalty to the British Crown with full confidence that ny rights and the rights of my people would not be disturbed. <sup>15</sup>

In Sclangor, the signature-collecting mission displayed the same abrupt and high-handed manner. The British Special Representative imperiously told Sultan Hisamuddin Alamshah, The object of the Union is to ensure peace and progress for Malaya. It would be best for you to surrender your powers to the King. The Sultan of Johore has signed and surrendered his powers. I ask Your Highness and the other Rulers to give your consent

and not to be recalcitrant.<sup>116</sup> The amazing aspect of the whole episode was that while Britain realized she was one of the victorious 'big powers' at he end of the Second World War, Whitehall feared that any delay in the implementation of a British post-war policy for Malaya would lead to fissiparous tendencies, uncertainties and objections from the Malay Rulers and their people. The haste and arrogance with which that policy was carried out must have recalled the adage 'might is right' to the generally well-informed Malay Rulers.

From the above excerpts of statements by the Rulers, it is undeniable that the traditional Malay leaders had forebodings about the new Agreements from the beginning. Even the Sultan of Johor, who had long taken a liking to many aspects of British institutions and society in his lengthy life, soon fiel that there was something definitely untoward in the Agreement which Britain, his long-time ally, had edged him into signing. In fact Sultan Ibrahim of Johor displayed more than anyone else the unfolding disappointment of the Malay stowards the British in 1940. He was Anglophile and even incurred the anger of some of his subjects over the British proposals. But once he had fully comprehended the import of the new Agreement, Sultan Ibrahim, who was regarded as the doyen of the Malay Rulers at the time, was prompt in stating his views in what can only be described as diplomatic language of a high order:

I was not in any way correct or stampeded by Sir Harold MacMichael into signing the agreement he placed before me. I signed it quite willingly, findly, because I was so happy and relieved at the liberation of Malays from the Jpannee occupation, and secondly, because I felt confident that I would not be aked to sign anything that was not in the interests of the Malays..., But after thinking the matter over carefully and lengthily, I came to the conclusion that I had signed the agreement without scrutinizing at a closely as I should have done and that I had, unfortunately, not realised in far-reaching implications. I accordingly wrote to the Secretary of Stare for the Colosies on February 15 [sudd]. etting him this and informing him that: in the circumstances I could no longer maintain the unqualified approx11 had originally given.<sup>17</sup>

In his letter of 15 February 1946, Sultan Ibrahim explained that as a result of the publication of the first White Paper three had been very serious reactions to the Malayan Union proposals from the Malays. The Malay Rulers were obviously becoming aware not only of the importance of maintaining their dignity as traditional leaders and foci of loyalty and patriotism in Malay society but also of the political dangers confronting the Malays as a whole. The 73-year-old Johor Ruler mirrored this awareness in his letter to the Colonial Office:

This grave situation has convinced me, after long and careful consideration, that it would be wrong of me if I were to adhere to the unqualified approval I gave

#### THE UNIFICATION OF THE MALAY PENINSULA

originally to the scheme.... I am sure you will agree that it is my first duty to do everything in my power to safeguard the legitimate interests of the Malays not only in my own State but in Malaya generally.<sup>18</sup>

Sultan Ibrahim's decision to withdraw his signature to the new Agreement was significantly influenced by the opposition to the Malayan Union proposals from prominent Johor leaders at the time. On 3 January 1946, a group headed by Onn bin Jaafar, 19 who was then the district officer of Batu Pahat, formed the Pergerakan Melavu Semenaniung (or Peninsular Malay Movement) with the principal aim of uniting all Malays in an effort to undermine the Malayan Union proposals. In Johor Bahru, opposition was so intense that it was subsequently referred to as the Johor 'conspiracy'. After Sultan Ibrahim had signed the MacMichael Agreement and left for London, some of the lohor leaders who had had altercations with the Ruler before or during the Japanese Occupation, held a protest meeting at the Abu Bakar mosque, Johor Bahru, on 2 February 1946. At the head of this opposition group was Dato Abdul Rahman bin Mohd. Yasin, the pre-war State Treasurer and a member of the Johor Councils of Ministers and State. The meeting was sponsored by the Persatuan Melayu Johor (based in Johor Bahru) whose President was Dato Abdul Rahman hin Mohd, Yasin 20

Clause 15 of the Johore Constitution (1891) prohibited the Ruler from dividing or handing over the state and territories of Johor to any foreign power without the consent of the State Council. Though Britian never formally recognized the Constitution, it was significant for the internal affairs of Johor. It was Sultan Ibrahim's failure to consult the Council which roused the leaders of the Persatuan to unprecedented action. In wild speeches, they called for Ibrahim's replacement by a ruler worthier of the throne. The meeting was punctuated by crites of Tooms with the Sultan' and 'Get the old man down'. Dato Onn, who unexpectedly arrived from Batu Pahat during the course of the meeting, opposed the call for the ruler's abdication and managed to stem the extremism.<sup>21</sup>

The British Government acted swiftly. On 19 February 1946, with the concurrence of the Regent, the inigleaders (seven of them) were supended from their government appointements. However, it did not alter their antagonism towards the Ruler. Sultan Ibrahim's subsequent volte-face only provoked fresh outbursts and a telegram was sent to him on 9 March 1946 which read, 'Your own confusion now proves your disloyalty and breach of trust to the Johore Malays stop. We can fight our battle stop. No need for you any more God's help and protection sufficient for us.<sup>32</sup> Dato Onn himself was bitterly criticized for his allegedly 'equivocal role' during the 'conspiracy'. Members of the Perstatum Melaya Johor maintained that Onn a first wholeheartedly

#### NATION-BUILDING IN MALAYSIA

supported the abdication movement but later sought to dampen the vehemence of the demonstration at the Abu Bakar mosque.

Sultan Ibrahim's action undermined his own popularity somewhat. More important still, is created fertile soil for the subsequent growth of radical politics resulting in condities within the Malay nationalist movement. (The Kestuan Melayu Johor (based in Muar), led by Dr Hamzah Ibr Haji Tai) (whose anti-British tremarks in 1939 had almost led to his imprisonment) and Ungku Abdullah (a disaffected Johor prince), worked in uniton with the Malay Nationalis Party (MNP)<sup>23</sup> against Dato Onn and the United Malay Nationalise Party (MNP)<sup>23</sup> against Dato Onn and the United Malay National Organization (UMNO) when this was formed. *Hizbul Muslimin* (greatly feared by Dato Onn), the first Islamic political party to be established in Malaya, was founded in Gunong Semanggol on 14 March 1948 and set up its first branch in Johor Bahru on 14 April 1948. One of the leaders of the branch was Dr Ismail bin Dato Abdul Rahman, many yean later Dr Ismail became the Deputy Prime Minister of Malayai.<sup>26</sup>)

Despite the instability of his own position in Johor, Sultan Ibrahim played a prominent part in the coordination of Malay reactions to the Malayan Union proposals. While he and his adviers were in London during the first half of 1946-the period when the proposals were being widely and seriously debated, questioned and evaluated in both Britain and Malaya-Sultan Ibrahim was the liaison man between Britons who opposed the proposal<sup>52</sup> and the Malays who increasingly organized themselves in a united opposition to the British Scheme. One by one, the Rulers declared that their signatures on the new Agreements had been affixed under duress and were therefore null and void. But there was a more profound reason for this about-turn.

The Malay states had long been in existence, most of them for centuries, and they had developed their own socio-cultural, economic and political norms. Loyalty and patriotism within these states had become ingrained characteristics of the public life of their people.<sup>26</sup> Many of the Rulers by 1946 were descended from long lines of ancestry which imposed upon them a duty to be true to the traditions set by their forebears: above all they had always to uphold the safety, integrity and sovereignty of their states. Cranted that they were largely feudal aristocrats, but there is not a shadow of doubt that the Malay Rulers of 1946 understood deeply that in their persons rested the ultimate responsibility for the survival and well-being of their states. Their statements after being asked in haste to sign the new British-drafted Agreements in 1946 proved this beyond doubt. But in addition, the existence of well-established nationalist concepts of loyalty and patriotism within the nine states was at hown into bold relief when the Malays In

general and from different strata of their society rallied and united to oppose the British proposals and defend the sovereignty of their Rulers and states.

In point of fact, even during his visit, MacMichael had encountered a peaceful demonstration by about 10,000 Malays in Kelantan on 14 December 1945. These people declared that they were not so much anti-British as anti-Malayan Union. The demonstrations, organized by the Persatuan Melayu Kelantan, marched to the Sultan's palace in Kota Bharu to meet the British Special Representative with placards which read: 'Malava Belongs to the Malavs. We do not want the other races to be given the rights and privileges of the Malays'.27 These slogans epitomize the vehement reaction towards the Malavan Union. The events occurring shortly afterwards in Johor, at the other corner of the country have already been described, among them being the formation of Dato Onn's Pergerakan Melavu Semenanjung or Peninsular Malay Movement, Membership of the Movement rose rapidly to 120,000 while in the other states the pre-war Malay unions and other new associations came to life.28 In May 1946 two British MPs, Captain L. D. Gammans and D. R. Rees-Williams, 'toured Malaya in order to sound out national sentiment. In every hamlet, village and town that we visited we were met by what appeared to be the whole of the population. For the first time in their history, the Malays had become politically conscious'.29

The vernacular press took a prominent role in the movement to rally Malay opinion. The leading Malay daily, Utusan Melayu, warned, 'At this moment our future is in danger. The new [British] plan is a big question that will affect us and our grandchildren. If we are inactive and lazy our grandchildren will curse us.'30 A month later the Warta Negara urged that a central organization should be established by the various Malay associations that had sprung up.31 Malay Peninsula-wide unity was in effect being urged for political and cultural reasons. Another daily, Mailis, urged at the beginning of 1946, 'join and take part in associations as soon as possible if you love your grandchildren. Look at your peoplewhat will befall them-they will be left far behind. There is no other remedy than to organise yourselves into associations through which we unite to face the danger.'32 For the first time in their history the Malays throughout the Peninsula were avidly thinking and mobilizing as a community in which the state boundaries mattered far less than the overriding need to act in concert against a common threat.

The call to join various associations and unite reached a dramatic point when no less than thirty-nine Malay bodies held a congress in Kuala Lumpur from 1 to 4 March 1946.<sup>33</sup> Dato Onn was elected chairman, and among those who attended the congress were Zainal Abidin bin Ahmad

(Za'ba), Sardon bin Jubir, Senu bin Abdul Rahman, Dato Panglima Bukit Gantang and Dr. Burhanuddin Ahlilmy. One by one, the associations rejetted the Malayan Union scheme. There was profuse evidence of disappointment at the very discourteous manner in which Max/Michael obtained the signatures of the Rulers. The delegates stressed that the new Agreements were signed by the Rulers not only under dures but also without the knowledge of Their Highnesse' subjects. The Agreements thus violated the tradition, customs and usage of the Malays.

The Selangor Malay Association had prepared a letter of protest which it hoped would be adopted by the congress. The letter demonstrated the policial avareness of the Association: among other things, it declared that any new agreement between Britain and the Malay states must be given only to those who truly merited it; Malay must progressively replace English as the official language; the armed forces were to be made up entirely of Malays; Malay Land Reservations must be maintained and increased; and the Malays must be given opportunities and financial help to enable them to carry out trade, industry and agriculture.<sup>44</sup> The congress felt, however, that it was unable to make the letter the final document of protest as it had not been circulated beforehand for study by the other associations.

The Perak Malay Alliance declared that the doings of MacMichael were illegal; and the Kedah Malay Association reiterated the charge that the MacMichael treaties were using write weature they allowed Briain to capture sovereignty from the Malay Rulers without the consent of the Malay people as a whole.<sup>35</sup> Debating important aspects of the Malayan Union proposits, the Singapore Malay Union argued:

Dalam Malayan Union itu majiti pensishiru ugama terletak di-bawah Governor Malayan Union. Sa-bagai kaum Muulimin oranga Melayu tidak akan sabar bahawa hal chwal Ugama mereka di-ganggua dimikian ini, dan akan menjadi bahaya membangkitkan perang Ugama yang akan bergema ka-seluroh dunis Muulimin. Pada masa ini sa-bahagin danpada kaum China sedang mengachau keamaan dan ketenteraman negeri ini dan dukachita-lah jak kera'ayatan di-ber kepada mereka. Dan oleh sebab ini suleuroh umat Melayu dalam negeri yang dichintai ini sa-bagaimana yang di-wakili oleh Pertubohan Kebangsam Melayu Bersatu dengan kuat-aya membangkang semua sa-kali chadangan Malayan Union yang di-alalim Kerta Puterhi tu. Dan perjanjain yang di-bauta oleh Great Britain dengan Raja Melayu memberi kuasa membuat undanga kepada baginda King itu batal dan tidah ush-<sup>26</sup>

The Saberkas party, made up mostly of peasants and the ordinary Malays of Kedah, asserted that if the MacMichael treaties were recognized the Malay race would become a colonized race forever;

Britain would be free to sell or pawn the Malay states to other governments: Kerara Malayan Union ini menghanchorkan nasib Melaya maka hendak-lah Malayan Union itu kita leborkan, biar-lah kita rugi dalam suatu keturunan asalkan sa-ribu keturunan akan datang selamat<sup>2,37</sup>

The Malay Nationalist Party (MNP-also known as Partai Kebangsaan Melavu or PKMM) had been formed in Ipoh in October 1945. A radical, leftist party, it was undoubtedly one of the most important groups which attended the March congress. The MNP charged that the British had attempted to bring about a similar form of Malavan Union in the 1920s, but the Malay Rulers were secure enough to have been able to reject the pre-war British proposals outright. The MNP explained that in the unsettled political climate of the immediate post-war period, when the people had just freed themselves from the clutches of the lapanese 'fascists', the British took advantage of the situation by despatching a dictatorial representative. MacMichael, to take over the powers of the Malay Rulers of the Peninsula. It is notable that, although the MNP later characterized the Rulers and Malay aristocracies as reactionary and feudal, at this stage it evinced the impression of a patriotic party that was as loyal to the traditional Rulers as the other Malay groups. The MNP, with vehemence and flourish, declared:

P.K.M.M. bersedia menerangkan jikalsu us-benat-nya akuan kita sekarang ini bahawa surat akuan Sultana Melayu itu tidak sah. maku tidak-lah akua undur daripada melawan terus, dan tensu membangkang Kertas Puteh itu dengan chara diplomasey yang halus. Dia sudah tipu kita. Kita sudah di-ajar chara menipu dalam polituk dan jida demikan tidak-kah terlebeh baik kitu tidak mahu suma su-kali dengan Kertas Puteh itu melainkan kita mempadukan pemerintahan Malaya jadi satu dengan tuntutan Malaya Merdeka? Malaya di-perentah oleh Melayu sendiri unuku umat Melayu. Lagi su-kali P.K.M.M. menjelaskan kita menuntu terus merdeheka-habis perkara. Ini-lah balasan menipu kita, dan kita mesti berjaya-linda Jalla.<sup>34</sup>

It reminded the delegates that Britain, as a signatory to the San Francisco United Nations Charter, had the obligation to help promote the political advancement of Malaya towards self-government and independence. Instead, she was colonizing Malaya.

Almost to a man the participants from the other states of Malaya deplored the high-handed manner in which the Ruler's ignatures to the MacMichael treaties had been obtained and rejected the Malayan Union scheme. They declared that it was a tight, colonial administrative set-up designed not only to strip the Malay Rulers of their traditional powers but also to deprive the Malays of their birthright in the Peninula. That the Malayan Union proposals acted as a stimulus which enabled Malay

#### NATION-BUILDING IN MALAYSIA

nationalism to develop and find its proper place in 1946 is seen in the following highly patriotic and nationalist passage from a memorandum submitted at the end of the March congress:

It is submitted that with all the failings of the Malay race in the past the Malays of the Atomic Age do not consider themselves at present to be so generous as to share their birthright with others and to accept dictation from others as to what form of government they should adopt. They believe that they are also entitled to selfdetermination as other peoples in the rest of the world, and it would be wise to leave it to them to decide as to when and in what form they wanted a change of their government. If they were at one time Independent and Sovereign in their own State, there is no reason why they should not be so at some future time, which should and would be decided by themselves. It is submitted that Great Britain has no right, morally and otherwise, in this matter. And, therefore, the whole Malay population in this beloved country of theirs, as represented by the United Malays National Organisation, exercising the Malay national will, do declare that the Agreements made by Great Britain with the Malay Rulers giving full jurisdiction to H.M. the King, is null and void, and at the same time do strongly oppose and entirely reject the Malavan Union proposal as set out in the White Paper.39

This is reminiscent of the United States Declaration of Independence of 176. The pro-Malay bias was undeniably here. But what was far more striking, especially when contrasted with the largely uncoordinated patriotic Malay efforts in pre-war days, was the firm grasp the Malay leaders had of the political situation of 1946. They comprehended very well one cardinal aspect of the problem: sovereignty and the possible loss of it through the threat of outright British colonization by the implementation of the Malayan Union proposals. Thus in their carefully discussed telegram to the British Government at the conclusion of the four-day cogress, the delegates declared 'Bahawa chadngan Kerajaan Baginda King hendak menjalankan kuasa penoh di-dalam negeria Uselay unga tersebut dan menidakkan kuasa Duli Yang Mah Mulia Sultans berma'ana di-rampas sama sekali negeria Melayu dan ia-tuu berlawanan dengan semangat dan kehendak Athanik Charter.'e<sup>60</sup>

The congress devoted much time and serious attention to the citizenship provisions of the Malayan Union proposals. The delegates found, above all, the British proposal to promote a broad-based citizenship which will include, without discrimination of race or creed, all who can establish a claim, by reason of birth or a suitable period of residence, to belong to the country <sup>41</sup> a portentous threat to the political future of the nine Malay states and one which would lead to 'the wiping from existence of the Malay race along with their land and Rulen', <sup>44</sup>

The strength of Malay patriotism at the time was graphically shown when the Malay leaders succeeded in dissuading their Rulers from

#### THE UNIFICATION OF THE MALAY PENINSULA

attending the installation ceremony of the first and late Governor of the Malayan Union, Sir Edward Gent, on 1 April 1946. The Malaya, largely through the efforts of Dato Onn bin Jaafar, continued to demonstrate their loyalty to their Rulers; but they also warned them that by attending the installation, which the Malay leaders avered amounted to 'the funeral rites of their brithright and liberty'.<sup>4</sup> the Rulers would have forficied their mandate to rule over their states and their subjects would have had no further obligation to remain loyal to them.<sup>44</sup> The blending of loyalty to the Rulers with patriotism towards their Semenanjding runah Melayu (the Peninutin Malay Land, meaning Malaya) was evident in the campaign of the Malays to prevent the implementation of the Malayan Union scheme.

On the whole, the Rulers tended to come to terms with the withes of the Malay population and its leaders. Indeed, by April 1946 the Rulers contemplated going to London together to plead their case against the Malayan Union before His Majesty King George VI. Although theposition of the Ruler was duly stressed in the opposition to the Malayan Union, it was the question of the loss of Malay sovereignty as well as the implementation of the *jus soli* citizenship provision of the proposals which the Malays were most concerned with. Among other things, *jus* soli citizenship would have enabled the flood of new non-Malay citizens not only to acquire equal political rights with the Malays hus to gain other concessions such as positions in the public services which had been traditionally restricted to the Malays, wider opportunities in the commercial sector and possibly even easier means of acquiring landed property.<sup>45</sup> These have become the perennial problems of Malaysian politics.

The United Malays National Organization was mooted during the 1-4 March 1946 Pan-Malayan Malay Congress at Kuala Lumpur when a select committee comprising the following Malay leaders was elected by the representatives of some thirty-nine organizations to prepare the constitutional and administrative basis of the new central organization: Dato Panglima Bukit Gantang of Perak, Dato Seita Raya Kelantan, Dato Orang Kaya Menteri Selangor, Tuan Zainal Abidin bin Ahmad (Za'ba), and Dato Onn bin Jaafar.<sup>44</sup> At a subsequent congress in Johor Bahru, UMNO was proclaimed a full-fledged political party on 11 May 1946 with a constitution which provided for the opening of branches throughout Malaya.<sup>47</sup> Dato Onn was its first President. From its inception until the inauguration of the Federation of Malaya on 1 February 1948, it can be said that UMNO undertook a 'struggle for the restoration of Malay sourceignty'.<sup>44</sup> The inauguration of UMNO was followed by another demonstration of Malay soldarity when the

community and its Rulers boycotted the installation of the Governor-General of the Malavan Union and Singapore (Malcolm MacDonald) on 22 May 1946. The combined front effected by the Malay leaders and their Rulers since the installation of Gent on 1 April had turned out to be such a formidable closing of ranks that it prompted British officials to seek some peaceful way of avoiding a direct confrontation with the Rulers (if they did arrive in London to plead their case) and with the increasingly organized Malays throughout the Peninsula. The Malay leaders, princinally those in UMNO who, in truth, commanded the largest following from the community as soon as the party was established, declared that they would agree to negotiations with the British representatives only on condition that the new Agreement were first revoked. The Malay leaders were quite obdurate on this point and there were increasing indications that some sections of the community were beginning to lose patience. A spirit of non-cooperation with the British was becoming evident while a number of Malay resignations from the police force boded ill for Anglo-Malay relations.

Faced with a solidly united Malay opposition, Gent had virtually no alternative but to seek a compromise as best he could. After an informal meeting between them at Kuala Kangsar from 2 to 4 May 1946, Gent and the Rulers came out in support of the establishment of a federation in place of the Malayan Union. It was an arrangement which the five Unfederated Malay States (UFMS) had refused to entertain in the prewar period. In the meantime, UMNO had also demanded that any fresh negotiations must be only between the British on the one hand and the Rulers and UMNO representatives on the other. This exclusive approach was to have its repercussions in the subsequent course of Malava's political history. Nonetheless, exhaustive and friendly negotiations again took place at Kuala Kangsar from 28 to 30 May, this time attended by MacDonald, Gent, the Rulers and UMNO representatives led by Dato Onn. Major problems on the political future of Malaya were obviously discussed. D. R. Rees-Williams was in Malaya at this time, as mentioned above. He had been asked by the British Government to stop by after a visit to Sarawak and to observe and report privately to London what was happening in the Peninsula. He attended the second Kuala Kangsar meeting and said of it years later, 'At the Kuala Kangsar meeting, the Malays did not present proposals for the political future of Malaya; we got it out of them. These were important matters and they became the basis for the arrangement that led to the formation of the Federation of Malaya in 1948.'49 From the second Kuala Kangsar meeting onwards the demise of the Malavan Union proposals<sup>50</sup> and the acceptance of the federal arrangement in its place proceeded almost as a matter of course.

## The Federation of 1948

Although the Malayan Union scheme had been attempted and found unacceptable to the community that mattered most, namely the Malays. Britain had no intention of relinquishing Malaya forthwith. The only feasible alternative was to placate the nationalistic Malays by agreeing to modify the original British proposals as much as necessary to suit the circumstances of the time. Without fully or obviously capitulating, Britain put forward her modified proposals in the form of a federation. It was a calculated move and for a good reason.

Historically the pre-war FMS, notwithstanding the indirect rule of the British, did preserve subtantially some local autonomy and the facade of sovereignty of each of the Malay stares. Another post-war federation could not be as inimical to Malay political and cultural survival as the unfortunate Malayan Union proposals had been incubated in the confidential rooms of Whitehall Solely by British officials only a minority of whom had an adequate knowledge of Malayan problems and needs whereas Britain positively encouraged the Malays to participate in the negotiations to replace the Malayan Union with a federation. The point is that with politeness and courtesy the Malays, as a rule, were seldom difficult to persuade; and with such an affable approach from Gent and MacDonald, the Rulers and UMNO leaders relaxed their opposition and began cooperating with their British "protectors" to formulate the new Federation proposals during the second half of 1946.

The first clear suggestion in favour of a federation to replace the Malayan Union may have come from a former British diplomat. John G. Foster, M.-P. Q. C (later Sir John Foster), whom the Rulers had engaged jointly as their legal adviser. From London, on 26 March 1949 'Foster cabled all the Rulers advising them to withdraw their signatures from the MacMichael Treaties and to offert to re-open negotiations, after time for consultation with their people, on the basis of a federation.<sup>34</sup> Sir John later attested:

I was not very involved in the affains of Malaya, except that I advised the Rulers at a critical point in 1946... The Union was virtually imposed on the Rulers. Alleged collaboration with the Japanese was used as a powerful lever. As I tennember it you are correct in saying the idea of Federation came from Whithall. I were protesting at the deprivation of their sovereignty. This was altered as the result of their very strong objections.<sup>52</sup>

If the Malayan Union proposals were the bitter beginnings, the federation proposals which followed formed the bases of constitutional developments which were to lead to the birth of first the Malayan and then the Malayain states. A close look at the main and relevant provisions of the federation proposals in therefore pertinent. After a series of meetings between MacDonald and Cent on the one hand and the Rulers and UMNO leaders on the other, during which both sides submitted new draft proposal, a Working Committee consisting of six British officials, four Rulers and two UMNO leaders was appointed on 25 July 1946 to bring up matters for both sides to examine and criticize. The trend of future constitutional developments was clearly set by the following principles or terms of reference which the Working Committee adopted as the basis for its discussion:

(a) that there should be a strong central government to ensure economical and effective administration of all matters of importance to the welfare and progress of the country as a whole;

(b) that the individuality of each of the Malay States and of the Settlements should be clearly expressed and maintained;

(c) that the new arrangements should, on a long view, offer the means and prospects of development in the direction of ultimate self-government;

(d) that, with a view to the establishment of broad-based institutions necessary for principle (c) to become effective, a common form of citizenship should be introduced which would enable political rights to be extended to all those who regard Malaya as their real home and as the object of their loyalty;

(c) that, as these States are Malay States ruled by Your Highnesses, the subjects of Your Highnesses have no alternative allegiance, or other country which they can regard as their homeland, and they occupy a special position and possess rights which must be safeguarded.<sup>35</sup>

It is evident from the above terms of reference that the Working Committee had achieved a good position of compromise in relation to Malayan Union proposals and Malay nationalist aspirations. Matters of state and issues of nationalism were involved and decided upon: while Britain managed to maintain what her egrafed as her 'own fundamental objectives of essential cohesion and a basis for common loyalty<sup>24</sup> in (a) and (d), the Rulers, UMNO and the Malays in general were accorded very substantial concessions in the restoration of the sovereignty of their individual states, the ultimate goal of self-gowermment for their Peninsula and the concomitant upholding of their birthright in (b), (c) and (c). Indeed, it can be seen with hindight that the spirit of compromise to work out solutions to problems of state, was set as a precedent by the Working Committee of 1946.

The Report of the Working Committee, containing the draft proposals for a federation, was published on 24 December 1946. But because the new proposals had been formulated between British and Malay representatives alone, it was' declared that there can be no question of their reaching any final decision on any matters involved until all the interested communities in Malaya have had full and free opportunity of expressing their views.<sup>33</sup> Accordingly in December 1946 a Consulative Committee composed mainly of influential representatives of the non-Malay communities was appointed to study--: ... optimion from interested individuals, communities, bodies and groups'.<sup>34</sup> The Consultative Committee, whose Report was published on 31 March 1947, endorted the retention of the main structure of the federation proposals; and after reconvening on 17 April, the Working Committee produced the final drafs of the federation and state agreements.

The final drafts for a federation discarded the Malayan Union and in its place aimed to 'establish under the protection of Great Britain a federation, to be called the Federation of Malaya, and in Malay, Persekutuan Tanah Melayu, which will consist of the nine Malay States and of the Stetlements of Penang and Malacca'<sup>35</sup> Some of the major changes from the Malayan Union may now be pointed out. Instead of a Governor there was a British High Commissioner as requested by some of the Malay leaders. The legislative arrangements, however, still smacked of the usual British colonial ethos: the British High Commissioner would pretide over both the new Federal Executive Council and Federal Legislative Council; the unofficial members in both Councils were appointed by the High Commissioner; and, initially, all the official members were European.<sup>54</sup>

There was, however, one particular undertaking which augured well-at any rate on paper-for the future political development of Malaya:

The Federal Agreement will record that it is the desire of His Majesty and of Their Highnesse the Rulers that progress should be made towards eventual selfgovernment, and as first step to that end, that His Migesty and Their Highnesses the Rulers have agreed that as soon as circumstances and local conditions will permit, legislation will be introduced for the election of members to the several legislatures which will be established under the agreement.<sup>30</sup>

The electoral process was promised for the first time by these words.

Instead of the Council of Sultans under the strict control of the Governor of the Malayan Union, the Federation would have a Conference of Rulers consisting of the nine Malay Rulers who would meet whenever necessary, not under the chairmanship of the High Commissioner but under that of one of the Rulers whom the Conference of would select. It is of interest to note that the system of a Conference of Rulers was subsequently retained as a unique aspect of constitutional government in Malayias, being included in both the 1937 Federation of Malaya Constitution and the 1963 Malayias Federal Constitution. As against the veto power of the Malayan Union Governor, bills passed by the Federal Legislative Council required the assent of the High Commissioner and that of the Rulers expressed by a Standing Committee consisting of two Rulers. Significantly, in terms of the restoration of the Rulers' sovereignty, the prerogative of pardon over cases occurring in any of the Malaya state was to be exercised by the Ruler of the State constitutional government in Malayaia until the present.

There was to be a State Council in each of the nine Malay states and a Settlement Council in each of the two Settlements. In each Malay state there would also be a state Executive Council which would aid and advise the Ruler in the exercise of his functions. The chief executive officer in each state, nevertheless, was the Menteri Besar (Chief Minister), This new development too was to become the basis of constitutional practice at state level in the remaining period under study. Each state was to have written constitution. Even though there was to be a British Adviser in each state (Resident Commissioner in the case of a Settlement), there was a change in that bills passed by the State Council would require the assent of the Ruler and not of the British authorities. The State Council was empowered to legislate on matters relating to Islam and Malay customs: a significant change from the Malavan Union, under which even the Council of Sultans and the state Malay Advisory Councils could not legislate on those matters without the sanction of the Governor or his representatives, the Resident Commissioners.60 In these several important aspects the federation proposals formed the bases of future constitutional developments in Malava.

As criteenship is one of the recurring problems in nation-building in Malaysia, it is pertinent to look into the provisions regarding this matter in the federation proposals. The most important development was that the acquisition of criteenship was rendered more difficult. This was obviously undertaken in order to meet the demands of the particitie: and nationalist Malays who feared the loss of their birthright should *jus soli* or liberal critzenship provisions be upheld as the Malayan Union had intended. Critzenship would be automatic (that is, by operation of law) or acquired by application. Again, the critzenship provisions of the federation proposals formed the bases of determining who were to be made the nationals of Malaysia in future years; for this reason also it is appropriate to deal more closely with those provisions. Under the federation proposals, the following persons would be automatically federal critzens:

#### THE UNIFICATION OF THE MALAY PENINSULA

(a) Any subject, whenever born, of His Highness the Ruler of any State:

(b) Any British subject born at any time in either of the Settlements, who was permanently resident (that is to say had completed a continuous period of fifteen years residence) anywhere in the territories to be comprised in the Federation.

(c) Any British subject born at any time in any of the territories to be comprised in the federation whose father, either

- (i) was himself born in any of the territories;
  - or

(ii) had resided therein for a continuous period of not less than fifteen years.
 (d) Any person born at any time in any of the territories to be comprised in the Federation, who habitually spoke the Malay language and conformed to Malay customs.

(c) Any other person born in any of the territories at any time, both of whose parents were born in any of such territories and had been resident in them for a continuous period of not less than fifteen years.

(f) Any person whose father was, at the date of that person's birth, a Federal citizen.<sup>61</sup>

The provisions regarding acquisition of citizenship by application required the person who applied to satisfy the High Commissioner:

(a) That either

(i) he was born in any of the territories to be comprised in the Federation and has been resident in any one or more of such territories for not less than eight out of the twelve years preceding his application; or

(ii) he had been resident in any one or more of those territories for not less than fifteen out of the twenty years immediately preceding his application.

It was further required that:

(b) The applicant must satisfy the High Commissioner that he was of good character, possessed an adequate knowledge of the Malay or English language, had made a declaration of permanent settlement in the perscribed form and, if his application was approved, that he was willing to take the citizenship oath. An applicant for citizenship must be of the age of eighteen years or over.

It is to be noted that, unlike the Malayan Union proposals, the federation proposals excluded birth and residence in Singapore as qualifications for citizenship in the Federation. This exclusion tended to emphasize the separate political development of Malaya and Singapore from 1948 onwards.

A number of other cogent developments can be seen in those provisions. Provisions (a) and (d) regarding automatic citizenship clearly amounted to the granting of a prior right to Malays to become citizens of the Federation. This development assuged the fear of the patriotic Malays of the Peninuul that *jus soli* citizenship would have swamped their community. Furthermore, this concession—or in fact resoration of previously-protected Malay rights—was reinforced by the strict provisions for acquisition of citizenship by non-Malays, as can be seen in (b), (c). (c) and in the enrice provisions for acquisition of citizenship through application. The provision for citizenship by birth alone, *or jus soli*, which became one of the very controversial points about the Malayan Union proposals, was effectively negated by the citizenship provisions of the federation proposals. Furthermore, an applicant for citizenship had to fulfil a language requirement: "an adequate knowledge of the Malay or English language". This requirement, modified as time went on, was to become a central aspect of subsequent citizenship arrangements in Malaysia.

When it is recognized that the main point of consideration during the early years after the Second World War was the birthright of the Malavs as well as their claim to be the indigenous people of the Peninsula, it becomes understandable that the federation proposals of 1948 sought to meet the demands of the Rulers and UMNO for tight controls over the acquisition of citizenship in Malava by the non-Malays. In addition to this, the Malays were in fact given the power to control future immigration to Malava. The High Commissioner was required 'to consult the Conference of Rulers from time to time upon the immigration policy of the Government'.62 This was a significant change when viewed against the background of the Malayan Union in which the Governor had, in effect, absolute power over citizenship and immigration (especially under the general escape clause, 'Nothing in the order will affect the power of His Majesty in Council to make laws from time to time for the peace, order and good government of the Union').63 Furthermore, if the High Commissioner and the Rulers disagreed on any major change in immigration policy, the matter would be referred to the Federal Legislative Council which would, by resolution, confirm or reject it. On such a resolution only the unofficial members could vote. Because there was a preponderance of Malays over non-Malays in the Council (thirty-one out of fifty), in the last resort it was possible for the Malay members, if they voted together, to defeat any major change in immigration policy when they and the majority of the Rulers considered it necessary to do so.64

By and large, it can be said that the Federation proposals succeeded in meeting the demands of the leaders of UMNO, who challenged the imposition of the colonial Malayan Union scheme, but not those of the MNP leaders who were opposed to any scheme which did not provide for the least immediate self-government. The United Malays National Organization, as the largest Malay organization, accepted the federation proposals and 0 era1 January 1948 the Rulers and Sir Edward Gent, on behalf of Britain, signed the federation and state agreements in Kuala Lumpur. On 1 February 1948, the Federation of Malya began its separate existence as a combined entity-a nation in the making, guided and protected yet by Britain. The basic political and constitutional framework of Malya had been established and it was left to the people, in the years to come, to provide the sinews which would transform that framework of tho the reality of nationhood.

# **Opposition to the Federation Proposals**

The first half of 1946 was conspicuous for both the strength of Malay opposition and the lack of non-Malay reaction to the Malayan Union scheme. A number of reasons accounted for this relative quiet on the part of the other big communities of Malaya, that is to say, the Chinese and the Indians. In so far as the Chinese were concerned, the traumatic destruction caused by the Japanese Occupation, of which they have the brunt, kept the community preoccupied with the basic needs of survival and the speedy resumption of their business activities. The Indians were similarly in a quandary, lacking not only basic human necessities but also organization and leadership.65 The post-war skirmishing between the Kuomintang (KMT) and the increasingly stronger Mao-led communist armies in China, as well as the Indian Congress demands for independence for the sub-continent from the British also tended to continue to draw the political and nationalist aspirations of the Chinese and Indians in Malaya away towards their motherland rather than inwards within Malaya as their new permanent home.66

A political group led by English-ducated and Westernized Chinese, Eurasians and Indians namely, the Malayan Democratic Union (MDU), was formed in December 1945 inter alia to work for the self-government of Malaya, including Singapore, on the basis of universal suffrage, a freely-elected legislature, complete freedom of speech and social justice. News editor, Gerald de Cruz, and lawyer, John Eber-both Eursians-later became active in the MDU, but it was Philip Hoalim Senior, Lim Hong Bee, Lim Kean Chye and Wu Tian Wang who initiated the formation of the party.<sup>47</sup> The MDU criticized the Malayan Union schem on the grounds that it excluded Singapore, restricted civil liberties and provided no universal suffrage. One of the founders of the MDU later said in remnistence:

I have always believed in Singapore regaining its unity with the mainland; but I have also been convinced that it is a difficult and complex operation which cannot be bulldozed into existence. I therefore, together with my party the MDU, was

strongly opposed to the constitution emanating from the British Government after the war, if only because it separated Singapore from the mainland.<sup>68</sup>

But the MDU was an isolated political group and at first tended to devote its energy to the island setting of Singapore. In general, it was only at the end of 1946, many months after the Malay Rulers and UMNO had mobilized themselves politically, that groups of non-Malays rallied to present a coordinated standpoint regarding the future of Malaya. This coordination took the form of the All-Malaya Council of Joint Action (AMCJA) which was inaugurated on 22 December 1946. Its formation is believed to have been inspired by the MCP and prompted largely by the setting up of the Working Committee and the formulation of the federation proposals. Leaders of the MDU played a prominent role in its creation.

The body was first called the Council of Joint Action, then it was renamed the Pan-Malavan Council of Joint Action (PMCIA); and later the All-Malaya Council of Joint Action (AMCIA): 'The Pan-Malayan Council of Joint Action was formed on December 22, 1946, two days before the proposals of the Working Committee of Government, Sultans and U.M.N.O. were published.'69 The initial membership of the AMCIA comprised the Malayan Democratic Union (MDU), the Singapore Federation of Trade Unions (SFTU), the Clerical Union, the Straits Chinese British Association (SCBA), the Malavan Indian Congress (MIC), the Indian Chamber of Commerce, and the Ceylon Tamil Association. Later, in September 1947, the following were listed as AMCIA affiliates: the Pan-Malayan Federation of Trade Unions (PMFTU) the Malayan People's Anti-Japanese Army (MPAIA), Ex-Service Comrades' Association, the Malavan New Democratic Youth League, and twelve Women's Federations from Malava. The AMCIA claimed a membership of 400,000 in August 1947.

With Tan Cheng Lock<sup>70</sup>-a fourth-generation Malayan Chinese-as its Chairman, the AMCJA argued that negotiations pertaining to the revision of the Malayan Union scheme should not be undertaken solely by the British, the Malay Rulers and the UMNO leaders. The AMCJA maintained that it was the only body representing all sectors of the population of Malaya and it therefore should be consulted by the British on the proposal to form a federation. As a body representating the growing political awareness of the non-Malays in the post-war period, the AMCJA demonstrated the Westernized, liberal outlook generally found among similar South-East Asian movements towards self-rule. This outlook was eloquently summed up by Tan Cheng Lock himself in a memorandum he wrote on the federation.

#### THE UNIFICATION OF THE MALAY PENINSULA

The entire plan thould be reconstructed on a new basis by a competent body, such as a Royal Commission, which will re-examine the whole Constitutional rises affecting Malaya, and which after examining and discussing any proposals for constitutional reform and consulting with various interests and all sections of Malayan opinion concerned with the subject of constitutional reform, will proceed to evolve a Constitution for this country which, while offering ample scope for the development of reposable self-government in a United Malaya, inclusive of Singapore, in which equality of status and rights will be ensured to all who make Malaya their real home and the object of their loyally, will bring about the best feelings of friendship and spirit of co-operation and brotherhood among the different racial elements making up its composite population, so that such a Constitution may prove to be a foundation upon which may utimately be built a Briture Malaya in the crigohment of full dominion status as an integral part of the British Commonwealth offree nations, the ultimate ideal of British statesmanhip being the fusion of Empire and Commonwealth.<sup>2</sup><sup>1</sup>

The passage clearly shows the awareness of the need for a Malayan nation; but it more starkly demonstrated the influence of Western concepts of liberal rule. The culogistic part about the British Commonwealth was probably more perfunctory than sincere, inasmuch as any nationalist political group in Malaya at the time had to maintain some working relationship with the British authorities if it hoped to achieve self-rule in a peaceful, democratic manner.

At about the same time that the AMCJA was agitating for a liberal constitutional arrangement, a section of the Malays who had disagreed with those in UMNO concentrated their political efforts in the MNP which, as already mentioned, had been formed in Igoh in October 1945. Led by radical and often leftist Malays who included former leaders of the estwhile KMM, PETA and KRIS such as Ahmad Boestaman, Ishak Haji Muhammad and Dr Burhanuddin Alhilmy, the MNP had attended the 1-4 March 1946 Malay Congress in Kuala Lumpur. However, it thereafter withdrew from the UMNO-led groups on the grounds that UMNO was too conservative and that the MNP was not getting an adequate voice in it:

Kalau kita bermaktud hendak mengubah pandangan politik UMNO ini dari dalam saya tidak perchaya kita akan berjaya melakukannya sebab pemberian undi dialamnya sengat tidak adi-dadi kedemokratik. Badan yang kechil diberi dua suara dan badan yang besar uperti kita ini pan di-beri dua suara juga. Mustahil dengan undi dua suara itu kita akan dapat mengubah pandangan politik kitaa 300 buah badan lain yang bererti hamjira 100 suara semuanya, sedang badana itu badana kanan belaka. Hanya kita satu saja yang merupakan badan kiti didalam golongan merka.<sup>272</sup>

#### NATION-BUILDING IN MALAYSIA

Although the MNP had members and supporters from different parts of the Peninula, its following was clearly much smaller than that enjoyed by UMNO. In February 1946, the MNP had issued a manifesto on the Malayan Union proposals in which the party agreed that the cumberosme pre-war administrative arrangements in Malaya should be reformed. But the MNP manifesto bared its pro-Indonesian tendency when it stated that 'National Birthrights are reserved only for the native Malaya in Malaya thaving blood relationship with those living in the other parts of the Malay Archipelago'.<sup>73</sup> The MNP joined the 1-4 March Pan-Malayan Malay Congress to denounce the MacMichael treaties and the Malaya Union proposals which it argued must 'be amended subject to the approval of the Malay people'.<sup>74</sup> In April, the MNP reiterated its opposition to the British proposals and again demonstrated its ??

Because of its disagreement with and consequent dissociation from UMNO, the MNP began to look around for new allies. When the British refused it participation in the Working Committee negotiations, the MNP teamed up with non-Malay bodies and almost joined the PMCIA. Nevertheless, disagreement over the choice of chairman for the coalition led the MNP to hold back and to conclude rightly that it would be in a better bargaining position if it could rally the support of the Malays who had not followed UMNO. Thus in February 1947 the Pusat Tenaga Raayat (PUTERA) was established, composed of leftist and radical Malay groups which, by and large, shared the anti-colonial platform of the MNP. The groups were the MNP itself, the Angkatan Pemuda Insaf (API), the Peasants' Union, the Angkatan Wanita Sedar, and eighty other smaller bodies. PUTERA claimed a total membership of more than 150,000. By March 1947, PUTERA was again working with the PMCIA to try to form a coalition for airing their views and demands for the selfgovernment and constitutional future of Malaya.

It is not often realized that the PUTERA-PMCJA combination was the first inter-communal alliance of any consequence in the post-war period. The PMCJA, as a largely non-Malay body, clearly showed its Westernized democratic orientation as well as some grasp of Malay needs in the following six principles which it adopted?<sup>86</sup>

1. A United Malay, inclusive of Singapore.

2. A fully-elected central legislature for the whole of Malaya.

3. Equal political rights for all who regarded Malaya as their real home and as the object of their royalty.

4. The Malay Rulers to assume the position of fully sovereign and constitutional rulers, accepting the advice, not of British 'advisers' but of the people through democratic institutions.

5. Matters of the Muslim religion and Malay custom to be under the sole control of the Malays.

6. Special attention to be paid to the advancement of the Malays.

The above principles were drawn up in close consultation with the leaders of the MNP. When the MNP spearheaded the formation of the PUTERA, the latter in turn hald ten principles, the first six being identical with those of the PMCJA. The remaining four PUTERA principles were?<sup>7</sup>

1. that Malay should be the official language of the country;

2. that foreign affairs and defence of the country should be the joint responsibility of the government of Malaya and His Majesty's Government;

3. that the term 'Melayu' should be the title of any citizenship or national status in Malaya; and

4. that the national flag of the country should incorporate the red and white colours of the Indonesian national flag.

It was on the basis of the above ten principles that the PUTERA-AMCJA\*\* manifested the nationalist content of their response to the Amglo-Malay Working Committee and federation proposals. Clearly, the PUTERA-AMCJA wanted a nation based on Western democratic lines; but they also bore in mind the need to incorporate the Malay ethos into the national community they wished to realize. The seriounness of the grand coalition in its effort to translate into reality its nationalis spirations and political framework for the future of Malaya is best seen in the historical document which it jointly discussed for months, drafted and presented in November 1947 under the title. The People's Constitutional Proposals for Malaya.

In addition to presenting the ten principles, the PUTERA-AMCJA constitutional proposals carried a lengthy analysis of the Working Committee's iederation proposals. The PUTERA-AMCJA declared that it 'could not accept the Proposals drawn up by the Working Committee, in view of the undemocratic manner in which these Proposals had been drawn up in secret consultation with members of the Malay aristocracy; and in view of the failure of the Working Committee Proposals to embody those provisions which are essential to any stable constitution for Malaya<sup>1,29</sup> In a rather poignant vein, the PUTERA-AMCJA said of the Working Committee's ideration proposals:

It is sufficient to uy here that they will perpetuate Malaya as real colony with all legislative and executive power in the hands of His Majery's Government through the Secretury of Stare for the Colonies and the High Commissioner, and that they propose an empty and dangerous type of citizenhip, which would prevent the stable development of national unity and democracy to Malaya.<sup>48</sup>

### NATION-BUILDING IN MALAYSIA

It can be seen that the leaders of the PUTERA-AMCJA were as aware of the need to create a nation-state in Malaya as the nationalist Malays in UMNO. Their visions of nationhood were equally clear; they differed mainly on what was adjudged fundamental to the viability of that future Malayan national community.

The PUTERA-AMCJA questioned the repeated pledge of the British authorities that 'there was no question of a final decision being taken until all the interested communities in Malaya had been given a full and free opportunity of expressing their views'.81 The PUTERA-AMCJA had expected only those who regarded Malaya as their real home and as the object of their loyalty to be given the opportunity to express their views; and that such expressions of views or consultations would be received directly by the Malayan Union Government. When that Government itself delegated the task of receiving the views of 'the interested communities in Malaya' to the Consultative Committee, the PUTERA-AMCIA deplored the action because the Committee was 'headed by a Government official Ithe Director of Education. H R Cheeseman] whose members had not the shadow of a claim to represent those who regarded Malaya as their real home and as the object of their loyalty'.82 There was no opportunity for direct contact, let alone discussion, with the Government. The Consultative Committee was characterized as a mere collecting agency for the views of interested individuals, communities and groups who in many cases were not 'representatives of those and only those who regard Malaya as their real home and as the object of their lovalty', 83 The PUTERA-AMCIA therefore decided to boycott the Consultative Committee, Because the Consultative Committee recommended the retention of the main structure of the Working Committee's federation proposals, the PUTERA-AMCJA continued to project and publicize its own political beliefs and nationalist demands for a future self-governing Malaya.

The response of the PUTERA-AMCJA to the political developments of the period can be seen more explicitly through many of the clauses of its constitutional proposals. In addition to or in amplification of the ten principles, the PUTERA-AMCJA stated that eligibility for citizenship should make no distinction between Malays and non-Malays; and all citizens were to 'enjoy equal fundamental rights and opportunities in the political, conomic, educational and cultural pheres, regardless of race, creed, colour or sex<sup>3,44</sup> Safeguards for the Malay community were reflected in the provision whereby, during the first three assemblies, 53 per cent of the stats in the proposed Leggitative Assembly were to be reserved for Malaya, and in the provision that every citizen was to be

## THE UNIFICATION OF THE MALAY PENINSULA

may be argued that while the Anglo-Malay Working Committee produced a set of federation proposals which took cognizance of and supported the primacy of the Malays in the political evolution and development of Malaya, the PUTERA-AMCJA showed itself to be not averse to meeting the demands of the Malays to some extent but at the same time it insisted on a liberal-democratic, egalitarian constitutional arrangement for the proposed united Malays.

Attempts to eradicate communalism by the PUTERA-AMCJA can be further observed in other clauses of its constitutional proposals. There was to be a Council of Races consisting of two members from each of the following communities: Malay, Chinese, Indian, Eurasian, Ceylonese, Aborigine, Arab, European, Jew and 'Otheri. Every bill passed by the proposed Legidative Assembly was to be sent to the Council which would consider whether or not it was discriminatory. A discriminatory bill was 'any Bill which, either as a whole, or in any particular provision, is discriminatory on racial or religious ground'.<sup>48</sup> The socialist orientation of many of the bodies affiniated to the PUTERA-AMCJA was expressed in the provisions for a minimum wage; at least two weeks' vaction leave with full pay annually for every worker; guarantee for the 'right to strike'; 'the right to maintenance in old age and also in the case of sickness or loss of capacity to work'; two month' maternity leave with full pay for women works; such dhe right to lesizer.<sup>47</sup>

The socialist provisions of the People's Constitution brings to mind the popular belief that the PUTERA-AMCIA was a formal organization of the Malayan Communist Party (MCP).88 A recent writer summed up thus: 'the PUTERA-AMCJA was the principal vehicle of the MCP policy of constitutional struggle. To this was subordinated the labour struggle from 1947 to early 1948, much to the disadvantage of the MCPcontrolled labour movement in particular and of the MCP policy in general'.89 There is ample evidence to show that the MCP sought to infiltrate as much as possible the various bodies which became affiliated to the PUTERA-AMCJA; and both the MDU and the MNP which spearheaded the combination of the two coalitions definitely had liaisons with the MCP.90 But that is not necessarily to say that the MCP dominated PUTER A-AMCIA. What is clear is that the radical leaders of the PUTERA-AMCJA, in their endeavour to gain as wide a hearing as possible, sought to rally the support of the trade and labour unions which. on the other hand, were mainly dominated by the MCP:

This suggests that the A.M.C.J.A. and PUTERA conferences and negotiations suited Communits plans very well. It certainly does not prove that they were mainly the result of Communist planning. There are clauses here and there in the People's Comstitution that appear to have been inserted by Communists, but it is impossible to read it closely and believe it a mainly Communist document. Probably the efforts of the Malayan Communist Party were mainly devoted to preventing any effective negotiation on the basis of this Constitution; and in this task they fully succeeded.<sup>91</sup>

At all events, the PUTERA-AMCJA also received substantial support from the various chambers of commerce, especially the Associated Chinese Chambers of Commerce through the efforts of Tan Cheng Lock, who was active in both the AMCJA and the Chambers.

While John Eber actively promoted the establishment of the grand coalition, de Cruz, the Secretary-General, 'virtually controlled the daily administration of the PMCJA-PUTER A, supervised the anti-Federation activities of the member bodies, and had the authority to convene extraordinary meetings of the coalition. In this way the MDU projected itself in the forefront of the movement'.92 To publicize the political beliefs of the PUTERA-AMCJA and to rally support, its leaders travelled to the main towns of the Peninsula. They demanded immediate self-government for Malaya. When it appeared increasingly clear that the British were not only intent upon staying on to rule Malaya but were also showing a marked preference for the relatively conservative Malay Rulers and UMNO, the PUTERA-AMCIA strove to intensify its opposition to the Anglo-Malay federation proposals. Apparently mooted by Tan Cheng Lock as a result of his war-time sojourn in India, hartal, a form of passive resistance, whereby the PUTERA-AMCIA urged its supporters to stop work for a specific period with the intention of disrupting public and commercial life, was employed. The first hartal was a one-day affair in Malaya on 9 September 1947. Encouraged by a good response, Tan Cheng Lock, as the main organizer, obtained the cooperation of the Associated Chinese Chambers of Commerce to mount an all-Malaya hartal with the specific aim of highlighting what the PUTERA-AMCIA had argued were major defects of the federation proposals. The all-Malaya hartal, staged on 20 October 1947, received the support of the MCP and had its effects in Kuala Lumpur and other main towns on the west coast of Malaya. The costs incurred by closure of business and organizing the hartal 'caused an estimated loss of £4 million'. 93 Despite the protests of the PUTER A-AMCIA, however, the British authorities continued to give their support to the greater number of Malay leaders in UMNO rather than to the leftist ones in PUTERA and their coalition partners in the AMCJA. When Britain announced in January 1948 that the Federation of Malaya was to be brought into being soon, and the Malay Rulers and UMNO supported the British in the matter, the PUTERA-AMCJA saw the impossibility of implementing its People's Constitution. By April 1948 the grand coalition had split up.

## Overview

The first step towards providing a constitution and thereby laying the foundation for the development of a Malayan nation was taken by the colonial government. The initial effort-the promulgation of the Malayan Union-ended in failure; the subsequent attempt-the federation proposals-led to the birth of the Federation of Malaya in 1948 and it was the 1948 constitution which provided the bases for the development of a Malayan and later, a Malayain nation.

But in the process of implementing both the Malayan Union and the federation schemes, problems of a clearly communal nature arose. There was only one major reason why Malay opposition to the Malayan Union was so vchement-it would enable a large number of non-Malays to secure equal policial status with the Malaya shoth this, the Malaya believed, would lead eventually to their complete subjugation in Malaya. Since before the war the Malays had been conscious of the economic superiority of the non-Malays, see pecially the Chinese. The brief period of intimidatory 'rule' by the Chinese-dominated MPAJA immediately possibly share political power with the immigrant communities if they withed to survive. Out of the movement against the Malayan Union, UMNO was born and adopted as its slogan "Hidup Melaya" (Long Live the Malays). The Malay attitude at that juncture was that Malaya was for the Malays.

The demise of the Malayan Union and the implementation of the Federation proposals, which had been arrived at as a result of consultation with Malay leaders, to a large extent placated Malay fears. But this change, in turn, produced resentment among sections of the non-Malay population comprising mainly the English-educated, radicals and leftists (including the communists) who had a better grasp of British constitutional procedures. They formed themselves into the AMCIA which also included the MNP. But the MNP's participation in the AMCJA was more by accident than by design. The Malay Nationalist Party had opposed the Malayan Union for the same reason as those who founded UMNO. But because its members were inclined to oppose rather than support the traditional structure of Malay society, it was viewed with suspicion, if not hostility, by the more conservative Malays. Feeling left out, it hastily looked for new allies and found the AMCJA a convenient bandwagon to jump on. But it soon withdrew and only re-allied with AMCJA on a more autonomous basis after it had formed a grand coalition of Malay radical parties-the PUTERA.

Although there was seemingly close understanding between AMCJA and PUTERA on a number of issues regarding the future constitution of

#### NATION-BUILDING IN MALAYSIA

a Malayan nation, PUTERA's pro-Indonesian tendencies could not have been acceptable to the AMCJA.\*\* Moreover, it has to be borne in mind that non-Malay support for AMCJA came largely from those who had lefixit learnings and were therefore more willingly to accommodate Malay demands for the sake of achieving independence from colonial rule. The large majority of Chinese and Indians, at this juncture, had not yet begun to think seriously about their political future in Malaya. For the Chinese the turning point was 1949 when China came under the controll of the Communist Party. It was in that same year that the Malayan Chinese Association (MCA) was founded. For the Indians, the emphasis on communal politics began after the Malayan Indian Congress (MIC) was no longer dominated by leaders who were more concerned with the politics of anti-colonialism."<sup>85</sup>

It was therefore largely through indifference on the part of the majority of the non-Malay population that there was no serious political confrontation in either 1946 or 1948. But it was nonetheless clear that Malay thinking about the future political constitution of Malaya differed sharply from that of the non-Malays. This was the primary reason why the colonial government found it difficult to design a constitution which was acceptable to all. Finding that the Malays were able to harness greater political force, the British Government was quick to change its policy thereby avoiding a more violent demonstration of Malay opposition. The legitimization of Malay political demands in the process of forming the 1948 Federation established precedents in such a way that certain nationalist Malay political and socio-economic privileges were incorporated into the constitutional machinery of the country. These included the adoption of Malay as the national language; a special position for Malays in recruitment to the public services, in the granting of state scholarships and in the granting of commercial licences; and the reservation of land for Malays.96 It would not be far-fetched to say that the problems which emerged during the period 1946 to 1948 within the context of relations between Malays and non-Malays were to recur repeatedly in the course of the development of the Malaysian nation.

 V. Purcell, 'A Malayan Union: The Proposed New Constitution', Pacific Affairs, 19, No. 1, March 1946, pp. 27–8; and Great Britain, Hausard (House of Commons), 414, 1945–6, 9-26 October, col. 254.

 Malayan Union Government, Report on a Mission to Malaya by Sir Harold MacMichael, G.C.M.G., D.S.O. (hereinafter referred to as MacMichael Report), Kuala Lumpur, 1946, para. 10. Emphasis added.

3. MacMichael Report, para. 13. Emphasis added.

### THE UNIFICATION OF THE MALAY PENINSULA

See R. O. Winstedt, A History of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, 1968, pp. 242-5; and B. Simandjuntak, Malayan Federalism, 1945-1963, Kuala Lumpur, 1969, pp. 24-12.

5. Great Britain, Malayan Union and Singapore: Summary of Proposed Constitutional Arrangements (hereinafter referred to as Malayan Union and Singapore: Summary), London, 1946, para. 7.

6. Ibid., para. 9.

7. Ibid.

8. Ibid., para. 8.

 Ibid., para. 23. The proposals also stipulated, 'Japanese nationals will be debarred from obtaining Malayan Union citizenship under the above provisions'.

10. Ibid., paras. 24 and 27.

11. J. V. Allen, Malayan Union, New Haven, 1967, p. 172. For a background to the Undang system of Negeri Sembilan, see J. M. Gullick, Indigenous Political Systems of Western Malaya, London, 1958, pp. 16 and 39.

12. W. G. Mazwell and W. S. Gibson (eds.), Treaties and Engagements Affecting the Malay States and Borneo, London, 1924, p. 104. The texts of the Agreements which the nine Rulers signed in 1945 were identical, except for the names of the states and their respective Rulers. See MaxMinhael Report, Appendix II.

13. Allen, op. cit., Appendix D.

14. Ibid., p. 32.

15. Great Britain, Hansard (House of Commons), 420, 1946-7, cols. 659-62.

16. Ibid. Emphasis added. The Sultan of Johor was the most senior among the Malay Rulers.

17. Great Britain, Hansard (House of Commons), 420, 1946-7, coli. 659-62. See also M. Arduzzone, A Nation is Bern: Berng e Defence of Malayan Union, London, 1946, p. 86 and A. J. Stockwell, 'The Development of Malay Polnics During the Course of the Malayan Union Experiment: 1942-1948' (Ph.D. Thesis, University of London, 1979), p. 09.

18. From the papers of Sir George Maxwell, et al., British Association of Malaysia and Singapore, Northumberland Avenue, London. The letter was dated 15 February 1946.

<sup>19</sup> Dato Onn bu Jazir was hom in 1695 of 3 hom noble family. Educated in Britain from an early age and ar the Kudh Kungow Malay College, he joined the Johore Crivit Service, he left for Singapore for some years already and 1990 as a result of diagreements with Sultain Brahm who nevertheden that and we will be not withed him to be at his sultain brahm who nevertheden that and we will be any strateging of the second second second second second second second which thim to be at his sultain brahm who how relations and the second second

20. See Allen, op. cit., p. 34.

21. Ibid., also discussion with Ungku A. Aziz who was present at the meeting.

22. A. J. Stockwell, op. cit., p. 107.

23. Ibid., pp. 108-9.

24. Nabir bin Haji Abdullah, Mashad II Ihya Assyariff Gunung Semanggol 1934-1959. Kuala Lumpur, 1976, p. 185.

35. A number of reined Binith civil servants who had formerly served in Malaya, including Si Frank Swettenhum. Sie George Maxwell, Sie Lawrence Guillemard, Sie Cecil Clementi and Sie Richard Winneth, as well as MPs unde 1 non Driberg, L. D. Gammans and Lord Marchwood, criticized the Binith Government for embarking on the Malaya Union proposal. In doing so, these Bittons significantly saisted the Malaya in their concerted opposition to the Malayan Union. Winstedt later condemned the Malayan Union which 'was to be under a British Governor, who would usurp the rights the Sultans had enjoyed (subject to the guiding advice of British Resident or Adviser) of ratifying laws, making grants of land and pardoning offenders or commuting sentences', op. cit, p. 248.

26. See W. G. Shellabear, Sejarah Melayu, Kuala Lumpur, 1967; and C. C. Brown (trans.), Sejarah Melayu or Malay Annals, Kuala Lumpur, 1970.

27. Utusan Melayu, 22 December 1945.

28. The revived Malay unions were the Persatuan Melayu Selangor, Persatuan Melayu Kelantan, Persatuan Melayu Pahang and Persatuan Melayu Perak.

29. D. R. Rees-Williams, 'The Constitutional Position in Malaya', Pacific Affeirs, 20, No. 2, June 1947, p. 174.

30. Utusan Melayu, 10 October 1945. (Author's translation.)

31. Warta Negara, 10 November 1945; and S. W. Jones, Public Administration in Malaya, London, 1953, p. 139.

32. Majlis, 5 January 1946. (Author's translation.) See also Ishak bin Tadin, 'Dato Onn and Malay Nationalism 1946-1951', JSEAH, 1, No. 1, March 1960, p. 59.

33. See Muhammad Yunus Hamidi, Sejarah Pergerakan Politik Melayu Semenanjong, Kuala Lumpur [1961?], pp. 17-24, for a list of the associations represented at the congress.

34. Ibid., p. 60.

35. Ibid., pp. 61-3.

<sup>16</sup> lind., pp 64-5: To the Malayan Union the religious advisory cosmell is placed under the Governer of the Malaya Union. As a Muslim community the Malaya Will not tolerate that their religious affairs are meddled with in this manner, and [this issue] will become a danger which will bring about religious war that will reverberate throughout the Malaya Union. A second the Malaya Union. The advisory of the danger which will excite a second second second the second second

37. Ibid., p. 65. Because the Malayan Union destroys Malay destiny therefore we must destroy Malayan Union, never mind that we lose within a generation so long as a thousand future generations will be safe."

38. Bird., p. 66. "P.K. M.M. is trachy to explain that if our consensus now is that the agreement signed by the Malay Rulers is wold, then we should not be deterred from continuing to fight, and continuing to expose the White Paper by peaceful diplomatic mean. She [Britani ] has cheated us. We have been taught the way to cheat in politics and in that case is in to obset the that we completely repet the White Paper and instacle we unite the government of Malaya into one by using for an Independent Malaya? Malaya ruled by Malay themselves for the Malay community. Once again P.K.M. whites to emphasize that we demand immediate independence-and that is it. This is the price for cheating us, and ye chall succeed-Go Willing."

39. Ibid., p. 114.

40. Ibid., p. 83. 'That the proposal of His Majesty's Government to exercise full jurisfication in the said Malay States and to abolish the powers of Their Highnesses the Sultans means the outright annexation of the Malay States in the Malay Peninsula and that proposal is contrary to the spirit and aim of the Atlantic Charter.'

41. Great Britain, Malayan Union and Singapore: Statement of Policy on Future Constitution (hereinafter referred to as Malayan Union and Singapore: Statement), London, 1946, para. 10.

# THE UNIFICATION OF THE MALAY PENINSULA

42. United Malay National Organization, Ten Years of UMNO, 1946-1956, Penang, 1017. D. 24

43. Malay Mail, 2 April 1946.

44. As early as 8 February 1946, the Kesatuan Melayu Johor, in expressing disappointment with Sultan Ibrahim's signature of the new Agreement brought by MacMichael and for the information of our fellow-citizens of the State of lobore in particular and for the Malays of the Peninsula in general', declared 'that the act of the Sultan in ceding the State and Government of Johore to the British Government amounts to a breach of trust laid upon him by God, and consequently it is no longer necessary for citizens to extend their loyalty to him'. Allen, op. cit., Appendix F. paras. 1 and 1.

44. See E. MacFayden, 'A Political Future for British Malaya', Pacific Affairs, 17, No. 1, March 1944. pp. 49-55, where the author summed up in full relief:

In the Straits Settlements the Chinese had been firmly established for generations. They already outnumbered the Malays there before the Peninsula came into the picture. Once British protection was extended, the same disproportion was established in the Peninsula. The small number of Malays in Malaya (discounting recent migrants from the Netherlands Indies) is the chief anomaly in the composition of the population. The administration held a watching brief for the few there were, and, in particular, for the interests of the Sultans: Malays were privileged in government employment. Land policy aimed at preserving their hold on their native soil although more could pethaps have been done to protect them from the usurers, generally of Indian origins.

There were, of course, usurious persons of other ethnic origins, as will be seen subsequently in this study.

46. Muhammad Yunus Hamidi, op. cit., p. 56.

47. Properly speaking, therefore, UMNO was formed in March rather than May 1946. See also D. E. Moore, 'The United Malays National Organization and the 1959 Elections' (Ph.D. Dissertation, University of California, Berkeley, 1960); and UMNO, UMNO Dua Puluh Tahun, Kuala Lumpur, 1966.

48. Salleh Daud, UMNO, Image and Reality, Kuala Lumpur [1966?], p.7. See also Stockwell, op. cit.

49. Interview with the present writer, London, April 1972. Rees-Williams was in Malaya in the inter-war period, practising as a lawyer in Penang from 1930 to 1934 when he got to know many Malayan leaders. He died in 1976, as Lord Ogmore.

50. The Malayan Union Government took over from the British Military Administration (BMA) on 1 April 1946 and administered Malaya until 1 February 1948. The Governor of the Malayan Union, however, ruled Malaya with the aid of an Advisory Council rather than with the projected Legislative and Executive Councils. See Malayan Union Government, Advisory Council Proceedings, 1st April, 1946, Kuala Lumpur, 1946, pp. 1-14, for the records of the inaugural meeting of the Advisory Council.

51. See Allen, op. cit., p. 19.

52. Sir John Foster, K.B.E., Q.C. to the present writer, 11 December 1973.

53. Great Britain, Federation of Malaya: Summary of Revised Constitutional Proposals (hereinafter referred to as Federation of Malaya: Revised Proposals), London, 1947, para. 4.

s4. Ibid., para. 6.

55. Confidential source: telegram. Governor of Malayan Union to Colonial Office, 6 July 1946.

56. Ibid., telegram. Governor of Malayan Union to Secretary of State for the Colonies, 23 December 1946. See also Malayan Union Government, Constitutional Proposals for Malaya: Report of the Consultative Committee Together with Proceedings of Six Public Meetings, a Summary of Representations Made and Letters and Memoranda Considered by the Committee, Kuala Lumpur, 1947, especially chs. 2-4.

#### NATION-BUILDING IN MALAYSIA

57. Federation of Malaya: Revised Proposals, para. 12.

58. Ibid., para. 16.

59. Ibid., para. 12.

60. See Malayan Union and Singapore: Summary, paras. 7 and 8.

61. Federation of Malaya: Revised Proposals, para. 24.

62. Ibid., para. 18.

63. See Malayan Union and Singapore: Summary, para. 13 (d).

64. Out of the fifty unofficial members, there were twenty-two Malays; in addition, the nine Menteri Besar who could vote as unofficial members were also Malays.

65. G. Hawkins, 'Reactions to the Malayan Union', Pacific Affairs, 19, No. 3, September 1946, p. 281.

66. See V. Parcell, The Clainze in Sankazi Aria, Oxford University Press, and edn., London, 1965, pp. 32-3; and Hubmis, op. cit., p. 32: The Indian Press (in Malaya), preoccupied with Indian politics, accepted the basic features of the [Malayan Union] scheme with stuffaction rather than endmassari. See also M. R. Stemon, The Malayan Union and the Historiani, JG24H, 10, No. 2, September 1950, pp. 394-454, for a view which argues that non-Malay reactions to the Malayan Union scheme were more substantial than they were often made out to be.

67. See Cheah Boon Kheng, 'The MDU: A Brief History', JHSUM, 7, 1968-9, pp. 8-20; and C. Gamba. The Origins of Trade Unionism in Malaya, Singapore, 1962, pp. 413-7, John Eber, born of a leading Singapore Eurasian (R. L. Eber) lawyer and an English mother, was educated at Harrow and Cambridge. Before the Second World War, he lived very much like an Englishman although, as a Eurasian, he was not admitted into the Civil Service. He suffered further discrimination during internment in the Sime Road Camp between 1942-5 which was largely instrumental in changing his outlook. He emerged from the war a severe critic of colonialism and, not unexpectedly, campaigned zealously for the Malavanization of the Civil Service as well as the end of racial discrimination. By 1947 he had become actively involved in politics being the Vice-President of the Malayan Democratic Union. He spoke at a number of rallies and meetings held by the communists. He was also the defence counsel for several communists and left-wing trade unionists who were arrested by the police at picket sites and demonstrations. He was on holiday in Australia and New Zealand when the Emergency was declared in the middle of 1948 one year after his return but in early 1950 he was detained and charged with being a communist sympathizer. Although released in 1953, he decided to leave Singapore for London. He never returned. In London he became a political activist again pursuing clearly the communist line. He was consequently banned from re-entry into Malaya and Singapore. (For more information, see Cheah Boon Kheng, The Masked Comrades: A Study of the Communist United Front in Malaya, 1945-1948, Singapore, 1979, pp. 106-8 and 112.)

68. P. Hoalim, St., The Malayan Democratic Union: Singapore's First Democratic Political Party, Singapore, 1973, p. 17.

69. T. H. Silcock and Ungku A. Aziz, 'Nationalism in Malaya', in W. L. Holland (ed.), Asian Nationalism and the West, New York, 1953, p. 315.

30. Tan Cheng Lock was born on 5 April 1891 mo a long-exubibled Malace family. Educated at the Mulace 1 fairly, Shool and Raffle Intitutions Singapore, he began his czerer as a schoolnaster at Raffle Institution Nut soon chose the commercial sector which was him rise to numeroso manageral positions, directonhiya and trustenhips in the rubber, banking, export-import and other industries. Apart from holding the presidency and patronhip of various professional and volumary book, he served a a justice of the Pesca of was an unofficial member of the Strain Settlements Leightive Council from 1921 to 1934 and lower and boxins technicens as Exerciser Council from 1911 to 1914 and the officially

retircl A polished peaker and writer of English, he had ravelled with his family in 1931 to Europe where they remained until 1930; he wain hadin fam 1934 to 1944. He became the first charman of the AMCJA in late 1946, worked for a united multiratial Multyn, was elected first presents of the Malyan Charnes Auscitation (MCA) in 1949, was a member of the Communities Lianso Committee (CLQ) of 1949–91, and initially supported the independence of Mulsya Paryt (MMP) in 1951; Partnered Tunka Adulta Rahman to the unsuccessful tables with Chin Peng at Baling in 1955; and was in semi-eritement therafier. Received a singhthood (H. B.E.) from Titrian and the ranka of Dato (DJ M J) from Johor and Tun (S.M.N.) from the Federation of Malaya Government. Died on 8 December 1960.

71. Tan Cheng Lock, Miscellaneous Speeches, Malacca (n.d.), p. 18. The 'Memorandum on the 1946 Constitutional Proposals for Malaya' was dated 10 March 1947.

72. Afmad Boestaman, Meristo Jadar & Ponckak, Kuala Lampur, 1972, p. 87. 'If we mean to change the policial outlook of UMNO from writin 1d on to believe that we would accred in doing to because the allocation of voters in its very undir-underencerize. Small bodies are allocated two votes [vote] and large bodies like ours are likewise given two votes. It is unlikely that with the votes votes would be able to change the policical outlook of about 50 other bodies which means nearly 100 votes in all, when they are all rightint bodies. We alone constitute a lettis body among them'.

73. Malay Nationalist Party, The Manifesto of the Malay Nationalist Party, Malaya, with Regard to the British "White Paper on Malayan Union", Kuala Lumpur, 1946. Mimcographed, p. 2. Emphasis added.

74. Ibid.

75. Confidential source: PB/PKMM/26/46/25, MNP to Governor of the Malayan Union, 16 April 1946. Emphasis added.

76. PUTERA-AMCJA, The People's Constitutional Proposals for Malaya (hereinafter referred to as PUTERA-AMCJA Constitutional Proposals), Kuala Lumpur, 1947, pp. 2-3.

77. Ibid., pp. 1-4.

78. The name All-Malaya Council of Joint Action was adopted in August 1947 (i.e., PMCJA changed to AMCJA) because PUTERA objected to the term 'Malayan' considered by the Malaya at that time to refer only to non-Malaya.

79. PUTERA-AMCJA Constitutional Proposals, p. 4.

50 Ibid. See also Penang Chinese Constitutional Consultative Committee, The Hamble Petition of the Chinese Town Hall-Penang, the Chinese Chamber of Commerce-Penang, the Storin Chinese British Association-Penang to the Right Homowalde Arthue Creek Jones, P.C., M.P., H.M. Screttery of Starfe for the Calonies, ng March 1947. (A copy of the Petition is extant in the Library of the Institute of Southeast Akin Studies, Singapore.)

81. Federation of Malaya: Revised Proposals, para. 6.

82. PUTERA-AMCJA Constitutional Proposals, p. 5.

83. Ibid.

84. K. J. Ratnam, Communalism and the Political Process in Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, 1965, p. 150.

85. See PUTERA-AMCJA Constitutional Proposals, Sections 2, 24 and 34. The life of each assembly was to be three years.

86. Ibid., Section 26.

87. Ibid., Sections 12-17.

 V. Purcell, Malaysie, London, 1965, p. 110; and M. R. Stenson, Industrial Conflict in Malaye, London, 1970, pp. 129–30.

89. Yeo Kim Wah, 'The Anti-Federation Movement in Malaya, 1946-48', JSEAS, 4, No. 1, March 1973, p. 50.

#### NATION-BUILDING IN MALAYSIA

90. See Stenson, Industrial Conflict in Malaya, ch.8. The MCP is discussed more extensively in ch. 3.

91. Silcock and Aziz, op. cit., p. 322.

92. Yeo Kim Wah, op. cit., p. 40.

93. V. Purcell, Malaya: Communist or Free? London, 1954, p. 118.

94. Abdul Samad Ismail, who was an active leader in the Malay leftist movement from the KRUS to the MNP period (1945-4) stated that the MNP was not a direct result of the nationalist movement against the Jpannes bet rather a result of Indonesian political activities... As late as 1944 the Indonesian withed to leave Malaya out of their future mation. Interview with the present writer, Kuala Lumper, October 1973 and May 1973.

95. The early leadership of MIC comprised men who were involved in the Indian independence movement. It is important to note that MIC was formed soon after Nehru's witt to Malava just as the CIAM was formed before the war soon after Nehru's and the source bere.

96. See Federation of Malaya, The Federation of Malaya Agreement 1948, Kuala Lumpur, 1948.

# In Quest of Racial Unity

THE racial clashes of 1945-6, the impassioned Malay opposition to the Malayan Union which attempted to grant citizenship to large numbers of non-Malaya, and the rather vocal expression of discontent by sections of the non-Malay population because of the pro-Malay tendencies of the federation proposals, altogether resulted in very severe damage to the relationship between Malays and non-Malays. Time might yet have allowed the mutual suspicion and animosity to abate. But Malayans were not given that time. Hardly six months after the inauguration of the Federation of Malaya, a state of emergency was declared by the government in an attempt to crush the activities of the Malayan Communit Party.

# The Emergency and Race Relations

As already mentioned the MCP was founded some time between 1930 and 1931.<sup>3</sup> By the mid-1930 it had made significant headway notwithstanding testbacks due to vigilant police action. It was later able to benefit considerably from the anti-Japanese feelings of the Chinese population in Malaya. When the Japanese invaded the country, it managed to come to terms with even the British Government. In order to build up a resistance force against the Japanese the British agreed to provide for the military training of younger members of the MCP. Soon four 'regiments' of varying strength and size passed through a Special Training School (designated 100 STS); these were the founding troops of what came to be known as the MAPIA.<sup>2</sup>

The MCP emerged from the war a hardened and well-organized force. However, despite being allowed legal room to move about, it found isself gradually inhibited and forced to comply with the regulations of the British Military Administration (BMA). Still it was able to promote industrial and urban unrest as well as economic dislocation. The Malayan Union Government responded to the increasing militancy

#### NATION-BUILDING IN MALAYSIA

of the labour unions by raiding their offices and detaining union leaders. It became clear at this juncture that with the consolidation of British rule after the war, the MCP would not be allowed to function openly for long.

À series of increasingly violent incidents occurred, including the killing of opponents of the MCP by Chinese gummen and, on one occasion, of seven rioters by the police. In mid-lune 1948, the murder of three European planters in Sungai Siput was followed by the Government's declaration of a state of Emergency. The details of these events do not concern the present study and are recounted elsewhere? However, it may be useful to trace briefly the course of the Emergency until about 1955, since it had a significant bearing on the Sino-Malay relationship in the courty.

The MCP was strong and effectively on the offensive during the first three years of the Emergency. Planters, miners and many other Europeans (including Americans) in the private sector of the Malayan economy were earmarked for killing by the MCP and its military arm, the Malayan People's Anti-British Army (MPABA). Some Malayan Chinesca and Indians incurred the same treatment. Initially the majority of the Malays were left alone because the MCP, in June 1948, found them to be as insusceptible to Marzisit, Leninst or Maoist indoctrination as they had been since the communits movement began in the 1920s.

In 1925, writing from Singapore after having made some attempts to spread communism in Malaya, Tan Melaka, the leading Indonesian communist, said:

So far not the slightest advantage is to be seen from the work of our dealers (propagandisty) at (Singapore) or at (Penng). You may usy that they are quite incapable, but in criticising it must not be forgotten that the proper (indigenous) inhibitant there, who form only a minority, are all conservative in their manner of living and thinking, and are petty bourgeois. On the departure of Hadji Mock from (Singapore) hak kindness was involved to make a visit to the F.M.S. The impression which he obtained everywhere did not differ from those gained from (Singapore) and (Penng). The section of the people which understands (conomy) and (politios) are the (Chinese). In the harbours, in buildings, in the trains, and above all in commerce, the (Chinese) are the most prominent. None the less their federation is very weak.

You will understand that in these circumstances it is impossible for us to effect a union. The railway personnel and those in establishments connected with the railway are all Klings. In their circles no beginning has been made to set up any association. There is not a single daily paper in the Straits or F.M.S. that is read by Malays. In brief, fone looks for a movement in the F.M.S., it is not to be sought from the side of the Malays. It will certainly come from the Chinese and Klings, whatever sort of movement it may be.4

## IN QUEST OF RACIAL UNITY

Although Tan Melaka made no direct reference to the problem of race relations, his awareness of the differences among the various racial groups in Malaya may be construed to mean that he knew Malaya's multiracial character constituted a major barrier to any attempt to effect political unity.

It is interesting to note that in the mid-1030s, when analysing the trend of Malay politics, the Special Branch singled out the Malay attitude towards non-Malays as the most dominant aspect of Malay political consciousness. For example, in 1936 the Special Branch remarked, 'Malay "nationalism" continued to be fostered by certain of the Malay Vernacular newspapers. An anti-foreign undercurrent chiefly anti-Chinese and Indian, was noticeable in the Malay press during the year, particularly in "Warta Malaya" of Singapore and "Saudara" of Penang." The communist movement in Malaya, as is now well known, was dominated from the beginning by the Chinese. The Japanese Occupation, as mentioned earlier, aggravated Sino-Malay friction. First, many Malays, especially those involved in the KMM movement, cooperated with the Japanese while the communists formed the MPAJA to resist Japanese hegemony. Then in late 1945 and early 1946, as a result of the 'reign of terror' mounted by the MPAJA during the interregnum (between the surrender of the Japanese and the return of the British), Sino-Malay fighting occurred in several parts of the country, as mentioned in the previous chapter.

However, despite adverse conditions, the MCP was optimistic that it could wim a constitutional battle against the British in the immediate post-war period. It made concerted efforts to assist the formation of Malay as well as non-communal political organizations which it hoped to dominate. Hence the formation of the Malay Nationalist Party was initiated by Mokhtaruddin Lasso, of Sumatran origin and a member of the MCP.<sup>6</sup> The communists were also conspicuously present in the committees of the MDU? and played an important role in the formation of the Pan-Malayan Council of Joint Action.<sup>8</sup> Communist representatives, in the persons of Rashid Mydin, Musa Ahmad and Gerald de Cruz, were present outs 1948 the MCP came to the same conclusion as Tan Melaka in 1953, about the fullity of converting the Malays, it was not for want of trying. The cleavage between the Malays and the Chinese was simply too wide to bridge.

When later the MPABA found that there were some 35,000 Malay special constables working to guard estates, mines, factories and other industrial sites, not to mention the Malay components of the Federation army and police, numerous Malays inevitably also became targets of the

## NATION-BUILDING IN MALAYSIA

MCP armed forces. The MCP continued to rely, for recruits, food, medicine and other necesities to prosecute its war, upon the Chinese civilan population. Its forces formed veritable lifelines with–especially–the Chinese squatters who had mostly remained on the jungle fringe after the Japanese Occupation. Even the Malayan Aborigines, timid as many of them were and numbering some 70,000, had little option but to accommodate the wishes of the MCP by performing the tasks of guides, porters and spirs, and supplying provisions demanded by the MPABA.<sup>10</sup>

The same Aborigines had, of course, been told to cooperate with the MCP elements during the Japanese Occupation and they were no doubt somewhat confused by the sudden reversal of positions after the war, when they were being urged to assist in suppressing the MCP. Indeed, the Aborigines were to become the object of a struggle for influence between the MCP and government forces in which, for some time, the MCP had the upper hand, causing much concern to the government. It is only in very recent times that the Aborigines have been won over through skilfully conducted psychological warfare operations and social development schemes.<sup>11</sup>

The MCP attempted to conduct its campaign with care and close attention to tactics and manoeuvres against the greater military strength of the British, expecially as areinforcements began arriving in the Peninsula following a nation-wide declaration of Emergency on 18 June 1948; but six months after the outbreak of the war the MCP was tenaciously preparing itself for an extended revolutionary venture:

Our Army's objective, then, is self-preservation, attrition of the enemy and, also continued striving for expansion. We must, therefore, refrain from having action and advenurism. We will attack only when we are confident and will not attack when we do not feel to. We want to strike hard to gain a victory in every action and to ensure the annihilation of the enemy and the capture of his arms. In this war we will train our forces, expand them and so improve their quality that the superior position and strength of the enemy and use position of wakenes and inferiority are reversed. It follows that our Army is adopting a policy of a protracted war. Armed strength in a colonial revolution must develop gradually in a drawn-out struggle. We counsel no fears for such a long-term struggle; on the contrary, we subjectively welcome the strategy of a protracted war.<sup>12</sup>

Mindful of its professed aim of fighting a people's war and in an attempt to attract support from all sections of the Malayan population, the MCP renamed the MPABA the Malayan Races Liberation Army (MRLA) in February 1949. There was no lack of armed encounters between the MCP forces and the British security forcet (as these mainly United Kingdom and Commonwealth military contingents came to be called). By the end of 1950 the number of civilians killed as a result of the

Emergency was substantial.<sup>13</sup> But by then the initial strength of the MCP forces had clearly been surpassed by the burgeoning British military paraphernalia in Malaya.

Intent upon safeguarding its strategic and economic interests in the area, Britain steadily poured reinforcements into Malaya, expanded the Federation police force: and developed the Special Branch of the Criminal Investigation Department. There were twenty-three battalions of troops by 1954; the police had expanded from 9,000 to 67,000 including some 35,000 special constables, by 1953; to defend their kampongs and new villages, the Malays and Chinese had raised 350,000 part-time Home Guards by 1951; and to undercut MCP tactics and sever the Party's underground communication links, the Special Branch was reorganized, trained with the latest methods, Asianized, and rendered extremely effective:

...the Special Branch of Malaya became once of the finest establishments of its kind in the world. Even countries with more sophisticated intelligence systems and observers to a training school which had been set up in Kuala Lumpur specially to build up a cafer whose single aim was the complete breaking up of the military and Mn Yuen organizations of the MCP.<sup>14</sup>

What particularly brought about an increased determination on the part of the British authorities to defeat the MCP was the killing of Sir Henry Gurney, High Commissioner of Malaya, on 6 October 1951 as his Rolls-Royce was climbing the winding, jungle-clad road to Fraser's Hills. The fatal attack on Gurney, which was led by Siu Mah, commander of the MRLA regiment in Pahang, was received with shock and dismay in the very country which the MCP was striving to turn into a Soviet-type socialist republic by the 'liberation' of its 'races'. It was felt by thousands that if even the High Commissioner was no longer safe, there was little hope of protection and safety for the man-in-the-street in Malaya. There were in fact numerous acts of violence, killing, torture, vengeance and unnecessary persecution by the MCP forces-too numerous to catalogue here-among the civilians of the country.15 The people of Malaya were like the rest of mankind and naturally found a reign of terror and unmitigated atrocities against their generally decent and law-abiding way of life intolerable. Within a few years from the outbreak of the Emergency, the MCP had succeeded in painting itself as a diabolical intruder intent upon ravaging the decency, peace and future prospects of Malaya and its people. British psychological warfare had little to do with the emergence of such a terrorist image of the MCP; the activities of the Party and its MRLA were largely responsible for it.

Apart from the phenomenal increase in the strength of the British security forces in Malaya, the adverse and disgusted reactions to its harsh terrorium among the Malayan population left the MCP with little choice but to issue its well-known October 1951 Directive; in this the Politburo ordered its state and branch committees to stop all killing among 'the masses' and instead to adopt a conciliatory approach in order to try again to get their support. The reluctant Malays, the small middle class in the towns and the 'running dog's had all to be won over rather than terrorized. The primary duty was no longer determined by the purely military objective of destroying the enemy but rather by the need to expand and consolidate the organization of the masses:

To win the masses the party must (i) stop seizing identity and ration cards; (ii) stop burning new villages and coolie lines; (iii) stop attacking post offices, reservoirs; power tations, and other public seivrices; (iv) refrain from derailing civilian trains with high explosives; (v) stop throwing grenades and take great care, when hooting running dogs found mixing with the masses, to pervent stray shots from hurting the masses; and (vi) stop burning religious buildings, sanitary trucks, Red Cross vehicles; and ambulance:<sup>14</sup>

These abstentions ordered by the Politburo implied what the MCP had been wont to do before October 1951. The Directive also enjoined that the consolidation of support among the masses was to be attained by creating a united front of all communities and classes by acquiring the support of the bourgeosite and capitalists and avoiding violent tactics which have antagonized peasants and workers'.<sup>13</sup> The repentant vein of the October 1951 Directive was an admission of failure in the armed revolutionary approach of the MCP; on the other hand, it showed that the Party was prepared to vary its factics and manocurves in the longterm interest of achieving its chief goal of a Malayan Poole's Republic.

It is to be noted, however, that the MCP switch to conciliatory tactics failed to arrest the Party's decline in military and political strength in Malaya in the ensuring years. After the appointment of General Sir Gerald Templer as Gurney's successor in February 1952, the fortunes of the MCP sank further with its leaders and forces finding themselves increasingly hemmed in in the compact but mountainous centre of the Peninsula. As early as April 1952, the usually indomitable Chin Peng, the Secretary and leader of the MCP, with the agreement of his colleagues in the Central Executive Committee (CEC), made his decision to withdraw to the comparative safety of South Thailand. By the time Templer left Malaya in June 1954, the defeat of the MCP in its armed revolutionary venture was manifest.18 Because of the poor prospect of winning the armed struggle against the British and of the need to be a party to the movement towards the political independence of Malaya, the MCP actually took the initiative to hold negotiations with the incumbent Malayan Government. (It has been said that 'The communists' anxiety to

discontinue the war in some way which would bring advantage to them could well be understood, terrorism had brought them nothing, and the impending federal elections and the approach of self-government, combined with the British promise of independence, had nullified their claim that they were fighting for freedom on behalf of the Malayan poples. Ji\*

In an attempt to solve the political problems of the Emergency, talks were held between leaders of Malaya and Singapore on the one hand and members of the Central Executive Committee of the MCP on the other. Tunku Abdul Rahman, Dato Sir Tan Cheng Lock and Too Joon Hing perpesented Malaya and David Marshall Singapore. The MCP delegation consisted of Chin Peng. Chen Tien and Rashid Mydin. At the talks, held at Baling in Kedah on 28 and 29 December 1955, Tunku Abdul Rahman as Chief Minister of Malaya required that the MCP disband its MRLA; Chin Peng agreed provided the MCP was recognized as a legal political party in the future independent Malaya; the Tunku rejected Chin Peng's rider and the talks failed to achieve any meaningful result.

The effects of the Emergency on Malaya's progress were not entirely negative. Initially the British Government had stipulated that independence could only be given to Malaya when the communists had been completely defeated and the country had returned to normal, peaceful conditions. But even as Templer was departing in 1954, local council elections had been held and active preparations were under way for holding the first 'nation-wide' Malayan federal elections in 1955. Templer later affirmed, 'It was clear that independence was to be given to Malaya; but this could not be done unless the enemy was defeated. I had to start with the grass-roots level, and encourage local councils as the beginnings of future political parties'.20 The change of attitude developed, especially from 1955 onwards, when it was felt that possibly the most effective way to uncover the real objectives of the MCP was to grant independence to Malaya speedily and judge the subsequent attitude and activities of the communists. It was reasoned that the speedy granting of political independence to Malaya would demonstrate whether the MCP was indeed struggling for the emancipation of Malaya from colonial rule or whether the Party was really primarily interested in disseminating communism as widely as possible as the ideological basis of government in Malaya.

It is important to note that a very few days after the declaration of the Emergency, Dato Onn, then President of UMNO, said:

Malays in kampongs are in no mood to tolerate any intimidation or violence. I feel if they are involved physically they will hit back. The Malays are prepared and ready to assist and back up the administration in restoring law and order. The present activities of the Communist Party and other lawless elements have more than confirmed, if confirmation is necessary, that the real background of what is happening today is the avowed objective to create a Malayan Communist republic in Malaya in which the Malays themselves will be completely subscriptiont. No Malay who loves his country will ever be prepared to allow this to happen.<sup>21</sup>

Indeed, the Malays readily joined the armed forces to fight the communist guerrillas and this was a major factor in perpetuating Sino-Malay animosity. As Anthony Short remarks:

From the beginning of the insurrection the situation within Malaya alone was sufficient to create a good deal of tension between the Malay and Chines communitics. Most apparent was the readic composition of the combattan forcer: armed Chines guerilla and numerous Chines supporters on the one side. Malay police, soldiers and special constrabulary on the other. Superficially, this could be and often was taken as the general alignment of the two communities: the Chinese were supporting the insurrection, the Malays were resisting it. The fact that so many leaders of the two communities should allo so fore for others to trust them was perhaps itself a sufficient indication of the dangerous lack of trust that existed....

#### Short continues:

It is perhaps worth making the point that in September 1948 the Federation of Malaya was only it months old. The Constitution had already been changed once since the war and the new one seemed open to specific emphasis and even amendments. The extreme statement of Malay opinion, often expressed by Untaum Malaya, was that Malaya belonged to the Malaya: an argument which principally though not entirely was directed against the Chinese. Thus it was objected that there were too many Chinese complications in Malaya-representatives, that is, of the Chinese Nationalist Government-and it was feared that the Chinese Government might take advantage of the existing state of emergency to server the rights of Chinese. Where Malays were counting their numbers in the forces fighting the terrorists, the Chinese consults, sid Majin, were busy calcuting the amount of Chinese Ioses and the total of Chinese. exists and the chinese is and the total of Chinese cases and the total of Chinese. Subses and the total of Chinese Units of Chinese Units and the third of Chinese Chinese is and the total of Chinese Chinesee Chinesee Chinesee Chinesee Chinesee Chinese

The British Government itself was well aware of the seriousness of the problem. At carly as 1940, one of the most influential and persuasive diplomats that Britain had ever sent to Malaya perceived the wisdom of aiding the multiracial population of the Peninsula to achieve closer unity for its own political benefit. This was Malcolm MacDonald who became Governor-General of the Malayan Union and Singapore in 1946 and later served as British Commissioner-General for South-East Asia.<sup>25</sup> Having established friendly relations with Malayan leaders, especially Dato Onn bin Jafar. Tan Cheng Lock and E. E. C. Thursingham, MacDonald be better inimized to them that the political future of Malaya would be better assured if they put their heads together and worked for the common good of the country.<sup>24</sup> A direct consequence of this encouragement from MacDonald was the setting up of the Communities Liaison Committee (CLC) in January 1949. The members were E. C. Thurstingham (chairman), Dato Onn bin Jaafar, Tan Cheng Lock, Dato Panglima Bukit Gantang, Yong Shook Lin, Sir Roland Braddell, Dr Mustapha bin Osman, Lee Tiang Keng, Saleh Hakim, C. C. Tan, Zainal Ablidin bin Haji Abbas, and Malcolm MacDonald (first as 'liaison officer' and later,as an observer).

Although it is true that Dato Onn had convened a meeting of leaders of the main communities in his home in December 1948 for informal exchanges of views on the communal problems of Malaya, particularly to discuss and study the sources of inter-racial frictions with a view to finding ways and means of eliminating them', it was after the CLC came into being that concrete efforts were made in the matter.25 The CLC met several times during the next two years and discussed such fundamental constitutional issues as citizenship, education, the introduction of elections to local councils and the Federal Legislative Council, and ways and means of resolving social and economic disparities between the Malays and non-Malays. On the last point, in particular, there was a general consensus that if the Malays were expected to share their political rights with the non-Malays, the latter must assist the Malays to attain social and economic parity with the non-Malays.26 The CLC thus promoted a political and economic 'bargain' between the Malays and the non-Malays in the course of deciding the political future of Malaya: 'The Communities Liaison Committee had come to the conclusion that the Malays would sacrifice their privileged political position only if they could be aided in securing a greater share of their country's wealth.'27

It can be said that the work of the CLC was the first attempt by a communally representative group of Malayan leaders to pin-point and suggest solutions to the basic problems of their country. Tan Cheng Lock declared emphatically:

One of the principal objects of the Communities Lisison Committee is to bridge the yawning guild that now exists between the communities. If there was no such guilf there might perhaps be no need for the Communities Lisison Committee. Obviously then we shall have to face squarely the causes for [ith] this guil, one of which, I take it, is the present Constitution of the Federation of Malyaz.<sup>34</sup>

Indirectly, the CLC discussions on citizenship led to the passage of the 1952 Ordinance amending the 1948 Constitution; developments in education policy, such as the appointment of the Barnes and Fenn-Wu Committees, to be discussed below, also owed much to the attention given by the CLC to curriculum and language problems. Last but not least, the CLC initiated moves to demand from the British authorities the speedy introduction of party politics in the Preinisula. Of the political and conomic 'bargain' between the Malays and the non-Malays, Dato E. C. Thurainingham sid, years later, it is true. I and others believed that the backward Malays should be given a better deal. Malays should be assisted to attain parity with non-Malays to forge a united Malayan Nation of equals.<sup>2,9</sup>

Notwithstanding the endeavours of Malcolm MacDonald and the CLC, racial animosity continued to exist owing to a number of developments. There was, for example, the problem of National Service. On 15 December 1950 the High Commissioner, Sir Henry Gurney, announced conscription measures which gave authority to the Government to direct all males between 17 and 45 to perform military or police service. The first step was registration for the 18-24 age group. A total of some 290,000 persons were involved. The manpower regulations deeply disturbed the Chinese and by the end of 1951 only 1,800 Chinese had been conscripted. The majority of these were English-educated. Thousands of Chinese youths fled from Malaya first to Singapore and then to Hong Kong or China. The leading Chinese papers did not lend their support to the Government's conscription measures. The Sin Chew Jit Pao felt that students, skilled workers in agriculture, commerce and industry and teachers should be exempted as well as the eldest son or only son in a particular family. The Nanyang Siang Pao stressed that the Chinese should be granted citizenship first, before they could be called upon to fight the communists. The China Press preferred that national service should be on a voluntary basis. Even Tan Cheng Lock, who had no strong political ties with China, came out to defend the Chinese attitude on the ground that it had traditionally been the case that the Chinese would accord loyalty first to the family and locality rather than to the nation. Moreover, the Western idea of social obligation was alien to them. 30 When in 1954 the Singapore Government implemented the National Registration system and the National Service Act, which required everyone to register for an identity card and subjected able-bodied men between 18 and 20 to possible compulsory military service, students of Chinese schools staged protests and as disorder mounted the Government temporarily closed down eight of the schools.31

The unwillingness of Chinese youths to serve in the armed forces to fight the communist guerrillas inevitably gave the Malays the impression that the Chinese did not identify themselves politically with Malaya. The Simo-Malay situation had so deteriorated that even the popular leader of UMNO, Dato Onn, could not persuade it to accept non-Malays into the party and Dato Onn's now celebrated resignation from the party in protest did nothing to alter the resolute stand of UMNO members. It is pertinent to note that when, subsequently, Dato Onn proceeded to form a non-communal political party-the Independence of Malaya Party (IMP)-Tunku Abdul Rahman, the new President of UMNO, remarked that by leaving UMNO and forming the IMP, Dato Onn had sold away the Malays' rights and heritage to other races.<sup>32</sup>

The seriousness of the racial situation may be further illustrated by a reference to the subject of the resettlement of the Chinese rural population (otherwise known as the Briggs Plan). One of the significant results of the armed confrontation between the British and the MCP was that the geographical location of a substantial number of the Peninsula's inhabitants was deliberately altered. In a concerted effort to stop the thousands of mainly Chinese squatters on the jungle fringes from continuing to render various forms of aid to the Malayan Races Liberation Army, the Federation Government began mapping out plans as early as 1940, when Gurney was High Commissioner, to resettle these squatters in so-called New Villages located in suitable and accessible parts of the Peninsula. It was not an easy undertaking, insamuch as the sites of the New Villages had to have basic necessities such a shabiable and arable land, roads, water, protection from MRLA incursions and, where funds permitted, an electricity supply.<sup>30</sup>

The first organized settlement was at Mawai, near Kota Tinggi in Johor. Out of a score of such schemes half were abandoned for lack of funds and coordination by the Federal and State Governments in their implementation. The situation required not only a comprehensive scheme for the whole of the country and funds to finance this, but also a man able to galvanize the Administration into extraordinary action.<sup>14</sup> The rescutement effort had in effect become a strategic as well as a major social problem.

More taxing for the planners, the majority of the sites had to be acquired from land gazetted as Malay Reservation which, as the tide implies, could be settled and used only by Malays. In accordance with the 1948 Federation Agreement land, which had abruptly become a Biritsh responsibility under the Malayan Union proposals, had been 'restored' as a matter of jurisdiction to the Malay Rulen. It took Gurney nearly two years to convince the Rulers that the resettlement scheme 'was not only a question of military survival, but a vital step in promoting racial harmony and equality, without which the date of independence might well be delayed'.<sup>35</sup> The Rulers agreed to release land for siting the New Villages, and the 'villagers were eligible for permanent tide to this land'.<sup>36</sup> It has been correctly suid that such agreement on land use 'would have been inconceivable in the days before the Emergency when the Malays would have demanded adherence to old promises, which acknowledged the complete rights of the Malays'.<sup>37</sup>

In actual fact, by 1952 security forces, special constables, government officials and social welfare workers had helped to resettle over 423,000 squatters into some 410 New Villages.<sup>34</sup> It should be noted that, though Gurney initiated resettlement, it was Lieutenant-General Sir Harold Briggs who concentrated on the plans for it during his appointment as civilian Director of Operations from April 1950 to November 1951. No less significant, it was Templer, with his soldierly professionalism, who improved upon and made a notable success of the Briggs Plan as a strategic and social programme. Many years later Templer explained, 'Oh yes, the plan was Briggs'all right. But he had no power to implement it effectively, until Sir Winston Churchill appointed me High Commissioner and Director of Operations and I swallowed the Briggs Plan, hook, line and sinker.<sup>39</sup>

The social and political significance of the resettlement effort has been summarized thus:

At first essentially a security measure, the resettlement programme developed into a battle for the hearts and minds of the people. Victory in this battle, it was hoped, would help to raise a new generation of Chinese with a stake in the country. Completion of this process would change the New Villages from reservoirs of resentment into bastions of loyal Malayan citizenry. It was a dream, but there was a chance of its coming true.<sup>40</sup>

The process involved the removal of about half a million people from isolated areas of the jungle fringes to a community life in the New Village; these were linked by road and often also by railway to the other population centres of Malaya, which thus enabled the Federal and State Governments to extend social amenities and welfare to the Villages. Ultimately, local government councils were initiated and leaders from among the villagers themselves were entrusted with the responsibility of running their village affairs.<sup>41</sup>

The unfortunate aspect of the Briggs Plan, however, was that most of the New Villages were populated by Chinese. This, and the failure of a few multiracial ones, led to the development of what amounted to Chinese ghettos in many areas. The Villages eventually helped to prolong, if not accentuate, the polarization of voting and political preferences along communal lines, inasmuch as communal bloc votes often came from the Villages. No less important, within the context of this study, is the fact that the resettlement schemes caused not a little resentment among the Chinese affected. Means comments:

#### IN QUEST OF RACIAL UNITY

Counter-insurgency measures undertaken by the Government also tended to intensify communal antagonisms. Rural Chinese who cultivated vegetable plos or tubber small-holdings were upported from their tofsm illegal land holding and sent to detention camps for 'screening' or, after 1950, to 'new uillage' where they giving willing (or unwilling) support to the guerrillar. The use of collective giving willing (or unwilling) support to the guerrillar. The use of collective support of the Communix cause. Food denial measures, which under severe circumstances involved communal cooking of food, added to the guerances of these resetted Chinese 'squatten'. Although the government provided physical mentities and social services to the new village, the total impact of government policy frequently caused hardship and grievances anong the very people whose cooperation was esensial for defecting the Communix guerrillar.<sup>44</sup>

Ironically enough the very same measure which the Chinese so resented also caused dissatisfaction among the Malays-what the Chinese regarded as 'punishment', the Malays regarded as 'favour'. In the period 1951-3, Malay leaders and the Malay press repeatedly complained that the Government was neglecting Malay kampongs. One Malay paper pointed out that 'Malays in the kampongs are left with their old lamps, wells in a wretched state and muddy roads. They should ask if that is what they ought to receive in return for the loyalty they show the government, whereas persons whose loyalty the government cannot depend upon are given all amenities and comforts.'43 In the Municipal Council of Kuala Lumpur, Abdullah Yassin complained that in the adjoining areas of Sentul and Setapak 'Only one pipe is available for the people of three kampongs and that pipe is situated right in the town of Sentul, that is half a mile from each kampong. At the same time, the kampongs are dirty because pigs and cows are allowed to be reared near the kampongs.'44 The subject was also brought up in the Federal Council in 1951 and again in 1952, on both occasions by Dato Haji Mohammed Eusoff who complained that the Government was apathetic towards the development of Malay society. He warned that if the situation was not remedied then 'in solving one emergency, we start another which might be more serious . . . let us not give too much when it is too late'. 45 The tone of press reports and speeches by Malay councillors and politicians throughout the country was basically the same-the Government was discriminating against Malay kampongs and therefore the Malays were losing confidence in the Government.

It was a symptom of the time: every action, every development was unavoidably seen and interpreted communally. Racial polarization, in fact, was by no means a less serious problem than communism. What made the situation even more acute was the reality that communalism and communism were not two separate problems. Communism and all its ramifications intensified communalism. Yet surprisingly, the country was able to make constitutional progress towards independence.

## Constitutional Developments during the Emergency

The imposition of rigid and wide-ranging Emergency Regulations in June 1948 prompted most of the earlier political groupings either to disolve voluntarily or to suspend activities; some, such as the Malayan Communist Party (MCP) and the Angkatan Pemuda Insaf (AP), were banned.<sup>44</sup> Hence, constitutional discussions on the country's future were apparently placed in abeyance until the stringency and threat to stability of the Emergency abated. But, upon closer serutiny, it can be seen that the stringent years of the Emergency were actually the seed-time of political developments which accelerated Malaya's progress towards in dependence.

One of these developments concerned the question of Malayan citizenship. The Malayan Union scheme had intended to confer jus soli citizenship (i.e., to confer citizenship on all persons born in the Union or Singapore on or after Malayan Union Day) but Malay opposition to this led to the tightening up of citizenship provisions in the 1948 Federation Agreement. In terms of promoting nationhood, too, the federal citizenship provisions of 1948 had one major limitation. Citizenship, it was explained,

... was not a nationality, neither could it develop into a nationality. It would not affect or impair, in any respect whatever, the status of Bhrish tubjects in the Settlements or the status of subjects of Rulers in the Malay States. It is an addition to, and not a subtraction from, nationality and could be a qualification for electoral rights, for membership of Councils and for employment in Government revices, and it could confer other privileges and impose obligations.<sup>49</sup>

Because the 1948 federal citizenship was not a nationality, it failed to instil among many non-Malays who were eligible for it that feeling of Malayan consciousness and allegiance which was a prerequisite for national integration. It tended to delay the realization among Chinese and Indians who were qualified for federal citizenship that they had much more in common with the Malays than with their ethnic brethren in China or India after the Second World War.

Nevertheless, the 1948 citizenship provisions did have some beneficial effects. They brought about a widening interest among the people of Malaya in the importance of citizenship per se as their country moved towards independence. It was estimated that the total number of federal citizens by operation of law and by application was 3.275,000 at the end of 1930. Of this figure, 2.500,000 were Malays, 300,000 Chinese and 30,000 Indian.<sup>44</sup> With the population of Malaya at about 5.226,500 in 1930, this meant that in less than three years after the administrative unification of the Peninsula, Malaya had citizens who numbered about 65 per cent of the total population. Thus a citizenry, an essential component of nationhood, had been created by the 1948 Federation.

The widening interest in citizenship led to the passage of the Federation of Malaya (Amendment) Ordinance 1953 which provided two new methods of caquiring federal citizenship. One of these was by being a citizen of the United Kingdom and Colonies and born in the Settlements (Penarg and Malace) or Federation together with certain residential qualifications.<sup>49</sup> Secondly, a person could become a federal citizen by first becoming a subject of one of the nine Malay Rulers.<sup>30</sup> These provisions were meant mainly for non-Malays, at Malays automatically were citizens of the Federation as well as subjects of the Rulers in their respective states. This automatic provision for the Malays Hulers been established and left unaltered since the days of the Malays Illoin and its replacement by the 1948 Federation. The definition of a 'Malay' was, and has been until this writing, constitutionally a person who (a) habitually speaks the Malay language; (b) professes the Islamic religion; and (c) conforms to Malay causo...<sup>41</sup>

The 1952 Ordinance maintained the provisions on language qualifications as they existed in the 1948 Federation Agreement. Among other things, reasonable proficiency in 'Malay or English' was required of the applicants for registration or naturalization as federal citizens. Like the Malayan Union proposals, but unlike the 1948 Federation Agreement, the 1952 Ordinance disallowed dual citizenship, that it to say it required the remunciation of any other nationality or citizenship before a person could become a federal citizen of Malaya.<sup>32</sup> This prohibition of dual citizenship acted as a strong incentive for the non-Malays to consider seriously the practicality of taking up federal citizenship for the alternative would have been sooner or later to return to their countries of origin or face life as aliens or stateless persons in the Federation.

The various questions which arose pertaining to citizenship from 1946 to 1952 were important signposts in Malaya's development towards nationhood; that is, they were indicative of the growing preoccupation with evolving a nation-state in the Peninsula. No less significant was the direct result of the passage of the 1952 Ordinance: 'And so from midnight on September 14, 1952, 1.20000 Chinese-sixty per cent of the Chinese in Malaya-and 180,000 Indians became Malayan citizens. Many others were able to apply for citizenship under the new law which had substantially relaxed the conditions."53 Ratnam writes:

... it may be established that, at the end of 1953, approximately 4,424,650 persons had either already become eitizens or possessed the birth qualification necessary to become registered as such. Since the total population of the country at this time was estimated at 5,705,952, this means that only about 1,281,300 persons were not included in any of the above categories and, significantly, 911,300 of them were in fact hom outside the country.<sup>16</sup>

Thus, even though the 1952 Ordinance fell short of declaring a single nationality for Malaya, inasumech as the Nationality Enactments postulated no less than nine 'different nationalities in a small country's<sup>3</sup> the liberalization of the citizenship provisions of the 1948 Federation Agreement acted as a clear stimulus to the evolution of a Malayan people of different ethnic origins, bound by a common citizenship and moving together towards the goal of full self-government. Ratnam's calculations demonstrate that Malaya was already a state and potentially a nation with nearly 80 per cent of its total population already citizens or clearly eligible to become citizens.

<sup>B</sup>y 1933 too the security situation of the Peninsula had greatly improved so that military orders issuing from King's House. General Templer's headquarters in Kuala Lumpur since he took over as High Commissioner and Director of Operations in February 1952, tended more and more to sound less stringent.<sup>14</sup> The lessning of the hiterat from the MCP forces from 1953 onwards enabled the Federation Government to place more emphasis on policical considerations for the future of the Peninsula. The Emergency itself was to a considerable degree a war between two conflicting ideologies, the communism of the MCP and the British were the more successful for the Malayans at large tended to prefer the ideals of Her majesty's Government to the dialectics of the MCP.

A point to bear in mind is that while constitutional and political developments occurred in the 1950s Malayans experienced the use of some parliamentary processes of government with the encouragement and guidance of the British. Thus, even before party politics developed later in the 1950s, the British authorities made one significant constitutional concession. This was the introduction in April 1951 of the socalled 'Member System' whereby in accordance with a resolution of the Federal Legislative Council, nine of the official members were made responsible for various departments and functions of Government'.<sup>3</sup> The nine 'portfolioa' introduced were: Member for Home Affairs; Member for Health; Member for Kaucston; Member for Homestrial and Social Relations; Member for Lands, Mines and Communications; Member for Works and Housing; and Member for Railways and Potts. In February 1994, after some rehuffling of ministerial responsibilities and the addition of the portfolios of Member for Local Government, Housing and Town Planning; Member for Posts and Telecommunications; Member for Transport; and Member for Natural Resources, seven of the portfolios were held by Malayan 'non-official members of the legislature'. These were Dato Sir Onn bin Jaafar (Home Affairt), Tunku Yaacob ibni Al-Marhum Sultan Abdul Hamid Halim Shah (Natural Resources). Dr Lee Tiang Keng (Health), Dato E.E.C. Thuraisingham (Education), H.S. Lee (Transport), Dato Nik Ahmad Kamil bin Haji Mahmood (Local Government, Housing and Town Planning) and Dato Mahmud bin Mat (Posts and Telecommunications).<sup>39</sup>

The Member System turned out to be the precursor of the cabinet system of government in Malaya; but its introduction and use also represented an important stage in the growth of inter-communal cooperation in the country, albeit only at the leadership level. The Member System evidently afforded leaders of the different races opportunities to exercise extensive ministerial responsibilities while working in common for the achievement of independence. It also tended to create a precedent whereby in the future Malayan nation the central cabinet would be multiracial.

# The Growth of Party Politics

Party politic had begun with the formation of the Malay Nationalist Party (MNP) in September 1945 as the post-war successor of the KMM, PETA and KRIS; the formation of the Malayan Democratic Union (MDU) in December 1945; the formal establishment of UMNO in May 1946; the quiet formation of the Malayan Indian Congress (MIC) in August 1946 and the establishment of the PUTERA-AMCJA grand coalition. There was, however, little scope for the development of pan-Malayan popular appeal among the political parties until the electoral process was introduced. This was done during the later years of the Emergency, partly in an endeavour to convince the people of Malaya that, unlike the authoritarian MCP, the British believed in giving them the right to choose the type of government and political system they preferred and partly as a corollary of the British pledge contained in the 1950 as as agency by which the struggle for political emancipation and the ultimate goal of Malayan nationhood could be widely debated and decided upon in an inter-communal manner by the people of Malaya themselves.

The political parties which functioned during the reactions to and discussions on the Malayan Union and the 1948 Federation proposals took up issues largely from the standpoints of pressure groups againting for the redress of immediate grievances, such as UMNO's fight for the restoration of traditional Malaya Political rights and the PUTERA-AMCJA's advocacy of liberal social democracy for Malaya but the party politics which developed in the 1950 evinced more clearly the pattern of a consistent and increasingly steadfast struggle to gain self-rule for Malaya<sup>40</sup>. The introduction of municipal and town council elections between 1951 and 1955 promoted this patterne<sup>44</sup> and the formation of the Alliance, between UMNO and the MCA, to contest the 1953. Kuala Lumpur municipal elections underlined the awareness of the leaders of the two parties that, in politics as in every other major aspect of public life, there must be inter-communal amity and cooperation if the long-term goal of attaining independence was to be seriously pursued and trailized.

The CLC had earlier established the pattern of inter-communal bargaining for the future well-being of Malaya. Dato Onn indeed attempted to convince other UMNO leaders that the Malaya's must get into action and wholcheartedly co-operate with the other communities in order that the aims of UMNO-one nationality speaking one language-can be achieved.<sup>5,2</sup> H succeeded in getting UMNO to accept non-Malaya a associate members who had no voting right; but, as mentioned earlier, when he pressed for the admission of non-Malay federal citizens as full members of UMNO, he not only faced strong opposition but ended up having to resign and form his own Independence of Malaya Party (IMP) in September 1951.<sup>4,2</sup>

The IMP was a non-communal party which strove to unite the various communities to work for self-government within ten years democratic elections to local government by 1953 and to the central legitaliure based on adult suffrage by 1953; fire and compulsory elementary education for all between the ages of 6 and 12 years by 1955; Malayaniation of the public service and creation of a Malayan service as opposed to the colonial service; improved social services in the rural areas in particular, subsidies and guaranteed prices to cultivators; the graniting of the full fruits of their industry to workers; and reform of the feudal system in the Malay state.<sup>44</sup> In many ways it is fair to say that the IMP 'erpresented a policical crystallization of the co-operative aspirations of the Communities Liaison Committee'.<sup>48</sup> But the IMP failed to gain the support of both Malaya and non-Malays which was vial to its programme. The Malays almost entirely opposed the IMP and the Chinese and Indians felt reluctant to support a party which could not even get the confidence of the community its leader halde from. Essentially, the failure of the IMP demonstrated that, notwithstanding the energetic efforts to foster intercommunal understanding and cooperation, Malayan politics were still heavily charged with communalism at the time. The Malays continued to unite solidly behind UMNO under its new leader, Tunku Abdul Rahman,<sup>46</sup> while the Chinese were to concentrate their political efforts in the MCA for years to come.

The MCA was founded in February 1949, originally as a welfare association to assist in the implementation of the BriggerLBan of resetting squatters into New Villages.<sup>49</sup> While the British managed to exercise better control of the Chinese through it, the MCA also enabled wealthy Chinese to develop a counter-organization to the MCP and moreover helped in orientating the Chinese community towards a Malayan outlook.<sup>49</sup> At the inaugural meeting of the MCA in February 1949 Tan Cheng Lock highlighted what may be described as the pre-occupation of the period, namely the desire for inter-communal understanding in order to attain independence. He stud:

The people of Malaya can only constitute a Nationality if the different Communities making up its mixed population are united among themselves by common sympathies and fellow-feeling and reconcile themselves to living together in peace and harmony under equal tights and laws.

Hence it is a matter of supreme significance and an indispensable necessity that a basic purpose of this organization must be the attaining of inter-communal understanding and friendship, particularly, between the Malays and the Chinese, the two major races which form between them about 88% of the population of Malava...

The Chinese in Malaya have come to stay and Must Wake up and Unite not only among themselves but also with the Malaya and other Communities to make this land, which feeds, nourishes and sustains us, one country and one nation and the object of their loyalty, love and devotion.\*\*

It may be said that the MCA was the first political party to attempt to unify the Chinese in Malaya as a community and in a communal manner for inter-communal purposes. It was the first wide-ranging attempt to make the Chinese in Malaya realize that their social, economic and political welfare were far more deeply involved in the future of Malaya than in that of their traditional homeland. There was a growing awareness, particularly because that homeland appeared to be succumbing to Mao Tse-tung and the Chinese Communist Party, that the number of political options for the mainly capitalist-oriented Malayan Chinese was diminishing; and that one of these was the choice of Malaya as their real home and the object of their loyalty in common with the other communities of the Peninsula.

The wish to cooperate with other communities hore its first fruit when UMNO and the MCA entered an alliance to context the Kuala Lumpur municipal elections in 1952." A Papt from the UMNO-MCA alliance, the IMP was the main contender in the elections. Out of the 12 seats contested the Alliance won 9 and the IMP 2, while the last seat went to an Independent. In the course of 1952 and 1953, the Alliance won 94 out of 124 seats in municipal and town council elections.<sup>71</sup> Mindful of future developments and with much political acumen, the successes were acknowledged in these terms.

The Alliance is grateful to the peoples of the Federation for giving practically too percent of the elected scata in the Town, Municipal, State and Settlement Councils to Alliance candidates in elections held so far, and hopes that the people will continue to give its candidates the same measure of support in the Federal elections, to enable it to carry out its policies and programmes for the development of the peoples themselves to a self-governing and then an independent tation.<sup>72</sup>

Their electoral successes encouraged the UMNO and MCA to consider the possibility of making their alliance more permanent, both for future political purposes and to foster a combined leadership in the struggle for Malayan independence. This solidarity between the two largest communities, the Malays and Chinese, who formed 'between them about 88% of the population of Malaya', increasingly became the *sine qua* non of the nationalist move towards independence. The inter-communal leadership of the Alliance was unmittakably becoming the most successful in the popular quest for self-rule. Indeed, this leadership achieved a further triumph in the 1955 federal lections.

## The 1955 Elections: the Dawn of Nationhood

While the electoral process was being introduced in the various local councils, serious thinking was taking place about extending it to 'national', Peninsula-wide level. A committee was appointed in July 1953 to examine the question of elections to the Federal Legislative Council and constitutional changes in the Federal Government arising therefrom'.<sup>13</sup> The Elections Committee advocated the establishment of a partly-elected and partly-nominated unicameral legislature, and gave the explanation vitally connected with nationalism that:

While clearly recognising that the ultimate objective must be a fully electedlegislature which would be truly representative of all major elements in the

## IN QUEST OF RACIAL UNITY

Federation, it is thought that development and experience in the country have not yet reached the stage when all aspects of the political and economic life of the community would be adequately represented through the electoral process.<sup>74</sup>

Special representation for racial minorities in the legislature was considered, but it was felt that separate nomination would be undesirable insofar as it might delay the realization of a united Malayan nation where the separate racial groups would be integrated and would find their political voice through bodies organised on non-racial lines'.<sup>75</sup> Similarly, but clearly of more crucial importance to the political future of Malaya, the Elections Committee rejected any suggestion of a communal voting system:

The Committee is of the opinion that to adopt such a system would not be in keeping with the agreed object of promoting national unity amongst the peoples of Malya and might arrent the process of assimilation and co-operation which is so essential if the country is to have a single united people. We, therefore, agreed that elections should not take place on a communal basis and that all communities should participate together in voting on a common basis and that candidates should be elected by individual territorial constituencies and not by individual communities.<sup>76</sup>

The voting age was to be 21 years and over. Out of the total population of Malaya of 5.7 million, 'the number of persons who are or could become citizens would be of the order of 4.4 million of whom approximately one-half are over 21 years of age.'7? Voting was not made compulsorv.

It was eventually agreed that 52 out of 98 members of the Federal Legislative Council would be elected. A Constituency Delineation Commission divided the Federation into 52 single-member constituencies. A system of weightage for sparsely-populated states, such as Kelantan and Trengganu, was employed, having regard to the greater difficulty of contacting voters in the country districts and other disadvantages facing rural constituents.<sup>78</sup> The administrative arrangements necessary for holding the elections were meticuloudy carried out. These included the registration of voters, the recruitment and training of returning officers and polling station staff, the work of the information services in publicizing the elections are aplaining the purposes and value of the electoral process to the public, and the security provisions needed to ensure the safety of the campaign and voting.

It seems clear that the people of Malaya went to their first national poll on 27 July 1955 with an awareness that their country was not only undergoing constitutional development and the institutionalization of party politics but also moving on the road to independence. The 1955 elections were after all a partial fulfilment of the promise, in the Colonid count Office Directive quoted earlier, that the people of Malaya could count on the powerful and continuing assistance of H.M. Government not only in the immediate task of defeating the terrorists but in the longer-term objective of forging a united Malayan nation'. At all events, the 1955 poll was keenly contested as will be seen below.

Of the 46 nominated seats in the Federal Legislative Council, 3 were for representatives of the Ceylonese, Eurasian and Aboriginal minorities; 22 went to 'scheduled interests' (6 for Commerce, 6 for Planting, 4 for Mining, 2 for Agriculture and Husbandry, and 4 for Trade Unions); 7 were 'nominated reserved seats'; 11 were taken up by the State and Settlement members; and 3 were for representatives of the Ceylonese, Eurasian and Aboriginal minorities (despite the rejection of communal representation by the Elections Commission) because the British Government felt that the interests of these groups should not be submerged. The remaining 3 seats were retained for ex-officio members. In addition, there was to be a Speaker of the legislature.79 In short, the composition of the new legislature reflected a compromise between direct democracy, in the sense of a fully-elected house, and the demands of immediate Malayan consensus, in that the local social, economic and political realities had to be provided for. But the fundamental spirit and intent of the exercise remained, namely that with the implementation of the electoral process at national level the scope for the people of Malaya to think further and decide upon the national future of their country would be considerably broadened.

Briefly, the parties which contested the 1955 elections were the Alliance, Party Negara, the Labour Party of Malaya, the National Association of Perak (NAP), the Perak Malay League, the Perak Progressive Party (PPP), the Pan-Malayan Islamic Party (PMP), and 18 Independents.<sup>40</sup> (The Alliance now included the MIC which joined it just before the elections.) The *First Election Report* summed up the results of the poll in clear language:

The UMNO/MCA/MIC Alliance won fifty-see of the fifty-two seats for elected Members in the new Legialative Council. The only seat lost by the Alliance was the Krian Constituency of Peral, which was the scene of a three-contered fight with the Pan-Malayan lialmic Party candidate just abead of the Alliance candidate (8685 to 8.13) votes] and with the National Association of Perak candidate a rather poor third. The Alliance candidates obtained approximately 80 per cent. of the total votes cars, and in each of the \$1 constituencies in which the Alliance was successful, their candidate obtained more than twice as many votes as any of his rivals.<sup>81</sup>

The electoral and therefore political ascendancy of the Alliance was evident from the 1955 poll onwards.<sup>82</sup> Its electoral success also enabled the Alliance to claim that it had the mandate to lead Malaya to

independence; this accounts for the fact that the negotiations towards Merdeka (Freedom) during the following two years were largely undertaken by the Alliance vis-d-vis the British.

The 1955 elections demonstrated some special features in the democratic process in Malaya. Apart from the adoption of different platforms, the various parties also evinced in varving degrees communal preferences in their campaigns. The NAP, which was formed in 1953 and led by the Dato Panglima Bukit Gantang, the Menteri Besar of Perak from 1948 to 1957, had support from mainly conservative and aristocratic Malays even though it professed to be non-communal. In the elections it reached an understanding with Party Negara not to contest the same constituencies. The Perak Malay League, which had existed since 1946, was by 1955 composed of splinter groups from UMNO and the NAP. and supported Independents in addition to fielding its own candidates. The League adopted a communal as well as religious line in its campaign. The Labour Party of Malaya was the re-grouping of several 'labour parties' formed in the early 1950s; it supported trade union demands and advocated socialist policies which included public ownership of basic industries.83 The PPP likewise was the renamed faction of a 'labour party' in Ipoh and propounded aims similar to those of the Labour Party. The Labour Party and the PPP were the early instances of political groups formed along class as distinct from communal divisions, although both tended to draw their support mainly from the non-Malays.

Party Negara was the successor to the IMP and came into being in February 1934 under the leadership of Dato Onn, who was then Member for Home Affairs in the Federation Government. Unlike the largely noncommunal IMP, Party Negara was openly pro-Malay. It was partly due to Dato Onn's identification with the British Malayan administration at the time that Party Negara. They fire of its communal pro-Malay platform, did poorly in the 1955 elections. (Of the total number of registered voters in the elections 84.2 per cent were Malays)<sup>84</sup> In a valedictory vein, one commentator summed up:

As for the Party Negara, its overwhelming defeat may be regretted in that many comidered it the only party capable of offering any effective opposition in the new Council on the Aliance team-roller. And the defeat of its laders, Dato Onn, in his home town of Johore Bahru was a sad ending to the career of one who has played such a prominent part in Malayan public life. His downfall must be attributed to serious errors of judgement and to a profound inability to understand the psychology of colonial nationalizm. #<sup>8</sup>

The PMIP (later known as Parti Islam Se Tanah Melayu or PAS) was an off-shoot of UMNO and was another communally-based party.<sup>16</sup> The PMIP sought to re-establish Malaya as a Malay country with an Islamic social system in which there would be no separation between religion and government. Evidently, the 1955 elections were keenly contested and demonstrated the ability of the various parties to pursue specific political, economic and social issues as befits the party-political system.

The very process of introducing the electoral machinery at pan-Malayan level was a recognition on the part of the British that Malaya had to be granted self-government in the forsescable future. The politics of the 1955 elections were largely the politics of independence. Each of the main parties viewed the political future in terms of Malayan independence and nationhood. The PMIP, while insisting upon the elevation of the Malay community into a nation in which Islam would be established as the state religion and the Malays effectively given primacy over the other communities, nonetheless recognized the imperative need to end British rule and chivev independence before exercing a theocrait state 'and proposing that Malay nationalism should unite the Malays wherever they might be'.<sup>47</sup> Party Negara viewed the 1955 elections as an invaluable tep towards self-rule. Its election manifesto pledged *inter alia* 'to secure independence by 1960 under a constitution to be drafted by a Constituent Assembly'.<sup>48</sup>

The British authorities had noted that 'the moderation and good sense of the proposals of the Federal Elections Committee are in themselves an indication of political understanding and maturity which justify making the first step towards a fully elected Legislature substantially greater than has been customary elevelnee'.<sup>16</sup> The orderly electoral victory of the Alliance in the first general elections vindicated the confidence of the British in the political maturity of the Malayan leaders.

For the Alliance leaders, the electorate's solid support for their platform of Merdeka within four years after the poll greatly encouraged them to work for that freedom by moderate constitutional and democratic means. The overwhelming Alliance victory also indicated that the voters preferred an inter-communal approach to politics to the exclusivist and communal policies of Party Negara and the PMIP. As for the Labour Party of Malaya, its failure to gain even one seat in the 1955 elections it largely attributable to its emphasis upon the ideas of socialism without being able to put its message of social justice across, especially to the rural dwellers who should have formed its main source of support along with the urban workers and labourers. 1. For the origins of the Communits Party in Malaya, see Khoo Kay Kim, 'Komunisma di Tansh Melayu: Peringkat Aval', Jornal Sojeak, to, Kuali Lumpa, uray, 1971/72, Hanrahan, The Communits Sargiel in Malaya, Kuali Lumpa, 1997; E. O'Balance, Malaya: The Communita Inaugent War, 1946-60, London, 1960; J. H. Brinmell, Communita in Sashitara di La, London, 1989; and R. Onarat, Singpert-A Phile Background, London, 1967.

2. The Anglo-MPAJA collaboration is well told in F.S. Chapman, The Jungle is Neutral, London, 1949.

3. For more detailed accounts of the Emergency, see O'Balance, op. cit; L W. Pye, Garrille Communities in Malaya, Princeton, N.J., 1956, H. Miller, Menaer in Malaya, London, 1954; D. K. Palin, The Campagin in Malaya, New Dolhis, 1966, Gweet Hock Ann, The Emergency in Malaya, Penang, 1966; R. Clutterbuck, The Lang Lang War: The Emergency in Malaya 1964-1960, London, 1957). Statestr. The Word of Reanning Daya, London, 1972; and Anthony Short, The Communit Insurretion in Malaya, 1964–1960, London, 1972.

4. Colonial Office Records 273/535. Malayam Bulletin of Political Intelligence, October 1926. The letter was dated 6 November 1925. The words in brackets were decoded by the Political Intelligence Bureau in Singapore from the cypher of the original letter.

5. See Khoo Kay Kim, 'The Beginnings of Political Extremism in Malaya 1915-1935' (Ph.D. Thesis, University of Malaya, 1974), p. 326.

6. A. J. Stockwell, 'The Development of Malay Politics During the Course of the Malayan Union Experiment 1943–1948' (Ph.D. Dissertation, University of London, 1973), p. 87.

7. Cheah Boon Kheng, The Masked Comrades, pp. 74-5.

8. Yeo Kim Wah, 'The Anti-Federation Movement in Malaya, 1946-48', JSEAS, 4, No. 1, March 1973, p. 36.

9. Nabir bin Haji Abdullah, Mashad II Ihya Assyariff Gunung Semanggol 1934-1939. Kuala Lumpur, 1976, pp. 164, 166.

10. See J. B. P. Robinson, Transformation in Malaya, London, 1956, ch. 4.

11. S. S. Bedlington, Malaysia and Singapore: The Building of New States, Ithaca, N.Y., 1978, pp. 20-1.

12. MCP, 'Strategic Problems of the Malayan Revolutionary War' in Hanrahan, op. cit., App. I.

13. Clutterbuck, The Long Long War, p. 70.

14. Miller, op. cit., p. 25. Miller lived in Malaya and covered the Emergency for eleven of its twelve years for Straits Times.

15. See Miller, op. cit., p. 181. Barber, op. cit., p. 247, states that there were 2,473 deaths, 1,385 injured, and 810 missing among the Malayan civilian population by 1960.

16. Malayan Communist Party, 'Past Errors' (Party Directive of October 1951, Pt. 1), The Times, London, 1 December 1952.

17. Ibid.

18. General Siz Gerald Templer assumed duries as High Communicioner and Director of Operations in February 1935. four months after the death of Generaly. He held these combined appointments until his departure from Malaya in June 1934. Born in 1849, educated at Welfington and Standburr, Olympic Hundler in 1944, Welf are 1944, War record, commanding neveral duritoin, theoreming the source learning the Army. Templer had a dimingnished Second Woold War record, following Hild's record durits of theoreming the source learning the source learning the Standburr of Military Intelligence in the War (Ericci) following Hild's refers University has a professional Director of Military Government in unmulty source in the War (Office, Lendon, Templer was professional soldier who had an unmulty source in the War (Office, Lendon, Templer was professional soldier who had an unmulty source).

became a High Commissioner and Ambassador, and later grew to be a hard-headed Malay businessman.

60. See Ratnam, op. cit., ch. 5.

61. See Federation of Malaya, Report on the Introduction of Elections in the Municipality of George Town, Penang, 1951, Kuala Lumpur, 1953.

62. Straits Times, 16 October 1949.

6). Inhik bin Tadin, op. cit., pp. 77–4). Twenty-two years hter, Dato Oun's ton, Datak Husein Oun, who had risen to become Deputy Prime Mutiker and Mutiser of Trade and Industry of Malaysia, said of his faber? with to open UMNO to non-Malay membership: "Apakh aya hu yeai alah ratu ben li daki kolsh hendak dikur olch winga pada wakra itu. Cadangan ayah uya dibuat kerana pundingannya yang juah. Cadangan itu bukan cidak, terapi boleh, jadi tertah aya untuk dikernakhaya holeh masa dan sigarah." (Whether m yi fahre wang could not be masared by ayone at lat time. My fahre's proposal was made because of his far-tightenfens. The proposal was not bad, but my's timely ei may terus run barya diapat disentukan oleh masa dan sigarah. "(Sheherm ya Taki awamate ou agoat it. A matter of dhin sameter a on aly ba écided by time and history.") Stobby Latif. "Pasang Surut Politik Husein Orai, Manika, No. 10, October 1973. pp. 4–5.

64. T. H. Silcock and Ungku A. Aziz, 'Nationalism in Malaya', in W. L. Holland (ed.), Asian Nationalism and the West, New York, 1953, p. 334-

65. Ratnam, op. cit., p. 155.

97. Social Welfare lotteries were run to raise funds for charinable work among the Channes equatered for New Villages. It has been observed that 'Gre veren's gaven the MCA explored the Chainese love of gambling to pay for welfare programs which incidentally lepted to consolidate in power among the Chaines of Mulay'. Means, op. (at. p. 11.) See Mulayrian Chainese Association, MCA 20th Amirersary Sourcear, Kuala Lumpur, 1950, pp. 53-6.

68. See M. Roff, 'The Malayan Chinese Association, 1948-1965', JSEAH, 4, No. 2, September 1955, pp. 46-33; Chan Heng Chee, 'The Malayan Chinese Association' (M.A. Thesis, University of Singapore, 1969); and Lim San Kok, 'Some Aspects of the Malayan Chinese Association, 1949-1969', JSSS, 26, No. 2, 1971, pp. 11-48.

69. Malayan Chinese Association: Speech by Tan Cheng Lock on the 27th February 1949, at the Insugural Meeting Of The Proposed Malayan Chinese Association at Kuala Lumpur (privately published, n.p., n.d), pp. 1-2. Emphasis in the original.

70. The municipalities of George Town (Pennag) and Malices Town and Fort had existed since the beginning of rogk, while the Kuali Lungur municipality was established later in the same year. 'Local matters in other towns and village areas were controlled by Town Boards in the Solates and in the Serfmennen by Rural Bloards under the drimmanhip of the local administrative officers.' Federasion of Malaya, *Ansual Rayres on the Federasian of Malaya*, 1944, Kuah Lumpur, 1949, p. 171. See also G. Huwkins, "First Sprein Malayan Alexan Park Series and Series Malaya, 1944, Kuaha, Series Malaya, Series Russian, Series and Series and Series Series and Series an Local Government', Pacific Affairs, 26, No. 2, June 1953, pp. 155-8.

71. In 1952, the grassroots democracy of 'elected Local Councils was gradually implemented. Some 135 Local Councils came into being during that year in addition to 12 Town Councils'. Federation of Malaya, Annuel Report, 1935, Kuala Lumpur, 1954, p. xiv.

72. TCLP: 'Alliance Manifesto for Federal Elections'.

73. Federation of Malaya, Report of the Committee Appointed to Examine the Question of Elections to the Federal Legislative Council (hereinafter referred to as the Elections Committee Report), Kuala Lumpur, 1924, para. 1.

74. Ibid., para. 14.

75. Ibid., para. 19.

76. Bida, para 63. I. ii worthy of nose that the Election Committee set up a Working Party from anong its members to study the issues involved, the Working Party included Dato Sir Ona hin Jafar, Tunku Abdul Rahma, Dato Abdul Ranki hin Hausen, Dr. Immit in Dato Abdul Rahma, E. E. C. Thuringinghan, Dato Nik Amad Kamu, G. Commer, J. S. Lee, Dato Yong Shook Lin, P. P. Narayanan and Dato Zainal Abdun hin Haji Abbua 110 of whom, in varying degrees, were to continue to play proviment rules in the progress of Malay to wardn autoinhood. Most of them were at one with the Alliance demand that the elections should be held, 'if practicable, no Itter than November 1937'. Ind., parse 3 and to 5. Sea lob V. J. Morais (compiler and publisher), War's Wer In Malayita and Singapare, from 1900 enventhor biographical accounts of these Leaders. In general, it may be said that these who supported the Alliance walked the corridon of power and often enjoyed workshow who support with the null approx of the origination and concentrated the greater part of their rune and energy on personal affain.

77. Elections Committee Report, paras. 51-2, 83, 88 and 96.

71. Federation of Malaya, Report of the Constituency Delineation Committies, Kuala Lumpur, 1954, para, 31 and Appendix L. The final allocation of constituencies was as follows: Pennang 4: Malacea 2: Perak to; Schanger 7: Negri Sembilina; J: Phaneg 1; Johores F, Kedha 6: Kelatana 5; Trenggana 3; and Perlin 1. Alia interview with W. C. S. Correy, show was a member of the three-man Commission Commission, London, April 1972.

79. Federation of Malaya, No. 695/54 and No. 967A: Despatch. High Commissioner to Colonial Office, 10 April 1954, para 4.

80. T. E. Smith, Report of the First Election of Members to the Legislative Council of the Federation of Malaya (hereinafter referred to as First Election Report), Kuala Lumpur, 1955, para. 68. See Ratmam, op. cit., ch. 5; and Means, op. cit., chs. 10 and 11 for more detailed backgrounds of the various parties.

81. First Election Report, para. 67. Out of the 1,280,000 who were registered as voters, 84.86 per cent cast their votes in these first federal elections.

82. Of the seven political parties which contested the 1955 elections, the Alliance polled 73.6 per cent of the total votes while the Party Negara captured 7.6 per cent without, however, winning any seat. The PMIP, which won the only remaining seat after the Alliance won handbomely in 51 constituencies, managed to get only 2.9 per cent of the votes.

83. See C. Gamba, 'Labour and Labour Parties in Malaya', Pacific Affairs, 31, No. 2, June 1958, pp. 117-30.

84. First Election Report, para. 23.

85. F. G. Carnell, 'The Malayan Elections', Pacific Affairs, 28, No. 4, December 1955, p. 319.

86. See J. Funston, 'The Origins of Parti Islam Se Malaysia', JSEAS, 7, No. 1, March 1976, pp. 58-73 for an account of its early history. 87. Means, op. cit., p. 229. Interview with Datuk Haji Asri bin Haji Muda, Kuala Lumpur, March 1979.

88. Means, op. cit., p. 168n.

89. Federation of Malaya, No. 967A. Despatch. Colonial Office to High Commissioner, 20 April 1954, para 4-

## 4 A Nation is Born

.

THE political developments in Malaya between 1948 and 1955 had plainly prepared the way to self-rule. Since the 1955 elections were largely concerned with the politics of attaining independence, it is not surprising that after its undisputed electoral victory, the Alliance set out to fulfil its pledge of achieving Merdeka for the Peninsula. But there were still some major problems to be surmounted before independence could be achieved, notably those of education, language and citizenship.

# Education and Language

Under British rule and 'protection' before 1946, the Straits Settlements, the Federated Malay States (FMS) and the Unfederated Malay States (UFMS) had a systematically thought-our programme of education which was subtly geared to the maintenance of a plural society in Malaya and which keyt the Malaya backward and rural.

Malay pupils were given free elementary education in Jawi (Malay in Arabic script) and in Romanized Malay from the beginning of the twentieth century. The development of Malay education in the pre-war period has been well summed up as follows:

The introduction of Malay Schools into the life of the Malays which began in the Nimeteenth Century, did not meet with success initially, due to the resistance from the old religious tradition of learning. Gradually however, Malay schools began to be accepted, and after the first quarter of the present century, they were in great demand from the people.

During its approximately sixty years' history, up to 1941, the Malay school system was never raised, nor was it intended to be, beyond its primary level. Its aim was never beyond that of elimination of illiteracy. While the status and the aim never charge, the administration aspect of it did change from time to time.)

The Sultan Idris Training College (SITC) at Tanjung Malim began a three-year curriculum to train Malay teachers in 1922. The successful trainees from this College were intended for schools in the Straits Settle-

ments, the FMS and the UFMS. Considerable development took place at the SITC until the Japanese Occupation, its accommodation being extended and its curriculum widened. But, despite all this, the Malay vernacular schools taught only up to Standard Four. The underlying reason has been clearly stated:

... it had been accepted as a policy that the Malay education should not go beyond Sandard IV. If the idea was to curb Malay education, why then Sultan Idrin Training College? The answer is simple. Sultan Idrin Training College was not a secondary school. Rather, it was a training college-a College that was meant to be a melting pot for shaping people who would go back to their *kampong* to make the people in the *kampong* more construct with their way of life.<sup>4</sup>

It was only in 1949 that a revised syllabus provided for a six-year course of instruction.<sup>3</sup> Consequently, very few Malays acquired more than knowledge of the 3Rs in pre-war days.

The teaching of non-Malays was carried on in English, Chinese and Tamil. The mosaic of unintegrated sources of education in the pre-war era has been summed up in the following:

Up to the outbreak of the second world war there was a complexity of schools. There were schools for the Malay children, schools for the Chinese children, schools for the Indian children and schools providing education in English to the children of parents who could afford [ii]. There was again an absence of uniformity of policy, though the ultimate atim of all these schools was a pareical one. For the Malay child and the Indian child a minimum amount of literacy was toonsidered utificient. For the Chinese child education was intended to strengthen his bond with China. In the English schools the aim was to pass the Cambridge Overseas School Certificate Examination, the certificate having a great economic value.

Again schools were either fully assisted, partially assisted by the Government or totally dependent on charity. All these factors gave rise to different curricula, different methods and different standards. It would therefore be reasonable to surmise that education in Malaya before the war tended more to separate than to unite the various races together.<sup>4</sup>

The post-war period began with a statement of education policy in 1946 which proposed *inter alia* that primary education would be free and would be for a period of six years. The media of instruction would be Malay, Chinese, Tamil and English. Secondary education would be conducted by schools in which English would be the medium of instruction. It was particularly noted that 'In every possible way the essential unity of the various sections of the Primary School will be stressed so that the school may provide a preparation for united service for the country and for the reation of a sense of common citizenship.<sup>3</sup>

The 1948 Federation Agreement provided for the centralization of

control of education in the hands of the Federal Government. The Agreement in fact already envisaged the systematic development of Malayan education by establishing "Primary, secondary and trade school education to the extent of ensuring a common policy and a common system of administration; higher education; technical education; training of teachers; registration of schools; Federal education institutions; Malay translation bureau'.<sup>6</sup>

These developments are worthy of note, showing as they do that the post-war Malayan policy-makers had come to recognize education as an important factor in the enormous task of building a Malayan nation out of the culturally and ethnically diverse people of the Peninsula. This recognition contrasted with the divisive policy of the pre-war authorities and provided opportunities for the various communities to take seriously their respective roles in the social and political future of Malaya.

In 1949 the Federation Government appointed a Central Advisory Committee on Education consisting of representatives of the Legislative Council, and or Official and educational interests, 'to advise Government on the general common policy and wide principles to be followed in education'.<sup>7</sup> Again, the prime intention was to do away with communal barriers and work for the integration of the various racial groups. As it happened, communal views rendered the Committee's efforts ineffective; but it was at least agreed that Malay education required urgent improvement.

A Committee on Malay Education under the chairmanship of L. J. Barnes, Director of Social Training, Xoford University, was appointed in 1951 'to enquire into the adequecy or otherwise of the educational facilities available for Malays.<sup>14</sup> The Committee comprised, in addition to the British chairman, nine Malays and five Europeans. There were no Chinese or Indian members. The Barnes Report presented the position of the Malays in a highly nationalistic manner. Arguing that the Malay had gradually become enslaved in his own country while the British and the immigrant communities steadily prospered and gained the upper hand in almost everything except administration, the Report Lamented, 'Now even if the wanted education he could no longer afford it'.<sup>9</sup> The role of education in nation-building and, above all, in the emergence of an interation in a future independent country, was underlined when the Barnes Report declared:

We believe that primary schooling should be purposely used to build up a common Malay nationality, and we urge that it should be reorganised on a new inter-racial basis...Our proposed inter-racial primary school we call the National School... In principle we recommend the end of separate vernacular schools and their replacement by a single type of primary school common to all. We recognise, of course, that since this end can come only gradually, vernacular schools will continue for some years concurrently with the development of the National School.<sup>10</sup>

The Barnes Report argued to a considerable extent from a partian Maly viewpoint. Yet it cannot be denied that the Malay members who were a majority in the Committee were not only conscious of the presence of other communities in their Peninsula but also aware of the complex problems which appeared certain to arise in the implementation of their proposed National School. Thus the Committee stated that its National School scheme 'would be seriously weakened if any large proportion of the Chinese, Indian and other non-Malay communities were to choose to provide their own primary classes independently of the National School'.<sup>11</sup> To reassure the same non-Malay communities that the longterm objective was a common Malayan nationality, the Committee ledged that the National School 'will each Engishs to all from Standard I onwards, and it will form the broad highway of admission to all Standard pon-primary reaches of education'.<sup>12</sup>

However reactions to the Barnes Report which some non-Malays and particularly the Chinese felt was 'saturated with Malay nationalism'<sup>113</sup> prompted the appointment of a Mission of enquiry composed of two prominent Chinese, Dr William P. Fenn and Dr Wu Teh-yau.<sup>14</sup> Among other things, Fenn and Wu looked into 'bridging the gap between the present communal system of school and the time when education will be on a non-communal basis, with English and Malay as the media of instruction and other languages an optional subject' and 'the preparation of textbooks for present use with a Malayan as distinct from a Chinese background and content'.<sup>15</sup> Just as the Barnes Report thought of the educational problems of the Malays against the background of a national pedagogical system, the Fenn-Wu Report sought to elucidate the predicament of the Chinese and their culture in the context of the emergence of Malaya as a nation with its own system and medium of education. It stated:

No element of the population can be 'Malayanized' for the simple reason that there is no 'Malayan' pattern to which to mould it and because such moulding is not produced by far. A new culture can come only from the natural minging of diverse cultural elements for generations. In the process, elements which do not command appreciation disappear, while those which do need no political or external support.<sup>16</sup>

While it argued for 'a proper place' for Chinese Schools in the education system, the Fenn-Wu Mission nevertheless supported the central aim of fostering the development of a Malayan nation. It suggested that there was 'no real advantage for Chinese culture in maintaining the form or, indeed, the methods and content of schools in China. Foreign politics in any form should be eliminated from Chinese schools, and textbooks suitable for Malayan use should be produced'.<sup>17</sup>

The Legislative Council eventually set up a Committee headed by E. E. C. Thuraisingham (who was now Dato Sir Clough Thuraisingham), to study the education problem as a whole; the findings of the Committee were largely incorporated into the 1952 Education Ordinance. This provided for the establishment of a system of national schools with Malay and English as the media of instruction but it also contained the provision that the teaching of other vernacular languages would be allowed in cases where fifteen or more pupils requested the teaching of a particular language. The Committee's report met with hostility from the Chinese. Some of whom considered that the Government had reduced the status of Chinese education to that of 'a prisoner to be condemned'.18 The MCA leadership, with representatives in the Thuraisingham Committee, expressed satisfaction with the report and came under severe attack not only from those outside the party but also from its rank and file. Education as an issue unavoidably affected relations between UMNO and the MCA. As Means comments:19

The political relations between UMNO and the MCA were subject to severe strain in August and September, 1952, when Victor Purcell arrived from London to prepare a report on the Chines as the invitation of the MCA. The Malays took strong exception to Dr. Purcell's visit because he was a well-known spokesman for the Chinese viewpoint on political and constitutional insues. Tumku Abdul Rahman forbade any UMNO officials to cooperate with Dr. Purcell, and, in apparent retaliation, the MCA withdrew its offer of M500,000 to set up a Malay Welfare Fund to be administered in cooperation with UMNO.

However, the political partners managed to avoid a serious confrontation. MCA leaders under Tan Cheng Lock appealed for a more tolerant attitude and hence acceptance of the 1952 Education Ordinance.

It can be seen that, at this juncture, the movement among the Alliance leaders to establish a national system of education was pursued with zest, attention to inter-communal considerations and the hope that the system would serve the needs of an independent Malaya. Indeed, in preparation for the 1955 elections, the Alliance promised 'To re-orientate Education to a Malayam outlook.... To establish a type of national schools that will be acceptable to the people of Malaya and will meet their needs in promoting their cultural, economic, social and political development as a nation so as to facilitate the fulfilment of the Alliance aim to adopt Malay as the national language of the country.<sup>20</sup> A significant milestone was reached in 1956 when the Federation Government appointed a committee headed by the then Minister of Education, Dato Abdul Razak bin Dato Hussin. The terms of reference of the committee were almost identical with the Alliance election promise just quoted and paid particular regard 'to the intention of making Malay the national language of the country whilst preserving and sustaining the growth of the language and culture of other communities living in the country.<sup>2,11</sup>

The Razak Education Report did not abandon the Barnes Reports a advocacy of 'national schools'.<sup>22</sup> The Barnes and Fenn-Wu Reports as well as the Report of the Thuraisingham Committee were all concerned, in varying degrees, with the same two aims: to evolve a national education system; and to work out an agreement in which, within that system, Malay would eventually become the sole national language and the principal medium of instruction while accommodating, as far as possible, the other main languages: English, Chinese and Tamil. Separate vernacular schools had to be allowed to exist until the arduous process of compromise could achieve a consensus on the 'national schools'. But there was never a doubt about or objection to the overriding aim of 'establishing a national system of education acceptable to the people of the Federation as a whole', from the time of the Barne Committee onwards.

Hence, while recommending Malay, the national language, as a compulsory subject in all schools, the Report was strictly realistic:

We cannot over-emphasize our conviction that the introduction of syllabuse common to all ichools in the Federation is the crucial requirement of educational policy in Malya. It is an essential element in the development of a united Malyan nation. It is the key which will unlock the gates hitherto standing locked and barred apains the establishment of an educational system acceptable to the people of Malyay as a whole. Conce all schools are working to a common content syllabus, irrespective of the language medium of instruction, we consider the country will have taken the most important step towards establishing a national system of education which will suisfy the needs of the people and promote their cultural, social, and political development as a mation.<sup>3</sup>

Clearly, education was meant to be not only an aspect of social development but also a crucial determinant in the rise of a nation in the Peninsula. The Razak Education Report led to the passage of the Education Ordinance 1957 under which Standard Primary Malay Schools with Malay as the medium of instruction, and Standard-Type Primary Schools in which the main medium was English, Chinese or Tamil were established. In secondary education, 'one type of National secondary school open to all races by competitive selection and with a common yllabus, a flexible curriculum permitting the study of all Malayan

languages and cultures and room for diversity in the media of instruction' was adopted.<sup>24</sup>

But the Razak Education Report also met with opposition from the Chinese community and because the MCA had been a party to the Report, anti-MCA pamphlets appeared which accused the MCA of having 'swept overboard' the interests and culture of the Chinese in Malaya.25 Two organizations were particularly vocal in their attacks on the Razak Education Report-the United Chinese School Teachers Association and the All-Malaya Chinese Schools Management Association. Within the MCA itself, there was widespread discontent. The MCA leadership was compelled to form a Central Education Committee to study the implications of the Razak Education Report. At a conference held in February 1957. attended by some 200 delegates, the Alliance Government's education policy, as applied to Chinese schools, was rejected. The MCA leaders, however, were more concerned to preserve their bond with UMNO in pursuit of independence. Hence, when the Razak Education Report was tabled in the Legislative Council in March 1957, it was accepted without a note of dissent from the MCA members.26 However, within the Chinese community, even after the 1957 Education Ordinance had been passed, disaffection towards the Alliance party continued to be marked and this was manifest during the Ipoh-Menglembu by-election which was held after the sitting MCA member, Leong Yew Koh, was appointed Governor of Malacca in 1957. D. R. Seenivasagam of the People's Progressive Party defeated the Alliance candidate,27 and Ipoh from then onwards consistently voted for Opposition candidates. The issue of education also continued to plague the Sino-Malay relationship.

The Alliance also continued to regard education and the question of National Language as extremely important aspects of nation-building so that in 1959, after just two years of independence, another committee was appointed to review the implementation of the Razak Education Report.28 The resulting Rahman Talib Education Report considered that 'the 1956 Committee succeeded in recommending an educational policy which was national in its scope and purpose, while at the same time preserving and sustaining the various cultures of the country',29 The importance of language was obvious from the fact that primary education in Malay was 'to be developed by the introduction of national language streams in former Government primary schools'.30 Furthermore, secondary education would be conducted in only Malay or English; and 'all public examinations in secondary schools [were] to be conducted only in one of the [two] official languages'.31 Effectively, this meant that, in addition to those in the English streams, the first batch of students in the Malay medium secondary classes begun in 1958 could sit

for their Lower Certificate of Education examination (after completing form III) in 1960, and for their Federation of Malaya Certificate of Education examination (upon completion of Form V) in 1962. Form VI enrolments which could lead to the (Cambridge) Higher School Certificate examination and also matriculation in the University of Malaya, which adjusted its academic year in 1958 to fit in with the school terms were, however, still low and increasing only very slowly-2<sup>3</sup>

## Citizenship

While all the Malays were subjects of their respective Rulers and automatically became citizens of the Federation from 1948 onwards, the problem of nation-building in this regard was the question who among the non-Malays should be admitted into the privileged fold of Malayan citizenship.

It was very clear by 1955 that the MCA would have a difficult time accommodating Chinese demands and at the same time preserving its bond with UMNO. When the Reid Commission (q.v. infra) was set up and prepared, in 1956, to hold hearings on constitutional proposals, the question of citizenship and related issues burst into the open. Several Chinese organizations threatened to call on the Chinese to boycott the MCA and to set up a rival body unless the MCA agreed to ask the Alliance to accept firstly, the principle of equal rights for all races; secondly, the granting of citizenship on the principle of jus soli; and finally, the concept of multi-lingualism. In Pulau Pinang and Melaka, certain groups of Chinese also demanded the right to retain their status as British subjects after independence. As has been remarked, 'the Executives of the MCA were, understandably, panicked by the storm that had broken about their heads'.33 The Chinese, in fact, called for a separate memorandum to be sent to the Reid Commission. When the Alliance refused to allow this, the Chinese guilds began to act independently of the Alliance. In one assembly attended by a thousand delegates representing six hundred associations, resolutions were passed which called for 'nationality by right of birth; citizenship rights after five years' residence; no language test for citizenship; and the adoption of Chinese as an official language in Malaya'.34

When the Reid Commission Report was made public in February 1957, it was found that the bulk of the Alliance's recommendations had been accepted. The guilds and associations decided to send their own delegation to London to persuade the British Government to consider more sympathetically the Chinese case in the final negotiations on the Con-

stitution. The delegation which eventually met the Colonial Secretary was headed by Lau Pak Khuan of the Perak MCA, a stalwart in the Federation of Chinese Guilds and Associations. The delegation accomplished nothing but the MCA was greatly embarrased and therefore decided to suspend five of its members connected with the delegation to London, among them Lau Pak Khuan.<sup>35</sup> But from this point onwards, many Chinese organizations no longer looked to the MCA to espouse the Chinese cause. They felt that the MCA leadership was too concerned with placating the demands of UMNO. This attitude was categorically expressed by an editorial in the *China Press* which stated: "We feel we can no longer rights because it is a political party and not an organization to represent public opnions".<sup>36</sup>

Happily for the emerging Malayan nation, the Alliance leaders were able to work together. As already indicated, the Reid Commission, after receiving many different citizenship proposals, decided that the best proposals for dealing fairly with the present situation are those put forward by the Alliance.<sup>37</sup> The three parties making up the Alliance had fully considered the matter and had reached broad agreement on it: 'We are satisfied that this agreement is a reasonable and proper compromise between the views of the parties, each of which has the most widespread support from the race which it represents, and we are further satisfied that this agreement is a better way of doing justice between the traces than any other that had been suggested on has occurred to us.<sup>34</sup>

Citizenship was not merely a recurrent problem but also a decisive determinant of nationhood in Malaya. The citizens of a fully selfgoverning Malaya, like those of other independent nations, had to be made distinct from the rest of mankind. Thus in an independent Malaya, it was agreed 'that all who are citizens before Merdeka Day should continue to be citizens, and that all those born in the Federation on or after Merdeka Day should be citizens by operation of law'.<sup>39</sup> (Merdeka Day was 31 August 1957.) This decision helped to maintain continuity in the citeria and development of Malayan citizenship and nationality.

Very significantly, when the recommendation 'that all those born in the Federation on or after Merdeka Day should be citizens by operation of law 'as approved, it clearly mean that jus soli citizenship was adopted in independent Malaya, albeit without retrospective effect.<sup>49</sup> From Merdeka Day onwards, the demand of the non-Malays that the acquistion of Federation citizenship should be based solely on a person's birth in Malaya was acceded to:<sup>41</sup> This agreement again demonstrated the spirit of compromise among the Alliance leaders: it is clear that the adoption of jus soli citizenship with effect from Merdeka Day amounted to an

important concession by the Malays, an essential part of the political and economic 'bargain' between them and the non-Malays.

It was also agreed that those who had become entitled under the 1948 Federation Agreement and the 1952 Ordinance and Nationality Enactments 'to be registered as citizens of the Federation as of right should not be deprived of their privilege to claim to be registered aftirin a period of one year from Merdeka Day,'49 Persons who were born in the Federation before Merdeka Day, and had been ordinarily resident therein for five of the preceding seven years, and persons who had been ordinarily resident in the Federation for eight out of the preceding seven years, could apply for citizenship if they were over 18 years of age subject to certain conditions, including a Malay language test which, however, would be waived if they applied within one year after Merdeka Day.<sup>4</sup> All these provisions were liberal compared to the stringent citizenship paraeraphs of the 1948 Federation Agreement.

Aside from the procedures concerning citizenship by operation of law and by registration, the other method of acquiring citizenship in independent Malaya was by naturalization. It was a further measure of the importance which citizenship played in the development of the Malayan nation that the acquisition of citizenship by naturalization was accompanied by the strictest safegurards:

It is proposed that no person of or over the age of 18 years shall be registered as a cirizen unit he has declared an out that he absolutely and entirely remounces and abjures all loyalty to any country or state outside the Federation, and swears that he will be a true loyal and faithful cirizen of the Federation, and will give due obedience to all havfully constituted authorities in the Federation insultry, it is proposed that a certificate of naturalization shall not be granted to any person unit lie has taken an oath in this form.<sup>44</sup>

Thus in independent Malaya dual citizenship was made impossible, although, largely as a hangover from Malaya's colonial past, it was decided 'that in accordance with the position of the Federation within the Commonwealth every person who is a citizen of the Federation will enjoy by virtue of that citizenship the status of a Commonwealth citizen in common with the citizens of other Commonwealth contrict.

# The Alliance and the Achievement of Independence

It has been shown that ever since the UMNO-MCA Alliance was formed in 1952, there had been problems in accommodating distinctive party and communal demands. These, of course, included Chinese demands such as those discussed above. On the other hand, Tunku Abdul Rahman was often criticized by more conservative UMNO members for appearing to be less than forthright on the preservation and promotion of Malay rights.<sup>40</sup> When the MIC joined the Alliance prior to the polls of 1955, communal problems within the Alliance were indeed accentuated.<sup>47</sup>

Yet, because of the overriding wish to achieve independence and to continue to represent the three major communities of Malaya, the fragile unity of the Alliance survived the communal dictates of its component parts. A clear example of political cooperation between UMNO and the MCA was the Alliance delegation to London in 1954 to demand not only federal elections in 1954 but also a workable elected majority in the Federal Legislative Council at the forthcoming federal elections. The delegation consisted of Tunku Abdul Rahman, Dato Abdul Razak (deputy president of UMNO) and T. H. Tan (executive secretary of the MCA). When the Colonial Office refused its request for a three-fifths majority in the proposed new Council, the Alliance ordered a boycott lasting three weeks of all Government councils and committees throughout the country: 'At least, 1,000 Malays and Chinese men and women obeyed and handed in their resignations from the bodies on which they were serving'.48 In the Alliance's own words, 'The boycott was only called off after the High Commissioner [Sir Donald MacGillivray] had agreed to consult the majority party before filling five out of the Special Reserve of Seven Nominated Seats in the Federal Legislative Council'.49

The unity of the Alliance was enhanced by the need to maintain a solid front not only against overt political opponents including the IMP, the PMIP and Party Negara but also against the MCP which was still pursuing the objective of setting up a communist Malayan People's Republic. By 1955 the Alliance was demanding self-rule from the British because it believed that independence would undercut the prime objective of the MCP: 'The people of Malaya will not allow the presence of militant Communist, and will come in spice of the Communist, and et is obviously to the interests of Britain to see that militant communism is effectively checked.<sup>2</sup><sup>50</sup>

It has been argued that the British decided to support UMNO in working towards nationhood in Malaya as carly as the period of setting up the 1948 Federation. Furthermore, although the MCP was 'composed almost entirely of Chinese' <sup>34</sup> even during the Emergency the majority of the Chinese population either remained neutral or tended gradually to support the British-encouraged MCA.<sup>32</sup> This meant that while the British decided to support the Alliance, the Malays and Chinese, together with the Indians in the MIC, were able to project a united policial front

which by and large was representative of the multiracial population of the Peninsula.

Yet it is debatable whether the Alliance would have maintained its unity for long had three further important factors not existed. One was that the armed militancy of the MCP was being effectively checked by 1955, enabling the British to state that the Emergency was no longer an impediment to Malaya's progress towards full self-government and independence. Secondly, while the main opponents of the Alliance, such as the IMP, Party Negara, the PMIP and the PPP, were either too closely identified with the conservatism of the British or were very communal and sectionalist.<sup>53</sup> the Alliance, besides having a broad inter-communal staged the 1954 boycott and in skilful negotiations with the British thereafter.

But undoubtedly the third factor in cementing the Alliance was its overwhelming success in the 1955 elections. What accounted for this success? In addition to the factors already discussed, 'The Road to Independence', the elaborate and well-considered 1955 election manifesto of the Alliance, undoubtedly played a great part in winning the support of the Malayan electorate. The manifesto gave clear expression to the meaning and value of national sovereignty:

We live in an age of political, social and economic revolution. During the last ten years after the Second World War, we have seen several of our neighbouring countries once subject to colonial rule emerging as free and independent nations and taking their rightful place among the free nations of the world.

This naturally is not without its impact on Malaya. And yet Malaya, which is of no less importance than those countries, is still under colonial rule. The Alliance, therefore, resolves to achieve carly independence for Malaya by constitutional means ... in order to ensure that there will not be any falling down in the standards of living and of government administration, and also to prepare the way so that, when the nation becomes free and fully self-governing, it will be able to develop rapidly to take is place with the other nations of the world as well as to floursh and bring greater benefits to the peoples of Malaya.<sup>4</sup>

As a whole, the Alliance manifesto offered to the people of Malaya a pragmatic programme covering all the major aspects of life in a nation of the modern world: forms of national and local government; administration; citizenship; national language; national security; financial and hanking systems; land, agriculture and fishery policies; education; health and social welfare services; and a number of other minor matters.<sup>54</sup> As we have seen, the electorate gave the Alliance a mandate to pursue independence by delivering to it s1 out of the 32 elected federal seats in July 1955.

In fulfilment of its independence pledge, the leaders of the Alliance

pressed the British for a more definite undertaking to grant full selfgovernment to Malaya. This led to a Constitutional Conference in London between representatives of the Malay Rulers and the Alliance on the one hand and those of the British Government on the other from 18 January to 6 February 1966.<sup>58</sup> Tun V. T. Sambanthan, one of the Alliance leaders who became a federal Minister following the 1955 elections, years later recollected that a number of British officials urged the non-Malayy to ensure that their communities were adequately represented at sthe London constitutional talks. He opposed such a highly communal suggestion, believing that the inter-communal mandate of the Alliance was the best under the circumvatances for the people of Malaya.<sup>37</sup>

At all events, the Constitutional Conference achieved significant results. It is clear from its Report that Britain skilfully sought to avoid any drastic adverse effect upon her economic and strategic interests in Malaya even at this relatively late stage, but the main emphasis of the Conference, by far, was on the imminent achievement of Malayan independence.<sup>34</sup> Thus the Conference made arrangements for defence and internal security, financial and economic matters, and the public service of Malaya during a proposed interim period of internal self-government which was to be followed by the granting of complete independence. Regarding the national future of Malaya the Conference stated:

We have further agreed that, in view of the Malayan Delegation's desire that full self-government and independence within the Commonwealth should be proclamed by August 1957. If possible, a constitution so providing that libe introduced at the earliest possible date consistent with the importance of the task before the Constitutional Commission and that every effort will be made Her Majesty's Government and the Federation Government to achieve this by the time proposed.<sup>38</sup>

Colonial rule, which was partly rescinded by the establishment of the 1948 Federation, was coming to an end at the formal constitutional level. The British Advisers appointed under the 1948 Federation Agreement were to be withdrawn; and in each state the Malayan Menteri Bear (Chief Minister) was to be the principal executive officer.<sup>40</sup> Pending the granting of full independence, the Federal Executive Council was to be further Malayanized with only three British members (the High Commissioner, the Chief Secretary and the Attorney-General) out of its not...less that then or more than twenty-Four<sup>40</sup> members.<sup>41</sup> A cabinet system of government, initiated by the Member System of 1951, was now being further developed with a Federal Chief Minister increasingly playing the role of a future Prime Minister.

The Alliance manifesto had promised to work for the appointment of a Special Independent Commission to review the 1948 Agreement and 'to make a proper assessment of the fitness of the Federation for progressive constitutional reforms which will prepare the country for solf-government and eventual indpendence'.<sup>62</sup> Furthermore, it should be noted that the multiracial leaders of the Alliance had themselves strongly advocated, through their "Round Table" meetings in 1954<sup>34</sup> and in the 1955 election manifesto, a non-Malayan constitutional commission comprising members from British Commonwealth countries:

Only such a Commission will be able to exercise complete impartiality in the inquiry and in their recommendations. On the other hand, a Commission consisting of local people cannot be completely independent because they are bound to be influenced by local political and other interests. Another great advantage in appointing members of such a commission from Commonwealth countries is that these members will be able to give the Federation the benefit of the experience of their respective countries in their progress towards self-rule and independence.<sup>44</sup>

It was one of the rare instances of a country in the modern world entrusting the constitutional foundations of its future national life to the faculties of foreign legal and constitutional men rather than to the beliefs and aspirations of its own founding fathers.<sup>95</sup> Yet the Malayan leaders, in particular the Alliance leaders who held the mandate to bring the Pennia lat to independence, perhaps not unwisely chose this course in order to avoid croding the inter-communal goodwill and understanding which had been built up since the days of the CLC in 1940. Bickerings over constitutional matters could easily have marred the inter-communal unity which was crucial in demonstrating to the British 'the ability and integrity of the peoples of the Federation to govern themselves'.<sup>66</sup>

The process of attaining independence and thereby building a new nation necessitated a change from a system of sultanates to a constitutional, but by no means republican, modern government. Accordingly, the Malayan leaders faced the necessity of convincing the Malay Rulers that their position and prestige would be safeguarded. The non-Malays gradually came to recognize the necessity for accepting such a safeguard, inasmuch as it was impossible to visualize the total abolition of the nine traditional Malay governments and aristocracies in favour of a nonmonarchical government for the whole Peninsula. However, it took much diplomacy and persuasion from the Malay political leaders and in particular from a member of the Malay aristocracy, Tunku Abdul Rahman himself, to convince the Rulers that there really would be such a safeguard in the future Malayan constitution. Even then, the language used to persuade the Rulers that traditional absolutist government had become anachronistic and must be replaced by one with 'the sovereignty of the general will' (to quote Rousseau), was suitably deferential:

In a Petition to Their Highnesses, the Alliance prayed for the appointment of a Special Independent Commission to inquire into constitutional reforms in the Federation. Their Highnesse were gracious enough to consider this Petition, and to express themselves as desirous of ensuring that the Constitution 'should meet with the needs and aspiration of the people and make the fullest provision for their well-being and happines.'

...in considering the nature of constitutional reforms in the Federation, the Special Independent Commission should aim to create greater autonomy in phe Malys States and in the Settlements, giving the Rulers the constitutional power in their States and over their subjects. To do this, the whole present Constitution should be reviewed without touching the special position of the Rulers as constitutional heads of their States.<sup>97</sup>

As discussed earlier, the 1948 Federation Agreement in many important respects established the basic political and constitutional framework of Malyay. The 1957 Constitutional Commission recommended not only the retention of the Conference of Rulers but also the creation of a unique system of rotating constitutional momarchy. According to this, one of the nine Rulers would be elected by the Conference as the Supreme Head of the Federation with the title of Yang di-Pertuan Agong every five years according to a system of precedence among Their Highnesses. The Governors of Pulau Pinang and Melaka were excluded from election to the out of Yang di-Pertuan Agong, although they were obliged to attend all meetings of the Conference other than those convend for the purpose of such an election.<sup>6</sup>

The institution of the office of Yang di-Pertuan Agong was the culmination of the effort by the Malayan political leaders to persuade the Rulers that their position as constitutional rulers would be safeguarded.<sup>70</sup> The functions of the Yang di-Pertuan Agong were elaborate and in some respects similar to those of the constitutional monarch in Britain.

The Yang di-Pertuan Agong was the symbol of the unity of the country. High Commissioners from Commonwealth countries and Ambasadors or other diplomatic representatives from foreign countries were to be accredited to him. He was to be kept informed with regard to important public affairs and to make his views known to the Prime Minister. He was entitled to confer honours, and commissions and appointments were to be granted or made by him or in his name. Among his formal functions were to choose the Prime Minister, to open and dissolve Parliament as well as to give assent to bills passed by it, to receive visiting foreign Heads of State, and 'to grant pardons, reprieves and respites in respect of all offences which have been tried by court martial'.<sup>71</sup>

These functions of the Yang di-Pertuan Agong as finally approved and incorporated in the 1957 Constitution of the Federation of Malaya gave an institutional basis to the Constitution and at the same time helped to ensure that Malaya would develop as a nation with a parliamentary system of government.

As independence approached here was general agreement 'that the democratic form of Government based on Parliamentary Institutions is the form of Government bets suited to Malaya'?" Following the Constitutional Commission's recommendation it was decided that there should be a bicameral Parliament constituing of a House of Representatives (Dewan Ra'ayat) as the Lower House and a Senate (Dewan Negara) as the Upper House.''s The Federal Legislative Council in which elections were held in 1955 and the Federal Executive Council in which elections were held in 1955 and the Federal Executive Council in which Malayan members with portfolios had ast since 1951 were to continue 'in existence unit the 31 December 1963'.'A in anticipation of the next federal elections which were to take place in that year, but the adoption in principle of a bicameral legislature together with a Federal Cabinet as the executive Dranch (and also of an independent judiciary) contributed further to ensuring that independent Malaya would develop along basically parliamentary and non-violent constitutional lines.

Nationhood was on Malaya's doorstep. The Constitutional Commission Report, which included a draft of the Constitution of the Federtion, was published in February 1957. It was thereafter examined by Her Majesty's Government and the Conference of Rulers together with the Federation Government; with a number of amendments, the Report and Constitutional Proposals were agreed upon. On 31 August 1957, as envitaged by the 1956 Constitutional Conference, Malaya became a fully self-governing and independent nation within the British Commonwealth. A nation was born.

Of course, the achievement of political independence did not mean the solution of all Malaya's problems of nation-building: Merdeka, the successful dismanding of a colonial system and the establishment in its place of a new nation were merely the beginning of a responsible and challenging national life for the people of Malaya. This was understood outside Malaya, too: joining to welcome the coming Merdeka Day, no less than eighty organizations in different parts of Indonesia cooperated to prepare special programmes but, having experienced the problems as well as the blessings of being independent for twelve years, most of the Indonesians felt constrained to advise their Malayan brethren in the following vein: Kemerdekaan Malaya sebagaimana kemerdekaan negara-negara lain pasti menimbulkan pekerdijaan-pekerdijaan dan beban-beban baru ketata pundak rakyat. Kemerdekaan Malaya menimbulkan konselwensi baru jang tiada sedikit menghandaki jutjutran keringat dan sinsingan lengan badju dimasa depan. Perkataan kemerdekaan bukan lah perkataan keramat jang langsung dapat melahirkaan jurga dunia keatas bumi Malaya Merdeka; malah di meminta pengobanan jang libih banjak lagi. Perkataan kemerdekaan tidak bisa bekerdja sebagai lampu wasiat Aladdim.<sup>73</sup>

Indonesia had encountered formidable and sometimes bitter challenges since declaring independence from the Dutch in 1945.76

At the same time, Malavans in Britain also held an elaborate Convention in London to celebrate and ponder about Merdeka and the future of their country. The Malayan feeling and inter-communal sense of good will were depicted by the chairman of the planning committee in his closing address to the five-day Convention: 'We Malayans are very reasonable people and there is a great amount of goodwill amongst us, and I sincerely believe that with proper guidance with honest unselfish and trusted leadership a great Malayan nation would emerge, a nation which, whatever our culture or creed or racial origin, we shall all be proud to belong to."77 The Convention was well-attended by Malayans of different ethnic origins and when the chairman concluded by saying, many of us must have felt the sense of unity and purpose and mutual understanding amongst us that we have become more Malayan than we have been before', 78 he was expressing what millions of his fellowcountrymen were experiencing in their newly-independent Federation of Malaya. The Malayans in Britain were thousands of miles away from home, but they nonetheless welcomed Merdeka with fervour, political and intellectual hopes, and inter-communal feelings of goodwill and harmony.

The problems encountered by Malaya on the road to independence were well known. Not unnaturally, as the new Malayan nation began its sovereign existence, doubts and caution were expressed regarding its future. While neighbours in Indonesia concluded that 'Malaya berdjuang untuk kemerdekaan, menurut landasan evolusi, melalui beberapa fase, ealau hamparan pengurbanan keberanian, kedjudjuran, keditjuana hediplomasi dan kesabaran jang luar biasa'''9 and 'menghadapi penduduk warga negara baru berasal kebangsaan Tionghoa jang menganut aliran kiri, jang djumlahnja hampir mendekati separoh djumlah penduduk,''o Rupert Emerson, who knew both Indonesia and Malaya in the pre-war

It is a hazardous venture on which Malaya is embarking. At a time when the nation-state remains the basic model for political organization, statehood comes

to a place who can by no stretch of the imagination be regarded as now constituting a nation. That they may in due course become a nation, feeling themselves one as against the rest of the world, is surely a possibility not to be rejected in advance, but for present purposes they figure rather in the contrary role of being a perfect example of the plaral accest.

Emerson, of course, was adopting a perfectionist attitude towards the concept of the nation.<sup>9,2</sup> As this study has thus far sought to demostrate, the complex process of attaining independence had led to the stablishment of a nation, at any rate at the formal level, in Malaya. Emerson himself went on to conced that the sinews of nationhood were in effect being established in Malaya and he emphasized that the success of the new nation would depend largely on a political equation whereby "The Malays must modify their sense that they are the sole rightful inhabitants of the country as the Chinese must be prepared to share their economic predominance.<sup>9,3</sup>

So far, in this discussion, attention has been focused on political issues but as Emerson's statement clearly implies, economic questions were no less important as they were also part of the larger problem of the relationship between Malays and non-Malays. The immediate postindependence period therefore saw the Alliance Government attempting to resolve problems of rural poverty and, at the same time, maintain communal harmony.

## Economic Planning and Rural Poverty

It is not difficult to establish that an economic problem contributed to the rise of Malay nationalism in 1946. When the Malays feared the loss of their birthright because of the Malayan Union proposals, it needs to be remembered that land, which was the one stable economic anchorage of the Malays and which had been traditionally vested in their Rulers to administer and adjudicate, was being taken over by the British. It was uncompromisingly provided that 'all assets of the Governments of the Federated Malay States and of any Malay State will, after the appointed day, be transferred to the Government of the Malayan Union'.84 It was not only because 'semua hartabanda tiap-tiap negeri Melayu, melainkan milek peribadi Raja-Raja, terserah kepada kerajaan pusat'85 but also because 'hak-hak istemewa Melayu telah terhapus'86 that the Malays then rose with such patriotic fervour that the Malayan Union had ultimately to be abandoned. To the Malays, the abrogation of their special rights which had been recognized by the metropolitan power since the days of British intervention was not only a political but, even more, an economic threat.

The fear of the Malays that the loss of their traditional rights, including special rights over land ownership, would mean the submergence of their community yie-ar-wit the others in their contry can best be understood by reference to the nature of the Malayan economy as a whole. As this economy expanded during the first four decades of the twentieth century, the Malays remained largely in the rural sector, engaged in subsistence farming. At the same time, the other major communities, the Chinese and the Indians, became associated with the expansion of the mercantile, plantation and mining sectors.<sup>47</sup> These trends continued after 1946, bringing in their train on only economic but also social and politicital consequences. The first major survey of the Malayan economy in the post-war years, made by a Mission from the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (IBRD), stated in 1954:

Malays is now the world's largest producer of tin and is second only to Indonesia in the output of natural rubber. The extent to which the economy is specialized on these two commodities may be indicated by the fact that in 1953 their export value accounted directly for a fifth of the national income. Of the two, rubber is of much the greater importance to the economy: is couples about 65 per cent of the entire cultivated area of Malaya and contributes about 60 per cent of domestic

The IBRD Mission Report went on to point out that 'Next in importance to rubber in terms of area is rice cultivation. Rice is grown on almost 89,0000 acres or about 15 per cent of the total cultivated area? \*\* The significant point to remember, however, is that whereas rubber and tin exports accounted for \$800 million and \$351 million respectively in 1933, rice was a product wholly for domestic consumption which brought meagre economic returns and had no export potentiality.\*® Furthermore, whils the Chinese and Indians were prominent in more luerative activities such as rubber cultivation, mining, manufacturing, and commercial and financial undertakings, the Malays had a preponderant role in rice cultivation in which ector many farmers live on incomes that are equal to one half or even less than the incomes of rubber farmers and vegetable farmers.<sup>9</sup>

Following the immediate tasks of rehabilitation and reconstruction after the Second World War, the Federation Government embarked on social and economic planning for Malaya from 1950 onwards. In Malaya's First Development Plan, it was stated that 'the demands of the people for social services and social justice must somehow be met' and the text went on to explain that the second underlying feature of the Plan lay in its emphasis on rural development because it was 'necessary that the producers in the rural areas should enjoy a greater share of the proceeds of their labour than they obtain at present'.<sup>92</sup> This first Plan covered the period 1950-5 and, indicative of the political temperament of the Emergency years, it was argued 'that the battle against illiteracy, poverty and all those conditions of social discontent on which communism feeds can be won ultimately only by a policy aimed at their removal and planned and carried out in co-operation with the aspirations of the people.<sup>9,3</sup>

The First Development Plan led to two successive Malayan Five-Year Plans which together covered the decade 1956 to 1965.<sup>94</sup> The results of planning showed clearly in increases in national output and in economic growth. Of the First Malayan Five-Year Plan (1956-60), for instance, it was proudly reported:

Malaya achieved much during those five years. Actual public investment was nearly double that of the years 1931-1935. Private investment also far exceeded carlier levels. Along with higher investment, the real output of the economy increased by about 20 per cent, or at an average annual rate of nearly 3½ per cent, compared with an estimated population increase rate of a little over 3 per cent a vert.<sup>59</sup>

Under the Second Five-Year Plan (1961-5), agencies for implementing various schemes were strengthened or newly established: the National Development Planning Committee with its secretariat the Economic Planning Unit in the Prime Minister's Department; the National Operations Room to coordinate development undertakings in military style; and Rural Development Committees at State, district and kampung levels.<sup>49</sup> The two Malayan Five-Year Plans were largely the outcome of the Alliance's own pledge in the 1955 elections to develop the Malayan economy and to improve the standards of living of the people, in particular those in the rural areas.<sup>57</sup>

However, despite the efforts at economic planning and development dating from 1930, and despite the achievement of political independence, the social and economic discrepancies between the rural and the urban sectors of the economy had remained substantially unsolved. On the eve of Malavan independence it was pointed out:

More than half of the rubber and padi farmers do not own the land they work on. They have to pay rent. This rent takes away between one third and a half of what they produce. Therefore allowing for costs involved in farm production we see that these farmers are living on less than half the value of what they produce.

Frequently, Malay workers on rubber estates are contract workers and their wage rates are well below the official rates agreed to by the employers and the trade unions.

Fishermen very often do not own their boats and nets and therefore have to pay heavy charges for hire of the equipment. In general, Malay farmers, estate workers and fishermen earn between \$50 and \$100 per month.<sup>98</sup>

Apart from landlordism, it was also obvious that the farmers were greatly

exploited by money-lenders and middlemen of not only Chinese and Indian but also Malay origin. The plight of the helpless farmer was graphically described in the following:

It very often happens that the merchants who buy the farmers' produce are in a strong economic position. They arrange their business to that farmers are practically completed to sell to them or not to sell at all. In other works they create a buyers' monopoly. They encourage the farmer to borrow money from them and once he is indebted to them he is in no position to bargin with them.

The farmer must use lorries. The lorries usually belong to the merchant. So the farmer is not able to take his pincapples or coconsus straight to the market where he could get a good price. He has to sell to a merchant who pays him a low price and who takes it in his lorry to the market and sells it at a good profit. There is evidence that some merchants do not weigh or measure the farmer's produce properly. Because of his low income and because of his indebtedness, the farmer may find that finally he has to sell his land to the merchant. Seemes a landlord in addition to being a merchants?

In order to remedy the poverty and plight of Malayan farmers it was suggested that the Federation Government should improve its planning system which had thus far been urban-biased by embarking on more realistic and meaningful rural development which would amount to a 'planned process which uses any form of action or communication designed to effect the environment, techniques, institutions and minds of the rural peoples in such a manner as to raise their level of living and improve their way of life'.<sup>100</sup>

It was in recognition of the lack of economic development and equitable benefit among the mainly rural Malays that as early as 1950 the Rural Industrial Development Authority (RIDA) was set up with the express purpose of encouraging Malay participation in commerce and industry by extending loans, forming bus and other transportation services, setting up processing factories, and offering technical, management and marketing assistance to small Malay enterprise.<sup>104</sup> In 1950 the Federal Land Development Authority, at first known as FLDA but later as FELDA was also set up to settle or resettle and provide employment for farmers who were landless or, due to fragmentation, had insufficient land to meet their needs and were consequently underemployed. As with RIDA, the schemes initiated by FELDA were expected to make a contribution to the economic growth of Malays in the long run.<sup>102</sup>

Yet, despite the steps taken to improve the farmers' lot, rural progress, remained rare. Even when Malaysia was about to be insugurated in 1967, the extent of the problem was implied officially in these words' I'fwe can open up new land fast enough to absorb the growing rural population, we should be making a strong start at removing rural porelytic, for there

will not be growing numbers pressing on a fixed amount of land. We seek also to provide additional land for present farmers whose farms are too small'.<sup>103</sup> More pregnant and disturbing in terms of the development of national unity in Malaya, a second IBRD Report in 1963 pointed out:

Ethnic identification is still fairly strong, not only socially and culturally but also in economic activity. Malays predominate in rice farming and most other nonceptort agriculture. They are also numerous in the civil service. The Chinese, as well as Indians, are largely concentrated in commerce, finance and industry, in the working, force of the estates and nimes, and in service activities.<sup>104</sup>

Thus, even as the 1960s unfolded, Malaya's economic problems had by no means been solved.

Notwithstanding the political achievement of independence and the growth engendered by the three economic Plans, the economic disparties among Malaya's multracial population, particularly that between the Malays and the non-Malays (who in geographical location were mainly rural and urban respectively) had remained acute. In short, by the beginning of the 1960s, a fair fulfilment of the political and economic 'bragin' between the Malays and the non-Malays was still a long way off. The authors of the second IBRD Report conceded that Malaya appeared to be politically stable but, doubless having in mind the matter of 'cthnic identification', they proceeded to add, 'Stiffer tests of this inter-community stability may be ahead as Malaya enters more uncertain economic and political waters'.<sup>168</sup>

# The Socio-economic and Political Bargain and Communal Harmony

Consistent with the provisions made earlier, the Alliance Government proceeded, immediately after independence, to Malayanize the public services. The Alliance had promised to replace expatriate (mostly British) officers with Malayans speedily, at the same time maintaining a high standard of efficiency in the services. While not forgetting the other grades and divisions, the Alliance pledged, 'We consider that a scheme of recruitment and training should be devised so that within 10 years at least 80% of the posts in Division I should be filed by Malayani.'19% By the beginning of the 1960s, however, almost all the responsible, high public service positions had already been filled by Malayani.'19% Mayanization asisted markedly in the maintenance and promotion of political stability as the nation embarked on its new independent course. At the same time, a sound system of public services was established.

It was part of the constitutional arrangements that the Federal Legis-

lative Council elected in 1955 would continue to function until 1959 when the people would again go to the polls to elect their MPs to the new Dewan Ra'ayay (House of Representatives) of the bicameral Parliament. Whereas the campaigns for the 1955 general elections highlighted the politics of achieving independence, the August 1959 parliamentary poll showed how the political leaders conceived and sought to implement their ideological beliefs for a country which had become their very own. Perhaps the outstanding fature of the 1959 elections was the further development of the democratic political machinery. The 52 constituencies of 1955 were doubled to 104 parliamentary seats in 1959. Electioneering became more sophisticated.

A crop of political parties came forward to offer their manifestos to the electors: the electorate was now not only larger but also more communally representative: as against the 1,280,000 of 1955, the electorate of 1959 totalled 2,177,000; the racial composition of the 1955 electorate had been estimated as 84 per cent Malays, 11 per cent Chinese, and 5 per cent Indian, while that of 1959 was 'estimated to contain over 750,000 Chinese as compared with under 1 50,000 in 1955... approximately 57 per cent of the increased electorate [was] Malay, 36 per cent Chinese and 7 per cent Indian', 108 The parties, with the numbers of seats won in brackets, were the Alliance (74), the PMIP (13), the Socialist Front which comprised the Labour Party and Partai Rakyat (8), the People's Progressive Party or PPP (4), the Party Negara (1), and the Malayan Party (1). These parties ranged across the political spectrum but communalism and religion still featured prominently with some of them, especially in the platforms of Party Negara (Malay), the PMIP (Malay), and the PPP (Chinese and Indians). The PMIP's long-term objective was the establishment of a theocratic state in Malaya, based on the tenets of Islam, 109

Intra-party squabbles and factionalism, not uncommon in more established systems of party politics, surfaced before and during the campaign period;<sup>110</sup> and in general the functional dynamics of politics came into extensive play for the first time.

As we have seen, the political development of Malaya had been a process of evolution rather than revolution; it is also obvious that political maturity was being attained through the adoption and increasingly extensive practice of party politics. The 1955 and 1959 general elections provided wide opportunities to institutionalize that system of party politics:

Prior to the introduction of elections, most political activity in Malaya was limited to that of making representations to the government or organizing public demonstrations in protest over various issues. Practically any person who espoused a political cause could claim to be a political leader, night

some cases required little more than the ability to attract the attention of the public or, perhaps more correctly, to attract the attention of the press. As soon as elections became the primary vehicle to political uccess and power, political leadenthy was put to the new task of organizing popular support from diverse and often competing narrow interest groups... The creation of dependable majorities becomes the overriding consideration of all politics once it becomes rabiblish data tections are to be the sole avenue to political power.<sup>111</sup>

The achievement of political independence in Malya was accomplished side by side with the treatmin of special Malay rights. The position of the Rulers was not only safeguarded but also enhanced by the creation of the office of Yang di-Pertuan Agong to which they could apric - Importantly, the Yang di-Pertuan Agong became the custodian of Malay rights. Article 153 (2) of the 1957 Federation of Malaya Comstitution stated unequivocally:

Notwithstanding anything in this constitution, but subject to the provisions of Article 40 and of this Article, the Yang di-Pertuan Agong shall exercise his functions under this Constitution and federal law in such manner as may be necessary to sufguard the special position of the Malays and to ensure the reservation for Malays of such proportion as he may deem reasonable to positions in the public service (other than the public service of a State) and of scholarships, exhibitions and other similar educational or training privileges or special facilities given or accorded by the Federal Government and, when any permit or licence for the operation of any trade or business is required by federal law, then, subject to the provisions of that law and this Article, of such bermits and licence.<sup>112</sup>

(Article 40 stipulated that the Yang di-Pertuan Agong must act on Ministerial advice.)

In addition, Land Reservations were retained for the Malays in independent Malaya. Another agreement which gave the Malays precedence over the non-Malays was that 'lalam is the religion of the Federation; but other religions may be practised in peace and harmony in any part of the federation, 'la'l twas further agreed in Article 11(a) of the Constitution that 'State law may control or restrict the propagation of any religious doctrine or belief among persons professing the Muslim religion.' The Federation of Malaya was thus peculiar in that it took as step seldom officially promoted by the constitutions of modern nations, namely the adoption of a state or national religion.

The retention and constitutional sanctioning of special Malay rights ensured that political power in Malaya would be increasingly Malaybased. In addition to the enactment of 'the special position of the Malays'

in the 1957 Federation Constitution, it should also be borne in mind that in the first federal elections in 1955, 84 per cent of the registered electorate were Malays compared to only 11 per cent Chinese and less than 5 per cent Indians. As one contemporary writer noted, "The fact is, the Alliance walk-over was a Malay rather than a Malayan victory".<sup>114</sup> In the 1959 elections, as we have seen, only about 57 per cent of the increased electorate were Malay, while 36 per cent were Chinese and 9 per cent Indian. Furthermore,

It was the UMNO leadership who realized communal compromises were necessary to achieve independence, and the party workers who have explained the position, with varying honesty, to the *kampong* (village) Malays. UMNO now commands the support of the vast majority of the Malays, and its political dominance assures for the Alliance its leading position in the Federal and state governments.<sup>119</sup>

The political dominance of UMNO continued well into the future despite the electoral victory of the PMIP in Kelantan and Trengganu in 1959. In the mid-1960s Milne affirmed, 'Of the three Alliance communal parties-the United Malaya' National Organization (UMNO), the Malayan Chinese Association (MCA), and the Malayan Indian Congress (MIC)–UMNO is the strongest and the MIC clearly the weakert.<sup>116</sup>

It can be argued that the political ascendancy accorded the Malays in the public service, in the elections of 1955 and 1959, and in the 1957 Constitution was only part of the political and economic 'bargain' made in the process of achieving Malayan nationhood. To make this clearer: the other part of that 'bargain' was that while the Malays were accorded a special position of advantage in order to enable them to improve and attain economic and social parity with the non-Malays, the latter were progressively granted significant concessions in the forms of easier access to Malayan citizenship, and hence political life, as already recounted; easier access to the federal public service, in spite of the four-to-one ratio between recruitment of Malays and non-Malays; the freedom to profess and practise religions other than Islam; and the opportunity to preserve various cultural values, including the freedom to set up and maintain educational institutions other than those in which the medium of instruction was the national language (Malay).117 Above all, in the course of fulfilling the essence of that 'bargain', that is to say the uplifting of the economic and social condition of the Malays, 'The Chinese were to continue to play their dominant role in business, free from the hindrances or persecution to which they had been subjected in some other Southeast Asian countries',118

The political and economic 'bargain' between the Malays and the non-

V

Malays involved not simply communal demands but, equally important, the need to foster inter-communal peace and understanding as the people undertook the overriding mission of establishing a Malayan nation. Thus, despite the communal priorities which have invariably and at times unduly occupied the attention of scholars writing on post-war Malaya, it should be emphasized that the years from 1948 to 1957 witnessed a period of cooperation among the multiracial leaders of Malaya in their common nedaxour to build a Malayan nation for themselves and their posterity. Behind the 1959 general elections and the social and economic policies implemented after independence was the wish to elect a government as representative as possible of the various ethnic groups and to fulfil an important part of the inter-communal 'bargain', namely to assist the Malays in attaining parity with the non-Malays.

Throughout the period there were clear instances of give-and-take among the leaders. In spite of the writing of 'the special position of the Malays' into the 1957 Federation Constitution, Tunku Abdul Rahman who led the independence campaign could say, 'the Malays are prepared within reason to share their rights with others who owe loyalty to this country'. He went on to remind the Malays. 'No country in the world has won independence without sacrifices by the people. I have no doubt that you are prepared to make sacrifices and to live up to your reputation of tolerance, hospitality and coursey', <sup>114</sup>

It was the abiding wish on the part of the multiracial Malayan leaders of the period to arrive at amicable compromise solutions, over and above sectionalis to racialist demands, which ensured the absence of tragic communal riots, the pacific nature of the demands for self-rule, and the rather smooth transition from British rule to Malayan independence. Intimiscally, the same basic desire to preserve and promote inter-communal national cohesion dictated the need for the political and economic 'bargain' between the Malaya and the non-Malays.

Yet it was also obvious that the satisfactory fulfilment of that 'bargain' was a long way ahead. After independence, the signing of a treaty of External Defence and Mutual Sasistance between Malaya and Briain in October 1957 had helped to ensure the security of the new nation;<sup>120</sup> and Malaya as an independent country had indeed instituted its own policy and priorities in foreign affairs.<sup>131</sup> But the delicate tasks of maintaining inter-communal harmony and further promoting a sense of common Malayan identity among the diverse people of the Peninsula continued to present formidable problems.

Nearly two years after independence, the Prime Minister of the Federation, depicted his hopes and his awareness of what the country could do when he said:

### A NATION IS BORN

It is my firm conviction that if we in Malaya continue to go forward steadily on these lines then our country and our people will have every reason to be confident of the future of our young nation. Given a good and table Government, and a Government which stands for the real progress and happiness of the people, the federation can expect a period of continued progress and propentive, <sup>132</sup>

After the careful, difficult compromises, after the achievement of independence and amid the plans for economic development, Malayan leaders were still profoundly concerned with the need to mould their people into a more integrated nation. It was in this context that the proposal to form Malayaia emerged in 1961.

1. Awang Had bin Salleh, 'Malay Teacher Training in British Malaya (1878-1941): A General Survey' (B.Ed. Thesis (Post-Graduate), University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, 1967), pp. 29-30.

2. Ibid., p. 194.

 Federation of Malaya, Report of the Committee to Consider the Problem of Malay Education (hereinafter referred to as the Banne: Report), Kuala Lumpur, 1951, ch. 1, para. 14.
 See also Malayan Union Government, Annual Report on Education in the Malayan Union for 1947. Kuala Lumpur, 1948, pp. 21-6.

4. Malaysia, Education in Malaysia, Kuala Lumpur, 1968, p. 6. From the middle of the nineteenth century. Catholic, Methodist and Church of England schools, mostly using English as the medium of instruction, were established in the main towns of Malaya.

3. Malayan Union Government, Council Paper, No. 33 of 1946, Kuala Lumpur, 1946, paras. 1-3.

6. Federation of Malaya, The Federation of Malay Agreement 1948, Kuala Lumpur, 1948, Second Schedule, Item 79, col. 1.

7. Federation of Malaya, Annual Report on Education for 1949, Kuala Lumpur, 1950, p. 29.

8. Barnes Report, ch. 1, para. 5.

9. Ibid., ch. 2, para. 4.

10. Ibid., chs. 4 and 12, paras. 2-4.

11. Ibid., ch. 12, para. 5.

12. Ibid.

 V. Purcell, 'The Crisis in Malayan Education', Pacific Affairs, 26, No. 1, 1953, p.71.
 The former was widely involved in institutions of higher learning in Taiwan, while the latter was a United Nations official.

 Federation of Malaya, Chinese Schools and the Education of Chinese Malayant. The Report of a Mission Invited by the Federation Government to Study the Problem of Education of Chinese in Malaya (hereinafter referred to as the Fenn-Wu Report), Kuala Lumpur, 1951. ch. 1, para. 6.

16. lind., dt. 2, pra. 6. In its enquiries, the Fern-Wu Mission encountered pressures from Chinese in the non-communist and communist camps. The former were apprehensive that Chinese language and culture might be threatened with extitction, while the latter, representing the MCP, were interested in seeing that the people of Malaya were not united in a non-communist political system. Instructive with Wu Tchyau, who was Professor of Political Science, University of Singapore, at the time, Singapore, October 1971. 17. V. Purcell, 'The Crisis in Malayan Education', p. 73.

18. Chan Heng Chee, 'The Malayan Chinese Association' (M.A. Thesis, University of Singapore, 1965), p. 59.

19. Means, Malaysian Politics, London, 1970, p. 135.

20. 'Alliance Manifesto for Federal Elections', 1955 (?). TCLP.

21. Federation of Malaya, Report of the Education Committee 1956 (hereinafter referred to as Razak Education Report), Kuala Lumpur, 1956, para. 1.

22. F. Wong Hoy Kee and Ee Tiang Hong, Education in Malaysia, Singapore, 1971, p. 58, wrote of the Razak Education Report, The idea of "national schools" as advocated by the Barner Commission [iii] was abandoned, and children would continue to receive their primary education in separate vertacular schools'.

23. Razak Education Report, para. 119.

24. Ibid., para. 183(i).

25 Straits Times, 1 September 1956.

26. Means, op. cit., p. 201.

27. See Straits Times, 24 November 1957.

 Federation of Malaya, Report of the Education Review Committee 1960 (hereinafter referred to as Rahman Talib Education Report), Kuala Lumpur, 1960. See also C. H. Enloe, Multi-Educity Politist: The Case of Malayaia, Berkeley. 1970. the 2 and 1.

29. Rahman Talib Education Report, para. 13.

30. Ibid., para. 371(c).

31. Ibid., para. 371(f).

12. Ibid., para. 42(a) and (b).

33. M. F. Clark, 'The Malayan Alliance and its Accommodation of Communal Pressures, 1952-1962' (M.A. Thesis, University of Malaya, 1964), p. 47.

34. Means, op. cit., p. 201.

35. Ibid.

16. Ratnam, op. cit., p. 164.

37. Federation of Malaya, Report of the Federation of Malaya Constitutional Commission (hereafter referred to as Constitutional Commission Report), Kuala Lumpur, 1957, para 36.

38. Ibid.

39. Federation of Malaya, Federation of Malaya Constitutional Proposals 1937 (hereafter referred to as Constitutional Proposals), Kuala Lumpur, 1957, para. 15.

40. Constitutional Commission Report, para. 38.

41. In 1963, a modification was enacted which required that at least one parent must be ordinarily resident in the Federation at the time of the child's birth. Federation of Malaya, *Comtinuinon (Amendment) Act 1962*, Kuala Lumpur, 1962. It was further stipulated that the child of a foreign diplomat or of an enemy alten did not qualify.

42. Constitutional Proposals, para. 6.

43. Constitutional Commission Report, paras. 41 and 42.

44. Constitutional Proposals, para. 10.

45. Ibid., para. 14.

46. See H. Miller, Prince and Premier, London, 1959, pp. 169-71, 216-17.

47. See Tan Siew Sin, The National Language, Department of Information, Kuala Lumpur (1907)?, p. 13. See also MCA, Memorandum on Chinese Education in the Federation of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, 1954. On the MIC, see S. Arasaratnam, "Political Attitudes and Organization among Malayan Indians 1945-1955', Jenul Sejandi, 10, 1971/72, pp. 1-6.

48. H. Miller, A Short History of Malaysia, New York, 1966, p. 191.

49. 'The Road to Independence' (1955). Mimeographed. TCLP.

so. Ibid.

51. L. W. Pye, Guerrilla Communism in Malaya, Princeton, N. L. 1956.

52. See Soh Eng Lim 'Tan Cheng Lock: His Leadership of the Malayan Chinese', JSEAH, 1, No. 1, March 1960, pp. 44-7.

53. Dato Onn who founded and led the IMP and Party Negara, apart from holding the post of Member for Home Affairs, has been thought to have 'had ambitions to become the Malay Depury to the High Commissioner and resented the Rulen' rejection of his plans'. R. Allen, Malayia: Propret and Renspert, London, 1968, p. 102.

54. 'The Road to Independence', TCLP.

55. Ibid.

56. Report of the Federation of Malaya Constitutional Conference Held in London in January and February, 1956 (hereinafter referred to as Constitutional Conference Report), Kuala Lumpur, 1956.

57. Interview with the present writer, Kuala Lumpur, April 1973. Tun Sambanthan was president of the MIC from 1955 to 1973. He died in 1970.

38. It was because Britum amply succeeded in providing for the future of her economic and strategic interests in Malaya that where the granting of full independence was concerned, the Tunku and other ministers wents to London in January 1996 expecting some hard bargaining on the issue. To their surprise and gratification their demand was immediately met?. JM. Gullick, Malaya, London, 1964, p. 120.

59. Constitutional Conference Report, para. 75.

60. Ibid., paras. 70-2.

61. Ibid., Appendix E, Revised Clause 23(2)(a).

62. 'The Road to Independence', TCLP.

63. The 'Round Table' meetings were conducted between the UMNO and MCA leaders with the basic aim of arriving at Simo-Malay agreement on social, economic and political issues while working for full self-government and independence. Minutes of the meetings on 17 and 23 January, and 9 February 1954. TCLP.

64. The Road to Independence', TCLP. Tun Sambanthan confirmed these reasons for appointing the non-Malayan Constitutional Commission in an interview with the present writer, Gentung Highlands, March 1974.

65. When the Constitutional Commission was faully approved by Her Majery pho-Queen and the Conference of Ruler in March 19(4). I comprised Lord Regist [a Lord of Appeal in Ordinary, and charman of the Commission) and Sar Ivor premings (a need comnuonal lawey) of Intrans. Six William McKell (a former General General Of Amenia; Mr B. Maika (a former Chief Juscie of the Allahaba High Court) of India: and Mr Jance Abald Hanid of Pokania. A member was nonimated by the Canadian Government but he had to windraw at the last moment on medical grounds. *Commission Report*, pres 2.

66. 'The Road to Independence', TCLP.

67. Tunku Abdul Rahman, 'The Position of the Rulers and Constitutional Reforms', 17 March 1955. Mimeographed. TCLP.

68. Constitutional Commission Report, para. 179.

69. Ibid., p. 59.

70. It was initially recommended that the Supreme Head of the Federation be called the Yang di-Pertuan Bear but, to avoid confusion with the Head of State of Negri Sembilan who bore the same title, he was subsequently designated 'Yang di-Pertuan Agong'. See Constitutional Proposal, para 15.

71. Constitutional Commission Report, para. 58: and Constitutional Proposals, para. 19. For the functions of the constitutional monarch in Britain, see Sir Ivor Jennings, Cabinet Governmein, London, 1959. 72. Tunku Abdul Rahman, 'Form of Government', 21 March 1955. Mimeographed. TCLP.

73. Constitutional Commission Report, ch. IV; and Constitutional Proposals, paras. 15-23.

74. Constitutional Proposals, para. 22.

75. Menteri Penerangan Republik Indonesia, "Proklamas Kennerdekaan Melabirkan Doujnin Benergary," Jennis Pusta, Menisphen Madaya Merkela [e.j. D. Justatu, 1997, P. 7. "The independence of Malaya like that of other nations is certain to lay new tasks and burdens on the people's shoulders. The independence of Malaya brings about new consequences which will, in no small way, require twast and the rolling-up of diversi in the future." (Independence" is not a supernatural word which can immediately bring estibults to Malaya bring tabels in Malaya Media, rather it califs for more sarcine. The word "independence" annot function like Allularis lamp. All translations from Indonesian into English are by the present writer.

76. For good treatments of the Indonesian nationalist struggle, see G. M. Kahin, Nationalism and Revolution in Indonesia, [hhza, N Y, 1953; Sartono Kartodirdjo, 'Kolonialsume dan Nasionalisme di Indonesia Abda XIX-XX, Lembaran Sodjavak, No. 1, Jogiakara, December 1967; and Sawondo, 'Sedjarah Pergerakan Nasional', Himpunan Mahasiwa Mein, Universita Tinaki, Djakara Inal. J. Mimeoraphed.

 Birahim Manan, 'Chairman's Address at the Closing of the Merdeka Convention', Merdeka Convention: Papers and Documents (hereinafter referred to as Merdeka Convention Papers), London, 1957. Mimcographed.

78. Ibid.

79. Garieb A. Raouf, 'Menjongsong Kemerdekaan Malaya', Menjambat Malaya Merdeka, p. 6. 'Malaya struggled for independence, along an evolutionary line, through a number of stages, giving a demonstration of selfless bravery, incerity, diplomatic acumen, and extraordinary patience'.

80. E. Z. Muttaqien, 'Mensjukuri Kemerdekaan Malaya', ibid., p. 16, 'facing new citizens of Chinese origin with leftist learnings, who number nearly half the total population'.

 Rupert Emerson in his Foreword to F. H. H. King, The New Malayan Nation: A Study of Communalism and Nationalism, New York, 1957, p. v. See also R. Emerson, Malaysia: A Study in Direct and Indirect Rule, Kuala Lumpur, 1964.

82. See his From Empire to Nation, Cambridge, Mass., 1967, in which the case is repeatedly and admirably illustrated that nations have unsully been first and foremost proclamed as andependent at the formal level-quite often at the stroke of midnight-and only subsequent to the proclamations do they resolutely endexyour to full the lasting needs of their societies or people for stability and general well-being.

83. Emerson in King, op. cit., p. ix.

84. Great Britain, Malayan Union and Singapere: Summary of Proposed Constitutional Arsangements, London, 1946, para. t2(a) and (d). Only the personal residences or states of any Sultain, or...any buildings or lands which are used for the purposes of Muharmadan religion or properties pertaining to the endowment of Muharmadan religious institutions' were exempted from the transfer of Muhay's asset. To British control.

86. Ibid., 'Special Malay rights had been abrogated'.

 T. H. Silcock, The Economy of Malaya, Singapore, 1963, pp. 1-2, classified Malaya's economy into (i) subsistence, (ii) mercantile, and (iii) plantation and mining sectors. See also Lim Chong-Yah, Economic Development of Modern Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, 1967, pt. l. 88. Government of Singapore, The Esmonic Development of Malaya: Report of a Mission organized by the International Bank for Resonantiation and Development at the requires of the Gevernment of the Foderation of Malaya, the Crown Changy of Singapore and the United Rigging therein Malaya events of the Indevelopment at BRD Mission Report, Singapore, 1935, p.o. Malaya overtook Indonesi to become the Largest producer of natural mobier in 1999.

89. IBRD Mission Report, p. 10.

90 Ibid., p. 16. Unless otherwise stated, all values quoted are in Malavan dollars.

91. Ungku A. Aziz, The Causes of Poverty in Malayan Agriculture in Lim Tay Boh (ed.), Problems of the Malayan Economy. Singapore, 1960, p. 22. See also IBRD Mission Report, p. 8, for the predominance of the Chinese and Industs in economic sectors other than rice or padi cultivation.

92. Federation of Malaya, Draft Development Plan of the Federation of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, 1950, p. 1.

9). Ibid. p. ii. See also Federation of Malaya, Progress Report on the Development Plan of the Federation of Malaya 1930-1932, Kuala Lumpur, 1933; p. 131, which concluded that conomic planning should not only be viewed as a continuing process but that it should also be undertaken 'with particular emphasis on what is simed at by the end of a specific period'.

94 Federation of Malays, A Plan of Development for Malays, 1356-66, Kuala Lampur, 1995, Reprot m Economic Hamming in the Federation of Malaysia in 1366 and in 1476 federation Financial Talki held in London from Derenber de 111, 1368 in Jonary the 10th, 1357, Nath Lumpur, 1937. The Scool Fiver Year Bar 1969-1965, Kuala Lumpur, 1967. The American Malaysia Interim Review of Development in Malaya under the Scool Fiver Year Plan Operandites referred to a Development Interim Review 1967, Kuala Lumpur, 1967.

95. Development Interim Review 1963, para. 2.

96. Ibid., paras. 5-13. See also G. D. Ness, Bureaucracy and Rural Development in Malaysia, Berkeley, 1967, especially chs. 6 and 7.

97. This pledge was elaborated in 'Finance and Economic Matters' in 'The Road to Independence', TCLP.

98. Ungku A. Aziz, 'Facts and Fallacies on Malay Economy', Merdeka Convention Papers.

99. Ungku A. Aziz, 'The Causes of Poverty in Malayan Agriculture' in Lim Tay Boh (ed.), op. cit., pp. 23-4.

100. Ibid., p. 38. Economic distress was not restricted to farmers and fishermen. There were a 'decline in the level of living of Labour', deterioration of health services, and losses of social-religious recentional and metaines a consequence of the undivision of rubber estates. See Ungku A. Ariz, Subdivision of Estates in Malaya, Vol. 1, Kuala Lumpur, 1903.

101. See Tederation of Mulays, Frédral Légitaines Canacil Debates: Official Reports, Fourcenth Meeting of the Fourth Senion of the Second Legitaines Counsil, Kudo Mulays and June 1989, colt. 683-3, for a comprehensive written answer by the Mulante of a Canari, and and Industry on RIADA and the trades and industrics that are now operation by Mulany next result of the implementation of the Government's policy to encourage Malays in the field of commerce and industry.

102. Interview with Musa Hitam, who was at the time the chairman of FELDA, Kuala Lumpur, January 1972.

103. Development Interim Review 1963, para. 60.

104. IBRD, The Economic Position and Prospects of the Federation of Malaya (hereinafter referred to as IBRD Report, 1963) [n.p.], 1963, para 3.

105. IBRD Report, 1963, para. 5.

106. 'Memorandum by the Hon'ble Dato Abdul Razak bin Hussein for Alliance Round Table', 12 November 1954. Mimeographed. TCLP.

107. Interview with Tan Sri Abdul Kadir Shamsuddim, who was secretary to the Malayan delagation to the Constitutional Conference in London from January to February 1946, and was Chief Secretary to the Federal Covernment and Calibent at the time of interview. Genting Highlands, March 1974, See also R. O. Tilman, The Nationilization of the Colonal Service in Malay, "South Admine Quetterly, 61, No. 2 (Spring 1963), pp. 183-96.

108. T. E. Smith, 'The Malayan Elections of 1959', Pacific Affairs, 33, No. 1, March 1960, p. 40.

109. For the ideological learnings of the main parties which contested the elections, see R. S. Milne and K. J. Ratmam, *The Malayan Parliamentary Election of 1964*, Kuala Lumpur, 1067, ch. 2 and 3.

110. There was, for immune, a dispute within the Alliance regarding the distribution of candidants for the qualiamentary electron. UMNO water 47 9 of 10 own ranks, 27 form MCA and 2 from the MIC: but a number of the MCA leaders watter data at 15 of their way. Which the final compromuse alcotton of to JUMNO 13 (MCA and AMIC candidates was made, usen of the MCA nembers reigned and a number stood for election as Independent candidates. See Means, 90-cit. pp. 713-714.

111. Means, op. cit., p. 132.

112. L. A. Sheridan, Federation of Malaya Constitution, Singapore, 1961, p. 141.

113. Federation of Malaya, Federation of Malaya Constitution 1957, Kuala Lumpur, 1957. Article 1(1). See also Constitutional Proposals, para. 57; and Sheridan, op. cit., p. 4.

114. See F. G. Carnell, "The Malayan Elections', Pacific Affairs, 28, No. 4, December 1955, p. 316.

115. King, op. cit., p. 51.

116. R. S. Milne, Government and Politics in Malaysia, Boston, 1967, p. 88.

117. Tilman, op. cit., Constitutional Proposals, para. 57; and Federation of Malaya Constitution 1957, Article 12.

118. Milne, op. cit., p. 19.

119. Miller, A Short History of Malaysia, p. 199.

120. Federation of Malaya, The Text of the Agreement between the Government of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the Government of the Federation of Malaya on External Defence and Mutual Assistance, Kuala Lumpur, 1957.

121. On this subject see, N. K. Hazra, 'Mulaya's Foreign Relations, 1977-1997' (M.A. Theirs, University of Malyaya, 1963); J. B. Dalton, 'The Development of Malyaya External Policy, 1957-1967' (D.Phin. Thesis, Oxford University, 1967); and Rakatakamal Harman, 'The Foreign Policy of Malyay, 11 August 1957 to 16 September 1963' (Ph.D. Thesis, Indian School of International Studies, Delhi, 1967).

122. Data Abdul Razak bin Hussin, Federation of Malaya. Legitative Convol. Debasity: Official Reports, Fourteemth Meeting of the Fourth Section of the Second Legitalitive Convol, Kuali Lumptr, 14 June 1095, col. 6912. Tunku Abdul Rahman had resigned as Prime Minister in April 1939 for the purpose of touring the whole country to consure the access of the Allinear Party in the Federal elections'. F. Sultivan, A Stady In Biography in S. Durat Raja Singam (ed. & pub.), Tribute to Tunku Abdul Rahman, Kuala Lumpur, 1969). 1115.

# 5 From Malaya to Malaysia

BEFORE dealing with the developments which led directly to the formation of Malaysia, it is pertinent to take a look at the political and constitutional state of Sarawak and Sabah between the end of the war and the birth of Malaysia.

## Political–Constitutional Developments in Sarawak and Sabah, 1946–1961

By contrast with Malaya, which in the immediate post-war years experienced keenly-felt and widely-debated constitutional and political developments, Sarawak and Sabah remained almost apolitical dependencies for long years after 1946. In a significant manner, the 'low level' political response in post-war Sarawak and Sabah was the logical consequence of pre-war policies in the two territories. The paternalism of the Brooke Rajahs and the commercial considerations of the British North Bronke Rajahs and the commercial considerations of the British North Borne Chartered Company had left the two areas effectively insulated from the spread of intainalist ideas in South-East Asia. It was principally due to this apolitical historical background that Sarawak and Sabah were acquired relatively easily and turned into Crown Colonies by Britain in July 1946.

Britain's motives for acquiring Sarawak and Sabah after the Second World War were not very dissimilar from those which prompted her to regain her pre-war hegemony over Malaya and Singapore. Britain had indirectly but effectively established her imperial influence in northern Borneo during the Brooke rule and Chartered Company administration, which lasted until the Japanese invasion in 1921. As in Malaya, Britain worked for the establishment of a post-war position of dominance in Sarawak and Sabah. For economic and strategic reasons, Britain was prepared to add new acquisitions to her remaining dependencies.<sup>1</sup>

Sabah (known as 'North Borneo' until the inauguration of Malaysia in 1963) received its status of Crown Colony with hardly any dissenting voice. Relative isolation from the outside world and lack of educational facilities during the pre-war period accounted for the inability of most people in Sabah to comprehend the change in their status from that of inhabitants of a mere British Protectorate to that of a directly-governed Crown Colony in 1946.2 It was on 10 July 1946 that Britain passed the North Borneo Cession Order-in-Council which provided that an agreement had been made between the Secretary of State for the Colonies, on behalf of His Majesty, and the British North Borneo Company, whereby the Company had transferred and ceded all its rights, powers, and interest in the territory with effect from 15 July 1946, and that it was therefore ordered that the State of North Borneo be annexed to and form part of His Majesty's Dominions, and should be called, together with the Settlement of Labuan, the Colony of North Borneo.3 Malcolm MacDonald, the Governor-General of the Malavan Union and Singapore, was present on 15 July 1946 when the new Colony of North Borneo was proclaimed in Jesselton, as Kota Kinabalu was then called.4

As Sabah passed on into the 1950s, the tenor of life was characterized by a preoccupation with 'the peace, order and good government of the Colony'. By 1956 the administration took pride in the fact that 'the Colony maintained its enviable record of freedom from political strife and violence'. Yet, trionically, such 'freedom' menured that Sabah was far away from freedom from Colonial rule. The transfer to the Colonial Office in 1946 had helped to stem post-war social, conomic and administrative dislocations caused by the Japanese occupation in Sabah; beyond that, the territory had little political character, insamch as the metriculous application of 'poece, order and good government of the Colony' rendered the growth of political awareness excruciatingly slow among the people of Sabah.

The cession of Sarawak to the British Crown was more eventful, being accompanied and followed by overt protests from many Malays and a number of Iban leaders and their followers. The anti-cession movement, which lasted intermittently until the early 1950s, was the consequence of a series of events which ended in the proclamation of Sarawak as a British Crown Colony on 1 July 1940.

As early as June 1944, the Colonial Office made an initial approach to Rajah Vyner Brooke, who was in exile in Australia and later in Britain during the War. In a scrett and personal letter, the Screttary of State for the Colonies, Oliver Stanley, wrote intimating that Britain felt 'responsible for the policies followed in the future development of the State, and its political, locial and economic progress'. Starwak had been a British Protectorate since 1888 and in 1941 a Supplementary Agreement had assioned to the territory a status similar to that of the Malay states *via-svix*  Britain in the pre-war period. Britain's plan by June 1944 was to be able to control Sarawak after the War in the same way as she intended to rule Malaya with the implementation of the Malayan Union scheme.

Rajah Vyner Brooke at this time, however, still took a benignant interest in the people of Sarawak whom he had ruled since 1917 but not seen since 1941. In his reply from London, he declared:

I and my family are Trustees for the State and people of Sarawak, who are well aware that it is not in the position of a 'Colonial Dependency', so their congent to any step which would tend to approach such a relationship would naturally have to be obtained. It can scarcely be obtained at the present time when, owing to the unavoidable inability of the Protecting Power to preserve them from invasion, they are under a lien rule.

I have given this matter much thought, and I am convinced that if I were now to enter into a fresh agreement my right to do so would almost certainly be challenged in the future with embarrassing results to myself and possibly to His Majesty's Government.<sup>3</sup>

In preparation for the re-establishment of Brooke rule the Rajah recalled his nephew, Anthony Brooke, from active service in India in December 1944. The latter sittle of Rajah Muda, which had been conferred on him in 1939 and withdrawn in 1941, was restored and he proceeded to head a Provisional Government of Sarawak in London. Anthony Brooke ruiterated in February 1945 what his uncle, the Rajah, had contended. In his response to the Colonial Office, which continued to evince its interest in gaining direct control of Sarawak, Anthony Brooke wrote:

Whilst 1 and my advizers will at all times be very glad, as representing the people of Sarawk, to discuss with you any matter of common interest to our two Governments, we are of the opinion that it would be morally indefemable for the Provisional Government of Sarawak to prejudice the post-war relations of the Government of Sarawak with the Migersy' Government by entering at this time into discussions inconsistent with the existing treaty relationship between the two Governments. This relationship, a defined by the Treaty of Protection of 1888, ince amended by the Agreement of 1941, should, in the view of the Provisional Government Sarawak, form the basis of relationship for stud discussions as may take place before the people of Sarawak have been liberated and the *tature quo* has been daily restored.<sup>9</sup>

Thus far, it was clear that both Rajah Vyner Brooke and his Rajah Muda, Anthony Brooke, felt that the future of Sarawak should not only be decrimed through proper constitutional means but that it should be decided in accordance with the wishes of the people of Sarawak. Neither the Rajah nor his nephew appeared to be thinking in terms of elinquishing their sovereignty over Sarawak; both were evidently still imbued with the first of the nine 'Cardinal Principles of the Rule of the English Rajahs' which enjoined: 'That Sarawak is the heritage of Our Subjects and is held in trust by Ourselves for them'.<sup>10</sup>

The decisive factor, however, was the obvious wish of the British Government to acquire Sarawak as a dependency under the Colonial Office when the war was over. This wish was encouraged by the 72year-old Rajah's words: 'I should be willing to return to Sarawak for a short period on its reoccupation, if thought desirable, but I feel that the future must lie with those who have the physical vigour not only to make a fresh start, but to continue firmly along such lines as will ensure internal peace within the state. 11 That candid explanation was enough for the planners in the Colonial Office to make a decisive move. Between the Rajah Muda's reiteration of Brooke policy in February 1945 and October 1945, the Colonial Office succeeded in convincing the Rajah that his nephew and the Provisional Government of Sarawak representatives had 'shown themselves personally unresponsive to the proposals of His Majesty's Government .12 On 4 October the Rajah dismissed his Rajah Muda and 'assumed personal control of Sarawak affairs in place of the Provisional Government (which he abolished)'.13

The Rajah had decided, with the help of the Colonial Office planners, to cede Sarawak to the British Crown. But his memory of his subjects remained strong, so he dispatched his controversial private sccretary, Gerard MazBryan, together with an official from the Colonial Office to Sarawak, 'to consult leading representatives of the people on the question of ceding the territory to His Majesty'. The outcome of this mission was reported as follows:

His emissary has now returned, and the Rajah has informed Hii Majsty's, Government that, in consequence of the very favourable traction of those representatives, which is, lunderstand, recorded in letters addressed to him by the leaders of the Malay and Chinese communities in Sarawak, he now feels able to proceed with the cession of the territory. Accordingly the necessary document is being drawn up and will be presented to the representatives of the people for their agreement upon the Rajah's return to the territory, which will probably take back towards the end of March.<sup>14</sup>

The Secretary of State for the Colonies, George Hall, in a heated debate on 6 February 1946 on the proposed Sarawak cession assured Members of the House of Common that 'so far as we are concerned, if cession takes place, it must take place after full consultation with a properly constituted Supreme State Council in Sarawak'.<sup>13</sup> Rajah Vyner Brooke did arrive in Sarawak and the proposed cession of the territory to the British Crown was the subject of meetings of the Council Negri in Kuching which was opened by the Rajah on 14 May. Recee has summarized the cession proceedings'. The motion on the second reading was then put and was

## FROM MALAYA TO MALAYSIA

finally carried by 18 votes to 16, there being a native majority against cession of 13 votes to 12. It was the votes of six European officials which carried the day, although the Residents of the First and Fourth Divisions (Ditmas and Gilbert) and Howes voted against the motion and Barcroft abstained.'16 On the third reading, the bill was passed by 19 votes to 16. This time Barcroft and Datu Hakim who had earlier abstained voted for cession while Adams who had supported the bill was absent: ill.17 Thus, with the majority of the non-European (in other words, Sarawakian) members voting against cession, the British Government decided 'that the Rajah's proposal for the cession of the territory to his Majesty is broadly acceptable to the native communities'.18 The Supreme Council of Sarawak authorized Rajah Vyner Brooke to execute the instrument of cession on 20 May, with British representatives signing it on behalf of His Majesty's Government. A week later the Privy Council in London ordered the annexation of Sarawak to the British Crown. The Brooke kingdom disappeared and Sarawak saw the dawn of a new era with its proclamation as a British Crown Colony on 1 July 1946.

The cession of Sarawak to the British Crown was far from 'broadly acceptable to the native communities' who comprised the majority of the population of the territory. Indeed, the cession evoked strong emotions and reactions from certain sections of the Sarawak population. This was especially true of the Malays and many Ibans in Kuching, Sibu, and the other bigger towns although the indigenous reactions to the cession emerged gradually and rather haltingly.

Two organizations worked to emphasize that Sarawak was an independent state and that Britain was committing an act of injustice in deciding to annex the territory to the British Crown. One of these was the Malay National Union of Sarawak (MNUS) which had existed since 1936 but had not been a distinctly politicized organization before the cession controversy; this forced it to face a situation in which it comprehended the difference between the regime of the Brooke Rajahs (who had always maintained that 'Sarawak belongs to the Malays, Sea Dyaks, Land Dyaks, Kayans, Kenyahs, Milanos, Muruts, Kadayans, Bisayahs, and other tribes, and not to us'19) and direct colonial rule which would make Sarawakians the subject people of an alien power. The other organization, the Dayak Association of Sarawak (DAS), was formed after the War and led by Ibans who were mainly in the Brooke service or had served in it previously.20 Like the MNUS, it was largely a social and welfare body but the cession issue prompted it to encourage Dayak-Malay cooperation in opposing the bequest of Sarawak to the Colonial Office

The anti-cession movement grew so serious that the new Sarawak

Colonial Government issued an order in December 1946 prohibiting Anthony Brooke from entering Sarawak on the grounds that 'his presence and conduct in Sarawak would inflame feeling', and 'to ensure that the present peaceful state of the country is not unnecessarily disturbed and to protect the people against the danger of disorders which might perhaps be of a grave character.<sup>21</sup>

Another measure of the seriouness with which the indigenous leaders pursued their endeavour to maintain the 'independence of Sarawak' can be seen in the outcome of a Circular which the new Colonial Government issued on 20 December 1946 to all offices of the Sarawak civil service which stated that the Government

...expects and requires absolute loyalty from all its servants, and since there is no question of a change in the present regime, the Government will not tolerate any association by its servants with activities designed to keep alive the question of Government loyally or not, and any one who whise not to continue service under these conditions must inform their Heads of Departments before December 11, yedp<sup>22</sup>

On 18 January about a thousand Malays, including both exces, staged an anti-cession demonstration at the Kuching Mosque demanding, among other things, that 'Native withes must be respected'. Demonstrations of a similar nature continued to be organized in subsequent years, usually on cession day', that is to say 1 July each year. The nati-cession movement reached its climax in early December 1940 when the second Governor of Sarawak, Duncan Stewart, was fatally stabbed in Sibu by a Malay Youth, Rody bin Dhoby. The assessination shocked all parties and with the government taking strong punitive action, the anti-cession movement was practically destroyed by 1950.<sup>23</sup>

The anti-cession movement in Sarawak did not place the British in a predicament as disabling as the Malay reactions to the Malayan Union scheme in the Peninsula. At far as Britain was concerned, the deed was done and Sarawak had been acquired. In answer to Bertram Brooke, who was fighting a losing battle, the Secretary of State for the Colonies stated, as early as July 1946:

I am ... unable to accept the suggestion that there should be some further consultation of the wishes of the people on the cession issue. Now that the territory has been ceded I cannot but feel that anyone who encouraged in any way the small group in Sarawak who persist in voicing their opposition to cession is stirring up dissension and is not servicing the true interest of the territory and its inholiants.<sup>24</sup>

The last sentence of the passage was a parting shot which was reinforced

with the banning of Anthony Brooke from entry into Sarawak as long as the anti-cession movement presented itself as a possible threat.

It is pertinent to add that the Chinese community offered no support to the anti-cession movement. Indeed they felt that British government was likely to confer greater benefits on the Chinese. A Sarawak Chinese wrote recently:

The Chimee stitude over the control issue was not difficult to surmise. The Brooke regime had opened Sarawak to Chimes extelement and trade, it is true, and its table government had encouraged Chimes population growth and the expansion of its economy. Of these benefits they were appreciative; but they also trailed that they were not recognized, even the new generations born and bred on Sarawak soil, as true soms of the soil or natives which was (and still id) a privileged position without carrying the pojerative connotation so common elsewhere in Ania and Africa under colonial rule. Until 1931, a Chinese could legally be classified as a native, but the classification denoted nationality rather than ethnic status. This was underlined in the Rules of 1931,<sup>25</sup>

Two of the Chinese members in the Council Negri, Tan Bak Kim and Kho Peng Loong, supported the cession bill while two others, Ong Hap Leong and Tse Shuen Sung, were absent.

But, in general, those who were in favour of British colonial administration belonged to the elite of the Chinese community, namely, wealthy merchants and others officially recognized as the leaders of the community. The younger generation from the lower strata of society. especially the Chinese-educated, were inclined towards leftist ideology. In fact, during the Second World War there had existed a communist organization known as the Sarawak Anti-Fascist League which is believed to have been succeeded by the Sarawak Overseas Chinese Democratic Youth League, formed in October 1951. The latter concentrated its efforts on indoctrination of Chinese students, and had contact with the Anti-British League in Singapore, but was dissolved when a state of emergency was declared in the First Division of Sarawak in 1952. Several communist groups existed in Sarawak from then on which the authorities referred to collectively as the Clandestine Communist Organization or CCO. However, it was the Sarawak Liberation League which apparently was able to organize activities in all the five Divisions of the territory. This League appears to have been renamed the Sarawak Advanced Youths' Association (SAYA) in late 1954. It was SAYA which became the most active body for many years and was, principally, the one which the Government called the CCO or the Sarawak Communist Organisation (SCO).

#### NATION-BUILDING IN MALAYSIA

Unlike the MCP, the CCO fell short of executing an all-out war against the British in Sarawak. Armed encounters, human as well as material losses of the magnitude which occurred during the Emergency in Malaya did not take place in Sarawak. Nevertheless, there were basic similarities between the MCP and the CCO. The members of both organizations were primarily Chinese. More cogently, both utilized 'front organizations' to gain support for their identical revolutionary Marxist-Leninist-Maoist ideology. In the case of the CCO, the 'united front' was to include the students, the trade unions, and the peasants of rural Sarawak. In addition, it exploited resentment and fears that government policy would destroy Chinese culture. Both the MCP and CCO were dedicated to the use of 'the most revolutionary means to overthrow British Imperialism'. Both sought to establish an authoritarian communist political system in place of colonial rule. The CCO plan was: 'First of all we should strive for the establishment of a new democratic society, then a socialist society and finally a communist society.'26

From the time of the formation of SAYA the CCO stepped up its efforts to recruit support from the Chinese schools and to penetrate the predominantly Chinese trade unions, which had been formed in the main towns, as well as to organize the peasantry. By the late 1950s the CCO was seriously considering the formation of a political party so that there would be an organization with a unified command. That need was expressed in early 1959; by lune that year the Sarawak United People's Party (SUPP) was registered. The British authorities thereupon glibly came to the conclusion that the CCO at least actively supported the formation of the SUPP. It is, however, debatable whether the SUPP was the party of the CCO pure and simple. Many of the SUPP leaders were conservative and hailed from propertied families. Although the party included a number of communist and pro-communist elements at the grassroots level, and offered a 'socialist' alternative, SUPP itself reflects elements of traditionalism. Most of the statewide leaders today are medium or small businessmen, not trade unionists or farmers.

At all events, the CCO never managed to establish a commanding position in Sarawak politics. Although it succeeded in forming cells, branches and committees in parts of the first three Divisions of the territory, throughout the British colonial period, and indeed after the formation of Malaysia in the topos, the CCO failed to convince more than a tiny minority of the Sarawak population that its revolutionary aim to set up a communist state in the area was a better alternative to the slow but peaceful British-guided constitutional development which had taken place in the post-war period. At the peak of its activities, the CCO had no more than between one and two thousand operational fighting members. The Malays and indigenous communities largely steered clear of the activities of the CCO.

In general, among the Chinese in Sarawak there was a small group that was passionately China-orientated. On the other hand, there was another small group that was strongly Sarawak-orientated. In between these two groups was the largest segment, namely, the economically depressed, illiterate, and neither greaty China-orientated nor primarily Sarawakinclined. They were often frustrated, and uneasily placed between the Chinese world and their Bornean habitat. Many of these frustrated and tooldes Chinese sometimes embraced a belief that offered an apparently simple solution to the problems of the individual and the state. But they were not Marxist or Maosit ideologues; only the victims of adverse socioceonomic circumstances in colonial Sarawak. Therefore, like the anticession movement, the Communist movement failed to secure mass upport. It is important to note that because of the plural nature of the Sarawak Society, the Chinese-dominated CCO made no attempt to support the in-British starte of the anti-cessionists.

British colonial rule lasted for seventeen years, from July 1946 to September 1963 in both Sarawak and Sabah. It was an era of benevolent administration. Largely because of the lack of political conscioumes in both territories before the Second World War, progress along nationalist lines after 1946 was slow. The Colonial Governments of Sarawak and Sabah wished, above all else, to rehabilitate and reconstruct the economies of the two territories, which were ravaged by the War. It was clearly recognized that social and welfare services were inseparable concomitants of any stable and expanding economy, accordingly, such services were given emphasis at the same time as the principal industries of Sarawak and Sabah wuch as rubber, oil, pepper, copra, timber, sago and tobacco, were speedily rehabilitated. Sarawak and Sabah under colonial rule experienced British policies very like those carried out in pre-war Malaya.

As in pre-war Malaya, the peoples of Sarawak and Sabah lived in plural societies for many years after 1946. It was not the intention of Whitehall to foster political awareness or nationalistic ideas among them during the 1950s, even though Britain was aware that she would have to relinquish her sovereignty over the territories in the foreseeable future because nationalist movements and successful demands for political independence elsewhere in South-East Asia made it plain that, at best, Britain could only hope to delay the rise of nationalist sentiment among the peoples of Sarawak and Sabah. However, Britain must have reasoned, as she did with respect to Malaya and Singapore, that if the parting of the wave must come with the Borneo territories it was in her best interest that such a break should occur amicably.

In Sarawak, the 1941 Constitution was re-enacted in 1946. This Constitution gave legislative and financial jurisdiction to the Council Negri, a body of 23 members of whom 14 were official members appointed from the Sarawak Civil Service and 11 unofficial, representative of the several peoples of the country and their interests. The Council Negri was the equivalent of a legislative council in other colonies and, typical of colonial legislatures, it 'had the power to make laws for the peace, order and good government of the country, and no public money could be expended or any charge made upon the revenues of the country without the Council's consert.<sup>27</sup>

Under the resumed 1941 Constitution there was provision for a Supreme Council (the equivalent of an executive council in other colonies) of not less than five members, the majority of whom were members of the Sarawak civil service and the Council Negri. The Governor, in the exercise of his duties, was to consult the Supreme Council; but important exceptions to this rule were made which, in effect, gave him a free hand to direct the affairs of the Colony in the way that the British Government would desire. 'In the exercise of his powers and duties the Governor consulted with the Supreme Council, except in making appointments to the Supreme Council and in cases (a) of such nature that, in the Governor's judgement, Her Majesty would sustain material prejudice by consulting the Supreme Council thereon; or (b) of matters in his judgement too unimportant to require their advice; or (c) of matters in his judgement too urgent to admit of their advice being given by the time action might be necessary'.28 The people had no franchise and the Governor together with his officials controlled the destiny of the territory.

Gradually, however, local councils were introduced in Sarawak. Because it was obvious that few Sarawakians had the requisite educational qualifications or experience to fill higher posts, it was decided to develop local government institutions as the training ground for future Sarawak kaders. The first five local authorities, as the local councils were termed, were formed at the end of 1947; in November 1948 the Governor informed the Council Negri that by the end of the following year 'in Sarawak neaders than one-third of the population of the Colony will be living within the jurnsdiction of such Authorities, and nearly one-half of the population will be within the jurisdiction of some kind of Local Government'.<sup>24</sup> From the beginning of 1957 the whole of Sarawak, with the exception of a small area on the coast between Miri and the Brunei border, was under the jurisdiction of some kind of local authority.<sup>30</sup>

Most of the earlier local authorities were established on a racial basis,

### FROM MALAYA TO MALAYSIA

but as this proved to be detrimental to a common political evolution it was subsequently decided to organize authorities on a mixed or interracial pattern' with juridiction over people of all races in the area.<sup>3</sup> Is The main functions of each authority were responsibility for primary education and fulf financial control over expenditure within its area. The local authorities also collected revenue, mainly from a poli-tax, rates, licence-fees, micellancous local taxes, and central government grants the repositories of grassroots democracy, constituted the sub-electoral colleges for the election of representatives to the five Divisional Advisory Councils of Sarawak, which in turn elected members to the Council Negri, according to the provisions of the new Sarawak Constitution promulgated in 1956.

This Constitution, which came into force on 1 April 1957, provided for a new Council Negri consisting of 45 members of whom 24 were elected unofficials, 14 were ex-officio members, four were nominated to represent interests which the Governor considered inadequately represented, and the remaining three were 'standing members', two of whose seats were vacant and would not be filled. 32 The new Constitution also provided for a Supreme Council consisting of three ex-officio members, namely the Chief Secretary, the Financial Secretary and the Attorney-General, two nominated members and five elected members who were elected, nominated or standing members of the Council Negri, The introduction of local authorities, which were subsequently renamed district councils', had served one of its main purposes, inasmuch as the 1956 Constitution 'embodied the principle, which lasted even beyond the creation of Malaysia in 1963, that a proportion of the members in the higher organs of government would be elected by the members in a lower tier of government'.33 Thus, while the elective principle was gradually introduced in the elections of members of the district councils, the last also now became sub-electoral colleges for the election of representatives to the five Divisional Advisory Councils mentioned above. These five Councils, the Kuching Municipal Council, and the Urban District Councils of Sibu and Miri, elected from among their members the 24 elected unofficials in the Council Negri.34 The above system of indirect election was practised until the formation of Malaysia in the early 1960s and did help in a modest way to arouse political awareness among the people of Sarawak.

In the case of Sabah, after being administered by the Governor with the aid of an Advisory Council for four years, a new Legislative Council was catabilated in October 1950. The new legislative body was, however, dominated by official members: The Legislative Council consists of the

Governor as President, three ex-officio Members, namely the Chief Secretary, the Attorney-General and the Financial Secretary, nine Official Members and ten Nominated Members.<sup>3,5</sup> At the same time, an Executive Council was established which consisted of the same three exofficio members, two other official members and four nominated members. The latter Council was 'consulted by the Governor on all questions of importance'.<sup>36</sup>

The constitutional arrangements in Sabah throughout the 1950s were more colonial than those in Sarawak. For a full decade until 1960 the British officials dominated the Legislative and Executive Councils. The Sabah colonial legislature advised and assisted the Governor who made 'laws for the peace, order and good Government of the Colony'.37 Local councils were introduced in Sabah only from 1952 onwards, with functions similar to those in Sarawak but with the exception that the Sabah local councils did not undertake responsibility for education. (The Department of Education in Sabah fully controlled education in the territory.) As in Sarawak, the local councils in Sabah were subsequently renamed 'local authorities' and 'district councils'. By 1956 it was explained: 'Wide powers are conferred upon these Authorities, which have control over their own finances and may levy rates and cesses and make by-laws for such purposes as the improvement of agriculture and animal husbandry, the control of buildings, the provision and maintenance of markets and the safeguarding and promotion of public health.'38 There was thus an attempt to familiarize the people with ideas of self-government at grassroots level as in Sarawak. Yet it is well to note that the local councils in Sabah never became sub-electoral colleges for a territorial legislature as in Sarawak. Throughout the 1950s, the members of the district councils as well as the unofficials in the Legislative and Executive Councils of Sabah were all nominated by the British Governor with the aid of his officials. In simple language, colonial rule was effective in theory and in practice in the Sabah of the 1950s.

It was only in 1960, just prior to the announcement of the Malaysian proposal, that constitutional changes were introduced which provided for a small unofficial majority in the Legitalater. Council of Stabah. There were then the Governor as President, 4 ex-officio members, 3 official members and 12 nominated members. However, the Executive Council remained largely in the control of official members who numbered six as against five nominated members.<sup>30</sup> While district and Divisional council elections were held in Sarawak on a territory-wide scale in 1993,<sup>40</sup> the electoral process was never introduced in Sabah before December 19624<sup>31</sup> when Sabah's participation in the formation of Malaysia was already a forecone conclusion.

#### FROM MALAYA TO MALAYSIA

No discussion of political-constitutional developments in Sarawak and Sabah between 1946 and 1963 would be complete without a reference to the British attempt to establish a Bornean federation.

## Bornean Federation

It was largely due to the lack of organized movements among the local population that the first attempts at political unification in northern Borneo came from the colonial leaders themselves. Their idea generally was not to prepare Sarawak. Brunei and Sabah for separate independence but rather to link them in some form of Bornean federation. The first attempt came in the form of a conference in Kuching in April 1053. presided over by Malcolm MacDonald<sup>42</sup> and attended by Sir Anthony Abell, the Governor of Sarawak (and British High Commissioner for Brunei), Sultan Omar Ali Saifuddin of Brunei, and Sir Ralph Hone. Governor of North Borneo. Also in attendance were three representatives from each of the three territories. The main point for discussion was the wish to develop a greater measure of coordination of policy and administration in matters of common interest.43 It was decided to institute a system of periodic joint meetings between department heads and others in Sarawak. Brunei and Sabah, and to maintain harmony of policy among the three territories.44 However, very little could be done over the next four years because Brunei refused to entertain the idea of a Bornean federation.45

It is interesting to note that since the Second World War there had been several suggestions about linking up all the British territories of Malaya. Singapore and Borneo in some form of confederation. A contemporary academic who took an active interest in the problems of nationhood in the area argued the possibilities and wrote, towards the end of 1946:

A Federation reaching from Perlis to North Borneo is possible, a Federation to which people of many different races gave their loyalty, trying to keep it prooperous and to fit it for independence. There is abundant evidence in the speeches of the Governor-General, and the overall design of local plans, that this is the avowed aim of the present British Government. But no on cent apend three months in post-war Malaya without noticing that this plan is being continuously and deliberately thwarted.<sup>44</sup>

Indeed, 'parochialism' reigned even among the senior British officials and in July 1937 Sir Anthony Abell reaffirmed his preference for a Bornean federation. He considered that it was more practical for Sarawak, Brunei and Sabah to chart a common destiny than to look to Malaya and Singapore for unity and progress.<sup>47</sup> This appeared to make sense, one

#### NATION-BUILDING IN MALAYSIA

reason being that 'jealousies between the Malayan Union and Singapore are magnified with every appearance of conscious and increasing spite', <sup>46</sup> Malcolm MacDonald himself affirmed many years later:

I suggested when I was British Commissioner-General for South-East Asia that the three Borneo territorice-Sarawak, Brunei and North Borneo-came together in a federation. They had many things in common, for example, administration and economic pattern... I thought that if the Borneo territories were federated they would be in a stronger position as a larger political entity. They would also be in a stronger position with any other neighboring constry.<sup>40</sup>

But Brunci, which basically felt unable to bear the probable eventuality that it would end up sharing its oil wealth with poorer Sarawak and Sabal in any Bornean federation, remained uninterested.<sup>30</sup> Sir Anthony Abell renewed his clarion call without much success in February 1958.<sup>31</sup> and in September that year the Council Neeri

... approved a resolution that a committee of unofficial members should be appointed to examine the implications of closer association between the three territories of British Bornee and to report back to the Council on the more detailed information which should be presented about this proposal to the people of the territories. A motion in somewhat similar territs was to be passed by the North Bornee Legislative Council and it is expected that the committees of unofficials of both territories will undertake conducted to usor of North Borneo and Starwak in the course of 1959 in order to study the circumstances of each and so be better qualified to make their reports.<sup>32</sup>

Not to be outdone, Sir Roland Turnbull, Hone's successor, had also suggested in April 1958 that the Brunei and Sarawak governments be approached to ryt to get their agreement to a closer constitutional link between the three territories. An inter-territorial group of people should be formed to study the proposal and make recommendations for the three governments to consider.<sup>33</sup>

Despite the conferences and the efforts of the promoters, the formation of a Bornean federation remained an idea. Apart from Brunei's relucance, the Sabha authorities also felt that the idea was premature. Sir Roland Turnbull summed up the reasons for the failure thus far to establish a political union in northern Borneo and his hopes for the future in the following passage:

One of the purposes we have compicuously failed to bring about is the political association of this country with Brunei and Staravak. Since such purposes cannot be achieved without the ready coment of a substantial majority of the people in each of the countries involved, there is virtually nothing we can do about it at the present time other than to express our continuing goodwill and our desire for such an association...For the present, let us concern ourselves with the betterment of our own affairs, in the by no means unjustified hope that the years will make us a partner who is not only welcomed but sought.<sup>54</sup>

It can be argued that the Bornean federation proposals mooted from 1953 onwards failed partly because the peoples of the three territories had no significant voice in them. Furthermore, the general idea of forming such a federation was promoted by the representatives of the metropolitan power themselves which gave it the tinge of colonial expediency and so tended to discourage the participation of local leaders such as Sultan Omar Ali Saifuddin, Datu Mustapha bin Datu Harun55 and Donald A. Stephens.<sup>56</sup> Sir Anthony Abell, for instance, envisaged a very colonial arrangement whereby a Governor-General would act as Her Majesty's representative in Sarawak and Sabah while at the same time being British High Commissioner to Brunei. He would preside over proposed legislatures in Sarawak and Sabah. There would be a Lieutenant-Governor in each of the two territories.57 The proposals, in some important respects, were reminiscent of the Malayan Union scheme and did not appear to foster the idea of independent nationhood in the three undeveloped territories of northern Borneo.

## The Rationale for Malaysia

The wish to associate Malaya, Singapore, and the northern Borneo territories in some form of union had been expressed variously before 1961. Lord Brassey, a North Borneo Chartered Company Director, put forth such a suggestion in 1887, albeit without much effect. 58 During the Second World War, British planners in London 'made a general assessment of the future of all the British areas in the Far East, collectively'.59 But their deliberations were guided by the wish of the Colonial Office to safeguard British economic and strategic interests in the region rather than by any desire to promote a self-governing confederation of states there. After the war, Thio Chan Bee, a member of the Legislative Council and Progressive Party of Singapore, which 'opposed merger with Malaya but proposed a confederation of Singapore, Malaya and the Borneo territories',60 more than once pointed out that this would ensure that the Malayan-Borneo region would fall in with the existing world trend towards larger political groupings such as the Western European Union.61 Malcolm MacDonald himself, in espousing the prior establishment of a Bornean federation, had in mind, as he later said, that 'After the federation of the Borneo territories, a confederation with Malaya and Singapore could have been attempted.'62

Like the Bornean federation proposals, however, the idea of a

## NATION-BUILDING IN MALAYSIA

Malavan-Singapore-northern Borneo confederation did not progress towards reality until Tunku Abdul Rahman, then Prime Minister of the Federation of Malaya, made an apparently casual statement in the course of a luncheon speech to the Foreign Correspondents' Association of South-East Asia in Singapore on 27 May 1061. The Tunku stated that Malaya could not stand alone in isolation and suggested that sooner or later his country 'should have an understanding with Britain and the peoples of the territories of Singapore, North Borneo (Sabah), Brunei and Sarawak'.63 He went on to say. 'It is premature for me to say now how this closer undertaking can be brought about but it is inevitable that we should look ahead to this objective and think of a plan whereby these territories can be brought closer together in political and economic cooperation.'64 To comprehend why the Federation Prime Minister made the statement at that time and what accounted for the subsequent interest in the proposal, we must examine the rationale for Malaysia. Although Malaya had achieved independence, there were old as well as new problems which required solution if the new nation was to continue to progress. Some of these problems concerned the relationship between the Peninsula and Singapore.

Singapore wished to be merged with the Peninsula, mainly for economic and political reasons, as discussed further below. The Malayan leaders, however, were not enamoured of the idea for two main reasons of a different kind. The first was the fact that the racial composition of the population of Malaya differed very markedly from that of Singapore. This posed a serious obstacle to merger. Secondy, it was though by the leaders in Kuala Lumpur that Singapore's security was being increasingly heratemed by a communist tack-over. Malaya felt that the inclusion of an increasingly-leftist Singapore would aggravate the problems posed by the Malayan Communist Party (MCP), which had already caused the twelve-year Emergency from 1948 to 1960.

The following Table demonstrates the problem posed by racial composition. The figures shown clearly meant that in a direct Malaya-Singapore merger the numerical superiority of the Malays in the Peninsula would be lost to the Chinese. Furthermore, there was no certainty that the Indians and Others would not tend to side more with the Chinese than with the Malays. The Malays in the Peninsula, where historical processes beyond their control had already created a plural society.<sup>46</sup> had laways greatly feared such an eventuality and therefore naturally dreaded the political inclusion of Singapore in their country. In retrospect, it was just as well for the Malays that Britain excluded Singapore from the Malayan Union in 1946 and the Federation of Malaya in 1948.

Yet, the other reason for reluctance in having Singapore as part of a

## FROM MALAYA TO MALAYSIA

	Malays and Other Indigenous Groups	Chinese	Indians	Others	Total
Malaya <sup>1</sup> (1957 census) Singapore <sup>2</sup> (1957 census)	3,125,474 (49.8%) 197,060 (13.6%)	2.333.756 (37.1%) 1,090,595 (75.1%)	696,186 (11.1%) 124,084 (8.6%)	123,342 (2.0%) 34,190 (2.7%)	6,278,758 1,445,929
Total	3,322,534 (43.0%)	3.424.351 (44.3%)	820,270 (10.6%)	157.532 (2.1%)	7,724,687

#### TABLE I

Racial Composition of Malaya and Singapor

<sup>1</sup>Federation of Malaya, Official Year Book 1961, Kuala Lumpur, 1961, p. 36; and G. P. Means, 'Malaysia-A New Federation in Southeast Asia', Pacific Affairs, 36, No. 2, Summer 1963, p. 140.

<sup>2</sup>Colony of Singapore, Annual Report 1958, Singapore, 1959, pp. 27-8.

single Malayan nation, namely the communist threat, increasingly and paradoxically turned into a reason in favour of accepting the Island as a merger pattere. It is in this regard that Tunku Abdul Rahmar's May 1961 statement on the Malayais proposal becomes especially significant. It was reasoned that the inclusion of Singapore in such a proposal would enable the Malayan leaders, with the aid of the British, to contain the communists and their tenacious exploitation of anti-colonial feelings, and not only in Singapore. The inverterate anti-communist Tunku explained:

We had successfully overcome the internal threat of Communism in Malaya, but we were only now well aware of its insidious growth in neighbouring areas. I noticed particularly, with growing and grave concern, the increasing influence of Communism in the Brish territories of Singapore, Sabah, Frunci and Sarawak. The ame pattern of Communit exploitation of aria-to-clonial feelings that we had experienced in Malaya wat taking place in those areas. I felt that time was running out, and that the Communits meance had to be withfur met, otherwise free Malaya would once again be in danger. Therefore, in May 1961 first announced my hope that the formation of Malayias would canable the peoples rol these states to achieve the independence they desired and at the same time put an end to colonalism in their part of the world.\*

Thus it was envisaged that the establishment of the enlarged federation would not only speed up but actually consummate the attainment of political independence for Singapore and the three dependent territories in northern Borneo. Nowithstanding internal problems which might occur or remain fart the establishment of the enlarged federation, it was intended from the outset that Malaysia was to have the constitutional status of an independent and sovereign nation which its people, including those in Singapore, Sarawak, Brunei (if it became a part) and Sabah, should be equally proud of.

But, there was another reason for Malaysia. This related to the problem of numbers faced by the Malays in the Peninsula in the case of a direct Malaya-Singapore merger. With the inclusion of Sarawak, Brunei and Sabah, each of which contained a majority of indigenous people who were akin in varying degree to the Malays, the proposed Malaysia would maintain the numerical superiority of the Malays and other indigenous peoples together over the Chinese. The following Table makes the point:

	Malays and Other Indigenous Groups	Chinese	All Others	Total
Malaya and Singapore <sup>1</sup>	3.322.534	3.424.351	977,802	7.724.687
The Borneo Territories <sup>2</sup>	872,853	355.491	54.383	1,282,827
Total (i.e. Malaysia)	4.195.387 (46.6%)	3.779,842 (41.9%)	1,032,185 (11.5%)	9,007,514 (100%)

BL	

Racial Composition of Malaya, Singapore and the Borneo Territories (Sarawak, Brunei and Sabah)

"See Table 1 of this chapter.

<sup>2</sup>L. W. Jones, The Population of Borneo, London, 1966, Appendix A, p. 203. The figures were for 1960.

Although the numerical factor was not highlighted during the formation of Malaysia, and despite the possibility that the 'only merit of this racial argument seems to lie in the assumption that in extreme racial issues the indigenous population of Borneo might choose to align themselves with the Malays, to whom they were racially akin, rather than to the Chinese'.<sup>49</sup> it was none the less 'one reason why the Borneo states are so important as a counterbalance to Singapore's left-leaning. Chinese majorities'.<sup>49</sup>

### Malaya-Singapore Merger

Although Malayan leaders, notably those who were Malays, had shown an unwillingness to accept the political merger of Singapore with the Peninsula, leaders in Singapore had often argued that their Island was a

natural complement of the Peninsula. Philip Hoalim Senior, a long-time resident, a lawyer, and a participant in the early post-war political activities in Singapore, argued in December 1947:

The MDU along with the other members of the Putera-AMCJA, believes that there are three indispensable requisites to the framing of a healthy and progressive constitution for Malaya.

We have consistently fought for these three principles and will continue to do so until we succeed. Firstly, we believe that the whole of Malaya, including to Singapore, should come under a central government, democratically cleed to power by the citizens of the country. Secondly, that only those who regard Malaya as their real home and the object of their loyalty may become citizens. And thirdly, that democratic political rights should be extended to all citizens.

How all this is connected with our boycot of the Singapore elections may be well understood of the reliance, in the first place, that the welfare of Singapore cannot be omidered in isolation from that of the rel of Margine. Note the least among the Government's extravagances is the maintenance of a separate governing paratus for Singapore with all the perpositroon adjulciations this involves.

Singapore, therefore, should be treated as an integral part of Malays, instead of which the Government proposed to isolate it as a separate British Colony. Then again, Singapore isolad be governed by a central authority along democratic lines, and ombraing the whole of Malaya. This will save use from the capraces of a foreign tyranny which by its very nature is incapable of attending to our needs and promoting our welfare.<sup>45</sup>

The fact that these views were expressed immediately after the war exemplifies the earlier development of political attitudes in Singapore as compared to many parts of Malaya and the Borneo territories. The passage quoted also reflects ideals which many Singapore leaders held dear from 1946 right up to the formation of Malayais: the wish for and belief in a merger with mainland Malaya were uppermost, hence the concept of a common central government for the Peninsula and the kland.

This concept and also the egalitarian, somewhat socialist ideas of the MDU and the AMCJA continued to pervade the atmosphere of Singapore policies in later years. The rather casual Singaporean awareness of a need to make some concessions to the Malays found expression in the grand coaliton with PUTERA. These features lend credibility to the assertion that the MDU and its affiliates were in many ways the forerunners of the Poole's Action Party (PAP) which emphasized, above all else, that Singapore's political future and independence could only be realized through merger with Malaya.<sup>70</sup> Philip Hoalim's remarks also pointed to one more cogent reason for the with to merge with Malaya, namely that together the Peninsula and Singapore would have a better chance of political survival.

### NATION-BUILDING IN MALAYSIA

Throughout the 1950s, the idea of merger never lacked adherents, particularly in Singapore. While the Island was a British Crown Colony from 1946 until it was granted internal self-government in 1959.<sup>21</sup> it was noted that:

In discussion since 1946 political merger has been pronounced as an objective of the majority of parties in Singapore. As an issue, however, it has only come into real prominence with the diminution of British governmental control in Singapore and in conjunction with the ysing from restricted political activity, and a restricted franchise, to the participation of the mass of the population in politics and the emergence of participation of the mass upport,<sup>22</sup>

The real 'diminution of British governmental control in Singapore' only began in 1954. In that year it was decided to introduce constitutional reforms which would gradually lead Singapore to independence.<sup>73</sup> The Report of a Commission chaired by Sin George Rendel recommended a partly-elected and partly-nominated legialarure:

The Assembly comprised 35 elected members, the 3 official members in the Cabinet, and 4 members nominated by the Governor to represent commercial and minority interests. Although there was an elected majority in the Legislative Council, the Governor had remendous reserve powers in all matters of defence, foreign affairs and internal security, and the right to suspend the constitution.<sup>9</sup>

The Rendel constitutional reforms provided for a Cabinet consisting of the Governor and nine others, comprising the Chief Secretary, the Financial Secretary and the Attorney-General, an elected Chief Minister and five other elected Ministers.<sup>28</sup> The developments were comparable to the introduction of the Member System in Malaya in 1951 and its extension by 1954. As in Malaya, although the scope was more limited, elections were held in Singapore in 1955 for the 25 Legislative Assembly seats. Sir George Rendel explained many years later that the constitutional reforms proposed by the Commission were intended 'to establish a parliamentary system of government for Singapore in a gradual way, bearing in mind the limited stage of political evolution in the Island. It was feit that stwo-party system would be appropriate for Singapore, as this would reduce factionalism and the weakness generally found in collicing powernments.<sup>78</sup>

At all events, the modest constitutional reforms adopted as a result of the Rendel Commission Report did widen the outlook and scope of political activities in Singapore. David Marshall<sup>77</sup> had thought otherwise:

The Rendel Constitution was mainly tailored for the Progressive Party whom everybody, and certainly the British, expected to form the Government and to act as the gold-plated shock absorbers for imperialist rule. To the British the Rendel

## FROM MALAYA TO MALAYSIA

Constitution was a suave political ploy-a change of facade to quieten screaming U.N. and world opinion. It was not intended to make any basic change in the realities of government geared for British commercial exploitation.74

It is undoubtedly true that the British were far from willing to relinquish their political and economic dominance over Singapore at the time. Yet it was the modest political reforms under the Rendel Constitution which not only promoted party politics in Singapore but also enabled Marshall and his Labour Front to win the most seats in the 1955 elections and become the primus inter pares in a coalition government.79 Marshall himself became Singapore's first Chief Minister in a cabinet government which lasted until his resignation in June 1956. He was succeeded by Lim Yew Hock\*0 who remained Chief Minister until the PAP came to power in the elections of 31 May 1959. It should also be noted that Marshall, Lim Yew Hock and the Government lead by the Labour Front from 1955 to 1959 'demanded an early Singapore-Federation merger'.\*1 In March 1957 an all-party mission led by Lim Yew Hock went to London and reached agreement on proposals which inter alia granted self-government to Singapore. The proposals provided for an Internal Security Council consisting of three British representatives (with the High Commissioner as chairman), three Singapore Ministers and a representative of the Federation of Malaya. A new Legislative Assembly was set up consisting of 51 members elected by universal suffrage on a non-communal roll as in Malaya. In addition to the continuance of cabinet government, the proposals also provided for a Head of State styled the Yang Dipertuan Negara of Singapore. 82

The PAP, which won 43 of the 51 seats in the 1959 elections, 83 had been founded in late 1954 by Lee Kuan Yew#4 and a number of others: From the outset, however, it was clear to political observers that the PAP was made up of two groups-the moderates and the communists. Three out of the twelve members of the Party's first Central Executive Committee (CEC) were known to be communist sympathizers, if not yet full-fledged communists. The more prominent non-communists were Lee Kuan Yew, Toh Chin Chye and Goh Keng Swee who had met while studying in London and had discussed many Malayan problems as members of the Malayan Forum.\*5

Under the leadership of the PAP Singapore became an internally selfgoverning state on 3 June 1959, joined Malaysia in September 1963, and became a sovereign Republic after the Island's separation from Malaysia in 1965. It is significant, however, that the PAP, as the most successful political party in the history of politics in Singapore, had always strongly advocated the independence of the Island through merger with Malaya. The Malayan Forum, which was an important antecedent of the PAP, was a discussion club formed by Malayan and Singapore students in

Britain in 1949 with the aim of arousing interest in and debating the problems of achieving independence for Malaya and Singapore as a single antion.<sup>46</sup> After various people and organizations reflected on the matter over the post-war years, the major reasons for Singapore's with to merge with Malaya were reviewed by Lee Kuan Yew in 1961:

Merger is going to take place not just because it is the desire of the P.A.P. or merely because it is the wish of the Federation Alliance government. It is as neuritable as the rising and the setting of the sun. The two territories are so intertwined and interwoven in their economic, political and military complex that no man can keep up the artificial barrier at the Causeway for long....

Everyone knows the reasons why the Federation is important to Singapore. It is the hinterland which produces the rubber and tin that keep our shop-window economy going. It is the base that made Singapore the capital city. Without this economic base Singapore would not survive.

Without merger, without a reunification of our two economics, our economic position will slowly and steadily get worse... Instead of there being one unified economic development for Malya, there will be two. The Federation instead of oc-operating with Singapore will compete against Singapore for industrial capital and industrial expansion. In this competition both will suffer.

But Singapore will suffer more, because we have less resources to fall back on. We have no rubber and tin, no large land mass. For 140 years we have grown, developed and prospered because we bought and sold for the Federation. Through Singapore they supported what they wanted from the outside world. Through Singapore they sold her rubber and tin.

Merger means that there will be one integrated economic development, and that the wasteful duplication of facilities in the two territories will come to an end.\*7

Undoubtedly, the economic relationship between Singapore and the Peninsula dominated the thinking of the leaders of the former. However, the majority of leading. Singaporeans (as well as many of the ordinary citizens of the Island) also had family ties with mainland Malaya, i.e. had relatives who were permanently resident in or citizens of the Federation. This was especially so among the Chinese, but in varying degrees was also true of the Malay and Indian communities.<sup>\*\*</sup> The numerous cultural and familial ties which extended beyond the ends of the Johor Causeway were therefore also seen as compelling reasons for a merger between Singapore and Malaya.

As has been said earlier, political considerations also loomed large in the efforts to arrive at a merger. Apart from the fact that the Peninsula and Singapore had both been governed by Britain since the nineteenth century, and consequently had similarities in systems of administration, communications, judicature, currency, etc., it was noted that 'No irrubber ubber or cocount curtain is possible between us. What happens in Singapore must affect the Federation. From Singapore the Federation can be undermined. Singapore is vital to the security and survival of the Federation.<sup>49</sup>

Furthermore, since coming to power in 1959 the PAP had encountered an increasing threat from communists in Singapore and procommunists within its own ranks. To a certain extent this was a bogey fabricated by Lec Kuan Yew and hit close associates in the effort to achieve merger with Malya. But there was a real internal taulse within the PAP. At the Hong Lim by-election in April 1961 a former party member, Ong Eng Guan, who was a strong rival of Lec Kuan Yew, beat the PAP candidate; and again at the Anson by-election the following July, histrionic David Marshall roundly defeated the PAP candidate.<sup>9</sup> For major economic, social and political reasons, therefore, the PAP leaders felt that nationhood should come to Singapore through merger between the Peninsula and the Island.

Tunku Abdul Rahman and his Malayan colleagues took time deciding to admit Singapore as a merger partner in a Malaysia which would include the Borneo territories, from the first serious discussions of the proposal reported to have taken place in July 1960, through another meeting between Duncan Sandys, Lee Kuan Yew and the Tunku in December 1960, until the Federation Prime Minister's speech to correspondents in May 1961.<sup>47</sup> but in Singapore itself the proposal was welcomed at once. A week after the Tunku's luncheon speech, Lee Kuan Yew recapitulated and reaffirmed the entirely pro-merger policy of his Government:

By ties of sentiment as well as of business, we in Singapore have always been closest to the Federation of Malaya. If merger and independence could come sooner and easier through the Bornoe situst retritroits coming in together with us into political integration with the Federation of Malaya, them we support it for it would also mean that we would have a larger and more powerful economic base for our new nation.

... we welcome and support the declaration of the Prime Minister of the Federation of Malaya that is inseritable that we should look ahead to this objective of closer political and economic association between the Federation, Singapore, Brunci, Sarawak and North Borneo. This declaration should accelerate the speed of political progress towards complete independence for us.<sup>32</sup>

From then on the PAP Government never relented in its single-minded determination to unify Singapore with Malaya through the formation of Malayaia. Notwithstanding the defeats in the Hong Lim and Anson byelections, Lee Kuan Yew and his loyal colleagues worked adroidy to isolate the pro-communic leaders who were against the PAP bringing Singapore into political union with Malaya under the Alliance Govern-

#### NATION-BUILDING IN MALAYSIA

ment. When the Singapore leftists broke away and formed the Barisan Sosialis in July 1961, about 70 per cent of the PAP rank and file memberhip crossed over to join the new party.<sup>45</sup> But the PAP Government remained in office (still having 25 Assemblymen out of 51 in the legislature by August 1962) and proceeded assiduously towards its merger goal.

After Britain and the Federation of Malaya jointly announced on 1 August 1962 that 'subject to the necessary legislation, the proposed Federation of Malaysia should be brought into being by 11st August 1963, '94 the PAP Government held a 'referendum' on I September 1062. The people were asked to choose the type of merger they favoured not whether they were for or against merger and 71 per cent of the electorate voted for constitutional merger arrangements, contained in a white paper, 'giving Singapore autonomy in education and labour'.95 From then on, Singapore's wish to merge with Malaya was as good as fulfilled. While S. Rajaratnam had earlier said that the partners were 'trying to build a Malavan nation not by force, but by consent', 96 Tunku Abdul Rahman remarked shortly after the Singapore referendum that it was 'impossible to grant independence to Singapore [on its own] because of the danger of it going communist, and if it goes communist it would with the help of the communist powers try to overrun the whole of Malaya'.97 The Tunku affirmed that 'the only course open to us would be to accept Singapore as a member of the Federation of Malaysia' 98

Singapore was so accepted when Malaysia was inaugurated on 16 September 1963. Apart from being granted autonomy in education and labour, Singapore was allocated 15 seas in the 139-member Dewan Rakyat of the new nations<sup>49</sup> although broadcasting and television were federal matters, the Singapore Government was to be responsible for administration and day-to-day programmes within Singapore, while all licence and advertising fees from broadcasting and television in Singapore were to be State revenue.<sup>160</sup> and in general Singapore was granted a substantial part of its state revenue to support its education, housing, and other social services.<sup>161</sup> Importantly, the economic aspect of merger

The Federal Government, in order to facilitate the maximum practicable degree of economic integration of the territories of Malaysia, while taking account of the interests of the eutrepot trade of Singapore, Penang and Labuan and those of existing industries in Malaysia, and the need to ensure a balanced development of these territories, shall progressively establish a common market in Malaysia for all goods or products produced, manufactured or assembled in significant quantities in Malaysia, with the exception of goods and products of which the principal terminal market is locutiked Malaysia.<sup>182</sup>

#### FROM MALAYA TO MALAYSIA

By and large Singapore was afforded much leeway in economic matters. For the first five years after Malaysia Day the appointment of the chairman of a Tariff Advisory Board, which was to be set up to advise the Federal Government generally on the establishment of the common market, required the concurrence of the Singapore Government; over the same period 'the Singapore Government shall have the right to require a delay not exceeding twelve months in the imposition in Singapore of any protective duty on the grounds that the duty would significantly prejudice the entrepot trade'; with certain exceptions, all revenues collected in Singapore were to be divided between the Federal and Singapore Governments 'and paid to them at least once in every year, in the proportion of 60 per cent to the Singapore Government and 40 per cent to the Federal Government'; and '60 per cent of income tax collected in the States of Malaya but attributable to income derived from Singapore shall be paid to the Singapore Government'. 103 The Malaysia Agreement, however, also provided that the Singapore Government should make available to the Federal Government two 15-year loans totalling \$150 million 'to assist development in the Borneo territories', 104

## Northern Borneo and Malaysia

Tunku Abdul Rahman's Malaysia proposal in May 1961 was initially opposed by leaders in Sarawak. Brunei and Sabah. One main reason was that the three territories had long been conditioned into thinking that their common colonial rulers, the British, would eventually lead them to sovereignty and independence. The failure of the Bornean federation proposals of the 1950s was itself evidence that Sarawak, Brunei and Sabah were each inclined to hope and work for their own separate independence, even if the ideal of nationhood might take until the year 2000 or longer to achieve. Because of this frame of mind, the announcement of the Malaysia proposal not only took the leaders of the three territories by surprise but also elicited strong reactions against the proposal from some of them. A number of them formed a United Front; and the main personalities involved, A. M. Azahari of Brunei, Ong Kee Hui of Sarawak, and Donald A. Stephens of Sabah, declared on 9 July 1961 that 'any plan in accordance with the pronouncements made by Tengku Abdul Rahman ... would be totally unacceptable to the people of the three territories'.105

Soon after his speech in May 1961, Tunku Abdul Rahman had paid a familiarization visit to Brunei and Sarawak in the course of which he endeavoured to explain the Malaysia proposal. It was not an easy task, however, to project such a federation proposal to people who, as we

have seen, were still relatively unschooled in the art of party politics and lacking in nationalist fervour.

As we have also seen, the local leaders of the Borneo territories were in such a handicapped position that the first overt moves vis-a-vis the Malaysia proposal were taken by the colonial authorities themselves. In June 1961 the British leaders of northern Borneo-Governor Sir Alexander Waddell of Sarawak, High Commissioner to Brunei D. C. White, and Governor Sir William Goode of Sabah-were summoned by Britain's Commissioner-General for Southeast Asia, Lord Selkirk; and after two days of takks in Singapore they suggested 'that the Borneo territories should bind themselves closer together before joining the Malaysia confederation'. Wen Beritish Prine Minister, Harold Macmillan, had stated a week earlier that he had observed with interest the Tunku's Malaysia propoul. He added, 'Tunku Abdul Rahman's starement solerady stimulating discussion in these countries, and the Government will with to take their reactions into account in their consideration of the suggestion'.<sup>167</sup>

The British Government might indeed have been involved in suggesting the Malaysia proposal as a more amenable alternative to direct Malaya-Singapore merger. Implying that he had discussed the proposal with the Malayan Prime Minister, Malcolm MacDonald once said, Tunku Abdul Rahman called me, months before his 27 May 1961 speech in Singapore'.108 The usually well-regarded if conservative London Times put Britain's stakes in the Malaysia region in proper perspective when it concluded, 'British strategic interest in the area is shared by Australia and New Zealand and some common policy will have to be evolved. If strategic needs can be satisfied there should be no further political objection from Britain'. 109 A contemporary writer affirmed, Because of the obvious advantages accruing to Great Britain from the Malaysian Federation, the opponents of Malaysia charge that the idea originated with the British'. 110 Indeed, as the formation of Malaysia proceeded, left-wing opponents of the proposal in the region charged that Malaysia represented 'a sinister conspiracy on the part of the British and Malayan Governments which will enable Britain to protect her military and economic interests and Malaya to crush socialism in the area and make second-class citizens of the Chinese',111

A series of developments ensured the continuance of attention to the Malaysia plan in northern Borneo. The leaders in the area took their political uest largely from their British rulers, at least initially but, for the reasons stated above, their British rulers, appeared to be increasingly favourable to the formation of Malaysia. British officials gave the impression that although the prior establishment of a Bornean federation

#### FROM MALAYA TO MALAYSIA

comprising the three territories was not to be completely ruled out, the Malayia proposal was a constructive one and that the crucial factor was proper timing in forming the larger federation. "The quicker you try to do it, the more difficult it would be for the Borneo territories because they feel they lag behind Singapore and the Federation politically."<sup>112</sup> The United Front leaders themselves were aware of and perturbed by the political handicaps of their territories. It was for this reason that they implored:

We believe that it is vitally important that the constitutional advance in the three territories should be speeded up and with this in view elections should be held in the territories, where an understaing has been given by the Governments concerned so that the legitimate apirations of the people for political advancement can be statisfied.<sup>113</sup>

Britain for her part had become resigned to the realities of the situation: Malaya had achieved independence, Singapore had been increasingly resolute in its demand for self-rule, and the northern Borneo territories would be following the same path to political emancipation either of their own volition or with the aid and moral support of friendly neighbours. The British also scern to have decided that the parting with the Borneo territories should be on good terms so as to avoid 'endangering their stand on self-determination in Africa and elsewhere in the world.<sup>114</sup> It appeared that colonial rule was inevitably coming to an end in northern Borneo, at any rate in Sarawak and Sabah.

In July 1961 the British authorities arranged for local Sarawak and Sabah leaders to be present at the Commonwealth Parliamentary Association (CPA) conference in Singapore. Both Malaya and Singapore were represented and both very much wanted to realize Malaysia; but it was Lee Kuan Yew, who appeared to be at the apex of his political agility in the early 1960s, who really worked hard to establish rapport with the mostly suspicious Borneo leaders: 'I would suggest that at the conference you speak your minds frankly. Let us know what are the things that you feel have to be safeguarded. Let us know how they can be done and when'.115 The Borneo leaders did begin to speak their minds on the Malaysia proposal, while Malaya and Singapore lent their willing ears. The CPA conference decided to set up a Malaysia Solidarity Consultative Committee (MSCC), which comprised delegations from Malaya, Singapore and the three Borneo territories, to continue discussions on the Malaysia proposal as well as to identify the matters regarding which the Borneans wanted safeguards. (Brunei was not represented at the first meeting, and sent only observers to the remaining three meetings of the MSCC.)

### NATION-BUILDING IN MALAYSIA

In view of what subsequently developed, the MSCC can be considered as a path-finding body in the formation of Malaysia. It was not a mere coincidence that Donald Stephens, the most vocal Borneo leader at the time, was chosen to be chairman of the MSCC. By entrusting him with that important job, the Malayana and Singaporean ensured that the representatives from the Borneo territories would feel that they were playing major roles in discussing the Malayan aplan from the beginning. The MSCC held four fruitful meetings, the first in Jeselton, the second in Kuching, the third in Kuala Lumpur and the fourth in Singapore.

While the Borneans were gaining in political understanding as the Malaysia proposal increasingly became a topic of conversation among the people in town and kampong, their leaders were gaining expertise in negotiations as they sat in conference with their Malayan and Singapore counterparts. It is evident that during the four meetings of the MSCC the pervading theme was that of nationhood; and it became increasingly clear that what the Borneo leaders wanted was no longer separate independence before joining Malaysia but rather acceptable conditions and safeguards regarding important aspects of social, economic and political life.

At the first MSCC meeting in Jesselton, the Malayan delegates told their Borneo counterparts, The facts of geography and economics further reinforce our growing mitmacy in our joint effort in many practical fields such as administration, education, technical assistance, the law and exchange of experts and training programmes in various fields.<sup>116</sup> At the second MSCC meeting in Kuching the Malayan delegation reinforced the case for nationhood by reiterating that the Malaysia region shared a common cultural heritage. Inits forged in history, common economic factors, common threats to security and consequently the need for similar defence thinking, administrative and judicial services produced out of the same mould and for decades a common currency.<sup>117</sup>

The peruasive approach of the Malayans and Singaporeans soon convinced an increasing number of Borneo leaders that the Malayais proposal was constructive and advantageous to the future of their territories. Recalling the beginning of favourable Borneo response to Malayaia, Datuk Ong Kee Hui stated many years later:

At the Commonwealth Parliamentary Association conference in Singapore in July 1961, the Borneo leaders (no Britishers were presen)) met Lee Kuan Yew who was the greatest supporter of the Malayia idea. Lee Kuan Yew used all his power of persuasion to try to convince the Borneo leaders to support the Tengku's proposal. He said that the Birnsh were made up in their minds to give up Singapore and the Borneo territories. If the Borneans idd not unite with

Malaya and Singapore, then it would be 'everyone for himself' and the chances of political survival would be almost nil.118

Donald Stephens had initially warned, 'If we join Malaya, the people who will come and take most of the top jobs will be from Malaya',119 But soon after the United Front declaration. Tunku Abdul Rahman sent invitations to Borneo leaders to go to Kuala Lumpur to exchange views. Donald Stephens did not even bother to communicate with his United Front colleagues and flew to Kuala Lumpur'. 120 However, as late as August 1961 Stephens could say, 'My people feel that if North Borneo joins Malaya now as a state, it would in fact mean that North Borneo would become not a state but a colony of the Federation of Malaya',121 Yet by the time the fourth meeting of the MSCC took place in Singapore in February 1962, the delegations from the five areas had 'reached common ground on the broad constitutional and political issues, like a strong effective Central Government in charge of defence, external affairs and internal security, and on details such as control of migration, religion, education, national language, and other safeguards for local interests'.122 In fine, the Malaysia proposal had come to embody the major institutional aspects of nation-building.

That Britain supported the formation of Malaysia became very evident when the Sarawak and Sabah Governments each published a white paper in January 1962 urging the peoples of the two territories to support the Malaysia proposal.123 To adhere to well-known British practice in granting self-rule to dependencies, it was decided to set up a commission of enquiry on Malaysia 'to ascertain the views of the peoples of North Borneo and Sarawak on this question; and, in the light of their assessment of these views, to make recommendations'. The Commission comprised Lord Cobbold (chairman), Sir Anthony Abell and Sir David Watherston, who were nominated by the British Government; and Dato Wong Pow Nee and Muhammad Ghazali Shafie, who were nominated by the Federation of Malaya.124 The Commission undertook its tasks from 19 February to 17 April 1962. It held 50 hearings at 35 different centres (20 in Sarawak and 15 in Sabah). Over 4,000 persons appeared before the Commission in some 690 groups which varied in size from one to fifty. The Commission received nearly 600 letters and memoranda in Sabah and over 1,600 in Sarawak.125 In giving its assessment the Commission concluded

About one-third of the population in each territory strongly favours early realisation of Malaysia without too much concern about terms and conditions. Another third, many of them favourable to the Malaysia project, ask, with varying degrees of emphasis, for conditions and safeguards varying in nature and extent... The remaining third is divided between those who insist on independence before Malaysia is considered and those who would strongly prefer to see British rule continue for some years to come.<sup>126</sup>

The Cobbold Commission made recommendations on matters similar to those already discussed and agreed upon by the MSCC. These included issues such as representation in the federal parliament, the apecial position of the indigenous communities, development, the judiciary, the head of state, the public services, the federal constitution, finance, turifis and trade, education, and regionalization of federal services.<sup>127</sup> The Commission urged that these be dealt with in detail by a Working Party. The chairman of the Commission made one very pertinent observation:

It is a necessary condition that, from the outset, Malayia should be regarded by all concerned as an association of partners, combining in the common interest to create a new ation but retraining their own individualities. If any idea were to take root that Malayaia would involve a 'take-over' of the Bonneo territorine by the Federation of Malaya and the submersion of the individualities of North Bonneo and Sarawak, Malayaia would not, in my judgment, be generally acceptable on succenful.<sup>124</sup>

This observation served to allay the fears of the Borneo leaders that Malaysia might'come about by a process of large units like the Federation of Malaya taking in smaller units', or that it might mean the Borneo territories 'being buildozed' into the proposed federation.<sup>129</sup>

The recommendation to have a Working Party was taken up when an Inter-Governmental Committee (IGC) was formed consisting of members from Britsin, Malaya, Sarawak and Sabah. The IGC divided into constitutional, fiscal, legal and judicial, public service and departmental organization sub-committees which met variously between August and December 1962.<sup>136</sup> The IGC Report contained the framework of Malaysia as a nation. In so far as Sarawak and Sabah had indicated their wish to be parts of Malaysis. the IGC Report embodied the conditions and safeguards which the two territories wanted before they gave their final consent. Many of the constitutional appects of statehood that were worked out by the IGC were based on the 1957 Federation of Malays Constitution and Malayan experience in nation-building.

Briefly, in Malaysia Islam was to be the religion of the Federation. There were to be constitutional guarantees for religious freedom. Immigration would remain a federal subject but, with certain exceptions, entry into the Borneo states would require the approval of the state concerned. This legislation could not be amended or repealed in its application to a Borneo state without the agreement of the state concerned. Education was a federal subject, but the existing policy and system of educational administration in Sarawak and Sabah remained under the control of each state government until it otherwise agreed.<sup>131</sup>

Any citizen of the United Kingdom and her Colonies who was born, naturalized or registered in Sarawak or Sabah and ordinarily resident there when Malaysia came into existence, became a citizen by operation of law. Any other person over the age of seventeen years and ordinarily resident in the Borneo territories was entitled to apply for Malaysian citizenship by registration within eight years of Malaysian citizenship by registration within eight years of Malaysia Day, subject to certain qualifications including residence for seven out of the previots ten years. An applicant for citizenship by registration had to pas a Malay language test, and was required to take the citizenship oath as prescribed in the existing Federal Constitution.<sup>132</sup>

Two members of the Dewan Negara (Senate) of the Parliament of Malaysia would be elected by each Borneo legislature, while isis other Senators would be appointed by the Yang di-Pertuan Agong from the two Borneo states of Sarawak and Sabah. The existing Dewan Rakyat (House of Representatives) was enlarged from 104 to 159. Of the new MP3, 16 were to be elected from Sabah, and 24 from Sarawak. The remaining 15 were to come from Singapore. In Sarawak the Head of State was styled Governor; in Sabah he was Yang di-Pertuan Negara. The Sarawak executive council was named Supreme Council and the legislative assembly Council Negri as both bodies had been during the modifications, were based on the distribution of legislative powers under the Federation of Malaya Constitution.<sup>133</sup>

With certain exceptions, taxation remained a federal matter. Taxes in Sarawak and Sabah would be gradually raised to federal level. Some revenues additional to those already assigned to the state in the existing Federation of Malaya, such as certain duties on petroleum products timber and minerals, revenue from state alse states and port dues, were assigned to the Borneo states. In Sabah, for as long as the state retained responsibility for medicine and health, go per cent of all other customs revenue was assigned to it. The Federation Government would use its best endeavours to enable Sarawak to secure and disburne M§300 million diving the first five years after Malayia Day for captial expenditure on development. The Federation Government also noted an estimate of desirable development expenditure in Sabah of M\$300 million for the same period after Malayia Day, and recognized that funds from outside the territory would be required. Britain promised a grant of  $f_1.5$  million prive years for the development of the Borneo states.<sup>134</sup>

Members of the Parliament of Malaysia from Sarawak and Sabah were initially elected by the state legislative assemblies. Direct elections to

#### NATION-BUILDING IN MALAYSIA

Parliament and the Borneo stare legislatures would be held with the first general elections after the fifth anniversary of Malaysia Day or earlier if the state government agreed. Elections would be the responsibility of the Federal Election Commission which would be enlarged with an additional member from the Borneo states.<sup>136</sup>

In addition to the Supreme Court of Malaysia, which was to be known as the Federal Court, there were to be three High Courts for the states of the existing Federation, for Singapore, and for the Borneo states. The Federal Court determined disputes between the states or a state and the Federal Court determined disputes between the states or a state and the Federation and certain constitutional questions, as well as appeals from the three High Courts, while the latter determined appeals from inferior courts in the states. Native law and custom and native courts remained a state matter.<sup>136</sup>

Separate Public Service Commissions were to be established in each Borneo state. The Federal Public Service Commission would establish, for at least five years, branches in Sarawak and Sabh, and members of the State Public Service Commissions were to serve on the Federal Public Service Commission's state branches. Malay was the national language, but for a period of ten years after Malaysia Day and thereafter until the state legulatures of Sarawak and Sabha otherwise provided, English would remain an official language. Significantly, the provisions in the Federation of Malaya Constitution relating to Malays were made applicable to the indigenous peoples of the Borneo states as if they were Malays.<sup>137</sup>

The IGC Report satisfied Borneo demands for conditions and safeguards to a large extent. It met most of the "Twenty Points" which Sabh leaders and their Sarawak counterparts wanted from the Federation Government if the two territories were to become parts of Malaysi.<sup>136</sup> The provisions for social and economic aid to the Borneo tates were very substantial. It may also be supposed that the Borneo leaders came to favour Malayas because, upon reflection, it could be seen that the Jan did not in any serious manner threaten their ambitions to become or remain pre-eminent in their states if they joined Malaysia. After all, Sarawak and Sabah were each provided with a state cabinet complete with a Chief Minister and a complement of other state Minister.<sup>139</sup> Leaders of Sarawak and Sabah could, and did, enthusiastically aspire to hese high, influential and offen lucarity positions after Malaysia Day.

Before the Malaysis proposal was made in May 1961 there were three political parties in Sarawak (the Sarawak United People's Party (SUPP), the Party Negara Sarawak (PANAS), and the Sarawak National Party (SNAP), Azahari y Partai Rakyat existed in Brunei; and there was none in Sabah. Atked why he did not form a political party, Donald Stephens

replied only months before the Malaysia plan was propounded, 'I want to learn from the mistakes of SUPP and PANAS first'.<sup>140</sup> At that time the two Sarawak parties were engaged in furious conflict with each other and political mud-singing.

The Malaysia proposal, besides triggering decolonization, greatly accelerated the development of party politics in northern Borneo. By the first half of 1962 five political parties had been formed in previously apolitical Sabah. The United National Kadazan Organization (UNKO), led by Donald Stephens, was formed in August 1961. As the name implies, its majority support came from the Kadazans of the West Coast and Interior Residencies. Soon after its formation the UNKO decided to support the Malaysia proposal. The United Sabah National Organization (USNO) appeared next in December 1961 and was led by Datu Mustapha bin Datu Harun. It commanded support largely from the Muslim groups, and like the UNKO it soon decided to support the Malaysia plan with some reservations. In 1962 several parties emerged, Among these was the United National Pasok Momogun Organization (Pasok Momogun) which wanted self-government before Sabah joined Malaysia and gained support from the interior indigenous people. (It merged with the UNKO in June 1964 to form the United Pasok Momogun Kadazan Organization (UPKO).) The Chinese of Sabah formed the Democratic Party and the United Party (which, after merging and undergoing two changes of name, finally became the Sabah Chinese Association (SCA) in May 1965141). The Chinese parties at first opposed Malaysia but, like all the political parties of Sabah of the period. they soon decided to support the proposal on condition that certain safeguards were agreed upon.

In addition to the mainly Chinese-supported SUPP which was imagurated in June 1959, the largely Malay PANAS which was brought into being in April 1960, and SNAP which began as a predominantly Dayak-based party in April 1961, new parties emerged in Sarawak in the wake of the Malayia Plan. The Barisan Raayat Jati Sarawak (BARJASA) was formed in December 1961 with Malay and Muslim Melanu support. The conservative well-to-do Chinese led the formation of the Sarawak Chinese Association (SCA) in July 1962; and in August 1962 the Party Peaka Anak Sarawak (Peaka) came into being with the principal support of Ibans and other Dayaks in the Third Division. With the exception of the SUPP, which argued for Sarawak independence first, all these parties in time decided to support the Malaysia proposal. It may be mentioned, however, that while all the parties in Sabah formed a pro-Malaysia grand coalition, the Sabah Alliance, in August 1962, the parties in Sarawak confly succeed on establishing a similar coalition, the Sarawak Alliance, in January 1963. The SUPP remained on the opposition side until 1970.<sup>142</sup>

Thus the Malaysia proposal engendered the development of political thinking in northern Borneo. The formation of the parties allowed the articulation of political preferences and enabled the leaders of the Borneo territories and their counterparts from Malaya and Singapore to identify and give adequate consideration to the major problems which had to be solved or taken into account in the course of establishing the new nation. Concurrently with the spread of political awareness, the Malaysia proposal fostered the development of nationalist consciousness in northern Borneo. The idea of belonging to an independent nation, a central and essential feature of the Malaysia proposal, gradually gained currency and accounted for the willingness of increasing numbers of people in Sarawak and Sabah to look favourably at and in the end to acceto that proposal.

The formation of Malaysia took twenty-eight months, from May 1961 to September 1963, and it was basically an enlargement of the Federation of Malays despite the reservations expressed earlier on this point. Although substantial state autonomy was accorded Singapore, and conditions and asfeguards were agreed upon to suisfy Bornean demands, the three new areas became additional states of fundamentally the same Federation, remamed Malaysia. The Malaysia Agreement provided for a series of adaptations of and additional provisions in the exitting 1937 Federation of Malays Constitution rather than the framing of an entirely new document. Thus the content of the Federal Constitution of Malaysia was to a great extent the same as that of the 1957 Federation of Malays

When Malaysia was inaugurated on 16 September 1963, Tunku Abdul Rahman's earlier wish scemed almost fulfilled: 'If the three Borneo territories are included in the Federation, it will become 14 states'.<sup>144</sup> With the inclusion of Singapore, there were indeed fourteen states, but one of the Borneo territories was missing, for Brunei had decided in the end to stay out of Malaysia.

### Brunei and Malaysia

In July 1961 Tunku Abdul Rahman and the Yang di-Pertuan Agong had attempted to persuade the Bruneians that the Sultanate and the Peninsula had much in common and that this warranted the closer union of the two areas. The Agong eloquently said:

We came to Brunei on a mission of friendship and goodwill, and we have found them waiting for us in abundance-the same nationality, the same culture and the same customs.... It is my earnest hope that the ties of friendship and goodwill in our hearts, ties which link our lands and peoples today as they have throughout recorded time, will endure as long as the sea which washes both our shores.<sup>145</sup>

But even at this early stage there were signs that Brunei was disinclined to accept the Malaysia proposal. A number of Malayan officers who were rained at Brunei Government expense and were serving in the Sultanate could not get along with their local colleagues. While Tunku Abdul Rahman attempted to resolve the 'officers affair', Azahari claimed 'the popel are angry with Malayan seconded officers who do not want to fit themselves into their environment'.<sup>146</sup> The issue hardly augured well for the fauture of Brunei-Malayan relations.

While Brunei sent observers to the Kuching, Kuala Lumpur and Singapore meetings of the MSCC, the Sultan of Brunei himself appointed a Commission early in 1962 to consider the Malaysia proposal: this consisted of the Menteri Besar as chairman, two Malays, one Chinese and one Iban. No report of the Commission was published, but those who gave evidence, 'among whom there would, no doubt, have been a large majority of members of the Partai Rakyat',147 preferred the unification of the Borneo territories to joining Malaysia. There were among the Bruneians those who harped on the past greatness of the Sultanate and wished to reunify Sarawak and Sabah, which were once parts of Brunei.148 Indeed it was partly for this reason that, while Brunei sent observers to the crucial meetings of the IGC, on 8 December 1062 Azahari and his cohorts in the Partai Rakyat staged a revolt; they managed to hold parts of Brunei Town and controlled Seria and Kuala Belait for a short while. From his comfortable hotel suite in Manila. Azahari declared, 'We want history to say it was our sweat and struggle and not Malaysia which gave Brunei independence'.149 With the assistance of British troops, however, the revolt was over within a week. The Partai Rakyat was also dissatisfied with the snail's pace of constitutional development in Brunei itself. The British Government, which controlled the Sultanate's relations and also had profound influence in its domestic affairs, had repeatedly advised the Sultan not to convene the State Legislative Council for fear that the Partai Rakvat might overcome the protected Brunei Government, 150

Åfter the 1962 revolt the Sultan evidently tried harder to assess the possibility of joining Malaysia. In February 1965 Dato Neil Lawson, the Sultan's legal adviser, said that any alternative to Bruncism joining the proposed federation was not only illusory but 'indeed fraught with danger to their political, social and economic development'.<sup>151</sup> The Sultan proceeded to lead a delegation to Kuala Lumpur for talks with the Federation Government the following month, and intimated that except for a few minor issues Brunei was ready to be part of Malaysia. The Sultan also led a delegation to London where he joined others from Sabah, Sarawak, Singapore and Malaya for concluding discussions on the proposed federation. But when the Malaysia Agreement was being signed by all the other heads of delegations on 9 July 169 the Sultan decided that Brunei should remain outside Walaysia.

Several reasons accounted for Brunei's decision. First, neither the public nor the personal relations between Brunei and Kuala Lumpur leaders improved or grew cordial after the visit of the Yang di-Pertuan Agong and Tunku Abdul Rahman in July 1961. In fact many of the Malayan officers serving in Brunei asked to return to Malaya soon after that visit.152 It was unfortunate that as negotiations between the Sultan and his officers and the Malayan leaders went on, problems of protocol tended to obstruct the growth of cordial relations. When it appeared that Brunei was within an ace of becoming a part of Malaysia in April 1963, an unintentional but to some extent culpable slip soured relations between the two sides. This concerned a letter which the Malayan Cabinet was to have written confirming the agreed terms of Brunei's entry into Malaysia. Tunku Abdul Rahman stated at a press conference that the letter had been sent. The Brunei delegates waited for two days at their Istana (palace) in Kuala Lumpur, but the letter did not come. The Brunei delegation thereupon called a press conference and stated that no letter had been received. The Malayan side ruefully complained, 'Why are they doing this to us?' The Tunku and others subsequently went to see the Sultan of Brunei and his delegation off at the Kuala Lumpur Airport. but the Malayan Prime Minister did not get the opportunity of handing a letter he had with him to the Sultan, 153

Another major reason for Brunei's decision to stay out of Malaysia was the settlement of the Sultanate's rich oil revenue. The negotiations on the matter narrowed down to the question of control of the revenue in Malaysia. The Malayan leaders, who were destined to become the federal leaders of Malaysia, wanted Brunei to have control over the oil only for the first ten years after Malaysia Day; thereafter the Federal Government would take over jurisdiction. But Brunei stipulated that it must have control of its oil wealth in perpetuity within Malaysia.<sup>154</sup> The Sultan's legal adviser subsequently explained:

On the conomic side, it was not only a question of who would have jurisdiction over the petroleum but also of who would exercise power over land where new of liedds might well be found in the future. Although land had been as take matter in the existing Federation of Malaya, Sarawak and Sabah, a contitutional amendment had enabled the Federation Government to take over control of rin mining and production. There was a suspicion that the same might eventually happen to the oil industry of Brunei in Malaysia.<sup>155</sup>

Thus the same major factor which rendered the Bornean federation proposals of the 1950s unworkable had appeared again in bold relief. So long as the Brunei oil fields remained productive and the revenue derived from them proved adequate to sustain the protected state, there appeared to be little prospect of the Sultanate wanting to achieve nationhood through merger or union with any of its neighbours.

The other consequential reason why Brunei opted out of Malaysia had to do with the system of rotating monarchy and the Conference of Bulers which were retained in the Malavsian Constitution,156 Unlike the Governor of Sarawak and the Yang di-Pertua Negara of Sabah, the Sultan of Brunei was made eligible for election as the Yang di-Pertuan Agong of Malaysia. This raised the question of his position in relation to the nine Malay Rulers of the Peninsula. Among them, precedence and seniority were determined by the lengths of their reigns on their respective state thrones. This criterion accordingly affected the order in which they expected to succeed to the office of Yang di-Pertuan Agong. Now Brunei was one of the few surviving Sultanates of the Malay world that had existed for centuries and was much older than most of the states of the Malav Rulers of the Peninsula. The Sultan of Brunei never said anything in public about his position but it may be supposed that, proud of the long history and traditions of his state, he expected to become the next Agong when the incumbent-who visited Brunei in July 1961-had completed his term of five years in September 1965. Unfortunately, it was reported that he was offered the position of the most junior candidate to the office of Agong and the Brunei Ruler found this unacceptable 157

Despite this, it has been said that 'The Sultan was not really interested in becoming the Yang di-Pertuan Agong. The main reason why Brunei stayed outside Malaysia was financial. In ten years' time Brunei would have lost its oil riches to the Federal Government.<sup>138</sup> Thus Brunei chose to remain a protected state under Britain.

Malaya, Singapore, Sabah and Sarawak, on the other hand, had announced, by December 1962, their agreement to form Malaysia on 31 August 1963. But opposition from Indonesia and the Philippines to the proposed federation forced Malaya to accept, in early August, the proposal of the other two countries that the Secretary-General of the United Nations or his representative be asked to head an international commission to ascertain whether the elections which had recently been held in Sarawak and North Borneo accurately indicated the wishes of the majority of the population in those two territories to enter Malaysia.

The nine-member neutral nation UN Commission conducted its

survey in Sabah and Sarawak from 16 August to 5 September. U Thant's report, based on the findings of the mission, was released on 14 September. It confirmed that a sizeable majority of the people of both the territories wished to join in the Federation of Malaysia which, accordingly, was proclaimed on 16 September 1963, an independent and sovereign democratic State founded upon liberty and justice, ever seeking to defend and uphold peace and harmony among its peoples and to perpetuate peace among nations.<sup>1359</sup> But, because Malayais inauguration was initially set for 31 August 1963, it is '31 August' which is officially recognized as the aniversary of the birth of Malayaia.

1. See C. N. Parkinson, Britain in the Far East: The Singapore Naval Base, Singapore, 1955; S. Rose, Britain and South-East Asia, London, 1962.

2. See M. H. Baker, Sabah: The First Ten Years as a Colony, 1946-1956, Singapore, 1965, p. iv.

3. Colony of North Borneo, The Laws of North Borneo in Force on the 30th June 1953, London, 1934, Vol. 6, pp. 49-52; and Annual Report on North Borneo for the Year 1947, London, 1948, p. 48.

4. Jesselton (which was renamed Kota Kinabalu on 22 December 1967) became the post-war capital of Sabah. The first capital was Kudat (1881-4) and the second was Sandakan (1884-1941).

5. Colony of North Borneo, Annual Report 1954, Jesselton, 1955, p. 142.

6. Colony of North Borneo, Annual Report 1956, London, 1957, p. 1.

7. Colonial Office to Rajah Vyner Brooke, 19 June 1944. Reproduced in [Anthony Brooke]. The Facts About Sarawak (hereinafter referred to as FAS), London, 1946, pp. 61-6.

8. Rajah Vyner Brooke to Stanley, 3 August 1944, FAS, p. 67.

9. Rajah Muda Anthony Brooke to Stanley, 28 February 1945, FAS, p.68.

to. Government of Sarawak, The Sarawak Government Gazette, Government Press, Kuching, 24 September 1941, p. 616.

11. Rajah Vyner Brooke to Stanley, 3 August 1944, FAS, p. 67. Emphasis added.

12. Stanley to Rajah Vyner Brooke, 17 July 1945, FAS, p. 70.

13. FAS. p.7.

14. Great Britain, Hansard (House of Commons), 6 February 1946. Reproduced in FAS, p. 45.

15. FAS. p. 49.

16. R. H. W. Reece, The Name of Brooke: The End of White Rajak Rule in Sarawak, Kuala Lumpur, 1982, p. 216. See also Sanawak Gazerne, a September 1964. Datuk Sockälingan, a former Speaker of the Council Negri, istated that those Native Council. Negri members who voted for the cession were offered money'. Interview by the present writer, Kuching, November 1971.

17. Reece, op. cit., p. 236.

18. Secretary of State for the Colonies George Hall in a reply in Parliament. Great Britain, Hansard (House of Commons), 27 March 1946. Also in FAS, p. 51.

19. R. Payne, The White Rajahs of Sarawak, London, 1960, p. 182.

20. Interview with Datuk Benedict Sandin, an Iban specialist on local history, an active member of the DAS and also Government Ethonologist and Curator of the well-known Sarawak Museum and Archives until his retirement in October 1973; Kuching, November 1971.

21. Sarawak Tribune, 20 December 1946.

22. Sarawak Tribune, 15 January 1947.

23. Sarawak Tribune, 20 January 1946. See also Reece, op. cit., p. 276.

24. Hall to Bertram Brooke, 26 July 1946, FAS, p. 107.

25. See John M. Chin, The Sarawak Chinese, Oxford University Press, 1981, pp. 102-3. See also Reece, op. cit., p. 237.

16. Government of Sarawak, The Danger Within: A History of the Clandenine Community Organization in Sanawak, Kuching, 1963, p. 4. The account of the CCO given here is based minly on this source: See also M. B. Leigh, The Chicare Community of Sawarde: A'Shady of Command Relations, Singapore, 1964, p. 42 and Chin, op. cit., pp. 111, 110, 122, 126 and 127.

27. See Annual Report on North Bornes for the Year 1945, London, 1949; and Colony of Sarawak, Annual Report on Sarawak for the Year 1946, Kuching, 1949, for progress reports on conomic, social and welfare development in the two territories. See also Colony of Sarawak, Sarawak Annual Report, 1956, Kuching, 1957, p. 163.

28. Colony of Sarawak, Sarawak Annual Report, 1953, Kuching, 1954, p. 177.

29. I. Morrison, 'Local Self-Government in Sarawak', Pacific Affairs, 22, No. 2, June 1949, p. 181.

30. Colony of Sarawak, Sarawak Annual Report, 1958, Kuching, 1959, p. 163.

32. Colony of Sarawak, Sarawak Annual Report, 1960, Kuching, 1961, p. 216.

33. R. S. Milne, Government and Politics in Malaysia, Boston, 1967, p. 58.

34. Sarawak Annual Report, 1960, p. 217.

35. Colony of North Borneo, Annual Report on North Borneo for the Year 1950, Jesselton, 1951, p. 64.

36. Ibid., pp. 63-4.

37. Colony of North Borneo, North Borneo Annual Report, 1955, Jesselton, 1956, p. 144.

18. Colony of North Borneo, Annual Report, 1956, p. 163.

39. Colony of North Borneo, North Borneo Annual Report, 1961, Jesselton, 1962, p. 200.

 See R. O. Tilman, 'Elections in Sarawak', Asian Survey, J. No. 10, October 1963.
 See K. J. Ratmam and R. S. Milne, The Malayan Parliamentary Election of 1964. Singapore. 1967, pp. 205-111.

42. For the background of Malcolm MacDonald, see note 23 of Chapter 3, above.

43. See Sarawak Tribune, 23 April 1953.

44. Straits Times, 23 April 1953.

45. Brunei's subsequent decision not to join Malaysia is discussed below.

46. T. H. Silcock, Towards a Malayan Nation, Singapore, 1961, p. 18.

47. Sarawak Tribune, 24 July 1957.

48. Silcock, loc. cit.

49. Interview with the present writer, Kuching, November 1971.

50. Oil was discovered at Seria, Brunei, in 1939. The workable oil-field along the coastal belt 'gave added importance to the State and its revenue increased and Brunei became prosperous'. State of Brunei, Annual Report, 1958, Kuching, 1959, p. 200.

51. Sarawak Tribune, 18 February 1958.

52. Sarawak Annual Report, 1958, p. 1.

53. North Borneo News and Sabah Times, Jesselton, 12 and 13 April 1958.

54. Colony of North Borneo, North Borneo Annual Report, 1959, Jesselton, 1960, p.4.

55. Datu Mustapha bin Datu Harun, a well-known post-war Sabah leader, had little

formal education; he was a house-hosy to Chartered Company officers in the pre-war days and a member of the filipino guerralla movement against the Japanee during the Second World War, Nonmated a member of the Stabia Legalizate: Conscilin 1053 and Becare a member of the Executive Conscilin 1054. Founder president of the United Stabia Nistonal Organization (USAO) formed in 1954, Took an active part in the formation of Malaysia, became folderal Minister of Stabia Maffairs and Ciroll Defence after relinquishing the post of Yang Di Pertrana Negara in Speember 1956, He was Chief Minister of Stabia from April 1969 until October 1973. He has not fully retired from politics but has chieved no success in ha attempt to regime his previous govision of gene-eminence.

s6. Donald Aloysius Stephens was a veteran journalist who organized the first Sabah English daily, The North Borneo News and Sabak Times, in 1953. Became unofficial member of the North Borneo Legislative and Executive Councils, initially opposed Malaysia but later agreed that it was in the best interests of Sabah. Organized and became founder president of the United National Kadazan Organizaton (UNKO) in 1961 and the United Pasok Momogun Kadazan Organizaton (UPKO) in 1964. A Eurasian of partly Kadazan descent who espoused the political aspirations of the Kadazans, Stephens became Chief Minister of Sabah upon its entry into Malaysia in September 1963 and held the post until he was appointed federal Minister of Sabah Affairs and Civil Defence in January 1965, a post he held until September 1965 when, having resigned, he was replaced by Datu Mustapha. With his party colleagues, he worked hard for the success of UPKO in the Sabah state election of April 1967 but in December the same year, disenchanted with political developments in Sabah, the leadership of UPKO decided to dissolve the party. Stephens returned to active politics as the president of Berjaya, a party formed in 1975 by some of the former members of USNO. Meanwhile he had been appointed Malaysia's High Commissioner to Australia in 1968. In January 1971, he embraced Islam and became Mohammed Fuad Stephens. Appointed Yang Di Pertua Negara of Sabah in August 1973. the same year he was conferred the title of "Tan Sri". In 1976 he was made a 'Tun' but he died in an air crash in June that year.

57. See B. Simandjuntak, Malayan Federalism, 1945-1963, Kuala Lumpur, 1969, p. 123.

58. S. Runciman, op. cit., p. 195.

59. Lord Ogmore (formerly D. R. Rees-Williams) in an interview with the present writer, London, April 1972.

60. D. Marshall, Singapore's Struggle for Nationhood, 1945-1959, Singapore, 1971, p. 5.

61. Yeo Kim Wah, Political Development in Singapore 1945-1955, Singapore, 1973, p. 48.

62. Interview with the present writer, Kuching, November 1971.

63. Federation of Malaya, Malayna in Brief, Kuala Lumpur, 1963, pp. 108-9; and Malayna, Kuala Lumpur, No. 2, April 1962, p. 6.

64. Dato Ong Yoke Lin, Malaysia at the United Nations, Kuala Lumpur, 1963, p. 10.

65. See I. Morrison, 'Aspects of the Raccal Problem in Malaya', Pacific Affair, 22, No. 3, September 1949, pp. 139-53; and F.G. Carnell, 'Communism and Communism in Malaya', Pacific Affair, 24, No. 2, June 1933, pp. 99-117.

66. Tunku Abdul Rahman 'Malaysia: Key Area in Southeast Asia', Foreign Affairs, 43, No. 4, July 1965, p. 661.

67. Simandjuntak, op. cit., p. 134. See also Mohammad Hatta, 'One Indonesian View of the Malaysia Issue', Asian Survey, 5, No. 3, March 1965, pp. 139-43.

68. Means, op. cit., p. 140.

69. P. Hsalim Senior, The Malyse Demonstit Unior: Singaport's First Demonstit Political Party, Singapore, 1971, pp. 12-13. Emphasis added. The boycost treferred to decisions to the Legaliative Council of Singapore in 1948. There were its elected east. Active participation in politiss them was confined to British subject. Only 22,093 voters registered out of a potential electronic of nearly 30,000 and 6 per cent cast their votes. Marhallo, pot., p. 3.  See Yeo Kim Wah, 'The Anti-Federation Movement in Malaya, 1946-48', JSEAS, 4.
 No. 1, March 1973, pp. 31-51; and Cheah Boon Kheng, 'The Malayan Democratic Union, 1945-1948' (M.A. Dissertation, University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, 1974).

71. T. E. Smith & J. Bastin, Malaysia, London, 1967, pp. 70-3; and V. Purcell, Malaysia, London, 1965, p. 11.

72. M. E. Osborne, Singapore and Malaysia, Ithaca, N.Y., 1964, p. 2.

73. See Colony of Singapore, Report of the Rendel Constitutional Commission (hereinafter referred to as Rendel Commission Report), Singapore, 1954.

74. Marshall, op. cit., p. 6.

75. Ibid., see also Yeo Kim Wah, Polinical Development in Singapore, 1945-1955, pp. 58-62; and F. G. Carnell, 'Constitutional Reform and Elections in Malaya', Pacific Affairs, 27, No. 3, September 1954, pp. 216-20.

76. Interview with the present writer, London, June 1972.

77. Dovid Marshall was horm in tood in Singapore. Educated in Singapore schools, guined LL B (London, external), and Barriter-sch-Jave Middia Temple. Advocate and solicitor in Singapore. Enlisted in 1038 and fought in Singapore Valence and sease the NDW by the Jpances in 1942. A founder of the Laboue Froms: Groups and was used no NDW sing the Jpance in 1942. A founder of the Laboue Froms: Groups and the single start in 1953 and Became Chief Minister I. Labut Trimmics and the constitutional future of Singapore. Resigned as Chief Minister in June 1950 became of dilute of talk. Semightering the Arroy of which be was precised using Joan Prindern of the Singapore. There are on the singapore level and the Tarry of which be was precised using Joan Prindern of the Singapore. The singapore and policinas, the has become, in creating same adjustrat.

78. Marshall, op. cit., p. 7. For the backgrounds and role of the main political parties in Singapore, see Yeo Kim Wah, *Political Development in Singapore*, 1945-1955, ch. 3.

79. Sin George Rendel: hteps for a two-party system for Singapore remained unfailled even mult like writing. The A April Systems for a system won in the following manner: Labour From-10; Progressive Party-el: People's in government way them formed formorating the Labour Fromt and the Alliance (which was the Singapore examines of the Malyan truyture Iallance).

80. Lim Yew Hock was a professional trade unionite who was nominated to the Sungpore Legislative Connelling 164, Played an acrose pairs in the Lakour far Jarv which was formed in the same year, and teamed up with David Marshall to form the Jarve 1940. Tops: Took over from Marshall when he respected the point of Chard Maining and Jarve 1940. Lim Yew Hock was Chard Mainster until Ler Kuar Yew and the PAP cance to power a Jance 1990. Thereafter the moved to Malayusa. He ded in 1940.

81. Yeo Kim Wah, Political Development in Singapore, 1945-1955, p. 115.

82. See Great Britain, Report of the Singapore Constitutional Conference held in London in March and April 1957, London, 1957.

83. The remaining seats were won by the following: Singapore People's Alliance (under Lim Yew Hock)-4; Alliance (UMNO-MCA)-3; and Independent-1.

44. Lee Kuan Yew was born in Singapore in 1923. Antended Raffles Institution, Singapore, radiationed In Jave (Jaced erine in honourn lind) from Cambridge in 1930 when he returned to Singapore and became increasingly snowled in politics. Actively involved in advising and defonding uzde unasinate in disputes and lingation. Founding member and screttary-general of the PAP unception in November 1934. Let due PAP oxytexpy in 1939 when he formed ha fans government and became Prime Minister of an internally self-governing Singapore. Convincingly argued of Singapore's integre with Mulaya, and brought the kland mto Mulaya in September 1963. Became Prime Minister of the undependent Republic of Singapore after the separation of the kland from Mulaya in structure. August 1965. Married Kwa Geok Choo, his Raffles College mate just before the Second World War and who studied with him at Cambridge until their return to Singapore where they married in September 1950. They have three children: Lee Hsien Loong. Lee Wei Ling and Lee Hsien Yang.

85. Pang Cheng Lian, Singepore's People's Action Party: Its History, Organization and Leadership, Kuala Lumpur, 1971, p. 1.

86. Ibid., and Yeo Kim Wah, Political Development in Singapore, 1945-1955, pp. 117-18.

87. Lee Kuan Yew, The Battle for Merger, Singapore, 1961, pp. 3-4. The Johor Causeway linking Singapore to Malaya was first opened to traffic in 1923.

88. Discussion with the late Wong Lin Ken, Professor of History, University of Singapore, Singapore, June 1974.

89. Lee Kuan Yew, op. cit., p. 5.

90. See Pang Cheng Lian, op. cit., pp. 11-13.

91. Means, op. cit., p. 141n; and Malayan Times, 21 June 1962. Duncan Sandys was Britain's Minister of State for Commonwealth Relations.

92. Singapore Free Press, 3 June 1961.

93. T. J. Bellows, The People's Action Party of Singapore: Emergence of a Dominant Party System, New Haven, 1970, pp. 41-7; and Pang Cheng Lian, op. 61, pp. 14-15.

94. Federation of Malaya, Joint Public Statement Issued by the British and Malayan Governments on 1 August 1062, Kuala Lumpur, 1062, para 1.

9: Obtome, Singapore and Malaysia, pp. 3-14. In addition, 25 per cent of the 634,000 registred electors at blank votes which were cound as a votes for the Government data is, for merger on the terms of the White paper. There were two other types of merger arrangement, each which, however, commandel leas than a per cent votes from the electorate; (a) a complete and unconditional merger as a state on a nequal basis with the offer elevent state is nacedual weith the constitutional document of the Federation of Malays; and (b) entry into Malaysia on terms no less frevorable than the terms for the Borreo territories. Sea labo Pang Cheng Lian, 90, cf., p. 16.

96. Singapore Fere Prat, 11 May 1961. S. Rajaratami was born in Ceyleon in 1915. Early elocations in Seremban and Victoria Intinution, Kuala Liunger. Went into journalism, was editor of Singapore Standard from 1930 to 1954 and was on the editorial staff of Sinaits Timer unal he reigned in 1939 to greych in full time to PAP politics. He was a founder member of the party. An MP in the Malayam Parilament until Singapore's separation in 1956. Over the years, he has held the portfolios of Minister for Culture, Labour, and Foreign Affairs in Singapore.

97. Malayan Times, 25 September 1962.

os. Ibid.

99. Great Britain, Malaysia: Agreement concluded between the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, the Federation of Malaya, North Borneo, Sarawak and Singapore (hereinafter referred to as Malaysia Agreement), London, 1963, Annex A, Article 9. 100. Ibid. Annex K.

101. Simandjuntak, op. cit., p. 139; and Government of Singapore, Memorandum Setting out Heads of Agreement for a Merger between the Federation of Malaya and Singapore, Singapore, 1061.

102. Malayia Agreement, Annes J, para 1(1). Like Penang and Singapore, Labun, off the outh-work coast of Sahah, had been an entrept/of for the greater part of his history increa. Britain acquired it from the Sahan of Branci and made it a Crown Colony in 146. See N. Truling. The Entreptor at Labun and the Channe' in J. Cher and N. Tarling (ch), Staffer for the Sahar of Branci and Gotterat. Afta, London, 1970, pp. 335–731; and K. G. Tregenning, Nerk Brene, London, 1970; ch. 11.

103. Malaysia Agreement, Annex J, para. 2(1) and (2); and 6(1) and (2). The Tariff Advisory Board was established only in July 1964.

104. Malaysia Agreement, Annex J. para. 9(a).

105. Smitt Timer, tojlaly tpošt. A. M. Arahari was a Brunei policial leader who had spent time in honosia, ktaking na netive pratin opoposiag Dach rule together with the ladoancian revolutionaries after 1945. Persident of Partai Rakyat Brunei which opposed the partricipation of the Sultanate in Malayita. Carrally analysis and the spectra of the state is and the state of the state is the state of the st

106. Singapore Free Press, 28 June 1961.

107. The Times, London, 21 June 1961.

108. Interview with the present writer, Kuching, November 1971.

109. The Times, 28 July 1961.

110. Means, op. cit., p. 141.

111. T. E. Smith, The Background to Malaysia, London, 1963, p. 27.

112. Sir William Goode in Straits Times, 29 June 1961.

113. Senita Timer, to July 1961. Brunch had been promiated elections by September 1961. These were eventually held the following year. Arahari's Partai Rakyat 'won all 55 constituencies in the 1964 local electrons, and consequently occupied the 16 unoficial sease in the 33-member Sate Legislative Council through the operation of the electoral college system. Simandjunka, op. cit., p. 151.

114. The Bulletin, Sydney, 25 November 1961. See also R. Emerson, From Empire to Nation, Cambridge, Mass., 1962, Pt. 4.

115. Straits Times, 22 July 1961.

116. Straits Times, 25 August 1961.

117. Straits Times, 19 December 1961.

118. Interview with the present writer, Kuala Lumpur, November 1973.

119. Straits Times, 19 July 1961.

120. Introview with Danik Ong Ker Hui, Kuki Lumpur, November 1973. In the course of option and tysic the Federation Government and Singapore invirted manaroux lacker from Stratwark and Stahub to undertake study toxes of the Perinnels and Singapore. Many of these visions were doublishabout Malayini, but subsequently became ardent supporters of due proposal. See J. P. Ongkili, The Borner Response to Malaysia, 1961–1961, Singapore, 1967, 64.

121. R. McKie, Malaysia in Focus, Sydney, 1963, p. 199.

122. Straits Times, 2 February 1962. See also 'Malaysia-An Economic Challenge', United Asia, Bombay, March 1962, pp. 175-6.

123. See Colony of Sarawak, Malaysia and Sarawak, Kuching, 1962; and Colony of North Borneo, North Borneo and Malaysia, Jesselton, 1962.

124. Colony of Sarawak, Report of the Commission of Enquiry, North Borneo and Sarawak, 1962 (hereinafter referred to as Cobbold Commission Report), Kuching, 1962, p. vi.

125. Ibid., paras. 5-8.

126. Ibid., para. 144.

#### NATION-BUILDING IN MALAYSIA

127. Ibid., para. 236.

128. Ibid., para. 237.

129. Straits Times, 25 and 26 August 1961.

130. Colony of North Borneo, Malaysia: Report of the Inter-Governmental Committee (hereinafter referred to as IGC Report), Jesselton, 1963, paras 4-8.

111. Ibid., paras, 15-17.

112. Ibid., para. 18.

133. Ibid., paras. 19-21. See also Ahmad Ibrahim, 'Malaysia as a Federation', Jernal Undang-Undang, Journal of Malaysian and Comparative Law, 1, Pt. 1, May 1974, pp. 1-27.

134. IGC Report, para. 24.

135. Ibid., para. 25.

136. Ibid., para. 26.

137. Ibid., paras. 27-9.

138. For the text of the Twenty Points', see J. P. Ongkili, Modernization in East Malaysia, 1960-1970, Kuala Lumpur, 1972, Appendix I. Sarawak leaders agreed that their demands for conditions and safeguards in joining Malaysia in general coincided with those contained in the Twenty Points'. Information obtained from interviews with Sarawak leaders.

139. See Malaysia Agreement, Annex B, ch. 2; and Annex C, ch. 2.

140. Discussion with the present writer, Jesselton, October 1960.

141. SCA Secretary-general to the present writer, 27 July 1966.

142. For a more comprehensive treatment of the political parties of Sarawak and Sabah, see Ongkili, Modernization in East Malaysia, 1960-1970, ch. 4.

143. Malaysia Agreement, Annex A. See also Malaysia, Malaysia Federal Constitution, Kuala Lumpur, 1964; and H. E. Groves, The Constitution of Malaysia, Singapore, 1964.

144. Straits Times, 5 July 1961.

145. Ibid.

146. Straits Times, 7 July 1961.

147. Smith, op. cit., p. 22.

148. See J. P. Ongkili, 'Pre-Western Brunes, Sarawak and Sabah', Sarawak Museum Journal, 20, Nos. 40-41 (New Serges), January-December 1972, pp. 1-20.

149. The Sunday Mail, Brisbane, 9 December 1962; and J. A. C. Mackie, 'Azahari's Young Men', Nation, Sydney, 12 January 1963, p.7.

150. See R. S. Milne, 'Malaysia: A New Federation in the Making', Asian Survey, No. 2, February 1963, p. 80.

151. Straits Times, 8 February 1963.

152. Straits Times, 7 July 1961.

153. Interview with a Brunei leader who asked to remain anonymous.

154. Straits Times, 8 June 1963.

155. Interview with lustice Neil Lawson, O.C., Lewes, England, June 1972.

156. Malaysia Agreement, Annex A, Clause 6.

157. Malapan Tanes, 17 Jane 1963. The Agong who visited Branei in July 1064 was the Raja of Perlas, Tanaku Syed Putra ibni Al-Marhum Syed Hasana Jamalulail, who was succeeded as Agong by the Sultan of Terreggann, Tuanku Ismail Nasundam Shah ibni Al-Marhum Sultan Zamal Abadim on 21 September 1965. See also Ongkili, 'Pre-Western Brunes, Sarawak and Sabah.'

158. Interview with Pehin Pengiran Abdul Momen, State Secretary of Brunei, Bandar Seri Begawan (Brunei Town), November 1971.

159. Malaysia, Proclamation of Malaysia, Kuala Lumpur, 1963. See also Means, op. cit., pp. 315-17.

180

# 6

# The Challenges to the Malaysian Concept

THE desire to form a bigger and, it was hoped, more viable nation led to the establishment of Malaysia in 1963. But crises arose almost immediately and in the following years which imposed a severe strain on the Malaysian political leadership and the nation as a whole. There were external threats in the form of the Indonesian Konfrontasi (Confrontation) and the Philippines' claim to Sabah1 but these two developments will not be dealt with here at any great length since the present study is primarily concerned with the internal process and problems of nation-building. These external threats were, nevertheless, significant in amplifying the strains within the society and Konfrontasi, in particular, brought to the surface the inherent communal tensions.2 There were two internal crises which emerged within less than ten years after the birth of Malaysia, namely, the 'Singapore Separation' and the 1969 racial riots. They were not unrelated events for both were continuations of the long-drawn conflict between Malays and Chinese. The Indians were not entirely uninvolved but because their number in Malaysia is relatively small, they tended to be overshadowed by the larger Chinese community.

# 'Malaysian Malaysia' and the Singapore Separation

It can be argued that the political ambition of Singapore leaders, particularly Lec Kuan Yeew, which unavoidably led to racial polarization, was mainly responsible for the separation of the island-state in 1965. Although Singapore wasa allotted 15 Dewan Ra\*ayat seats in the Malayaian Parliament, no Singapore leader was appointed to the Federal Cabinet throughout the 23 months during which the Island was a part of Malayaia. (In the same period there were several Bomean members of the Cabinet.<sup>3</sup>) It was clearly this exclusion from the highest echelon of national government which increasingly frustrated Lee Kuan Yew and his PAP colleagues and prompted them to assert themselves in an increasingly strident manner after Malaysia Day. The fact that Singapore, with a population of 1,730,000 people was allocated only 15 Dewan Ra'syat seats as against, for instance, Sarawak's 24 seats for no more than 800,000 people<sup>4</sup> served to insulate the rest of Malaysia from Singapore political influence.<sup>5</sup> From the beginning of Singapore's participation as a state in Malaysia, the PAP leaders resented these restrictions on their political.

The fact that the PAP Government virtually made a unilateral declaration of independence on 31 August 1963 instead of complying with the decision of the Malavan Parliament to proclaim Malaysia on 16 September 1063 presaged the subsequent deterioration of relations between the Singapore and the federal leaders.<sup>6</sup> On 31 August Lee Kuan Yew declared, 'Federal powers over defence and external affairs from today till September 16 [shall] be reposed in our Yang Di-pertuan Negara. We look upon ourselves as trustees for the Central Government of Malaysia in these fifteen days'.7 Singapore held a snap general election in September 1063, five days after Malaysia Day, and the PAP, which just two years before had lost 70 per cent of its members to the Barisan Sosialis, won 37 of the 51 Legislative Assembly seats. The Singapore Alliance Party which was openly supported by the mainland Malayan Alliance captured none and relations between Singapore and Kuala Lumpur headed for disaster.\* The Alliance was humiliated: the Tunku was 'shocked' 9

The Malayan Alliance leaders received more shocks when the PAP decided to extend its branches and field eleven candidates in the Malayan parliamentary elections of April 1964. There was, according to Malayan Alliance leaders, an understanding when Malaysia was formed that Singapore politicians would confine their party activities to Singapore. Tunku Abdul Rahman stated that it had been written in the Malaysia Agreement that Singapore 'should have representation in our Parliament and fit into the pattern by having her own administration machinery, and her own elections. The first sign of Singapore's attempt to have a hand in the affairs of Malaysia was in the last elections when the PAP contested some of the constituencies. That was quite contrary to what we agreed."10 Replying to this contention later, when Singapore-Kuala Lumpur relations had further deteriorated, Dr Toh Chin Chye, the chairman of the PAP, maintained: 'Charges have been made that the PAP has ambitions to capture power at the centre. Surely any political party, big or small, which is worth its salt and receives the support of the people,

must have such an objective if it is to put into practice its political ideals.<sup>11</sup> It should be noted that earlier, on 9 September 1965, Lee Kuan Yew himself had said that the PAP would not contest the 1964 Malayan elections. He declared, we want to show the MCA that even if the PAP keeps out of the elections on the mainland, the MCA will still lose.<sup>11</sup>2

It was clear that the political marriage between Malava and Singapore did not rest on a firm foundation, and even in the first few uncertain months the partners were increasingly not seeing eve to eve. Of the eleven PAP candidates nominated in the 1064 Malayan parliamentary elections, two did not campaign actively for their Johor constituencies because it turned out that the Alliance candidates there came from UMNO instead of the MCA which the PAP particularly wanted to see defeated in the elections; three others lost their deposits and only one, C. V. Devan Nair, won-largely by the votes of the Indians in the Bungsar constituency of Kuala Lumpur.13 The PAP made no bones about its wish to replace the MCA in the ruling Malayan Alliance. Lee Kuan Yew thought that the effective leadership which could sustain Malaysia was 'that of the Tengku and Tun Razak in UMNO' but the PAP secretary-general added, 'the Chinese leadership in the Alliance as represented by the Malayan Chinese Association is replaceable'.14 However it has been correctly pointed out, 'Though the PAP was anxious to co-operate with UMNO, the latter preferred to stand by its ally, the MCA.'15 At all events, although the PAP had not wanted to become an opposition to the Federal Government, as it considered that that 'would be to court disaster for the country', it was the case that from the moment of its startling defeat in the 1964 Malayan elections 'the PAP seemed to turn its efforts more and more clearly towards opposition to the Alliance and the Central Government, and to have given up the idea of joining and cooperating with the Tunku and his political entourage'. The ensuing battle clearly did 'court disaster for the country'.16

Tan Sikew Sin, the MCA president, alleged that Lee Kuan Yew had suggested to the Tunku that the PAP replace the MCA in the Singapore Alliance Party. Lee Kuan Yew replied that Malayan Alliance leaders themselves had suggested that the PAP establish a united front with the Singapore Alliance Party. <sup>3</sup>The PAP grew increasingly concomptious of MCA leaders. 'Lee reserved his harhest phrases for MCA leaders. In his most notorious attack, he described them as political exauchs. He called them greedy and inept and said they were expendable. No wonder those Malaysians who personally hated Lee most were to be found in the MCA boomeranged on the PAP. In the first place, it dismayed the UMNO leaders, who which to ensure the continued unity of the Malayan Alliance, and prompted them to rally behind the MCA against the PAP. Secondly, and more profoundly in terms of the realities of Malayaian politics, the confrontation between the MCA and the PAP from the 1964 elections until the separation of Singapore in 1965 belied the presumption that the Chinese in Malayaia would always act in concert against the Malays or other non-Chinese in the region.

In July 1964 racial riots took place in Singapore. The incidents were repeated in September. Lee Kuan Yew went on the radio to explain that there had been organization and planning behind the riots. He thereby implied the involvement of what he called the 'ultra Malays'. Among these was the UMNO Secretary-General Syed Jaafar Albar who, nine days prior to the July riots, 'arrived in Singapore to mount a campaign to secure for the Singapore Malays the special privileges which he felt they deserved'.19 Tunku Abdul Rahman subsequently explained that the Singapore Malays 'expected the Government to improve their lot but the State Government of Singapore made no provision for special treatment of one particular race or community. They, therefore, felt aggrieved. 20 Sober moments for reflection became increasingly scarce as both sides continued making charges and counter-charges. Eight months before separation took place, the Tunku, as if premonitorily, said 'If the politicians of various colours and tinges and flashes in Singapore disagree with me, the only solution is a break-away, but what a calamity that would be for Singapore and Malavsia'.21

In point of fact, if was increasingly obvious that the PAP withed to achieve control of the Federal Government. The most concrete manifestation of this wish was the promotion of the concept of 'Malaysian Malaysia', a political campaign for equality for all in Malaysia, irrespective of class, colour or creed. Spearheaded by the PAP, the movement gained momentum when five opposition parties in Malaysia met in Singapore on 9 May 1065 and formed the Malaysian Solidarity Convention (MSC). The five parties were almost entirely non-Malay and principally Chinese-supported: the PAP, the SUPP and MACHINDA, a tiny Multiracial group from Sarawak; and the United Democratic Party (UDP) and People's Progressive Party (PPP) from the states of Malaya. The MSC. Declaration proclaimed:

Support for the ideal of a Malaysian Malaysia means, in theory as well as in practice, educating and encouraging the various races in Malaysia to seek political affliation not on the basis of race and religion but on the basis of common political ideologies and common social and economic aspirations, which is the real basis of ensuming the emergence of a truly free prosperous and equitable national community.<sup>22</sup> The wish to gain control of the Federal Government became plain a fortnight after the formation of the MSC when Lee Kuan Yew stated that if it was 'necessary to have a Malaysian Malaysia through such a group of parties making an effort to win the majority of seats in Malaysia to form the Government, well so be it'. In fact he added, 'It has to be done'.<sup>23</sup>

'Malaysian Malaysia' and the MSC in effect challenged one of the most fundamental provisions of healaysia Agreement, namely the the special position of the Malaysia and the indigenous communities of northern Borneo would be upheld.<sup>34</sup> While Singapore had agreed to these provisions, by March 1965, Lee Kuan Yew could state during'a wellpublicized international tour, 'My charge is not that there are these special rights but that these special rights will not solve the problem. How does giving bus licences or licences to run bus companies to one or two hundred Malay families solve the problem of Malay poverty?<sup>35</sup> The MSC Declaration argued: 'The people of Malaysia idid not vote for a nondemocratic Malaysia. They did not vote for a Malaysia assuring hegemony to one community. Still less would they be prepared to fight for the preservation of som meaningles a Malaysia', <sup>36</sup>

Increasingly, the Malays were perturbed by the growing challenge emanating from the non-Malays, notably from the platform of the MSC. The influential *Unsam Malaya* declared in April 1965, 'The Malays must not think that non-Malays could help them. If the Malays igoin other partice, specially those that are led by non-Malays, the consequences will be very grave.'<sup>37</sup> Many Malays began to demand the arrest of Lee Kuan Yew. On 12 May 1965 a group of UMNO youths assembled outside the Kampung Datuk Keramat Community Hall in Kuala Lumpur to burn the effigy of the Singapore Prime Minister. Four days later *Unsam Zaman* poptred that the Malays had picketed the Dewan Bahasa dan Pustaka building in the federal capital with posters which *intra* dia read 'Suspend Bahasa dan Pustaka (Language and Literature Agency) had been the visible symbol and means of widening research on and usage of the national language, Malay.

A truce agreed upon by the Alliance and the PAP in September 1964, whereby all sides were to 'avoid sensitive issues' for two years had all but broken down."<sup>20</sup> By July 1965 *Ulusan Melayu* was reporting the repeated 'accusation that the People's Action Party was opposing the sovereignty of the Malay Rulers, Special Malay Rights, Ialam and the National Langueg<sup>-30</sup> Verily the Malayan leaders and their PAP counterparts were headed for an impase. 'Ultimately, both sides came to view the contest as a question of whether Singapore's or Malaya's approach to communal issues would become the pattern for all states in Malaysia. Or, to put it more bluntly, who was the genuine noncommunal leader-Tunku Abdul Rahman or Lee Kuan Yew'.<sup>31</sup>

But Tunku Abdul Rahman had altready made his decision. While convalescing in a London clinic in June 1965 he felt that if the PAP leaders persisted in challenging the federal leadenship, communal feelings would be exacerbated to the point of causing the disintegration of Malaysia. Returning to Malaysia, rather reticten but solemn, he passed through Singapore and proceeded to Kuala Lumpur on 5 August 1965. The next day Lee Kuan Yew, who was on his imunal breather 'with his family in the cool Cameron Highlands, received a trunk call from Dr Goh Keng Swee in Kuala Lumpur. Lee Kuan Yew rushed to the federal capital. The following day, 7 August, he met the Tunku and signed the separation agreement.<sup>34</sup> Lee Kuan Yew asked for a brief note from the Tunku for Dr Dic him Chey, the chairman of the PAP who, Lee said, would otherwise be unwilling to sign the separation agreement. The Tunku for Dr

I am writing to tell you that I have given the matter of our break with Singapore my utmost consideration and I find that in the interest of our friendship and the security and peace of Malaysia as a whole there is absolutely no other way out.

If I were strong enough and able to exercise complete control of the situation I might perhaps have delayed action, but I am not, and so while I am able to counsel tolerance and patience I think the amicable settlement of our differences in this way is the only possible way out.<sup>33</sup>

The Malaysian Parliament was hurriedly convened, and in his speech on Singapore's separation on 9 August 1965 the Tunku traced the origins of the conflict which led to the unfortunate break. He said that repressive measures could have been taken against the Singapore Government, but concluded:

I believe the second course of action which we are taking, that is the breakaway, is the best and the right one, sad as it may be. We are pledged to form Malaysia with Singapore but having given it at rial we found that if we perist in going on with it, in the long run there will be more trouble to Malaysia than what Singapore is worth to us. The separation will be made on the understanding that we shall cooperate closely on matters of defence, trade and commerce.<sup>44</sup>

On the same day, with all the Singapore leaders having withdrawn to their Island, Lee Kuan Yew proclaimed that 'Singapore shall be forever a sovereign democratic and independent nation, founded upon the principles of liberty and justice and ever seeking the welfare and happiness of her people in a more just and equal society'.<sup>35</sup> Singapore was out of Malaysia, twenty-sheree months after the inauguration of the new nation.

#### Bornean Reactions to the Separation

Reactions to Singapore's separation from Malaysia occurred in both Sarawak and Sabah. In Sarawak, the SUPP and MACHINDA called for a referendum to decide if the people of the state still wished to remain in Malaysia following the expulsion of an important sister state. Ong Kee Hui perhaps represented the feelings of many who were genuinely perturbed by the separation when he stated:

The Government seems to have little respect for the Constitution. There was no time to assess reaction and public opinion. The Government has made nonsense of parliamentary democracy. The SUPP has tred to make Malaysia work. Now that Singapore is out, what justification is there for it to continue?... What will be the position of the Borneo states if there should emerge governments there not so plable to Allance ways? The London treaty on the formation of Malaysia has been abrogated. Had the Borneo people no right to be consulted? A referendum should be held to establish the people's white.<sup>36</sup>

The federal leaders, however, did not take kindly to their actions being queried in this manner. The Tunku visited Kuching following the separation and warned about government opponents whom he described as communist sympathizers: 'Ilook upon all enemies of the State who try to overthrow the Government by force as Communists'.<sup>37</sup> I twas a rather oversimplified view, but the message was clear: because the SUPP was often charged with being infiltrated by communists and starwak, its criticism of the separation of Singapore could be taken as a pretext for accusing the Sarawak party of being an enemy of the state. The SUPP demand for a referendum filted out for lack of support.

In Sabah some poignant reactions were witnessed. The Sabah Alliance was in a commotion for a while as the UPKO leaders felt vehemently dissatisfied with 'the Federal Government's failure to consult Sabah and Sarawak over Singapore's expulsion from Malaysia and [there were] fears of Central Government rule at the expense of the greater local autonomy sought by Dato Stephens and his colleagues'.38 In view of the fact that Dato Donald Stephens was bound by collective responsibility as Minister of Sabah Affairs and Civil Defence in the Federal Cabinet, he offered to resign his presidency of UPKO. His party colleagues refused his proposal, explaining that the Dato was not to blame for the separation of Singapore. The outspoken UPKO leaders called for 'a re-examination of arrangements made in respect of Sabah's entry into Malaysia in view of Singapore's separation from the federation'. 39 The Sabah Alliance went so far as to appoint a ten-man committee to take up the UPKO demand for re-examination. However, the attempt to question the Federal Government on its alteration of the agreed basis of Malaysia rapidly lost appeal, as in Sarawak, when the Tunku also visited Sabah and soon afterwards Dato Stephens resigned his portfolio in the Federal Cabinet. As in Sarawak, reactions against the Singapore separation failed to command widespread support in Sabah.

The lack of support for the re-examination of the terms on which Sarawak and Sabah entered Malaysia consequent upon the separation of Singapore was largely due to the experiences of the Borneans since 1963. In the first place, many of the ruling Alliance leaders in Sarawak and Sabah had achieved their cherished ambitions to be at the helm of politics and government in their own states. Secondly, there was no opposition party to speak of in Sabah. JUKO being iself a member of the ruling Sabah Alliance;<sup>40</sup> while in Sarawak the SUPP had come under suspicion, since it took part in the MSC, of supporting the strident and uncompromising challenge to the basic foundations of Malaysia by the PAP. But no less important in determining Bornean attitudes were the threats to Malaysia which had come from beyond its borders.

While the Philippines under President Diosdado Macapagal had been pursuing its claim to a part of Sabha me fruising to recognize Malayaia until the issue was settled, Indonesia under President Soekarno and his foreign minister Dr Subandrio had stepped up their undeclared warkonfontait-against Malayais. From April 1046 Indonesia began sending 'volunteen' and 'irregular forces' to the border areas between northerm Borneo and Kalimantan. During the first half of 1964, as armed encountern became prevalent in these areas, diplomatic moves were initiated with Thailand acting as the mediator between Malaysia and Indonesia.

Little progress was made on the diplomatic front; confrontation continued and indeed reached a critical juncture when the Indonesians made sea and air landings at Pontian and Labis in Johor state in August and September 1964. Although these landings involved only about 140 Indonesians and although they failed, the two incidents bore some significance. It appears that the Indonesian Government organized the landings in the hope of creating communal discord in the states of Malaya. In the case of Pontian, which is less than forty miles from Singapore, the intention seemed to be to cause the Malays in the district to rally to the support of their 'oppressed Malay brothers' in predominantly Chinese Singapore. In Labis, which had been from the beginning a mainly Chinese area, it was hoped that the remnants of the communists who made it one of their strongholds during the Emergency would collaborate with the parachuted infiltrators among whom were ten Malaysian Chinese defectors, two of them girls: 'Apparently, the Indonesian aim was to set up a jungle camp deep in the forest reserve near the mountains and to use local Chinese defectors to recruit other dissidents who would help to stir up the embers of the earlier Communist insurrection'.<sup>41</sup>

That was, however, the beginning of the end of confrontation for the unfraitful landings to the gradual abatement of Indonesian intransigence towards Malaysia. Following the cowp était of 30 September 1965 the threat from Soekarno rapidly diminished. Yet, despite its failure for Indonesia, confrontation had nationalist significance for Malaysia. As a real threat to the viability of the new nation, confrontation demonstrated that even the 'fence-sitters' in Malaysia proved by and large unwilling to exchange their political rights for whatever was offered by the Soekarno regime. Most non-Malay Malaysians remained tacity loyal to their new nation.

In so far as the Philippine claim was concerned, from the beginning of sustrive local political attitudes in the early 1960s when the claim was also first vociferously put forward by President Macapagal, the leaders of Sabah not only rejected it but also sought the support of their Malayan and Singapore partners in Malayais to demonstrate that the Philippines had no case. The problem of secessionist Muslims in the southern Philippines had not yet arisen to complicate matters; but even later in the 1960s Datu Mustpha and the other Sabah leaders made it amply clear that they preferred nationhood within Malayia to membership of a Filipino community directed from and controlled by Manila.<sup>42</sup>

Both the Philippine claim and Indonesian confrontation were overt foreign acts of unfriendliness towards the people of Malaysia. Their overall impact was to solidify nationalist sentiments within the young federation. The leaders of Sabah consistently rejected the Philippine claim while the 1964 Malavan elections demonstrated strong support for the Federal Government in the face of Soekarno's confrontation. While British Commonwealth troops assisted in defending Malaysia against Indonesian onslaughts, the Malaysians themselves showed their awareness of nationhood in a patriotic, even xenophobic, manner. An example was the following statement made by Dato Donald Stephens: 'What the Sukarno Government wants to do is to drag us down to their level. They will only win if we, the people of Malaysia, are divided and if racism is allowed to rear its ugly head in Malaysia. As long as we are united, we need have no fear of confrontation or even an all out war."43 In Sarawak. nationalist awareness was not wanting. The Chief Minister, Dato Stephen Kalong Ningkan, explained, 'There is no point in Sabah and Sarawak leaving Malaysia. We benefit from Malaysia. We could not stand alone'.44 The Council Negri of Sarawak overwhelmingly passed a resolution to the effect: 'That the Council unreservedly support the Federation of Malaysia Government regarding its policy of resisting Indonesian

#### NATION-BUILDING IN MALAYSIA

aggression against Sarawak and of taking strong, positive action against the Clandestine Communist Organization and other subversive organisations in Sarawak which support Indonesians in their aggressive acts.<sup>44</sup> Indeed, Malaysia survived as a nation after the separation of Singapore to a considerable degree because the peoples of Sarawak and Sabah had begun to grow accustomed to being a part of the federation. They had helped to prevent the undoing of the nation by hostile foreign forces; and the totality of Malaysia had come to mean the policital anchorage of their nationalist fervour, hopes and aspirations. Singapore was gone; but it was not pre-ordained that Sarawak and Sabah must tread the same path to policital lonelines as the island city-rate was fated to follow.

## The Anatomy of Separation

The separation of Singapore took place because of a number of points of conflict between the Malayan and Singapore leaders. Both groups of leaders believed that there must be inter-communal cooperation in order to form a workable government which would ensure the political survival of the nation. With their socialist orientation and declared platform, the PAP leaders believed that the political survival of Singapore rested on multiracialism. It was basically this belief in inter-communal effort which impelled the party to spearhead the 'Malaysia' Malaysia' movement. The MSC declared, 'A Malaysian Malaysia's the antithesis of Malay Malaysia, a Chinese Malaysia, a Dyak Malaysia, an Indian Malaysia or Kadazan Malaysia and so on.'+ But for the MSC to achieve its non-communal objectives, surely there had to be inter-communal cooperation and harmony.

Åt the same time, the Malayan Alliance also believed in the need to maintain inter-communal leadership in order to foster nationhood. As late a March 1965 Tunku Abdul Rahman maintained that in the country "everyone was trying to create a Malaysian nation.<sup>4,9</sup> The Tunku, however, emphasized one of the conflicting factors which led to separation when he charged that Lee Kuan Yew and the PAP wanted a "Malaysian Malaysia' impatiently—'here and now'-instead of allowing the pasage of time to blang radually the edges of communal animosities and lingering suspicions among the newly-united but multiracial Malaysian people. When the 'Malaysian Malaysia' movement was being promoted by the PAP leaders the Malaysian Prime Minister described them as young men who wanted to rush things.' Instead of doing what they want in a quiet and practical way, they tread on everybody's toes, knock everybody's head and bring about chaos, suspicion, misunderstanding, hatred and trouble.<sup>44</sup>

190

Aside from the difference in timing for the realization of a 'Malaysian Malaysia', there were also differences in outlook between the Alliance and PAP leaderships which aggravated the problem of achieving consensus:

The Tunku was as deeply wedded to multi-racialism as Lee, and personally as racially unconscious. But the two men were otherwise poles apart. The Tunku was simplicity personified, Lee was highly complex. The Tunku cherinked mass opoularity, Lee spurned it. The Tunku was suncere to the point of being embarranging. Lee was all deverses. The Tunku's response sprang from the heart and from his identification with the people, Lee's from the mind and his studied loofness from the crowd. The Tunku was sutterly human, Lee a machine.<sup>49</sup>

The differences in outlook remained incidental during the earlier months when Lee Kuan Yeew was prepared to try to win the support of the Tunku and UMNO while at the same time striving to replace the MCA with the PAP in the national Alliance. But when the PAP and its MSC platform sought openly to challenge the Malayan Alliance, it became obvious not only 'that Malaysia was born in atmosphere of conflict and bitternest', but also that 'The PAP in attempting to impose the Singapore style of politics on Malaya was destined to be unsuccessful.<sup>50</sup>

Conflict and bittemess between Kuula Lumpur and Singapore were exacerbated by the fact that both side found it difficult to implement even the writtem agreements relating to economic matters after merger. The PAP leaders considered the establishment of a common market within Malaysia as a fundamental consideration in the merger settlement. 'Merger with Malaya would brighten the prospect of trade by forming a common market between Singapore and the Peninula..... The federal leaders dragged their feet on the agreed common market proposal.<sup>33</sup> The administrative markinery designed to facilitate the establishment of the common market, the Taiff Advisory Board, was only set up a year after merger, largely because 'Kuula Lumpur did not want the common market to be established before a national industrialization policy had been worked out, for fart that it would lead to an even greater industrial imblance between Singapore and the other states of the federation'.<sup>32</sup>

The Federal Government was meant to ask the consent of the Singapore Government before imposing new import duties for the first five years after Malayia Day; but the 1965 federal budget imposed a number of new taxes which Singapore objected to on the grounds that the state government had not been consulted beforehand and that the new taxes, which the Federal Government explained were necessary because of added defence expenditure in the face of Indonesian confrontion, had not been forescent in the original merger agreements.<sup>35</sup> More

#### NATION-BUILDING IN MALAYSIA

indicative of future inability to reach agreement on financial matters was the fact that differences on the allocations of revenues derived from Singapore led the two Governments to submit their cases to the World Bank for arbitration.<sup>34</sup>

Singapore for its part failed to fulfil important aspects of the merger agreements. The PAP Government paid nothing towards development in the Borneo states, although it had been agreed that Singapore should make available to the Federal Government two 15-year loans totalling \$150 million' to assist development in the Borneo territories?<sup>15</sup> In refuting to honour the agreement the Singapore leaders maintained that the Borneo loans were a quid pro quo for implementing the common market arrangement. Since the Federal Government appeard to procreatinate over the common market issue, the PAP leaders decided that the Borneo loans were not due for delivery.

Thus the Singapore separation involved the political, socio-cultural and economic aspects of nation-building. Many of the factors which the PAP leaders believed made merger imperative, paradoxically became the very causes of separation. At any rate, the non-fulfilment of some of the PAP's main aims rendered separation all the more likely. A writer who had personal acquaintance with many of the PAP leaders believed that Lee Kuan Yew fought for Malaysia 'because this was the only way that Singapore could free itself entirely from the remnant shackles of colonialism'.56 It is hardly necessary to argue that Singapore wished to achieve independence from the British. Malaya had successfully achieved independence and it was evident that the British, through the granting of the Rendel Constitution, the demands of the Marshall and Lim Yew Hock all-party constitutional missions to London, and internal selfgovernment in 1959, were aware that they would have to give independence to Singapore in the foresceable future. Yet Lee Kuan Yew and his PAP colleagues preferred to campaign for independence through merger with Malava.

It is one of the enigmas of the period that Lee Kuan Yew and his colleagues, having skilfully championed the merger of Singapore with Malaya, Sarawak and Sabah, with a manifest understanding of the poltitical, socio-cultural and economic factors involved, then proceeded to challenge, and challenge in a hurry, the very federal leadership which they had originally acknowledged as sheir trustee in keeping the new nation viable and united. A former Singapore Minister of the Interior and Defence, Professor Wong Lin Ken, who first met Lee Kuan Yew in London in 1956, explained:

The PAP went into Malaysia with a promise that it would protect and promote the interests and welfare of the people of Singapore. It could not let down the people by ignoring that undertaking made to them when they were asked to support the PAP's merger stand.... The PAP leaders believed in what they stated and did on the merger issue. That was why Lee Kuan Yew was very emotionally affected by separation.<sup>97</sup>

That the Kuala Lumpur-Singapore conflict was unfortunate and indeed largely unintended may be seen from Lee Kuan Yew's words upon separation:

You see, this is a moment of ... You know, every time we look back on this moment when we signed this Agreement which severed Singapore from Malaysia, it will be a moment of anguish. I mean, for me it is a moment of anguish because all my life... You see, the whole of my adult life I had believed in merger and the unity of these two territories. You know, as a people connected by geography, economics and ties of kinnhip.... Will you mind if we stop for a while?<sup>34</sup>

Lee Kum Yew was indeed 'very emotionally affected'. He did not complete the sentence before he asked for a pause in that televised press conference on 9 August 1965. One of his arch policical adversaries during the twenty-three months Singapore was in Malaysia, Tun Tan Siew may<sup>\*\*</sup> retired from active policies in April 1974. Like Lee Kuan Yew, he said the separation of Singapore affected him deeply: 'It was a tragedy for both countries. It was the failure of a dream.<sup>\*\*0</sup>

After all that has been sid, it is only too clear that the most significant underlying factor which resulted in the need for separation was the mounting tension in the Sino-Malay relationship. Lee Kuan Yew's call for a 'Malaysian Malaysia' reminded the Malays of the British attempt to create a Malayan Union where Malays and non-Malays were to enjoy equal political rights and this, in Malay cycs, was an attempt to wrest from them all that they considered their birthright. In endeavouring to justify his cause, Lee Kuan Yew opened up issues most hurtful to Malay feelings, he questioned what the British themselves always accepted until 1946-that Malays belonged to the Malays. The effect of Singapore's withdrawal from Malaysia was to postpone racial clashes for about four years.

## Political Trends, 1965-1969

When singapore became a sovereign and independent nation, Malaysia was not destroyed, but the departure of the recalcitrant and oppositionist member-state did not bring halcyon days to the reduced federation either. In explaining the need to detach Singapore from Malaysia, Tunku Abdul Rahman had said, 'It appeared that as soon as one issue was re-

#### NATION-BUILDING IN MALAYSIA

solved, another cropped up. Where a patch was made here, a tear appeared elsewhere, and where one hole was plugged, other leaks appeared.<sup>48</sup> The separation was followed by feelings of disuppointment and much heaping of blame for the failure of an experiment in nationbuilding by each of the two patries concerned upon the other: strained relations: continued for sometime between Singapore and Malayaja.

However the earlier external threats began, fortuitously, to ebb away. While the Philippines all but dropped its contentious claim to Sabah after President Ferdinand Marcos took office in early 1966,<sup>94</sup> In gradual but almost mevitable downfall of President Sukarno following the *coup d'itat* of 30 September 1965 led to the demise of Confrontation,<sup>94</sup> In July 1966 an exchange of Notes in Manila normalized relations between Malaysia and the Philippines, while the signing of the Djakarta Agreement of August 1966 marked the resumption of diplomatic relations between Malaysia and Indonesia. Thereafter, Malaysia was relatively at peace with its neighbours,<sup>44</sup> and could devote greater energy and time to the domestic problem which continued to emerge.

In general, the departure of Singapore from Malaysia caused foreboding among the non-Malays that with the subtraction of one and a lafi million Chinese from the federation the Alliance Government under the political dominance of the United Malays National Organization (UMNO) might implement increasingly pro-Malay policies. Hence the Chinese, through the Malaysian Chinese Association (MCA), once more agtitued for a 'more liberal use' of the Chinese language for official communications and purpose,<sup>85</sup> The Selangor, Perak and Penang branches of the MCA urged their national party headquarters to chamjoin the issue to the extent that the latter endoned the demand for a liberal use of the Chinese language in government notices, forms, ugnbourds and announcements. A twenty-man Alliance Committee was established to resolve disputes within the Alliance and 'to solve the language problem.'<sup>64</sup>

It will be recalled that as early as the 1950s, language had featured prominently as one of the major issues in the political development of Majaya. In the prolonged effort to establish a national system of education, the matter of language was a prime consideration. The independence negotiations dwelt on it, and Article 152 of the 1957 Federation Constitution embodied the agreement among the multiracial leaders that the national language shall be the Malay language'. But for a period of the years from Merdeka Day, that is to say until 1967, English could be used for all official purposes.<sup>57</sup> For the states of Malaya, these provision that 'no person shall be prohibited or prevented from using (otherwise than for official purposes) or from teaching or learning any other language'.48

It was indicative of the continuing importance of language as an aspect of nation-building in Malaysia that sections of the Malay population began early to extert pressure on the Federal Government to that no concession would be made to the non-Malays on the proposal to make Malay the sole official language by 1967, Led by Syed Naitr's thin Ismail, the Director of the Dewan Bahasa dan Pustaka, the Malays set up in early 1965 a Barian Berlindak Bahasa Kebangaaan, or National Language Action Front, 'to assis' the government in the implementation of Malay as the official language by 1967, Led Kuan Yew's attack on the Malays. As a result, the Chinese in the Peninsula (as we have seen) but also the Indians to some extent, began to demand a 'more liberal use' of their languages for official propose.

In spite of the basic agreement that Malay would be the sole official language by 1967, it was a measure of the problem of choosing a common language for a multiracial society that when the national language bill was passed in March 1967 it in fact contained indirect provisions for the continued official use of languages other than Malay. The Act gave 'the right to the Federal Government or any State Government to use any translation of official documents or communications in the language of any other community in the Federation for such purposes as may be deemed necessary in the public interest".70 In addition, the Act empowered the Yang di-Pertuan Agong to allow the use of English for such official purposes as might be deemed fit; and provisions were made for the continued use of English in the Parliament, state Assemblies, the texts of laws passed by the various legislatures and in the law courts of the country.71 Although these indirect concessions to the non-Malays vis-àvis the official use of their languages might have been necessary at that stage of nation-building, they also delayed the wider use of the national language and its implementation as the unifying factor among the communities which it was meant to be, until well into the 1970s.

Political trends continued along communal lines for the remainder of the 19601 in West and in East Malaysia.<sup>72</sup> The Alliance remained safely in power, despite internal haggling among the three component partics: 'Much of the democratic struggle goes on within the Alliance, so that by the time the level of Alliance policy is reached, many of the potential conflicts are already compromised.<sup>72</sup> That had been the nature and pattern of Alliance politics is incet the formation of the UMNO-MCA alliance in 1952 and continued to be so until the 1960 general elections. Nonetheless, consensus did not preval across the political spectrum of Malaysia as was evidenced by the formation of partics which exposed the

### NATION-BUILDING IN MALAYSIA

Alliance between the 1959 and the 1969 elections. The United Democratic Party (UDP) formally came into being in April 1962. It was founded by the key figures who had resigned from the MCA after a crisis in 1959.<sup>74</sup> The UDP, led by Dr Lim Chong Eu, Too Joon Hing and others, attempted to project a multiracial image but its leaders found it difficult to carry through an inter-communal platform inasmuch as they knew their main supporters were Chinese. The UDP was a party on the horns of a dilemma; for while it criticized the Federal Government's policy towards Chinese education, it also supported the reservation of special privileges for the Malays for a specific period and approved of Malay as the sole official language.<sup>75</sup>

The parties which contested the 1964 general elections in Malya were (with the numbers of parliamentary seats they won in brackets): the Alliance (89); the Pan-Malyan Islamic Party or PMP (9); the Socialist Front (3); the People's Progressive Party or PPP (2); UDP (1); and PAP (1). These parties were mostly the same as in the 1959 elections. Apart from the UDP, the other new party to enter the later poll was the People's Action Party (PAP) of Singapore which fielded only eleven candidates although there were, as in 1959, a total of tota parliamentary constituencies. The PAP entered the 1964 elections primarily to test its appeal among the Malyan electorate and to begin realizing its with to replace the MCA in the ruling Malayan Alliance, with the disastrous results we have seen earlier. K. J. Ratama and R. S. Milne, who made an exhaustive study of the 1964 elections, accounted for the better performance of the Alliance compared to its victory in the 1959 elections in the following manner:

The main feature of the election was perhaps the pre-eminence of a single issue. This was the Indonesian 'confrontation' of Malaysia and the threat it poord to the country' security......The Allinear argued that it was the only party which could safeguard national integrity and that the difference between voting for it and voting for the other parties was in essence the difference between being loyal and being sympathetic to Indonesian aggression.<sup>20</sup>

The 1964 elections thus tended to be more of a referendum on Indonesian confrontation than a normal periodical opportunity for parties and the electroate to voice their feelings on national and local issues. However, that is not to say that these issues, particularly language and the education system, special rights of the Malays, Islam (between UMNO and the PMIP), need for communal barrmony, economic and trual development, foreign capital, foreign policy and internal security, were ignored.<sup>37</sup> On the contrary, they were extensively and often vigorously debated; but the issue of Indonesian confrontation howered over the whole election

197 0

campaign. The non-Malays, in particular, gladly supported the Alliance Party because it was prepared to resist Indonesian aggression; there was widespread fear that should Malaysia become a part of Indonesia, the non-Malays would be completely overwhelmed.

Two other political parties subsequently emerged to challenge the dominance of the Alliance in West Malaysia. The first, the Democratic Action Party (DAP), was registered in March 1966 and was in many ways a successor to the PAP, which was de-registered concurrently with the separation of Singapore from Malaysia on 9 August 1965. For some time the new party in fact continued to be led by C. V. Devan Nair, the only PAP candidate to have won a seat in the 1964 parliamentary elections. In opposing the Alliance the DAP continued to espouse many of the 'Malaysian Malaysia' objectives of the PAP. For example, the DAP argued in favour of racial equality and rejected the division of the citizens of Malaysia into bumiputra and non-bumiputra. (The term bumiputra literally means 'son of the soil' or 'native' and is used to designate the Malays and other indigenous peoples of Malaysia, such as the Davaks of Sarawak, and Kadazans and Bajaus of Sabah.) It disagreed that the propagation and permanence of the national language can only be finally secured on the basis of the eventual deculturation of two major communities in Malaysia-the Chinese and the Indians'.78 As the 1969 general elections drew nearer, the DAP appeared to be increasingly strident in its criticism of Malay rights and the lack of use of Chinese and Tamil as languages for official purposes. Indeed, when the 1969 poll took place the DAP in its pursuit of 'political democracy, social and economic democracy, and cultural democracy' declared: 'All Malaysians must have an equal place under the Malaysian sun. Hence our plea for "A Malaysian Malaysia"', 79

The Gerakan Rakyat Malayia (Gerakan) was inaugurated in March 1068 by former leaders of the Labour Party of Malaya, Dr Tan Chee Khoon and V. Veerappan; Dr Lim Chong Eu of the UDP, which had failed to make a good showing and appeared ready to wind up its affairs; Professor Syed Hussein Alatas of the University of Singapore; and Professor Wang Gungwu of the University of Malaya.<sup>40</sup> It also worked to gain the support of the trade unions and eventually Yeoh Teck Chye, the president of the Malayaian Trade Union Congress, as well as V. David, another unionist of long standing, were elected vice-chairman and deputy secretary-general respectively. The Gerakan was a moderate party which sought genuinely to purus a non-communal platform. While many of its leaders were non-Malaya; its sought to attract Malays to its membership and leadership. Eventually a perceptible number dia join and Professor Syed Hussien Alatas became the first party chairman. The Gerakan's moderate, somewhat intellectual and non-communal approach to politics was evident in the following statement, made in April 1968:

We strive for a Malaysian nationhood evolved out of the existing communities in Malaysia. The process of formation should be left to historical growth. The state participates in its formation by eliminating obtacles to harmony and intercommunity acculturation. It should not impose cultural elements or indulge in artificial experiments such as interdocting a common detset, dance, ritual and ceremony without regard to the receptivity of the communities in Malaysia. We emphasiae common experience and the sense of a common detsity as the decisive sensitis of auximolood rather than cultural, religious or ethnic uniformity.<sup>44</sup>

As the 1969 elections approached the Gerakan strove harder to project a non-communal image before the electorate. It especially wished to reduce the Alliance majority in Parliament in order to deny it the twothirds majority which a ruling party needed before it could seek to amend the Federal Constitution. The Gerakan realfirmed its abiding with 'to etablish an integrated society of Malaysians sharing a common outlook and a common destiny.<sup>9,8</sup>

After becoming member-states of Malaysia on 16 September 1963, Sarawak and Sabah proceeded to institutionalize the forms and framework of nationhood which they had settled for in the negotiations to establish the enlarged federation. Politically both tended to follow trends in the Peninsula and the Alliance pattern of inter-communal party grouping was adopted in both. In each Borneo state, the Alliance group captured power during the formation of Malaysia and continued in office through the 1960s, and indeed until 1974. The component parties of the Alliance groups in Sarawak and Sabah represented ethnic communities but the ethnic spectrum differed, of course, from that in the Alliance in the Peninula.

Between 1963 and 1969, there was only one state election, that in Sabah in April 1967, which saw an electorate in Borneo vote directly for their representatives in the state legislature; understandably, the election issues pertained largely to state matters. During this period federal-state relations featured prominently not in any election but rather in the course of differences between federal and state leaders such as the conflict between Dato Stephen Kalong Ningkan and Kuala Lumpur in 1966.<sup>43</sup> Nevertheless it may be said that the politicization of the people of Sarawak and Sabah advanced considerably in the 1960s; and the sense of being states in a new nation, of belonging to one Malaysian national community, was gaining ground as the 1969 general elections approached.<sup>44</sup>

### The 1969 Elections and 13 May

The political parties which contested the 1969 elections in West Malaysia were the Alliance, the DAP, the Gerakan, the PPP and the PMIP. Two other parties, the Labour Party and the Partai Rakyat, boycotted the poll while a 'United Malaysian Chinese Organization' (UMCO) played a negligible role.85 On the face of it, the 1969 general elections did not differ fundamentally from the two previous polls held in the Peninsula since independence. With the exception of the DAP (which was a successor of the PAP) and the Gerakan, the parties were the same ones which contested the 1959 and 1964 elections and the election issues were substantially those which had preoccupied the parties in the previous polls. The fact that the parties and issues were mainly the same as twice before tended to give the 1969 general elections a pedestrian and routine outlook while the existence of electoral arrangements not to field candidates against each other among the DAP, the Gerakan and the PPP ought to have decided the major issues in a more clear-cut and tidier manner between them and their common adversary, the Alliance, Yet the 1969 elections had consequences far beyond the expectations of most Malaysians. They brought about electoral losses for the Alliance, corresponding gains for the opposition parties, tragic racial riots in Kuala Lumpur on 13 May and for days after, suspension of elections in East Malaysia, and the imposition of a state of emergency through the nation.

The Alliance went to the voters with a feeling of confidence. Television and radio, which were under its control, were fully utilized to project the image of the Government as the architect and well-spring of the phenomenal progress and socio-economic development which the country had experienced in the years since the achievement of Merdeka. Television newsreels recording the activities of the Alliance Government over the years were incessant during the weeks before polling day on 10 May 1969. The Alliance Manifesto confidently declareda

Today we have made available to the overwhelming majority of our rural people the amenities hitherto known only to our urban dwellers. Electricity, water, roads, bridges, schools, clinics and community centres have all been laid on.

While enjoying these amentities we have also endeavoured to ensure that the means to enjoy them are also made equally available. Through hand development schemes, the encouragement of oil palm growing, double cropping of padi, the planting of high yielding rubber, and the provision of financial and other forms of assistance to the farmer and the fitherman, we have steadily raised the income levels of our rural people.

With rural development, there has been a concurrent concentration on industrialisation. Our efforts have resulted in a per capita level of income of about

199

 $f_{\rm 1,000/-}$  which is one of the highest in Asia. This compares very favourably with \$700/- at the time when we took office.\*\*

The PMIP's platform remained largely the same as in previous elections. Against the PMIP the Alliance, particularly UMNO, charged that the Kelanan-based party had links with the Malayan Communius Party (MCP) in South Thailand. UMNO leaders alleged that MCP members crossed to the Malaysian border areas to call on people to vote for the PMIP. The Alliance denigrated the PMIP for having kept Kelantan backward since it won control of the state in 1959. Indeed, the Alliance put forward an election manifesto specially for Kelantan which outlined an extensive programme of development with a planned expenditure of \$350 million for the only opposition-held state of the country provided the Alliance came to power there in the election.

The DAP campaigned largely for non-Malay votes. In order to help erase the identification of the party with the PAP, its carly leader, C. V. Devan Nair terteated to Singapore permanently in 1968. While it did not overtly advocate a socialist system of government, the DAP significantly argued 'that the have-nots in Malaysia are of all tacks. They are found in rural areas as well as in urban slums'. The party's manifesto unequivocally added:

We give full support to all genuine moves to eradicate poverty and backwardness among our rural population. It must be the paramount concern of all Malayians to eradicate the economics, social and educational imbalance between our rural and urban sectors. Malayian prosperity and progress are indivisible. The elimination of Malay peasant poverty and the raising of rural income and of the standards of living of Malay peasant powerty must herefore be given a major priority.<sup>37</sup>

But it was clear to all and sundry that the DAP was essentially a Chinese party. The PPP, which effected a close electoral link with the DAP, maintimed its policy of rejecting the special position of the Malays and other humipura peoples and reaffirmed that 'a Malaysian Malaysia is the antithesis of a Malay Malaysia. They cannot co-exist'. The PPP manifesto explained clearly why the party was opposed to special privileges:

Special rights and privileges have brought no material or other benefits to the Malay Ra'ayat who after 10 years of independence find themselves in the same social and economic plight they were in before Merdeka.

What has happened is that the Alliance has abused its powers and under the guise of enforcing the special rights, has created a Malay capitalist class which is now exploiting the Malay masses.

The result of this policy is that without bringing any benefits to the Malay Ra'ayat it has served as a constant irritant to non-Malays, disrupting the unity of the people and perpetuating racial prejudices.<sup>88</sup>

200

Like the DAP, the PPP argued in favour of greater use of the Chinese, Tamil and English languages as media of instruction and examination in the country's education system. All students after completion of their studies should be treated equally in the matter of selection for jobs, irrespective of which school or college they were educated in. The PPP was more strictment in its statek on *bumjuray* privileges than the DAP which tended to criticize them only obliquely. Like the DAP, the PPP, although led by the Ceylonese brothers, S. D. and D. R. Seenivasagam, was basically as Chinese party.

The Gerakan, in its efforts to be a non-communal party, understandably trod a moderate course. Its procecupation with preventing the Alliance from scoring a two-childs majority in the Dewan Ra'ayat was the overt manifestation of the Gerakan's belief in representative government and its wish 'to stafeguard the rights and likerites of our people from corrosive and abusive legislation and ministerial decrees which undermine the Constitution'.<sup>84</sup> The Gerakan, while not opposed to them, nevertheless wanted 'to prevent Malay privileges from being abused by unscrupulous leaders'. The party also promised' to climinate the causes that create poverty, suffering and ill-health and inertia especially in the rural areas.<sup>90</sup>

Thus all the main parties contesting the 1969 elections took definite stands on major issues affecting the country. Their manifestos were almost all presented in a sober and serious manner. But the communal feelings generated rapidly increased in intensity. The verbal battles, the insults and innendos directed at one group or another and the strong support for or opposition to the 'Malaysian Malaysia' concept ought to have alerted the government to the dire consequences that could ensue. The by and large incident-free campaign period, however, generated complacency all round. After all is was almost twenty-five years ago that the country had experienced a serious communal outbreak. A probable conflict had been nipped in the bud in 1965. Voting day again gave no midication of what was to follow.

The results were unexpected. Table 3 which follows shows the position of the parties in the 1964 and 1969 parliamentary elections. The Table clearly shows that the Alliance had suffered large losses. All the opposition parties which actively contested the 1969 elections did better than in the 1964 poll. This general trend was repeated in the state elections, as illustrated in Table 4.

A number of Alliance leaders lost their seats. Senu bin Abdul Rahman, the Minister of Information and Broadcasting, lost to a PMIP candidate in his home stare of Kedah; Dr Mahathir bin Mohamad, another UMNO leader of considerable standing from Kedah, also conceded defeat to a

#### NATION-BUILDING IN MALAYSIA

Parties	Seats Won		Votes Polled	Per Cent of Total
	1964	1969	1964	1969
Alliance	89	66	58.37	48.41
PMIP	9	12	14.45	23.75
DAP	ı <b>.</b>	13	2.06	13.73
PPP	2	4	3-59	3.87
Gerakan	-	8	-	8.57
Partai Rakyat	_	-	-	1.24
Independents	-	-	0.66	0.34

IABLE 3								
Parliamentary	Election	Results						

Source: Adapted from R. Vasil, The Malaysian General Election of 1969, Appendix II, Table 2(a).

This was the sole seat (Bungsar) won by PAP.

State Election Results						
Parties	Seats Won 1964 1969		Votes Polled	Per Cent of Total		
	1904	Tycy	1964	1969		
Alliance	241	162	\$7.62	47.95		
PMIP	25	40	15.25	22.80		
DAP (DAP in 1964)	-	31	0.90	11.76		
PPP	5	12	4-51	4.79		
Gerakan	-	26	-	8.78		
Partai Rakyat	•	3	•	1.53		
Independents	17	3	1.09	2.29		

TABLE 4

Source: Adapted from R. Vasil, The Malaysian General Election of 1969, Appendix II, Table 1(a).

In the 1964 poll the Partai Rakyat was a member of the Socialist Front which won seven state seats in those elections.

PMIP candidate; Dr Lim Swee Aun, the Minister of Commerce and Industry, was defeated by a Gerakan candidate; and Dr. Ng Kam Poh, the Minister of Social Welfare, lost to an unknown bus driver (a DAP candidate) in the town of Teluk Anson (re-named Teluk Intan in 1083).

Because the Alliance won only 66 of the to4 seats in West Malaysia and was expected to win little more than half of the 40 parliamentary seats in East Malaysia (24 from Sarawak and 16 from Sabab), it seemed likely that the ruling Alliance might not get the coveted two-thirds majority in Parliament. (The elections in East Malaysia were suspended consequent

202

upon the imposition of a national state of emergency in May 1969. When the polls in Sarawak and Sabah were eventually held in June and July 1970, the Alliance won only 23 out of the total of 40 parliamentary sets.)<sup>24</sup>

Although the Alliance remained in power, it had sustained losses in a number of its traditional strongholds and crucial areas. The following passage described its weakened position vis-à-vis and other parties:

A new pattern was emerging in the four Northern states. On the east coast the Alliance just about held its own in terms of votes, its gains in Kelangan almost balancing its losses in Terngganu, but it loss heavily to the PMIP in Kedsh and to the PMIP and Partai RAkya in Peris. ... In the remaining states the opposition accesses were achieved largely by parties appealing to non-Malya decores. The Democratic Action Party (DAP), the Gerakan Ra'ayat Malayia (Gerakan) and the Pople's Progressive Party (PPP). The DAP provided the main opposition in Perak, Negri Sembilan, and Malacca, the Gerakan in Penang, while both were strong in Schingor. The Gerakan actually won a majority of the state seats in Penang and took over the state government from Acliance. The Alliance thed on to control of the state government in Schangor and Perak but without having won a majority of the seats in citter state samelby.<sup>42</sup>

The Gerakan capture of Penang meant that the Alliance had lost control of two state governments, Kelantan having been retained by the opposition PMIP.

Adding to the surprise that the Alliance had been dealt a severe electoral blow was the fact that the MCA did poorly in the states where Chinese and other non-Malays predominated, namely Selangor, Perak and Penang. In Selangor, the Alliance won only 14 out of the total of 28 state seats; in Perak it secured only 19 out of the total of 20 or and in Penang only 4 out of the total of 24 seats went to the Alliance. To aggravate the humiliation of the Alliance, virtually all the federal ministers who retained their seats were returned with reduced majorities.

The main opposition parties were joyful and ebullient over their successes and in their jubilation many of their members and supporters cast caution and decency to the winds. Their irresponsible behaviour contributed directly to the outbreak of communal riots in and around Kuala Lumpur on 13 May 1969. The DAP and Gerakan held 'victory' processions in and around Kuala Lumpur on 11 and 12 May 1969 and it is generally agreed among residents of Kuala Lumpur, who experienced the consequences of the disatrous riots, that the processions were not only noisy but also provocative, arrogant and abusive.<sup>93</sup>

It was officially reported five months after the May riots that some of the highly irresponsible and insulting utterances during the processions were 'Apa polis boleh buat-kita raja!' (What can the police do-we are kingly: "Buang semus polis Melayut" (Chuck out all Malay policement); and 'Mati Melayu, sakai pergi masok hutani' (Death to the Malays, aborigines go back to the jungle!). Supporters in the Gerakan processions were reported to have shouted: 'Melayu balek kampong' (Malays go back to your kampong); 'Melayu sekarang ta' ada kuasa lagi ('Malays have lost power), 'sekarang kita kontrol' (we are now in control); 'Butoh Melayu ('Balis to the Malays), 'Pergi matilah' (Better go and die); 'Ini negeri bukan Melayu punya, kita mahu halau semua Melayu' (Thiis country does not belong to the Malays, we will chase out all Malays); 'MARA butoh, MARA tundun' (an obscene jeer at MARA). A combined DAP-Gerakan procession was reported to have shouted 'Apa im Melayu kita negeri dia sudah perintah! in in egeri bukan Melayu punya'. (Why should the Malays rule our country? This country does not bolong to the Malays); 'Mata-mata lanchau' (Balls to the police).'<sup>4</sup>

The remarks were not only cruel, arrogant and insulting; they were specially directed at the Malays. The jeer at MARA had the same intention since this organization, the Majlis Amanah Ra'ayat or Council of Trust for the People, is a government-endowed corporation, establed in 1966 to assist the bawingtrain a nachieving advancement in the social, economic, technical and-indirectly-political fields. The NOC Report stated. The common features in all these [processions] were the complete and deliberate definace of traffic regulations, vulgar and obscene language and gestures, and deliberately provocative slogan attacking the Malays.<sup>98</sup>

The DAP and Gerakan had reason to be joyful on 11 and 12 May 1969, by virtue of their electoral successes. But when their jubilation was acried to the extent of purposely offending and humiliating a whole community, it can be said simply that the procession organizers and their followers were asking for trouble. The Government at any rate, interpreted the mood of the Malays in these words:

Despite these extreme provocations, the Malay communities in the areas most affected by these insults showed patience and restraint. However, they brooded on the fact that even with the winning of only a few additional seats the non-Malays, particularly the Chimese, had shown arrogance beyond belief. To the Malays as a whole, the events from the 9th to 1zth May gave cause for fear over their future. On 1zth May for instance, the restraint of the Police, and the freedom with which the Chimese floured the law, caused the Malays to a harbour doubts as to the willingness or ability of the Government to deal firmly with such lawless elements. A feeling of dimay and uncertainty, coupled with their memories of the 1945 kingaroco courts, were the Malay community in the Federal Capital.<sup>44</sup>

If it had been the Malays who had treated the Chinese in the abrasive

way in which the latter behaved towards the former during the Kuala Lumpur processions, it is reasonable to assume that the Chinese would not have sat still and felt forgiving and happy about it. At any rate, the Malays were not happy, nor were they willing to take things lying down; there was little or no sensible reason for the insults hurled at them, other than exuberance following the opposition's election successes and these were actually quite small compared to the total of 66 parliamentary and 162 state seats won by the Alliance. The Malays around Kuala Lumpur decided to organize a procession on 13 May 1969 to show the opposition parties that UMNO also had a good reason to celebrate since it had won the largest number of seats for the Alliance, and far more parliamentary and state seats than the DAP and Gerakan put together. UMNO had won st parliamentary seats compared to 13 by the DAP and 8 by the Gerakan; and at the state level UMNO won 133 seats compared to 31 by the DAP and 26 by Gerakan.97 On those figures, the UMNO members certainly had better reasons to celebrate if they wished to do so.

The organizers decided that the UMNO procession would begin at the residence of the Menteri Besar of Selangor, Datuk Harun bin Hajj Idris, at Kampung Bahru, the largest Malay area in Kuala Lumpurg, at 7,30 p.m. on 13 May. The Menteri Besar, who was also chairman of Selangor UMNO, in a later statement to the police saith e agreed to the procession affer the organizers had assured him that it would be held in a peaceful and orderly manner and that a police permit would be obtained for it. Datuk Harun added, 'In order to lend respectability to it and to ensure that the participants behaved themselves, I agreed to take part and lead the procession. As I felt that I should advise the crowb lefore the procession commenced, I told them that the participants should assemble in my compound '.<sup>94</sup>

Since the morning of 11 May there had been rumours that the DAP and Gerakan might come together and attempt to form the new Selangor Government. The Alliance had won 14 of the 28 State seats in Selangor, the DAP9 and the Gerakan 4; there was one Independent. It is difficult to see how a DAP-Gerakan collition could have operated, even if thad had the support of the Independent member. The fact remains that such a scheme was discussed and caused much agitation. By the afteneous of 13 May, however, the Gerakan had announced that it would remain neutral in the Selangor State Assembly and this enabled the Alliance, as the party with the largest number of scats, to form the next Selangor Government. The Selangor UMNO, which had organized the procession and invited all branches in the state to scal participants, 'decided that it would proceed with the proposed victory procession to celebrate the formation of the new Government.'\*

Being the federal capital, Kuala Lumpur was buzzing with hearsay and rumour from the time most of the election results for West Malavsia became known on 11 May. There were uncertainties as to how the new Federal Cabinet would be formed, in the light of the electoral set-back sustained by the Alliance. At 2.00 p.m. on 13 May the MCA president, Tun Tan Siew Sin, who was Minister of Finance in the previous Federal Cabinet and had for many years proved amenable to UMNO leaders. announced that because of its poor performance in the elections the MCA would not participate in the new Federal Government, although it would remain in the Alliance. 100 Thus, while there was anxiety regarding the formation of the new Selangor Government until dusk on 13 May, the MCA decision at 2.00 p.m. not to take part in the Federal Cabinet actually helped to charge the atmosphere in Kuala Lumpur with increasing suspense. Any long-time resident of Kuala Lumpur who was interested in public affairs could feel the atmosphere of foreboding on that fateful afternoon and evening of 13 May 1969.101

The UMNO procession was to have assembled at Datuk Harun's residence in Jalan Raja Muda and Jalan Tuanku Abdul Rahman to Sulaiman Court where a mass rally was to be held. No clear report has been made, but it appears that by 6.00 p.m. on 13 May the atmosphere of anixity and anger among the crowd in front of the Menteri Bear's residence was bordering on the point of explosion. A Malaysian academic wrote over a year after 13 May. The timing and location of the first fatal incidents were not co-incidental. The mass violence broke out within the vicinity of the Sclangor Menteri Bear's house at about 6.00 p.m. on 13 May, approximately sixty hours after the last [election] result in the state of Sclangor was declared.<sup>10,21</sup> FN NOC Report, however, recounted that a commander leading this troop from the Federal Reserve Unit (FRU) to Ialan Tuanka Abdul Rahman.

... passed in front of the Menteri Bear's readence at about 6,30 p.m. There was no trouble there at that time and he proceeded without stopping but he passed on an observation the Schanger Oblec Control Centre by wirdless that 'a crowd of four or five thousand' was awamping the roadside in front of the Menteri Bear's readence and spalling over into the compounds of the Residency and heighbouring houses. Some of the Malays carried stick and banners and 'a few were seen to be armed with paragas and kris.<sup>[430</sup>

The commander, Assistant Superintendent of Police Tham Kong Weng, assessed that there would be real trouble if the scheduled procession was attacked. It was noted that 'the Malay would-be participants were highly emotional on the evening of May 13 as a result of the previous two days of insults and provocations<sup>1,104</sup> There had been rumours in Kuala Lumpur that the UMNO procession would be attacked by non-Malay elements that evening and that the Malays were determined to retaliate if attacked.<sup>105</sup> Those who heard the rumours were to that extent forewarned.

When and where exactly the first fatal incident occurred on 13 May is still unclear. The NOC Report indicated that violence first took place at Sectapak, some 10 a miles from Kampung Bahru, at about 6.00 p.m. or approximately forty minutes before the procession participants at the Menteri Bear's residence got out of hand at about 6.40 p.m. It also stated that at about 6.30 p.m., just before pandemonium broke along Jalan Raja Muda, ... a Malay youth, riding a scooter, heading towards the Menteri Bear's residence shouted "Szerpak sudah kena langgar" (Sectapak has been attacked)' and added: The news that Malay would-be participants in the procession had been attacked in Stepak by Chinnes groups whilst en route to Kampong Bharu from Gombak, had lashed through the Malays gathered on the roadide opposite the houres of the Menteri Bear and his Political Secretary, Haji Ahmad Razali. There was a spontaneous and violent anti-Chinese reaction but who its first victim was had not been positively established. <sup>104</sup>

The bloody and tragic communal incidents which followed are depicted in the following passage which appears to be fairly representative of what happened in Kuala Lumpur on 13 May 1969:

A clear picture of Kuala Lumpur's macabre nightmare of May 13 may never be produced. The mosaic that emerges from eyewitness accounts is gruesome, conflicting, and incomplete. At about 6.45 p.m. belligerent Malay mobs were seen surging from the Menteri Besar's residence and Kampung Bahru, armed with rocks, bricks, sharpened poles, knives, homemade fire hombs, shovels and pieces of pipe, charging in menacing phalanxes down lalan Raia Muda and lalan Hale toward nearby Chinese neighbourhoods. At the traffic circle junction of Jalan Raja Muda and Jalan Tuanku Abdul Rahman (Batu Road) Malay hands confronted similarly armed Chinese mobs from Chow Kit area. The Malays, some wearing white or red battle headbands, raged through the area randomly smashing, hacking and burning; any Chinese person or belonging became a target of opportunity. Enraged Chinese and Indian rioters (some with pistols and shotguns as well as homemade weapons) launched a similar mayhem of mutilation and destruction upon persons and things Malay. There were chopped limbs and savage decapitations. Scores of cars and scooters were smashed, overturned, and burned. Cinemas were raided and unsuspecting film watchers were killed in their seats. Homes and shops were looted and burned. Mob madness had seized the city.107

A curfew was declared on Kuala Lumpur at 8.00 p.m.<sup>108</sup> But apart from the severely affected Kampung Bahru, Chow Kit and Setapak–Gombak areas the communal riots spread like wildfire to Jalan Tuanku Abdul Rahman, Jalan Campbell, Jalan Banguar, and the suburban areas of Kampung Datuk Keramat, Kampung Pandan, Kampung Parkov, Pudu, Cheras, and a number of others where smaller clashes occurred. With the federal capital in confusion, the ideals of nationhood in Malaysia appeared to have gone to pieces.

As the situation worsened and was getting out of hand, the Deputy Prime Minister, Tun Abdul Razak, gave permission for the military to be called in to assist; army deployment in Kampung Bahru and Chow Kit commenced at about 10.00 p.m. on 13 May. Police and military reinforcements were rushed to Kuala Lumpur throughout the night but much confusion and lack of coordination prevailed during the first critical hours after the outbreak of violence and the authorities did not gain full control of the situation before the morning of 14 May, 109 Violence, arson and pillaging erupted intermittently but at times on a considerable scale for the next four days. The government, initially, did appear nonplussed. Repeated appeals to the people in the national capital seemed to fall on deaf ears. There were rumours that people from outside Kuala Lumpur were coming into the capital to join in the fray. In many other towns too, the situation was tense. As one scholar remarked ... most of the earliest responses to the crises were a result not of deliberate policy but of demoralization ....' 110 The government, however, regained its balance towards the end of the turbulent week.

Malaysia indeed has had a continual heritage of racial conflict since 1945-6. Feelings, for example, ran high for several years after the declaration of Emergency in the middle of 1948. Although there was no actual racial disturbance arising directly from the Emergency, the Malaydominated local armed forces (sought bitterly against the Chinesedominated MCP. Between 1957 and 1967, isolated Sino-Malay conflicts did occur several times. Sino-Malay fighting occurred in Pangkor, Perak, in 1957 and again in Bukit Mertajam, Penang, in 1964. In late 1967, the Labour Party (with a majority of Chinese members) protested against the devaluation of the Malaysian dollar; it led to Sino-Malay clashes in Butterworth, Penang. Less serious racial skirmishes were also reported in Kuala Lumpur and Johor.<sup>111</sup>

None of the conflicts since 1945-6, however, was comparable in intensity to the triots of 1960. Although fighting did not spread to other parts of the country, the Kuala Lumpur riots gave rise to widespread despondency in the Peninsula. Not a few Malaysiam believed that it would be impossible to rebuild from the ashes of 13 May. Accusations and counter-accusations were cast about and conversations at private gatherings often became heated, though they remained furtive, out of

#### THE CHALLENGES TO THE MALAYSIAN CONCEPT 200

nervousness. Compared, therefore, to the Malaysia-Singapore separation which saddened many hearts and, for a brief moment, threatened to split asunder the young Malaysian nation, the conflict of 1969 was a far more critical development. Still the nation survived.

i. Both there whijets have been discussed at some length in J. P. Ougkill, Medernatanie met Malaya, 1964-1976, Kull Lummyr, 1972, A. S. Ser ako J. A. C. Mackie, Kanformani: The Induceins-Malayia Dispete, 1969-1966, Kuluk Lummyr, 1972, M. O. Antif, The Philippier Claim to Sabak, Kulu Lumpur, 1970, D. Hude, Conferentiani in ple East, Singapore, 1967, M. Leifer, The Philippier Claim to Sabak, Statu Lumpur, 1972, M. S. Sheil-Smill, The Underland Wat, Bodenson, 1971.

 See Mohamed Noordin Sopice, From Malayan Union to Singapore Separation, Kuala Lumpur, 1974, pp. 194-5.

3. From 16 September 1991 there was a Minister of Sarawak Affairs, and a Minister (or Sarawak Affairs, and a Minister (or Sarawak Affairs), and Federal Cabanet. The incumbents, Tenneggoog Jugah ank Barieng and Peter Lo, each came from the sure concerned. In addition, Abdul Rahman Yakub of Sarawak was appointed federal Austante Minister of Rwarl Development in November 1993, Anstant Amister of June Tenn May 1964 and Minister of Jana Mines from February 1995 while Darak Donald Stephens of Sabah was Minister of Sabah Affairs and Criol Defrance from Junary to September 1995.

4. Malaysia, Official Year Book, 1963, Kuala lumpur, 1964, p. 42.

5. See R. S. Milne, 'Singapore's Exit from Malaysia: The Consequences of Ambiguity', Asian Survey, 6, No. 3, March 1966, pp. 177-9.

6. On 29 August the Yang di-Pertuan Agong signed the proclamation fixing 16 September 1963 as the new Malaysia Day.

7. Straits Times, 1 September 1963. The Yang di-Pertuan Negara was the constitutional Head of State of Singapore.

8. Of the remaining 14 sects, 13 wents to the Barisan Sosialis and 1 to the United People's Party. See Pang Cheng Lun, Singsport 3 People's Action Party: In History, Organization, and Laderkink, Kuala Lumpar, 1371, Appendix D. The Malayan Alliance was composed of the United Malaya National Organization (UMNO), the Malayan Chinese Association (MCA) and the Malayan Indian Congress (MIC).

9. Straits Budget, 2 October 1963.

10. Sowin Timer, 21 September 1964. It was stared in Malayia Agreeneet, Annex A. Chuse 31 (1) that 's Singapore citates in not qualified to be an dectard member of either House of Parlament except as a member for of from Singapore, that a singapore citates to a sameltar of either House for Magneyen'. This provision, however, did not prevent Singapore political parties from extending their activities to other stars of Malayia by crabibility Branches, enrolling members and choosing leaders from assess them Such members were not 'Singapore citizen' but Malayians resident in those stars themsives.

11. Straits Times, 20 April 1965.

12. Straits Times, 10 September 1963.

13. See K. J. Ratnam and R. S. Milne, The Malayan Parliamentary Election of 1964, Kuala Lumpur, 1967, pp. 385-9.

14. Straits Budget, 23 March 1964. Abdul Razak bin Dato Hussein was born in 1922 at Pekan, Pahang. Educated at Malay College, Kuala Kangara and Arfiles College, Singapore. A member of Force 136, a largely Malay resistance movement against the Jpannee. Went to England in 1947 to study lue and was called to the Bar in May 1950. State Screttary of Pahang, 1933. Made Acting Memeri Beast of Pahang in February 1955, bat resigned in June to enter politics. A member of the Merdeka Mission to London in January 1962. Conferred title of 'Tuni' in 1939. As Deputy Pinne Minister of Malaya be took a leading part in dicuences on the februariano of Malayasa. Deputy Chairman Of Coc. Remained Deputy Prime Minister of Malayasa until Tunku Abdul Rahman retired in September 1970 when Tun Rata became Pinne Minister. Doll on the Petruary 1967.

15. Pang Cheng Lian, op. cit., p. 19n.

16. N. M. Fletcher, The Separation of Singapore From Malaysia, Ithaca, N.Y., 1969, p. 39-17. Ibid., p. 16n.

18. T. J. S. George, Lee Kuan Yew's Singapore, London, 1973, p. 76.

19. Fletcher, op. cit., p. 41 and Straits Timez, 22 July 1964. The Secretary-General of UMNO in particular developed an animosity towards the PAP and especially against Lee Kuan Yew. The climax of the conflict between the two men came in April 1965 when Lee Kuan Yew used the former for libel. Pang Cheng Lian, op. cit., p. 19n.

20. Straits Times, 7 September 1964. See also M. Leifer, 'Communal Violence in Singapore', Asian Survey, 4, No. 10, October 1964, pp. 1115-21.

21. Straits Times, 10 December 1964. Emphasis added.

22. Government of Singapore, Separation: Singapore's Independence on 9th August 1965 (hereinafter referred to as Separation), Singapore [n.d.], p. 17.

23. Straits Times, 25 May 1965.

24. See Malaysia Agreement, Annex A, Clause 62.

25. Government of Singapore, Malaysia-Age of Revolution, Singapore [n.d.], p. 54.

26. Separation, p. 17.

27. Ibid., p.,12.

28 Ibid., pp. 13-15.

29. Straits Budget, 4 November 1964.

10. Separation, p. 25.

31. G. P. Means, Malaysian Polinics, London, 1970, pp. 343-4-

12. George, op. cit., p. 86.

11. See Mohamed Noordin Sopiee, op. cit., p. 317.

14. Malaysia, Parliamentary Debates (Dewan Ra'ayat), Vol. 2, 9 August 1965, col. 1466.

35. Government of Singapore, Proclamation of Singapore, Singapore, 1965.

16. Borneo Bulletin, 14 August 1965.

17. Straits Budget, 25 August 1965.

18. Borneo Bulletin, 28 August 1965

39. Straits Budget, 25 August 1965.

40. See M. Roff, 'The Rise and Demise of Kadazan Nationalism', JSEAH, 10, No. 2, September 1969, pp. 326-43.

41. Mackie, op. cit., p. 260.

42. For another extended discussion of the Philippine claim, see J. P. Ongkili, The Borneo Response to Malaysia, 1961-1963, Singapore, 1967, pp. 87-94. See also note 62 below.

43. Sabah Times, 13 January 1964.

44. Souri Budget, 1 April 1944, Stephen Kalong Ningkan was horn in 1920 in Betong, Starvak, Educated as S. Anguatte School, Betong, and was hospital anisatim with the Shell company, Brunci, before entering politics by forming SNAP and becoming its vectority-general in 1961. Secretary-general of the Saravak Alliance, Cultar Saravak from Angust 1960 to September 1966. He remained chairman of SNAP from Jamary 1964, and 1976.

45 Straits Budget, 22 April 1964.

46. Separation, p. 17.

47. Mohamed Noordin Sopiee, op cit, p. 200. Three months later Tun Dr Ismail line Dato Abdul Ahama, the Ministree flattarnal Scenariy and Homen Afrika, remarked, Dato Abdul Ahama, the Mahayian of Istarnal Scenariy and Homen Afrika, remarked, mon-communalism strightsway. The other-the method sologiesd by the Milliame-requires two treps. First, inter-secial harmony; second, and ultimate state of non-communalism?. Soint Times, 1 pure 1995.

48. Straits Times, 8 March 1965.

49. George, op. cit., p. 77.

50. Chan Heng Chee, Singapore: The Politics of Survival, 1965-1967, Kuala Lumpur, 1971, pp. 6-7 and 10.

51. Interview with a PAP leader and Member of Parliament, Singapore, who asked to remain anonymous, Singapore, August 1974.

52. Fletcher, op. cit., p. 14.

53. See Malaysia Agreement, Annex J. para. 3(3); and Straits Budget, 11 August 1965.

54. Fletcher, op. cit., p. 18.

55. Malaysia Agreement, Annex J. para 9.

56. A. Josey, Lee Kuan Yew: The Struggle for Singapore, Sydney, 1974, p. 10.

57. Discussion with the present writer, Singapore, August 1974.

58. From a tape-recording in the possession of the present writer.

39. Tan Siew Sin, the only son of Tan Cheng Lock (Note 70: Chapter 2), was born in Multera in 1916. Educated in Raffler College, Singapore. Member of the Federal Legislative Council 1948. Chairman of Malaca branch of the MCA from 1973. Became president of the MCA from 1954. Terasurer of the Allance Tom rosy simulis in eiterneement. Appointed Musier of Commerce and Industry in 1957; and Musier of Finance in 1959, a portfolio which he held until 1966. The same years the was confirred the title of Tam. Appointed Musier with Special Functions after the May 1969 general decisions. Continued to be active in MCA and Allance policita until his retirement. Much of his time is now devoted to Sime Darby Berhad of which he is the first mether. More that the second second

60. Straits Times, Kuala Lumpur, 10 April 1974.

61. Malaysia, Parliamentary Debates (Dewan Ra'ayat), Vol. 2, 9 August 1965, col. 1460; see also Straits Times, 10 August 1965.

62. For the present writer's analyses of this issue, see The Bornes Response to Madryan, before 100; The Philippine Chimi, "Opions, 1, No. 4, Kahal Lummar, June rings (Moders, ization is faut Madryan, 1964–1997, ch. 3; "The Shahh Chimi," Sanday Mad, Kuhh Lummyat, June 1019 (1973); and "Analysin... The Shahh Chimi," Sanday Mad, 15 July 1973); See also M. Meddown, "The Philippine Chimi to North Borneo", Political Science Quanterly, 77, No. 3, Sprember 1960, pp 31–35.

63. The steps towards Indonesian-Malaysian peace which eventuated after the 'September 30th Movement' are succinctly presented in G. P. Means, op. cit., ch. 10.

64. For cometime after separation, Singapore and Malayia engaged in webda resultation. It was the continuation of pre-separation reivaly when's transmushing and compromise were abandoned for political consputantially. Chan Heng Chee, op eis, pat. However, event Singapore progressively adopted a mare obsert minited survey the Malayiai. When the new Indonesian Government under General Suhatro proposed pater separations with Singapore in April 1966. The single value of the single separation with Singapore in April 1966. Institute of Malayiaia fram and optional, calculate that no agreement would be possible which might projudice the instreme or security of Malayiai. Mana, on et a., p 162.

os. Malay Mail, 4 October 1966.

66. Straits Times, 2 September 1965; and 21 October 1966. See also M. Roff, The Politics of Language in Malaya, dram Survey, 7, No. 5, May 1967, pp. 316-28.

07. Federation of Malaya, Federation of Malaya Constitution 1937, Kuala Lumpur, 1957. Article 132(1) and (2), and Malayan Constitutional Documents, Kuala Lumpur, 1959, p. 101.

68. See H. E. Groven, The Constitution of Malaysia, Singapore, 1964, p. 150; and Malaysia, Malaysia Federal Constitution, Kuala Lumpur, 1970, Article 152(1)(a).

to Strails Times, 6 April 1965.

70. Malaysia. Speech by the Prime Minister, Malaysia: The National Language, Kuala Lumpur, 1007, p. 4.

71 Ibid. pp. 5-7.

7.2. When Malayai was unsuparated in September 1963, Malaya was finit referred to a 'he stars of Malaya' in Malaya was Mark Sarawa and Sabha treatind their names. From 6 Augus 1960 the stars of Malaya' were officulty named Wets Malayai and at the same time Sarawa and Sabha became East Malayai by virtue of the same garet to moff-the sing agreed of the singer sparse and palse statements, a change from Wet and East Malayai more Pennulare Malayai. Accordingly, in the study, Malaya and umply Sarawa'a and Sabha for the prenulare Malayai and Sarawa'a and Sabha for the prenulare Malayai and Sarawa'a far Sabha for the prenulare Malayai and Sarawa'a Sabha for the prenulare Malayai and Sabha for the prenulare Malayai and Sarawa'a Sabha for the prenulare Malayai Sabha for the prenulare Malayai Sarawa'and Sabha for the prenulare Malayai

73. G. S. Maryanov, 'Political Parties in Mainland Malaya', JSEAH, 8, No. 1, March 1067, p. 109.

74. K. J. Ratmam and R. S. Milne, The Malayan Parliamentary Election of 1964, Singapore, 1007. D. Sa.

75. Ibid., pp. 52-3.

76. Ibid., pp. 110-11. See also R. K. Vasil, 'The 1964 General Elections in Malaya', International Studies, 7, No. 1, July 1965, pp. 20-65.

77. See Ramam and Milne, op. ott., ch. 4: Means, op. ott., pp.335-41; and Malaysia, Report on the Parlamentary (Dewan Relayat) and State Legislator Anombly General Elections tode of the States of Malaya, Kusla Lumpur, 1965, pp. 14-15.

78. Democratic Action Party, 'The Setapak Declaration', Who Lives if Malaysia Diet?', Kuala Lumpur, 1069, p. 20. The 'Setapak Declaration' was made on 29 July 1967.

79. Democratic Action Party, 'Towards a Malaysian Malaysia?' [1969 DAP Election Manifestol, Mimeograph copy, Pt. 1.

80. Professor Wang Gungwu subsequently explained that he did not formally become a member of the Gerakan and had merely belped in the formation of the party 'as a gesture to Dr. Tan Chee Khoon'. December 1971.

81. R. K. Vasil, The Malaysian General Election of 1969, Kuala Lumpur, 1972, p. 20.

82. Gerakan Rakyat Malaysia, Election Manifesto: 3rd General Elections 1969, Kuala Lumput, 1969, paras. 1 and 17. Emphasis in the original.

83. Pointcal developments and trends in Sarawak and Sabah have been discussed at length by the present writer in his Modernization in East Malaysia, 1960-1970, chi. 4, 5 and 7.

84. See R. S. Milne and K. J. Ratnam, Moleysia: New States in a New Nation, London, 1976; and M. C. Roff, The Polinics of Belonging: Polinical Change in Solish and Sarawak, Kuula Lumpur, 1974.

85. See K. J. Ratmam and R. S. Milne, 'The 1969 Parliamentary Election in West Malaysia', Paofie Affairs, 43. No. 2, Summer 1970, p. 204. In the 1959 elections the partice were the Aliance, PMIP, Socialist Fronce, PPP, Party Negara and Malayan Party. For the electoral strengths of the parties in the two elections, see Ratnam and Milne, The Malayan Parliamentary Election of 1964, p. 361.

86. Alliance, 'The Alliance Manifesto (1969 Elections)', Kuala Lumpur, 1969, paras. 12-14.

87. Democratic Action Party, 'Towards a Malaysian Malaysia', p. 2.

88. People's Progressive Party, 'People's Progressive Party of Malaya Manifesto 1969', Ipoh, 1969, paras 5 and 10-12. Mimeographed.

89. Gerakan Rakyat Malaysia, Election Manifesto: 3rd General Elections, 1969, Kuala Lumpur, 1969, para 8. Emphasis in the original.

90. Ibid., paras. 21-22. Emphasis in the original.

91. See Ongkili, Modernization in East Malaysia, 1960-1970, ch. 5, 'Elections and Politicization'.

92. Ratnam and Milne, 'The 1969 Parliamentary Election in West Malaviia', 00. 204-0.

9). From interview and discussions over the following five years after 13 May with residents of Kuala Lumpur (which in this study is taken to include the suburb of Peraling Jaya). The present writer was resident in Kuala Lumpur during the May 1909 form.

94. All the procession utterances are reproduced from National Operations Council, The May 13 Trajedy (hereinafter referred to as NOC Report, Kuala Lumpur, 1969, pp. 39–33. The NOC was set up on 17 May 1969 to take control of government during the emergency situation following the outbreak of violence. See also Chapter 7.

95. NOC Report, p. 36.

96. Ibid., pp. 36-7. The '1945 kangaroo courts' were instruments of the MPAJA's vendetta against alleged collaborators with the Japanese. See chapter 1, above.

97. Ratnam and Milne, 'The 1969 Parliamentary Election in West Malaysia', p. 204.

98. NOC Report, pp. 40-1. Datak Haram bin Haji Idini wasa born in 1993 at Peraling, Educated at Victoria Institution, Kuala Lampur and Middle Tempie, London. Anistant Dimencofficer Gemas and Tampira, joned Amoney-General's Oamberna Dopuey Public Proceedure, Ister was Regatars of Societies and Official Assigners of the Federation of Multya. then State Legal Advices, Ediange Constended the 1964 elections and became Menteri Bears, Schneyer, re-detected in the 1969 elections and became Menteri Bears, Schneyer, re-detected in the 1969 elections and was Memeri Bears again till 1976 when he was convicted of correspondence. Pacedoed Int 1964.

99. NOC Report, p. 43.

100. Tunku Abdul Rahman, May 13-Before and After, Kuala Lumpur, 1960, p. 86.

101. From personal experience at the time, and discussions with many Kuala Lumpur residents since then.

102. Goh Cheng Teik, The May Thirteenth Iscident and Democrary in Malaynia, Kuala Lumpur, 1971. p. 18. The author subsequently successfully contested the Nibong Tehal parliamentary seat in the August 1974 elections, and has been Deputy Minister in several portfolios of the Federal Government.

103. NOC Report, p. 50. The parang is a common heavy household single-edged sheathknife 12-18 inches long and 2-4 ir thei wide, while a kris is a traditional Malay Dagger with double-edged wavy blades tapering to a sharp point, usually 8-12 inches long.

104. NOC Report, p. 44

105. Ibid.

106. Ibid., pp. 45-51.

107. F.V. Gaghano, Command Violener in Muleynia 1949; The Political Aftermath, Athens, Ohio, 1970; pp. 16–17. For typically freelancing and tendentous descriptions of the incidents of 13 May, see G. Alexander, Silor Baroussin: The Chance in Sandheat Aria, London, 1973; pp. 96–110; and J. Samming, Malaynia: Death of a Domosey, London, 1969; 106. The cuttier Wasa imported on all sees accept Reamong Blanc, Morane Branch Beng data.

#### NATION-BUILDING IN MALAYSIA

the area was twamped with several thousands from out-of-town who had come to participate in the proposed precession and those who sought abelier from surrounding areas. The majority of them could not be physically accommoduled in Kampong Bharu house and mosque. The only possible solution was to corden off Kampong Bharu and to treat it as one large curities areas. 'NOC Report, p. 64.

109. A. Reid, 'The Kuala Lumpur Riots and the Malaysian Political System', Australian Outlook, No. a1/1, December 1969, pp. 269-70.

110. Ibid., pp. 170-1.

111. There has been no in-depth study of the racial clashes between 1957 and 1967. The tendency has been to look at the Kuala Lumpur rots as a phenomenon which happened from out of the blue when they should be more appropriately seen as the cultimation of a period of supercon, distrust and animosity between Malays and non-Malays.

## The 'Bargain' and the New Economic Policy

DESPITE the severity of the 1060 conflict, Malaysia's political leadership managed to act quickly and without undue panic. By 17 May there had been established a 'National Operations Council' (NOC) following the declaration of a national state of emergency by the Yang di-Pertuan Agong on 15 May. In effect, parliamentary democracy was suspended and the NOC, under Tun Abdul Razak as chairman and Director of Operations, co-ordinated executive action, in particular the work of the military and police in restoring law and order in Kuala Lumpur and confidence throughout the nation. Patterned after the Operations Council which existed during the 1948-60 Emergency, the NOC. comprising nine members, was not originally intended to supersede the Federal Cabinet. But the wide powers given to the Director of Operations enabled the NOC to emerge rapidly as the centre of decisionmaking in the months following 13 May. The top military and police officers were brought into the NOC in order to ensure the execution of swift and decisive action 1

In the event, the NOC did concentrate much of its effort on restoring the situation in the affected areas to pre-13 May conditions. However, other aspects of government were also given attention and by mid-July 1969 the NOC had issued decrees which *intr alia* initiated the setting up of a National Goodwill Committee headed by Tunku Abdul Rahman. There were similar committees at state and distric levels, all with the prime objective of re-establishing tolerance among the different communities of West Malaysia. Leaders of opposition parties were invited to participate in the activities of these committees. At the end of July Tunku Abdul Rahman was beginning-in opposition-held Penang-a state-tostate goodwill tour of the nation in an endeavour to repair the damage done to the process of nation-building in Malaysia.<sup>2</sup> By the beginning of August 1969 the situation had eased and there were clear signs of a return to normal. Notwithstanding the formation of a new Federal Cabinet on ao May 1969, the NOC continued to issue directives and decrees. The Tunk admitted, 'During the Emergency period the Cabinet is playing a secondary role to the National Operations Council.' However, he remained Prime Minister and three MCA leaders, Tun Tan Siew Sin, Khaw Kai Boh and Lee Siok Yew, participated in the Cabinet as Ministers with Special Functions.<sup>3</sup>

While Parliament remained suspended until March 1971, a National Consultative Council (NCC) was formed comprising representatives of various political, economic, professional, religious and other groups. Tun Razak, in announcing its formation in October 1969, said that in the NCC 'issues affecting our national unity will be discussed fully and frankly. In this way it is hoped to reach an understanding and agreement on these national issues that would ensure the future peace, security and unity of our country and that the May 13 tragedy would not recur'.4 While the representatives in the NCC, meeting in Parliament House, proceeded to discuss problems affecting the nation, a Department of National Unity was also established to study in depth the problems of race relations which were plainly crucial to the future of the Malaysian nation. As 1970 dawned, it seemed that Malaysian leaders were turning over a new leaf with the approach of a new decade. The racial incidents of May 1969 had had a chastening effect and there were obvious and genuine attempts at establishing consensus and seeking new and more realistic solutions to the problems of national unity.

### The 'Bargain' in Retrospect

One of the fundamental steps taken by the NOC, the NCC and the Federal Government between May 1969 and the general elections in 1974 was to make a more profound assessment of the causes of the communal antagonisms which had reached a cathartic point on 13 May. On the basis of that assessment, a more decisive approach was adopted towards identifying and ordering the priorities of the country and meeting the challenges of nation-building. It was felt that, basically, the political and conomic 'bargain' between the Malays and the non-Malays in the course of working for self-rule and achieving independence in the 1950s had not been fulfilled.

It will be remembered that in the course of working out the constitutional and national foundations of an independent Malaya, 'The Communities Liaison Committee had come to the conclusion that the Malays would sacrifice their privileged position only if they could be aided in securing a greater that or of their country's wealth'.<sup>3</sup> There is no doubt that the leaders of Malaya were aware of and believed in the necessity of implementing the 'bargain'. The words of 'an 'elder statesman' of Peninsular Malayaing, E. E. C. Thuraingham, were quoted in an earlier chapter: 'it is true. I and others believed that the backward Malays should be... assisted to attain parity with non-Malays to forge a united Malayan Nation of equals' a 'This inter-communal understanding became a cardinal formula in the life of the ruling Alliance from 1953 owards: 'In time, a guiding theme and informal guid pro gue emerged in this elite bargaining forum: exchange of Chinese co-operation in improving the Malay economic position, in return for Malay cooperation in improving the Chinese policical position'.

However, despite the achievement of political independence in 1957, social and economic progress among the Malays had been manifestly giow. Although the Malayan Government began implementing socioeconomic development programmes for the Peninula as early as 1950, the two Plans between then and 1960 had failed to bring about more than marginal improvement in the lives of the Malays. Of particular significance, rural poverty had continued to be widespread even as Malaysia was being formed in the early 1960s. Developments throughout the 1960s continued to demonstrate that the Malays were conomi-

TABLE 51
Expenditure on Rural Development,
Second Malayan Five Year Plan, 1961-1965
(\$ thousand)

Rural Health Centres	39.390
Rural Roads	
Rubber Replanting Scheme	163.773
Rural Electrification	104.768
Land Development Authority	15,000
Rural Industries	191,707
	7,600
Minor Rural Development Schemes	12,177
Group Development Schemes	20,201
Agriculture	28,506
Co-operative Development	66,839
Drainage and Irrigation	120,615
Fisheries	
Forestry	7.273
Veterinary	4,805
	10,333
Total	712,079

Interim Review of Second Malayan Plan, p. 7.

cally behind the non-Malays, notwithstanding the truism that there were also non-Malay poor members of society, mainly in urban areas.

National development outlays increased from \$5.050 million in the Second Malavan Five Year Plan (1961-5) to \$10,500 million in the First Malaysia Plan (1966-70).9 Under the former Plan, \$712 million was allocated for rural development; the latter Plan earmarked \$1,087 million for similar purposes, \$900 million of which was for expenditure in the states of Malava. These development Plans of the 1060s gave priority to matters such as rural roads, land development, drainage and irrigation. agriculture, rubber replanting, rural health, group settlement schemes, and crop subsidies. Tables 5 and 6 illustrate the scope and emphases of rural development programmes undertaken by the Malayan (and subsequently Malaysian) Government during the 1960s.

The estimates for most of the items on rural and agricultural development under the Second Malavan Five Year Plan and the First Malaysia Plan were used up and, indeed, in many cases were augmented by supplementary votes in Parliament.10

The First Malaysia Plan stated clearly the objectives of public devel-

First Malaysia Plan, 1966–1970 (\$ million)					
	Malaya	Sabah	Sarawak	Malaysia	
Agriculture	166.5	11.7	89.3	267.5	
Research	17.0	4-5	1.7	23.2	
Education	10.0	0.8	4.9	15.7	
Extension	10.6	0.4	1.5	12.5	
Rubber Replanting Grants	93.9	5-3	61.0	160.2	
Other crops subsidies	35.0	0.7	20.2	\$5.9	
Animal Husbandry	28.0	2.1	3.7	33.8	
Fisheries	17.0	1.3	4.0	22.3	
Forestry	10.0	1.1	1.3	12.4	
Drainage and Irrigation	319.2	7.0	6.5	332.7	
Land Development	335.0	27.8	13.1	375.9	
Rural Credit & Marketing	19.5	4.0	13.5	37.0	
Emergency Contract					
Personnel Services	5.0	-	-	5.0	
Total	900.2	55.0	131.4	1,086.6	

#### TABLE 61

# Expenditure on Agricultural Development

1 First Malayna Plan, 1066-1070, p. 121.

opment expenditure in so far as it pertained to the rural sector of the economy and nation in the 1960s:

The ubstantial increases in expenditure on drainage and irrigation, land development, rural industry and certain social services, such as schools and rural health centres, will have direct effects in raising the productivity of resources in the rural economy. In addition, much of the investment in roads and bridges, uitlitest and community facilities will provide benefits for the rural population. The purpose of the emphasis on rural development in the public investment programme has been to provide a more balanced distribution of economy. It fis and opportunities between the rural and urban sectors of the conomy.<sup>1</sup>

One of the First Malaysia Plan's declared aims was 'to increase the wellbeing of Malaysia's rural inhabitants and other low-income groups, primarily by raising their productivity and hus their income-earning capacity'.<sup>12</sup> In moving the adoption of the First Malaysia Plan in Parliament, the Deputy Prime Minister of National and Rural Development, Tun Abdul Razak, said, 'No one can dispute that a radical change for the better has been effected in the face of the rural countryide'.<sup>13</sup>

The Alliance, which had been a prime mover in the process of nationbuilding and particularly in the constitutional and political negotiations leading to the attainment of Merdeka in 1957 and the formation of Malaysia in 1963, had undoubtedly been aware of the need to fulfil that part of the 'bargain' which undertook to improve the social and conomic position of the Malays and, after the formation of Malaysia, other *bumputas*. In its 1964 election manifesto the ruling party had other *bumputas*. In its 1964 election manifesto the ruling party had conomic policy to undertake rural development on an increasing scale in order to correct the imbalance between the urban and rural areas of our country'. It added:

It will be Alliance policy to ensure that rural development will result in increased output and increased rural incomes. In order to ensure that increased rural income would result from increased output, the Alliance Government will take measures to achieve more effective control over land rents, improved marketing of rural produce and the provision to our farmers of short, medium and long term credit on reasonable terms.<sup>14</sup>

In the same election campaign, the Alliance declared, 'We were given a mandate to make our Country a better place to live in. Millions of projects, the pillars of our prosperity, are proof of our determination and dynamic drive in Development. We were given a Mandate for progress. Our rural people are no longer insecure?<sup>13</sup> In moving the adoption of the First Malaysia Plan in 1965, the Deputy Prime Minister told the Dewan Rakyat, 'The development effort of the Government has also resulted in improving the long-run productivity of our natural and human resources, particularly in the rural areas, "46 Na has been discussed, the Alliance campaigned in the 1969 elections largely by emphasizing to the votern how much progress that ruling party had achieved for the people since independence.

However, despite all the visible signs of progress, despite the continued exhortations on development, despite even the impressive figures and projections contained in the development Plans, there were major defects in these programmes as a careful examination of Tables 5 and 6 above clearly shows. The areas in which the rural farmers really needed assistance in order to improve their social and economic conditions were sorely neglected: rural industries, fisheries, cooperative development, agricultural education and extension, rural credit and marketing. (See Tables 5 and 6 above.) In terms of financial allocations under the development Plans, these items received almost farcical amounts compared to those which in the long run benefited big business, non-Malay contractors and middlemen: the rubber replanting scheme, land development and group development schemes; even the large expenditure on drainage and irrigation boosted the incomes of landlords rather than the earnings of tenant farmers. It cannot be denied that the national and rural development programmes were extensive. But their implementation was spasmodic and some of the priorities lacked realism.

Even as the 1960s were coming to a close, rural poverty and economic handicaps remained conspicuous. The unemployment rate was 6.8 per cent during 1907-6 [so against 6.3 per cent in 1965, and 6 per cent in 1963). It was more serious if attention were focused on the young (15-19 age group); the rate was up to 26 per cent with the overall figure for urban areas being 11.2 per cent. Agriculture, unable to absorb the increase in the rural labour force, failed to prevent migration to the cities.<sup>17</sup> Writing just over a year before 13 May, a Malaysian who had had extensive involvement in Malaysia's development programmes pointed out:

Even within West Malayaia there is a distinction between what is known as the West Coast and the East Coast States, because the former have between seventy and egisty percent of the walth and urban centers. Surveys of household budget spending and income tax returns indicate that people in the urban centers have a much higher level of individual and family income than those in rural areas, both on the West Coast, and the East Coast, and in the Boneso tastes. Moreover, most of the urban dwellers are Channee, whereas two-chirds of our population, in fact, lives na rural areas, and most of them are Malays.<sup>14</sup>

Those disparities between the urban and rural areas, which coincided with the geographical location of the non-bumipute and bumipute communities, had prevailed throughout the 1960s, in spite of the development activities of government. What is equally significant is the fact that during that decade the Malaya learned that they-held 'only around one per cent of investment in registered business; Malay unemployment in 1965 was running at 11.2 per cent, compared with 5.6 per cent for Chinese and 9.6 per cent for Indians, the Government's much vaunted rural development scheme had failed to lift living standards in ural areas.<sup>174</sup> There lay the crux of the problem of nation-building.

It is indisputable that the Malays and other bumiputar had continued to lag behind the non-bumiputar communities until the end of the 1960s. It was often alleged that the Malays were given privileges in government jobs to the exclusion of non-Malays, and that the Malays controlled the administration and the uniformed services, particularly in the top echeloon (Division One) of the government services. The 13 May incident

TΛ		

Figures Relating to Division One Government Officers by Racial Groups, as on 1 November 1968<sup>1</sup>

Total 3.392 (Excluding Armed Fo	rces and the Police)	41 - 20 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 1
Malays 1,142		16.25%
Non-Malays 2,250		63.74%
Administrative Services		
Total	1.221	
Malays	706	\$7.8%
Non-Malays	515	42.2%
Professional Services (Excluding Edu	ation)	
Total	1,008	
Malays	185	19.2%
Non-Malays	1,613	80.8%
Education Officers		
Total	173	
Malays	51	20.0%
Non-Malays	122	70.1%
Police (absolute figures withheld for s	cutity ensured	
Malays		38.76%
Non-Malays		61.24%
Armed Forces (absolute figures withhe	If for second names	
Malays	- je stary result	A
Non-Malays		64.5%
and the second se	to and the set of the set	35.5%

These figures are reproduced from NOC Report, pp. 23-3.

prompted the NOC to present figures which showed the true position. These are reproduced in Table 7. It can be seen that the Malays had a fairly narrow majority in Division One of the Administrative Services and a rather larger majority in Division One of the Armed Forces. Elsewhere in the Government Service they were clearly outnumbered.

It was noted that in other (lower) Divisions of government services and statutory authorities the ratio of Malay to non-Malay officers was even less favourable to the Malays. The notable exceptions, which probably encouraged the allegations of Malay preponderance, were in the lower ranks of the Armed Forces and the Police, that is to say areas of employment long avoided by non-Malays. The NOC cripity concluded:

Allegations that the non-Malays are excluded are regarded by the Malays as deliberate distortion. The Malay who already felt excluded in the country's economic life, now begun to feel a threat to their place in the public services. No mention was ever made by non-Malay politicians of the almost closed-door attitude to the Malays by non-Malays in large extino of the private sector in this country.<sup>20</sup>

The findings of a Malaysian scholar are very relevant in showing the inferior economic position of the Malays. At the end of the 1960s, when traditional tural income was compared to modern urban income, "There was a differential of close to 1: 4. This meant that 58 per cent of the total Malay labour force were working in areas where incomes were only onequarter the size of incomes in areas dominated by 25 per cent of the total non-Malay labour force'.<sup>21</sup> Another Malaysian of Chinese origin, Alex Lee, who was one of the 'young Turks' in the MCA following 13 May, and who was critical of the *bumipura* policy of the government, apply summed up the situation:

The twelve years following Merdeki did nooi, in fact, bring forth the wealth and poort which the Malays had expected. They found themselves still to be the rural people with control of the towns very much in the hands of the non-Malays. Even in the rural areas their position was being encreached upon by the Chinese New Villages, the prosperous Chinese in miners and the large European dredge and large foreign plantations. Their control of the civil service was also being eroded by the influx of many non-Malays into the government services and their supremacy in the police force was reduced by the recruitment of non-Malay officers during the Emergency. There only areas of control, therefore, was in the political arma, especially in Parliament where they controlled two-thirds of the stat. However, the 1969 election results gave the impression that even this political control was being threatened, and in some States the balance of power seemed to shift to policical parties which appealed to Chinnee Anuvriann.<sup>23</sup>

In regard to the shift in political power, it bears recalling that at the time of independence in 1957 non-Malays had been granted a very significant political concession in the form of *jus soli* citizenship. The continued official use of English, Chinese and Tamil after the stipulated ten-year period expired in 1967 was seen as a further concession to the non-Malays. But the Malays had not made equivalent economic gains. The economic dominance of the Chinese had prevailed without any consequential restrictions or control by the Government, as implicitly required by the 'bargain'.

Clearly, the social and economic disparities which the fathers of nation-building in Malaysia had understood and agreed to rectify still remained by 13 May 1969.

### The NEP and Nation-building

It was in recognition of the continuing serious imbalance between the position of the Malays and other bumiputras and that of the non-bumiputras that the Malaysian Government embarked on political and economic reforms soon after the 13 May incident. The NOC itself initiated the move when it sought, first of all, to entrench certain 'sensitive' provisions of the Federal Constitution by placing them beyond the possibility of public discussion. These provisions were the whole of Part III, and Articles 71, 152, 153 and 159. These pertained to citizenship; the federal guarantee of the constitution of each state and the rights and prerogatives of the Malay Rulers; the Malay language as the national language and ultimately the sole official language of the nation; the responsibility of the Yang di-Pertuan Agong to safeguard the special position of the Malays and legitimate interests of other communities; and the proviso 'that any amendment of the provisions relating to the Malay Rulers (Articles 18, 70 and 71) and the special position of the Malays (Article 152) shall not be passed without the consent of the Conference of Rulers'.23 A White Paper was published to explain the need for entrenching those provisions:

It is now clear that unless certain restraints are placed on public discussions on issues which are likely to generate anxiety and fear among the races and unless measures are taken to assure the people that their rights and legitimate interests under the Constitution will not be threatened, this nation runs the risk of another, possibly work, reaid conflict.<sup>24</sup>

What the Government had set out to do can be likened to creating a 'mechanism designed to de-radicalize democratic politics' through the establishment of 'a constitutional contract which sets out the terms of inter-communal relations'.<sup>29</sup>

At the same time the Department of National Unity spent nearly a year until early 1971 to draft meticulously the Rukunegara (National Ideology) which thereafter went through frank and careful deliberation

in the NCC. Again in anticipation of the formulation and implementation of economic reforms, the Rukunegara, which subsequently became included in the study of civics in schools and was referred to in gatherings or associations of a goodwill nature, enunciated the wish to establish a Malaysia 'dedicated to achieving a greater unity of all her peoples; to maintaning a democratic way of life; to creating a just society in which the wealth of the nation shall be equitably shared; to ensuring a liberal approach to her rich and diverse traditions; to building a progressive society which shall be oriented to modern science and technology'.26 After Tunku Abdul Rahman voluntarily stepped down from the post of Prime Minister and Tun Abdul Razak took over from him on 22 September 1970, it became increasingly obvious that the new Federal Cabinet under Tun Razak was directing its energy to the need to redress the unfulfilled part of the 'bargain', that the Malays and other bumiputras be uplifted to achieve economic parity and balance with the nonindigenous communities in Malaysia. The principal means adopted was the New Economic Policy (NEP).

The decision to embark on the NEP was a measure of realization on the part of the Malaysian Government of the simple fact that 'Poverty arises because of the inequality in the distribution of income and inequality in the distribution of wealth' <sup>23</sup> But it was also a recognition of the fact that 'the Malay intellectuals saw that the *status* gao benefited the non-Malays more than the Malays'.<sup>28</sup> The NEP was spelled out in and became the underlying objective of the *Scaton Malaysia Plan*, 1071-1073:

The Plan incorporates a two-pronged New Economic Policy for development. The first prong is to reduce and eventually eradicate poverty, by raising income levels and increasing employment opportunities for all Malyaisan, irrespective of race. The second prong aims at accelerating the process of restructuring Malaysian society to correct economic imbalance, so as to reduce and eventually eliminate the identification of race with economic function. The process involves the modernization of rural life, a rapid and balanced growth of urban activities and the creation of a Malay commercial and industrial community in all creatopres and at all levels of operation, so that Malays and other indigenous people will become full partners in all aspects of the economic life of the nation.<sup>24</sup>

The Second Malaysia Plan also devoted attention to the need to foster and maintain national unity:

Our people of all races and all social groups should therefore regard the Second Malayish Plan as a great opportunity to participate in the whole process of social change and naison-building. It is now, more than ever before, necessary for each member of our society, whether a politician, civil servant, farmer, employer, worker, trade unionist or journalist, to join in the common endeavout to ensure the progress and well-being of the community and the naison as a whole.... To achieve our overall objective of national unity, Malaysia needs more than merely a high rate of economic growth. While devoting our efforts to the task of achieving rapid economic development, we need to ensure at the aure time that there is social justice, equitable sharing of income growth and increasing opportunities for employment.<sup>40</sup>

At last there appeared to be a clearer perception of the fact that 'the key to the cradication of Malay poverty was to be found in the eradication of exploitation and in the consequent introduction of modern technology into rural economic activity'.<sup>34</sup> and a willingness to act on this fact.

The Second Malaysia Plan provided for institutional development designed to foster 'nural development programmes that deal adequately with the three main causes of poverty: low productivity, exploitation and neglect'.<sup>34</sup> Apart from FELDA (the Federal Land Development Authority) and MAR, other institutions had already been set up to enhance and ipped up development in the rural and agricultural sector generally. The Federal Agricultural Marketing Authority (FAMA) was established in 1965 to improve the efficiency of the agricultural marketing system; the Malaysian Agricultural Research and Development Institute (MARDI) was set up in 1968 to undertake production research an all crops except named Federal Land Consolidation and Rehabilitation Authority (FELCRA), was established in 1966.

Under the Second Malaysia Plan the activities of these institutions were broadened. Bank Pertanian (the Agricultural Bank) made funds available 'for lending to producers through trutal co-operatives and Farmers Associations and to FAMA for programme use', and a National Padi and Rice Authority (Lembaga Padi and Beras Negara or LPN) was set up 'to co-ordinate the various aspects of production, processing and marketing of padi and rice'.<sup>33</sup> The total allocation for agricultural development under the Second Malaysia Plan amounted to \$1,956 million, or about 80 per cent higher than the allocation to that sector in the First Malaysia Plan. The largest allocation of togoo million on eardly 47 per cent was for land development.<sup>24</sup> A well-known authority on the rural economy of Malaysia, Professor Ungku A. Aziz conceded that the 'programmes in the Second Malaysia Plan ere obviously a great step forward for Malaysian economic development, in theory and in practice'.<sup>39</sup>

In practice, some of the positive results of the reforms could be seen by the beginning of 1974. One of the significant developments following 13 May was the decision to use the national language, renamed Bahasa Malayaia, as the medium of instruction in Standard One of all Englishmedium primary schools beginning with the 1970 school-year. Thereafter

#### NATION-BUILDING IN MALAYSIA

there would be a progressive conversion to Bahasa Malaysia until 1982 when all the primary and secondary schools in Peninsular Malaysia, with the exception of the Chinese and Tamil schools, would be using the national language fully. Sabah began the process of converting all English-medium primary schools to the Bahasa Malaysia medium in 1071: Sarawak began doing so in 1977. However, in all three cases (Pennsular Malaysia, Sabah and Sarawak) language subjects, such as English, Tamil and Chinese, would continue to be taught in those languages.

The position of Malays in tertiary education was improved abruptly with the establishment of Universiti Kebangsan Malaysia (the National University of Malaysia) in 1970. In the 1960s Malay enrolment had progressed at a snail's pace in the existing University of Malay and was particularly poor in the technical faculties, i.e., Science, Engineering, Medicine and Agriculture.<sup>34</sup> However, by 1974 Ungku Aziz-who had become Vice-Chancellor of the University of Malaya in 1968–was able to say:

Since 1966, access to higher education and to many areas of vocational and technical education have been substantially expanded for the Malays. Some effort is being made to ensure access for Malay workers into manufacturing industry. A class of Malays (or bumiputra) millionaires has been fostered. However, it remains to be seen whether there charatble imstances will match those of the non-Malays mentioned by Za'ba half a century ago and who continue to benefit educational institutions today.<sup>19</sup>

The Mid-Term Review of the Second Malaysia Plan takes the assessment of progress under the Plan to the end of 1973.<sup>34</sup> In reviewing the twopronged strategy of the NEP, the Mid-Term Review of the Second Malaysia Plan demonstrated that a number of cogent results had been achieved by the close of 1973 in the endeavour to 'eradicate poverty... irrespective of race' and in 'restructuring Malaysian society to correct conomic imbalance so as to reduce and eventually eliminate the identification of race with economic function'.

In an effort to get rid of money-lenders and middle-men and to promote the commercialization of agriculture, government agencies continued to extend credits: from 1971 to 1973 loans given to small-scale agro-based industries by MARA, the Malaysian Industrial Development Finance Berhad (MIDF), and Bank Bumiputer amounted to about \$300 million. In the same period FELDA developed 224,000 acres of Iand, representing \$1 per cent of the original Second Malaysia Plan target, to accelerate the movement of rural farmers from traditional to modern agriculture; and FELCRA dealt with 46,000 acres or 47 per cent of its target.

State Economic Development Corporations (SEDCs) had been set up in all states and were engaged in various commercial and industrial projects while the Urban Development Authonity (UDA) was set up in November 1971 to implement a variety of short-term and long-term projects for commercial and property development. Significantly, among its short-term projects had been the 'the leasing, purchase and construction of commercial premises for Malays and other indigenous people for printing, tailoring, officer, restaurants, shops, a mini-market, travel agency and wholesale trade.' <sup>38</sup> Also within the score of erapticitorial agricolluce to the modern industrial and commercial sectors, MARA, SEDCs and UDA played an indirect role by providing technical, financial and capital assistance for Malays and other indigenous people to enter such sectors'.<sup>60</sup>

The eradication of poverty in the most depressed and exploited rural areas was to be stepped up during the remaining two years of the Second Malaysia Plan as summed up in the following:

The recently established Farmers' Organization Authority (FOA) will coordinate farming activities and ensure better credit and marketing facilities. FAM will participate in the processing and marketing of frain, market, pepper, occoa, groundnuts and other cash cropt, while Bank Pertunian will expand its operations in the rural areax, particularly in spati areax. Research and extension services will be stepped up by MARDI, RISDA [Rubber Industry Smallholders' Development Authority] and FOA. Other agencies such as the Fuberies Development Authority (MAJUIKAN) and the National Livestock Corporation (MAJUTERNAK) will undertake several projects to increase productivity and income in these sections.<sup>41</sup>

Although the Mid-Term Review did not show quantitatively how far modernization of the rural sector had taken place, the activities carried out during the 1971-3 period did indicate that a genuine and more steadfart attempt was being undertaken to eradicate poverty and uplift the social and ecnomic conditions of the long-neglected rural dwellers throughout the nation.

By the beginning of 1974 employment and ownership imbalance among the different races remained serious, but some progress had been achieved. In pioneer industries, which constituted the fastest-growing sector in the manufacturing field, participation by Malays accounted for about 45 per cent of total employment. However, about 35 per cent of the Malays employed were still unskilled labour, while the Chinese accounted for 77 per cent of the professional and managerial group and 73 per cent of the technical and supervisory group.<sup>42</sup> To ensure increased presentation of professionals in the private sector, the Government was encouraging Malay scholarship holders to enter that sector on completion of their studies.

The overriding aim of the NEP in the private sector was the creation of a Malay commercial and industrial community in which 'within a period of 20 years. Malays and other indigenous people. [would] own and manage at least 10% of the total commercial and industrial activities of the economy in all categories and scales of operations'.43 Pertubuhan Nasional (The National Corporation or PERNAS) was incorporated as a public company in 1969, and by 1973 had formed seven wholly-owned subsidiaries covering insurance, construction, trading, properties, engincering and securities while its joint-venture activities were in mining, contamerization, consultancy, hotels and trading. In all these activities the prime objective was to prepare the ground for ownership by bumiputras as soon as they had the wherewithal. The initial allocation in the Plan of \$100 million for PERNAS had been disbursed and an additional \$50 million was made available for 1974-5 to help it expand and accelerate its programmes in industry and commerce.44 The following sums up the methods of the NEP in so far as the restructuring of society in gradual fulfilment of the socio-economic 'bargain' was concerned:

The agencies which upcathead the Government's efforts in the creation of a Malya commercial and industrial community include MARA, FIMA [Federal Industrial Marketing Authority], PERNAS, UDA and the SEDCA. Their activities are winde-ranging and comprise, *isser alia*, the development of modern commercial and industrial activities in the rural areas, new growth centres and in existing urbain contres. They have an important role in expanding opportunities for participations by Malyas and other assistance to help them start and sustain their own commercial ventures. They have the role of acquiring share capital in existing and new enterprises to be held in trast for the Malays and other indigenous groups and low meter they are in a position to acquire these shares on their own, 4<sup>4</sup>

Thus the endeavour to fulfil the ideals of independence and nationbuilding through the achievement of greater equity in society was being undertaken more determinedly and realistically by the beginning of 1074.

1. The membership of the NOC was is follows. Director of Operations-Tran Abdul Rahman, Rarik he Hannes. Ondrany members Tran (Dr) Imail hon Darik Abdul Rahman, Hamzah hun Darik Abu Samak, Tan Tan Siew Sur, Tan V. T. Sambandam, Tan Srit Mohl, Kafr Shamaddah, Tan Si Mohammad Salleh. See Gold Cheng Teik, Ten Mey Thiorensh Josédnet and Demostray in Melyran. Kanal Lemmer, 1971, p. 276.

2. Strats Times, 30 July 1969.

3. Smatt Times, 26 July 1969.

4. NOC Report, p. vi.

5. G. P. Means, Malaysian Politics, London, p. 1300.

6. Dato E. E. C. Thuraisingham to the present writer, 20 November 1973. Cf. Chapter 3, p. 138.

7. F. V. Gagliano, Communal Violence in Malaysia 1969: The Political Aftermath, Athens, Ohio, 1970, p. 5.

 The development Plans were discussed in Chapter 4 above; see also M. Radner, 'The Draft Development Plan of the Federation of Malaya, 1950–55', JSEAS, 3, No. 2, March 1972, Pp. 63–96.

 Malaysia, Interim Review of Development in Malaya Under the Second Five-Year Plan (hereinafter referred to as Interim Review of Second Malayan Plan), Kuala Lampur, 1965, p. 1; and Malaysia, First Malaysia Plan, 1966-1970, Kuala Lumpur, 1965, p. v.

10. Malaysia, First Melaysia Plan, 1966-1970, pp. 28-9; and Malaysia, Second Melaysia Plan, 1971-1975, Kuala Lumpur, 1971, p. 28.

11. First Malaysia Plan, 1966-1970, p. 27.

12. Ibid., p. 2.

13. Tun Abdul Razak bin Hussein, First Maleysia Plan: Full Text of Speech ... at the House of Representatives on 15th December 1965, Kuala Lumpur, p. 10.

14. Alliance, To A Happier and Greater Malayna, Kuala Lumpur, 1964, p. S.

15. Alliance, We the Alliance: Results in Rural Development, Kuala Lumpur, 1964, pp. 2-3.

16. Tun Abdul Razak bin Hussein, op. cit., p.9.

17. Gagliano, op. cit., p. 30n.

18. Siew Nim Chee, Development Challenge in Malaysia, Athens, Ohio, 1968, p. 1.

 J. H. Funston, "Writings on May 13", paper presented to Seminar Aliran Kimi Dalam Sum Kemasyarakatan dan Kemanusiaan, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, 23-25 October 1974. p. 7. Mimcographed.

20. Ibid., pp. 23-4. Emphasis in the original.

21. Lim Lin Lean, Some Aspects of Income Differentials in West Maleynie, Faculty of Economics and Administration, University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, 1971, p. 69.

22. A. Lee 'The Chinese and Malay Dilemmas in Malaysia', Pacific Community, 3, No. 3, April 1972, pp. 562-3.

23. NOC Report, pp. 82-3. See also these provisions in Malaysia, Meleysia Federal Constitution, Kuala Lumpur, 1970.

24. Malaysia, Towards National Harmony, Kuala Lumpur, 1971, paras. 6 and 8.

25. K. von Vorys, Democracy without Consensus, Princeton, 1975, p. 434

26. Malaysia, Rukunegara, Kuala Lumpur, 1970. See also the wide coverage given in Straits Times, 1 September 1970.

27. Ungku A. Ariz, 'Poverty and Rural Development in Malaysia', Kejian Ekonomi Malaysia, 1, No. 1, June 1964, p. 75.

28. Wang Gungwu, 'Malaysia: Contending Eines', Current Affairs Bulletin, University of Sydney, 47, No. 3, 28 December 1970, p. 46.

29. Malaysia, Second Malaysia Plan, 1971-1975 (hereinafter referred to as Second Maleysia Plan), Kuala Lumpur, 1971, para. 2.

30. Second Malaysia Plan, Foreword by the Prime Minister, Tun Abdul Razak bin Dato Huisein, p. vi.

31. Ungku A. Aziz, Footprints on the Sands of Time-The Malay Poverty Concept over 30 Years from Za'ba to Aziz and the Second Malaysia Five Year Plan'. Paper presented at the Malaysian Economic Ausociation Meeting on Malaysian Economic Development and Policies, Kuala Lumpur, March 1974, p. 30.

12. Ibid., p. 18.

11. Second Malaysia Plan, Chapter 9.

14. Ibid., p. 144.

35. Aziz, 'Footprints on the Sands of Time', p. 23.

36. See Malaysia, Towards National Harmony, Appendix, for figures which amply substantiate this point.

37. Aziz, 'Footprints on the Sands of Time', p. 12. Za'ba wrote about the social and economic helplesmess of the Malays in the 1920s.

18. Malaysia, Mid-Term Review of the Second Malaysia Plan, 1971-1975, Kuala Lumpur, 1973.

19. Ibid., pp. 6 and 14-15.

40. Ibid., pp. 6-7.

41. Ibid., p. 8.

42. Ibid., p. 11.

41. Ibid., pp. 11 and \$1.

44. Ibid., p. 14.

45. Ibid.

## Epilogue

THE existence of a nation does not necessarily follow the formal declaration of its independence. The words of an Indonesian neighbour proved prophetic: 'Perkatan kemerikkan sukan lah perkatan kensmat jang langung dapat melahirkan janga dania kentas humi Malaya Merdeka; malah dia meminta pengobanan jang lebih banjak lagi.'<sup>1</sup> Indicative of the problem of political legitimacy faced by a newly-independent nation, the greatest challenges to Malayia came from two quarters. One was Lee Kuan Yew's conception of and demand for a more liberal and less centralist 'Malayian Malayia'; the other was the communal riots in Kuala Lumpur in May 1969 which led to a basic reassessment of the underlying causes of such challenges.

Both these events were not unrelated. It would be accurate to say that the 'Singapore Separation' in 1965 was to forestall a possible outbreak of communal violence. Although the immediate objective was achieved, the underlying problems remained unsolved. Tension abated momentarily only to increase in intensity in the political campaign prior to the 1969 elections leading to the outbreak of 13 May.

As indicated earlier,<sup>2</sup> there had been sporadic communal conflicts since 1945. While it is not unfair to conclude that such conflicts reveal only too plainly that the efforts to build an integrated nation have encountered formidable obstacles, it is nonetheless true that the national leadership has, part from the "Singapore Separation", successfully held together the disjunctive parts. However, it has taken the leasons of 1969 and 1969 seriously. The belief is that prococupation with the constitutional spects of nation-building during the earlier phase of independence had led to an unconscious neglect of the importance of achieving socioconomic balance and parity among the different racial groups in Malayia. The five-year development plans, started as early as 1950, and he First Malaysia Plan (1966-70), brought far greater benefit to the urban area hence perpetuating the imbalance between the Malays and non-Malays.

What has made the socio-economic imbalance so pertinent and

poignant is the tacit belief among the Malays that at the time the country achieved independence in 1937, there was a political and economic 'bargain' between Malay and non-Malay leaders. In return for the former's acceptance of the principle of *jus soli*, the latter should expect that the government would direct special efforts towards the socioconomic uplitment of the Malays.

The New Economic Policy (NEP) was meant to achieve that immediate objective. Admittedly, it has been aruged that the NEP has opened up a new dimension of disension between Malays and non-Malays, but it is equally pertinent to argue that without special steps taken to reduce the economic imbalance, it would be impossible to remove Malay grievances. The effects of the NEP, politically, economically and socially, belong to another study. Suffice it to say that, having been launched, it has to be allowed, at least, to run its course; and there is little doubt that if its immediate objective is not achieved by 1990, its continuance will be a matter of foregone conclusion.

Despite the obvious importance of the NEP and the wide discussion and debate that it has generated, it should not be forgotten that another major step had been taken, after the 1969 riots, tor ty to circumvent the problem of communal conflict-namely the formation of the Barisan Nasional. It was, in a sense, an admission of the inadequesy of the 'Alliance' approach confined as it was to only three political parties. There never was, however, any illusion that the Barisan Nasional concept would completely eradicate communal conflict; its principal sim was to reduce political competition and strift along racial lines. Again, anallogous to the 'Singapore Separation', a major component of the coalition-Parti Islam-subsequently withdrew; but the Barisan Nasional has proved itself to be extremely viable and flexible. It has periodically admitted new parties and expelled one. Soon after its formation, yet another party-the Parti Bangsa Dayak Sarawak (PBDS) was added to the coalition.

Repeatedly it has been pointed out that discusion within the Barisan Nasional has been all too frequent-between MCA and Gerakan, BERJAYA and USNO, and lately a serious dispute within the SNAP gave birth to the PBDS. But, this pertinent question has never been seriously considered: in the absence of the Barisan Nasional would such differences not have led to more serious consequences? As it is, although friction, either within a component partice of the Barisan Nasional, remains a fact of life, the degree of its intensity is contained largely by not allowing it to extend beyond the confines of the collinon.

#### EPILOGUE

Whether the Barisan Nasional will successfully, in future, prevent excessive politicking from threatening the integrity of the nation is open to speculation but its continued existence despite periodic internal dissension demonstrates all too clearly that the leaders of Barisan Nasional have placed utmost priority on the need to maintain the viability of the coalition without which political strife may repeatedly intensify communal divisiveness given the nature of Malaysia's plural society. The methods adopted by Malaysia's leaders since 1955 until now have no doubt shown inherent shortcomings but this is because there is, despite the stricture of critics, no obvious answer to Malaysia's problem of communalism. Suffice it to say that methods have been periodically reviewed and, if the past is any indication, will continue to be reviewed as and when circumstances demand. It is highly probable that communalism will for long remain a perennial problem but conflict within a nation is not necessarily an aberration from the norm of perfect harmony and integration. No society is completely cohesive and Malaysia is no exception

1. See Chapter 4, footnote 75. 2. See Chapter 6, passim.

## Bibliography

 Select List of Persons Interviewed or with whom Discussions were Held

(The places and dates of interviews and discussions are given at the end of each entry.)

- Abdul Kadir Shamsuddin, Tan Sri. Chief Secretary to the Federal Government; secretary of the Malayan delegation to the Constitutional Conference in London, January-February 1956. Genting Highlands, March 1974. (Deceased -1978)
- Abdul Momen, Pehin Pengiran. State Secretary of Brunei. Bandar Seri Begawan (Brunei Town), November 1971.
- Abdul Samad Ahmad. Malay linguist and writer who took part in the political activity of the early post-war years and the 1950s. Kuala Lumpur, January 1975.
- Abdul Samad Ismail. Active member of the Malay leftist movement beginning from 1945, a veteran journalist who was Editor-in-Chief of Berila Harian at the times of discussions. Kuala Lumpur, August and October 1972; and May 1973.
- Aishah binn Haji Abdul Ghani. Senator and later federal Minister of Welfare Services. On a rail journey from Johor Bahru to Kuala Lumpur, December 1972.
- Ansibin, Assistant Superintendent of Police, Sabah, who was active during the Japanese Occupation. Kuala Lumpur, June 1971.
- Corry, W. C. S. Formerly of the Malayan Civil Service, and secretary of the British Association of Malaysia and Singapore. London, April 1972. (Deceased)
- Cruz, Gerald de. A co-founder of the Malayan Democratic Union, and an acknowledged ex-member of the Malayan Communist Party. Singapore, December 1972.
- Dzulkifli bin Abdul Hamid, Senator Datuk. Federal Deputy Minister of Defence, and formerly Assistant Minister to the Chief Minister, Sabah. Kuala Lumpur, October 1974.
- Foster, Sir John, K.B.E., Q.C., M.P. (Britain). One of the legal advisers to the Malay Rulers during the Malayan Union period. Letter to the present writer, 11 December 1973.
- Gilong, Datuk Ganse (later Abdul Ghani). Federal Minister of Justice, and

subsequently of Works and Power. Kuala Lumpur, March 1970.

- Harun bin Haji Idris, Datuk, Menteri Besar of Selangor. Kuala Lumpur, September 1973.
- Jugah anak Barieng, Tan Sri Datuk Amar Temenggong, Paramount leader of the Dayaks, especially in the Third Division of Sarawak. Federal Minister of Sarawak Affairs from September 1969 to his retirement in August 1974. Kusla Lumpur, March 1971; and Koching, February 1974. (December-1981)
- Jugah, Leonard Linggi. Son of Tan Sri Datuk Amar Temenggong Jugah. Was Minister with Special Functions, and later of Local Government, Sarawak, until August 1974. Now back at his practice as advocate and solicitor, Kaching. November 1971, and February 1974.
- Lawson (Dato) Justice Neil, Q.C. Adviser to the Sultan of Branei during the crucial period of the Malaysia negotiations in 1962 and 1965. Lewer, England, June 1972.
- Luping, Datuk Herman James. Former United Pasok Momogum Kaduran Organization leader. Assistant Minister of Co-ordination, and later appointed Assistant Minister to the Chief Minister, Sabah. Kora Kinabahu, November 1969, and February 1974.
- MacDonald, Malcom. Governor-General of the Malayan Union and Singapore, May-July 1946; Governor-General of Malaya, Singapore and Beinih Bornen, 1946-8; and Commissioner-General for the United Kingdom in Southeast Ana, 1946-55. Kuching, November 1971.
- Melan Abdullah. Veteran journalist who was active in Malay political morements, initially with the leftist groups, after the Japanese Occupation. Parliament House, Kuala Lumpur, July 1970.
- Mohd. Asri bin Haji Muda, Datuk Haji, A member of API in his youth; he neok over the Preudency of the PMIP in 1964. He left the party in 1982 and in 1983 formed a new party called Hirbul Mushmin (Hamim). Kuala Lumpur, March 1979.
- Mohamed bin Rahmat, Datuk. An active student leader during his years of study in Jakarta. Federal Deputy Minister of Co-ordination of Public Corporations. Kuala Lumpur, September 1971; and Cairo, January 1972.
- Mohamed Yassin Anik, Assistant Superintendent of Police, Sabah. An active participant in the resistance movement during the Japanese occupation. Kitala Lumpur, June 1971.
- Mojuntin, Dania Peter Jonod, Former secretary-general of the Unated Pasek Momogun Kadaran Organization. Artempted to form the Unateo of Sabah Poople party in 1971; and Became Assistant Manineer of Industral Development, Sabah, in October 1971. Kuala Lumpur, February 1971; and Penampang, Sabah, February 1924, Deceased-1987b
- Muhammad Ghazah bin Shafie, Tan Sri, Permanent secretary of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs before becoming a Senator, and Minister with Special Functions. Federal Minister of Home Affairs since August 1927, Kuala Lumpur, March 1971.
- Musa Hitam, Datuk. An active youth leader at national and international levels who later took up politics. Following his criticism of Tunku Abdul Rahman's

handling of the 13 May 1969 incident, he was dismissed from his post of Deputy Minister in the Prime Minister's Department. Returned to power politics after the Tunku's returnement in September 1970; was appointed a Deputy Minister of Trade and Industry, before he became Minister of Primary Industries in August 1974, and later Minister of Education and Deputy Prime Minister. Banekok, October 1070; and Kuala Dumpur, Jinuary 1972.

- Muthucumaru, M. President of the Negri Sembilan Indian Association. Seremban, August 1072.
- Ningkan, Datuk Stephen Kalong. President of the Sarawak National Party, and Chief Minister of Sarawak from September 1963 to September 1966. Kuala Lumpur, July 1970; and Kuching, November 1971.
- Ong Kee Hui, Datuk. President of the Sarawak United People's Party from its manguration in 1959. Keen observer of the Malaysian political scene from the opposition used until hap arty formed a coaliton with the Sarawak Alliance in July 1970. Became federal Minister of Technology, Research and Local Government in February 1971, and was later Minister of Local Government and the Environment from August 1974. Now retired from policito.
- Ramam, K. J. Professor of Polinical Science. University of Singapore, before he jound the University of Periang (later University of Science, Malayia) and became dean of the School of Comparative Social Sciences (from Spetember 1970 to January 1974. He was later director of the Centre for Policy Research, Prenane, from February 1974. Penane, August 1973.
- Rees-Wilhams, D. R. (Lord Ögmore). A lawyer in Penang from 1930 to 1934. Member of a two-MP British mission to observe the cession of Sarawak to the Breinb. Crown in 1940. He was also confidentially asked by the Secretary of State for the Colonies to cross over to Malaya to watch and report on the 1946 Malaya Union icheme, particularly the reactions of the Malaya against it. London, April 1972.
- Rendel, Sir George. A retired career diplomat who was appointed by Her Majesty's Government to head a Commission to decide on the constitutional future of Singapore in 1943. London, June 1972.
- Sambanhan, Tan V. T. Leader and President of the Malayan Indian Congress from 1953 to 1973. Held portfolios in the Federal Government, including those of Manaster of Posts and Telecommunications and Minister of National Unity before he partly retured from active politics in 1974. Kuala Lumpur, April 1973; and Geninge Highlands, March 1974. (Decased-1978)
- Sandhu, Kemial Singh. Associate Professor of Georgraphy. University of British Columbia. Vancouver, when he took up the post of Director of the Institute of Southeast Asian Studies, Singapore in July 1972. Singapore, April 1974.
- Sandin, Datuk Benedict. A Sarawak career civil servant who took special interest in Bian folklore and traditions and was curator and ethnologist at the Sarawak Museum and Archives from 1967 to his retirement in 1973. Kuching, October 1969, and November 1971.
- Smith, A. G. Former Director of Education, Sarawak. Hull, England, March 1973.

Stephens, Donald Aloysius (later Tan Sri Mohammed Fuad). A veteran journalist

who organized the first Stabh English daily, The Nerk Bones Neur and Sakis Tonen, in 1933, Becarue Unofficial Member of the North Boneso Eugliatore and Escoutive Councils. Organization (UNKO) in 1964 and the United Paok Monogun Kadaran Organization (UNKO) in 1964 and the United Paok Monogun Kadaran Organization (UNKO) in 1964 and the United Minister of Stabah upon its entry into Malayia in September 1963 and held the post until he was appointed federal Minister of Stabah Affairs and Corel Defence in January 1965. Stephens returned to active politics as the president of Berjaya-Manwhile he had been appointed Malayia i Hagle Commissioner to Autzralia in 1968. In January 1971, he embraced Ialam and became Mohammed Fuad Stephens. Appointed Yang DJ Pertua Negara of Stabah in Angura 1971, die same year he was conferred the title of Tan Sri. In 1976 he was made a Tam bat held of an air crash in June that year.

- Tajem, Daniel. An independent-minded liban graduate from New Zealand who was advocate and solicitor while keenly observing the Sarawak political scene. Became president of the Sarawak Dayak National Union; and succentifully contexted in the 1974 Sarawak state elections. Simanggang, Sarawak, October 1969; and Blandr Sen Begawan, Brunei, November 1971.
- Templer, General Sir Gerald. Well-known British High Commissioner and Director of Operations, Malaya, from January 1952 to June 1954. London, June 1972. (Deceased-1978)
- Thuraisingham, Datuk Sir E. E. Clough. Ceylonese leader of the 1950s in Malaya. Believed that the people should be 'equal and united' in Malaya. Letter to the present writer, ao November 1973. (Deccated-1978)
- Wang Gungwu. Professor of History, University of Malaya, before taking up the Chair of Far Eastern History at the Australian National University, Camberra, in August 1968. Kuala Lumpur, December 1971; and London, March 1972.
- Wong, Dank James, Vice-President of the Sarawak National Party, and was Deputy Chief Minister in the Ningkan cabinet from September 1965 to September 1966. Detained under the Preservation of Public Scourity Regulations (Sarawak) and the Internal Security Act on 30 October 1974. Rula Lumpur, February 1971; and Koching, February 1974.
- Wu Teh-yao. Remembered for his part in the Fenn-Wu report on Chinese education in Malaya, 1951. Professor of Political Science, University of Singapore. Singapore, October 1973.

#### 2. Official Sources

#### (a) Malayan Union Government

Advisory Council Proceedings, 1st April 1946, Kuala Lumpur, 1946.

Annual Report on Education in the Malayan Union for 1947, Kuala Lumpur, 1948. Annual Report on the Malayan Union, 1946, Kuala Lumpur, 1948.

Annual Report on the Malayan Union, 1947, Kuala Lumpur, 1947.

Constitutional Proposals for Malaya: Report of the Consultative Committee Together with Proceedings of Six Public Meetings, a Summary of Representations Made and

Letters and Memoranda Considered by the Committee, Kuala Lumpur, 1947.

Constitutional Proposals for Malaya: Report of the Working Committee Appointed by a Conference of His Excellency the Governor of the Malayan Union, Their Highnesses the Rulers of the Malay States and the Representatives of the United Malays National Orvenization. Kuala Lumpur, 1946.

Council Paper, No. 53 of 1946, Kuala Lumpur, 1946.

Report on a Mission to Malaya by Sir Harold MacMichael, G.C.M.G., D.S.O., Kuala Lumpur, 1946.

#### (b) Federation of Malaya

A Plan of Development for Malaya, 1956-60, Economic Secretariat, Kuala Lumpur, 1956.

Annual Report, 1951, Kuala Lumpur, 1952.

Annual Report, 1952, Kuala Lumpur, 1953.

Annual Report, 1953, Kuala Lumpur, 1954.

Annual Report on Education for 1949, Kuala Lumpur, 1950.

Annual Report on the Federation of Malaya, 1948, Kuala Lumpur, 1949.

Chinese Schools and the Education of Chinese Malayans. The Report of a Mission Invited by the Federation Government to Study the Problem of Education of Chinese in Malays (Fenn-Wu Report), Kuala Lumpur, 1961.

Communist Banditry in Malaya: The Emergency, Kuala Lumpur (n.d.).

Constitution (Amendment) Act 1962, Kuala Lumpur, 1962.

Draft Development Plan of the Federation of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, 1950.

- Federal Legislative Council Debates: Official Reports, 14th Meeting of the 4th Session of 2nd Legislative Council, 24 June 1959.
- Federation of Malaya (Amendment) Ordinance, 1952, Kuala Lumpur, 1952.

Federation of Malaya Constitution 1957, Kuala Lumpur, 1957.

Federation of Malaya Constitutional Proposals 1957, Kuala Lumpur, 1957.

Joint Public Statement Issued by the British and Malayan Governments on 1 August 1962, Kuala Lumpur, 1962.

Malayan Constitutional Documents, Kuala Lumpur, 1959.

Malaysia in Brief, Kuala Lumpur, 1963.

Official Year Book, 1961, Kuala Lumpur, 1961.

Proceedings of the Federal Legislative Council of the Federation of Malaya, 4th Session, February 1951-February 1952.

Progress Report on the Development Plan of the Federation of Malaya 1950-1952, Kuala Lumpur, 1953.

Report by the Chief Minister of the Federation of Malaya on the Baling Talks, Kuala Lumpur, 1956.

Report of a Commission to Enquire into Matters Affecting the Integrity of the Public Services, Kuala I ampur, 1955.

Report of the Commission on University Education in Malaya (Carr-Saunders Report), Kuala Lumpur, 1948.

Report of the Committee Appointed to Examine the Question of Elections to the Federal Legislative Council, Kuala Lumpur, 1954.

- Report of the Committee on the Malayanization of the Government Service, Kuala Lumpur, 1954.
- Report of the Committee to Consider the Problem of Malay Education (L. J. Barnes, Chairman), Kuala Lumpur, 1951.
- Report of the Constituency Delineation Commission, Kuala Lumpur, 1954-

Report of the Education Committee 1956 (Dato Abdul Razak bin Dato Hussein, Chairman), Kuala Lumpur, 1956.

- Report of the Education Review Committee 1960 (Abdul Rahman bin Haji Talib, Chairman), Kuala Lumpur, 1960.
- Report of the Federation of Malaya Constitutional Commission (Lord Reid, Chairman), Kuala Lumpur, 1957.
- Report of the Federation of Malaya Constitutional Conference Held in London in January and February, 1956, Kuzla Lumpur, 1956.
- Report of the First Election of Members to the Legislative Council of the Federation of Malaya (by T. E. Smith), Kuala Lumpur, 1955.

Report of the Land Administration Commission, Kuala Lumpur, 1958.

Report of the Special Committee Appointed on the 20th day of September 1951 to Recommend Legislation to Cover All Aspects of Educational Policy for the Federation of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, 1952.

- Report on the Barnes Report on Malay Education and the Fenn-Wu Report on Chinese Education, Kuala Lumpur, 1951.
- Report on Economic Planning in the Federation of Malaya in 1956 and on the Outcome of the Financial Talks held in London from December the 21st, 1956 to January the 10th, 1957, Kuzla Lumpur, 1957.
- Report on the Introduction of Elections in the Municipality of George Town, Penang, 1051, Kuala Lumpur, 1953.
- Report on the Parliamentary and State Elections, 1959, Kuala Lumpur, 1960.
- Resettlement and the Development of New Villages in the Federation of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, 1952

State Nationality Enactments, 1952, Kuala Lumpur, 1952.

- The Emergency Regulations Ordinance 1948 (amended up to 31 March 1953), Kuala Lumpur, 1953.
- The Federation of Malaya Agreement 1948, Kuala Lumpur, 1948.
- The Second Five-Year Plan 1061-65, Kuala Lumpur, 1961.
- The Text of the Agreement between the Government of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the Government of the Federation of Malaya on External Defence and Mutual Assistance, Kuala Lumpur, 1957.

#### (c) Malaysia

A Plot Exposed, Kuala Lumpur, 1965.

Background to Indonesia's Policy Towards Malaysia, Kuala Lumpur, 1963.

Education in Malaysia, Dewan Bahasa dan Pustaka, Kuala Lumpur, 1968.

First Malaysia Plan, 1966-1970, Kuala Lumpur, 1965.

Indonesian Involvement in Eastern Malaysia, Kuala Lumpur, 1964.

Interim Review of Development in Malaya Under the Second Five-Year Plan, Kuala

Lumpur, 1961.

Malaysia Federal Constitution, Kuala Lumpur, 1970.

Mid-Term Review of the First Malaysia Plan, 1966-1970, Kuala Lumpur, 1969. Mid-Term Review of the Second Malaysia Plan, 1071-1975, Kuala Lumpur, 1973. National Operations Council, The May 13 Tragedy, Kuala Lumpur, 1960. Official Year Book, 1961, Kuala Lumpur, 1964.

Parliamentary Debates (Dewan Ra'ayat); Official Reports, Vol. 2. 9 August 1965. Proclamation of Malaysia, Kuala Lumpur, 1963.

Report on the Parliamentary (Dewan Ra'ayat) and State Legislative Assembly General Elections 1964 of the States of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, 1965.

Report on the Sabah State Legislative Assembly General Election 1967, Kuala Lumpur, 1967.

Rukunegara, Kuala Lumpur, 1970.

Second Malaysia Plan, 1971-1975, Kuala Lumpur, 1971.

Speech by the Prime Minister, Malaysia: The National Language, Kuala Lumpur, 1067

The Militant Communist Threat to West Malaysia, Kuala Lumpur, 1966.

Towards National Harmony, Kuala Lumpur, 1971.

United Nations Malaysia Mission Report, Kuala Lumpur, 1963.

#### (d) Government of Sarawak

Annual Report on Sarawak for the Year 1948, Kuching, 1949.

Malaysia and Sarawak, Kuching, 1962.

Report of the Commission of Enquiry, North Borneo and Sarawak, 1962 (Lord Cobbold, Chairman), Kuching, 1962.

Report of the Land Committee, 1962, Kuching, 1963.

Sarawak And Its Government, Kuching, 1954.

Sarawak Annual Report, 1953. Kuching, 1954.

Sarawak Annual Report, 1955, Kuching 1956.

Sarawak Annual Report, 1956, Kuching, 1957.

Sarawak Annual Report, 1958, Kuching, 1959.

Sarawak Annual Report, 1959, HMSO, London, 1961.

Sarawak Annual Report, 1960, Kuching, 1961.

The Danger Within: A History of the Clandestine Communist Organisation in Sarawak, Kuching, 1963.

The Sarawak Government Gazette, 24 September 1941.

### (e) Government of Sabah (formerly North Borneo)

Annual Report, 1954, Jesselton (now Kota Kinabalu), 1955.

Annual Report, 1956, HMSO, London, 1957.

Annual Report on North Borneo for the Year 1947, HMSO, London, 1948.

Annual Report on North Borneo for the Year 1948, HMSO, London, 1949.

Annual Report on North Borneo for the Year 1950, Jesselton, 1951.

British North Borneo Chartered Company, Handbook of British North Borneo, 1886. William Clowers and Sons, London, 1886.

British North Borneo (Chartered) Company, Handbook of the State of North Borneo, London, 1914.

Malaysia: Report of the Inter-Governmental Committee, Jesselton, 1963.

North Borneo and Malaysia, Jesselton, 1962.

North Borneo Annual Report, 1955, Jesselton, 1956.

North Bornero Annual Report, 1950, Jesselton, 1960.

North Borneo Annual Report, 1061, Jesselton, 1962.

Standing Orders of the Legislative Assembly of State of Sabah (by G. E. N. Oehlers, Speaker), Jesselton (n.d.).

The Laws of North Borneo in Force on the 30th June 1953, Vol. 6, HMSO, London, 1954.

#### (f) Government of Singapore

Annual Report, 1958, Singapore, 1959.

Malaysia-Age of Revolution, Singapore (n.d.).

Memorandum Setting out Heads of Agreement for a Merger between the Federation of Malaya and Singapore, Singapore, 1961.

Proclamation of Singapore, Singapore, 1965.

Report of the Rendel Constitutional Commission, Singapore, 1954.

Separation: Singapore's Independence on 9th August 1965, Singapore, (1965?).

The Economic Development of Malaya: Report of a Mission organized by the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development at the Request of the Government of the Federation of Malaya, the Crown Colony of Singapore and the United Kinodom, Singapore, 1955.

#### (g) Great Britain

British Dependencies in the Far East, 1945-1949, HMSO, London, 1949.

- Colonial Office Records, C.O. 273/535, Malayan Bulletin of Political Intelligence, October 1926.
- Federation of Malaya: Summary of Revised Constitutional Proposals, Cmd. 7171 of 1947. HMSO. London, 1947.
- Hansard (House of Commons), Vol. 414, 1945/1946; and Vol. 420, 1946/1947.

Malaya: The Making of a Nation, HMSO, London, 1957.

Malayan Union and Singapore: Statement of Policy on Future Constitution, Cmd. 6724 HMSO, London, 1946.

Malayan Union and Singapore: Summary of Proposed Constitutional Arrangement, Cmd. 6749 of 1946, HMSO, London, 1946.

Malaysia: Agreement concluded between the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Iteland, the Federation of Malaya, North Borneo, Sarawak and Singapore, Cmd. 2004. of 1963, HMSO, London, 1963.

Report of the Federation of Malaya Constitutional Conference, London 1956, London, 1956.

Report of the Singapore Constitutional Conference Held in London in March and April 1957, Cmd. 147 of 1957, HMSO, London, 1957.

The Colonial Empire (1939-1947), Cmd. 7167 of 1948, HMSO, London, 1948. The Colonial Empire (1947-1948), Cmd. 7433 of 1948, HMSO, London, 1948.

#### (h) Republic of Indonesia

Panitia Pusat, Menjambut Malaya Merdeka (n.p.), Djakarta, 1957.

- 1. Menteri Penerangan Republik Indonesia, 'Proklamasi Kemerdekaan Melahirkan Disiplin Bernegara'.
- 2. Garieb A. Raouf, 'Menjongsung Kemerdekaan Malaya'.
- 3. E. Z. Muttaqien, 'Mensjukur Kemerdekaan Malaya'.

#### (i) Government of Brunei

State of Brunei, Annual Report, 1958, Kuching, 1959.

#### 3. Books

- Abdul Rahman Omar, Aliran Gerakan Nasionalisme di Asia Tenggara, Pustaka Aman, Kota Bharu, 1969.
- Adams, R. M., The Malayan Union: A Study in British Empire Federation, Boulder, Colorado, 1948.
- Agastja, I. K. (Ibrahim Yaacob), Sedjarah dan Perjuangan di Malaya, Jogjakarta, 1951.
- Ahmad Boestamam, Dr. Burhanuddin: Putera Setia Melayu Raya, Penerbitan Pustaka Kejora, Kuala Lumpur, 1972.
- \_\_\_\_\_, Merintis Jalan Ke Puncak, Penerbitan Pustaka Kejora, Kuala Lumpur, 1972.

Alatas, S. H., The Myth of the Lazy Native, Frank Cass, London, 1977.

Alexander, G., Silent Invasion: The Chinese in Southeast Asia, MacDonald and Company, London, 1973.

Ali Al-Haji Riau, Tuhfat al-Nafis, Malaysia Publications, Singapore, 1965.

Allen, G. C. and Donnithorne, A. G., Western Enterprise in Indonesia and Malaya, Macmillan Company, New York, 1957.

- Allen, R., Malaysia: Prospect and Retrospect, Oxford University Press, London, 1968.
- Anwar Abdullah, Dato Onn: Riwayat Hidup, Pustaka Nusantara, Petaling Jaya, 1971.
- Arasaratnam, S., Indians in Malaysia and Singapore, Oxford University Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1970.
- Ardizzone, M., A Nation is Born: Being a Defence of Malayan Union, The Falcon Press, London, 1946.
- Ariff, M. O., The Philippines' Claim to Sabah, Oxford University Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1970.

Allen, J. V., Malayan Union, Yale University, New Haven, 1967.

Awberry, S. S. and Dalley, G. W., Labour and Trade Union Organisation in the Federation of Malaya and Singapore, Government Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1948.

Baker, M. H., Sabah: The First Ten Years as a Colony, 1946-1956, Malaysia Publishing House, new edn., Singapore, 1965.

Bali, K., Sayang Sarawak, Pustaka Aman, Kota Bharu, 1966.

Barber, N., The War of the Running Dogs: How Malaya Defeated the Communist Guerrillas, Fontana Books, London, 1972.

Baring-Gould, S. and Bampfylde, C. A., A History of Sarawak Under its Two White Rajahs, 1839-1908, Henry Sotheran and Company, London, 1909.

Barlow, Colin, The Natural Rubber Industry: Its Development, Technology, and Economy in Malaysia, Oxford University Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1978.

Barth, F., Ethnic Groups and Boundaries, George Allen and Unwin, London, 1969.

Bastin, J. and Smith, T. E., Malaysia, Oxford University Press, London, 1967.

Bedlington, Stanley S., Malaysia and Singapore: The Building of New States, Ithaca, N.Y., 1978.

Bellows, T. J., The People's Action Party of Singapore: Emergence of a Dominant Party System, Yale University Press, New Haven, 1970.

- Benham, F. C., The National Income of Malaya, 1947-49, Government Press, Singapore, 1951.
- Bird, I. L., The Golden Chersonese and the Way Thither, Oxford University Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1967 (reprint of 1883 edition).

Blythe, W., The Impact of Chinese Secret Societies in Malaya (A Historical Study), Oxford University Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1969.

Bonney, R., Kedah, 1771-1821: The Search for Security and Independence, Oxford University Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1971.

Boyce, P., Malaysia and Singapore in International Diplomacy: Documents and Commentaries, Sydney University Press, Sydney, 1968.

Brimmell, J. H., A Short History of the Malayan Communist Party, Donald Moore Press, Singapore, 1956.

\_\_\_\_\_, Communism in Southeast Asia, Oxford University Press, London, 1959. Brooke, A., The Facts about Sarawak, William Crocker, London, 1946.

Brown, C. C., Sejarah Melayu or Malay Annals, Oxford University Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1970.

Brown, D. E., Brunei: The Structure and History of a Bornean Malay Sultanate, Brunei Museum, Bandar Seri Begawan, 1970.

Carr, E. H., Nationalism and After, Macmillan Company, London, 1945.

Chai Hon-chan. The Development of British Malaya, 1896-1909, Oxford University Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1964.

Chan Heng Chee, Singapore: The Politics of Survival, 1965-1967, Oxford University Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1971.

Chapman, F. S., The Jungle is Neutral, Chatto and Windus, London, 1949.

Chater, W. J., Sarawak Long Ago, Borneo Literature Bureau, Kuching, 1969.

Cheah Boon Kheng, The Masked Comrades: A Study of the Communist United Front in Malaya, 1945-1948, Times Books International, Singapore, 1979.

Ch'en, Jerome and Nicholas Tarling (eds.), Studies in the Social History of China

Bowle, J., The Nationalist Idea, Ampersand, London, 1955.

and Southeast Asia, Cambridge University Press, London, 1970.

Chin, John M., The Sarawak Chinese, Oxford University Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1981.

Chin Kee Onn, Malaya Upside Down, Jits and Company, Singapore, 1946.

Clutterbuck, R., Riot and Revolution in Singapore and Malaya, 1945-1963, Faber and Faber, London, 1973.

- Comber, L. F., Chinese Secret Societies in Malaya: A Survey of the Triad Society from 1800 to 1900, J. J. Augustin Incorporated, New York, 1959.
- Cooper, A. M., Men of Sarawak, Oxford University Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1968.
- Corry, W. C. S., Malaya Today, British Commonwealth Affairs, No. 9, London, 1955.
- Cowan, C. D., Nineteenth Century Malaya: The Origins of British Political Control, Oxford University Press, London, 1961.
- Crabb, C. H., Malaya's Eurasians-An Opinion, Eastern Universities Press, Singapore, 1960.
- Dawson, T. R. P., Tan Siew Sin: The Man From Malacca, Donald Moore Press, Singapore, 1969.
- Desai, A. R. (ed.), Essays on Modernization of Underdeveloped Countries, Vol. 1, Thacker & Co., Bombay, 1971.
- Deutsch, K. W., Nationalism and Social Communication, M.I.T. Press, 2nd edn., Cambridge, Mass., 1966.
- Donnison, F. S. V., British Military Administration in the Far East 1943-1946, HMSO, London, 1957.
- Dow, M. W., Nation Building in Southeast Asia, Pruett Press, Boulder, Colorado, 1965.
- Drabble, J. H., Rubber in Malaya 1876–1922: The Genesis of the Industry, Oxford University Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1973.
- Durai Raja Singam S. (ed. & pub.), Tribute to Tunku Abdul Rahman, Kuala Lumpur, 1963.
- Elsbree, W. H., Japan's Role in Southeast Asian Nationalist Movements, 1940 to 1945, Harvard University Press, Cambridge, Mass., 1953.
- Emerson, R., From Empire to Nation, Harvard University Press, Cambridge, Mass., 1962.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, Malaysia: A Study in Direct and Indirect Rule, University of Malaya Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1964 (reprint of 1937 edition).

(ed.), Government and Nationalism in Southeast Asia, Institute of Pacific Relations, New York, 1942.

- Enloe, C. H., Ethnic Conflict and Political Development, Little Brown & Co., Boston, 1973.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, Multi-Ethnic Politics: The Case of Malaysia, University of California, Berkeley, 1970.
- Esman, M. J., Administration and Development in Malaysia: Institution Building and Reform in a Plural Society, Cornell University Press, Ithaca, N.Y., 1972.

\_\_\_\_\_, The Long Long War: The Emergency in Malaya, 1948-1960, Cassell and Company, 2nd edn., London, 1967.

- Evans, I. H. N., Among Primitive Peoples in Borneo, Cambridge University Press, London, 1922.
- Evans, S. R., Guide for Sabah Native Courts, Borneo Literature Bureau, Kuching, 1967.
- Fatimi, S. Q., Islam Comes to Malaysia, Malaysian Sociological Research Institute, Singapore, 1963.
- Fisher, C. A., Southeast Asia: A Social, Economic and Political Geography, Methuen and Company, London, 1966.
- Fletcher, N. M., The Separation of Singapore From Malaysia, Cornell University Press, Ithaca, N.Y., 1969.
- Franck, T. M., Why Federations Fail, New York University Press, New York, 1968.

Fujiwara Iwaichi, Lt.-Gen., F. Kikan Japanese Army Intelligence Operations in Southeast Asia during World War II, Heinemann Asia, Hong Kong, 1983. Translated by Akashi Yoji.

Furnivall, J. S., Colonial Policy and Practice, New York University Press, New York, 1956.

Gagliano, F. V., Communal Violence in Malaysia 1969: The Political Aftermath, Ohio University, Athens, Ohio, 1970.

Gamba, C., The Origins of Trade Unionism in Malaya, Eastern Universities Press, Singapore, 1962.

Geddes, W. R., Land Dayaks of Sarawak, HMSO, London, 1954.

George, T. J. S., Lee Kuan Yew's Sinpapore, Andre Deutsch, London, 1973.

Gibson, W. S. and Maxwell, W. G. (eds.), Treaties and Engagements affecting the Malay States and Borneo, Truscott and Son, London, 1924.

- Ginsburg, N. and Robert, Jr., C. F., Malaya, University of Washington Press, Seattle, 1958.
- Goh Cheng Teik, The May Thirteenth Incident and Democracy in Malaysia, Oxford University Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1971.
- Gould, J. W., The United States and Malaysia, Harvard University Press, Cambridge, Mass., 1969.
- Groves, H. E., The Constitution of Malaysia, Malaysia Publications, Singapore, 1964.
- Guillemard, L., Trivial Fond Records, Methuen and Company, London, 1937.
- Gullick. J. M., Indigenous Political Systems of Western Malaya, University of London Press, London, 1958.

\_\_\_\_\_, Malaya, Ernest Benn, 2nd edn., London, 1964.

Gwee Hock Aun, The Emergency in Malaya, Sinaran Brothers, Penang, 1966.

- Hall, J. M., Kinabalu Guerrillas (An Account of the Double Tenth 1943), Sarawak Press, Kuching (1949?).
- \_\_\_\_\_, Labuan Story, Chung Nam Printing Company, Jesselton (now Kota Kinabalu), 1958.
- Hanna, W. A., Sequel to Colonialism: The 1957-1960 Foundations for Malaysia, American University Field Staff, New York, 1965.

Freeman, J. D., Report on the Iban, University of London Press, London, 1970.

\_\_\_\_\_, Nine Dayak Nights, Oxford University Press, London, 1957.

\_\_\_\_\_. The Formation of Malaysia: New Factor in World Politics, American University Field Staff, New York, 1962.

- Hanrahan, G. Z., The Communist Struggle in Malaya, University of Malaya Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1971 (reprint of 1954 edition).
- Hayes, C. J. H., The Historical Evolution of Modern Nationalism, Macmillan Company, New York, 1931.
- Ho Seng Ong, Education for Unity in Malaya: An Evaluation of the Educational System of Malaya with Special Reference to the Need for Unity in its Plural Society, Malayan Teachers' union, Penang, 1952.
- Hoalim, Sr., P., The Malayan Democratic Union: Singapore's First Democratic Political Party, Institute of Southeast Asian Studies, Singapore, 1973.
- Holland, W. L. (ed.), Asian Nationalism and the West, Macmillan Company, New York, 1953.
- Hyde, D., Confrontation in the East, Donald Moore Books, Singapore, 1965.
- Ibrahim Yaacob, Sekitar Malaya Merdeka, Kesatuan Malaya Merdeka, Djakarta, 1957.
- International Bank for Reconstruction and Development, The Economic Development of Malaya, Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore, 1955.
- International Labour Office, The Trade Union Situation in the Federation of Malaya, Geneva, 1962.
- Irwin, G., Nineteenth-Century Borneo, Donald Moore Press, Singapore, 1965.
- Ishak bin Haji Muhammad, Bersatu Sekarang (Annies Print Works?), Johor Bahru, 1956.
- Jackson, R. N., Immigrant Labour and the Development of Malaya, 1786-1920, Government Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1961.
- lames, H. and Sheil-Small, D., The Undeclared War, Leo Cooper, London, 1971.
- Jang Aisjah Muttalib, Pemberontakan Pahang 1891-1895, Penerbitan Kelantan, Kota Bharu, 1972.

Jasni, R. M., Sejarah Sabah, Sinaran Brothers, Penang, 1965.

\_\_\_\_\_, Tanah Ayer Kita, Negeri Sabah, Sinaran Brothers, Penang, 1969.

Jennings, Sir Ivor, Cabinet Government, London, 1959.

Jones, L. W., The Population of Borneo, University of London Press, London, 1966.

Jones, S. W., Public Administration in Malaya, Royal Institute of International Affairs, London, 1951.

Josey, A., Lee Kuan Yew, Donald Moore Press, Singapore, 1968.

- \_\_\_\_\_, Lee Kuan Yew: The Struggle for Singapore, Angus and Robertson, Sydney, 1974.
- \_\_\_\_\_, Trade Unionism in Malaya, Donald Moore Press, Singapore, 1954.

Kahin, G. M., Nationalism and Revolution in Indonesia, Cornell University Press, Ithaca, N.Y., 1952.

Kamenka, E. (ed.), Nationalism: The Nature and Evolution of an Idea, Australian National University Press, Canberra, 1973.

Kedourie, E., Nationalism, Hutchinson University Library, 3rd edn., London, 1964. Kennedy, J., Asian Nationalism in the Twentieth Century, Macmillan & Company,

\_\_\_\_\_, The Separation of Singapore from Malaysia, American University Field Staff, New York, 1965.

London, 1968.

- Khoo Kay Kim, The Western Malay States, 1850–1873, Oxford University Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1972.
- King, F. H. H., The New Malayan Nation: A Study of Communalism and Nationalism, Institute of Pacific Relations, New York, 1957.
- Kohn, H., Nationalism: Its Meaning and History, D. Van Nostrand Company, Princeton, New Jersey, 1965.
- . The Idea of Nationalism, Collier Books, New York, 1967.
- Komer, R. W., The Malayan Emergency in Retrospect: Organization of a Successful Counterinsurgency Effort, Rand Corporation, Santa Monica, 1972.
- Kroef, J. M. van der, Communism in Malaysia and Singapore, Martinus Nijhoff, The Hague, 1967.
- Kunstadter, P. (ed.), Southeast Asian Tribes, Minorities and Nations, Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey, 1967.
- Lafalombara, J. and Weiner, M. (eds.), Political Parties and Political Development, Princeton, New Jersey, 1966.
- Lee Kuan Yew, Malaysia-Age of Revolution, Government Press, Singapore, 1965.
- \_\_\_\_\_, The Battle for a Malaysian Malaysia, Government Press, Singapore, 1965.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, The Battle for Merger, Government Press, Singapore 1961.
- Lee Yong Leng, North Borneo (Sabah): A Study in Settlement Geography, Eastern Universities Press, Singapore, 1965.

Leifer, M., The Philippine Claim to Sabah, University of Hull, Hull, 1968.

- \_\_\_\_\_, (ed.), Nationalism, Revolution and Evolution in Southeast Asia, University of Hull, Hull, 1970.
- Leigh, M. B., The Chinese Community of Sarawak: A Study of Communal Relations, Malaysia Publishing House, Singapore, 1964.
- \_\_\_\_\_, The Rising Moon: Political Change in Sarawak, University of Sydney Press, Sydney, 1974.
- Liang Kim Bang, 'Sarawak, 1941–1957', Number Five: Singapore Studies on Borneo and Malaya, University of Singapore, Singapore, 1964.
- Lim Chong-Yah, Economic Development of Modern Malaya, Oxford University Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1967.
- Lim Lin Lean, Some Aspects of Income Differentials in West Malaysia, Faculty of Economics and Administration, University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, 1971.
- Lim Tay Boh, The Co-operative Movement in Malaya, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1950.
- \_\_\_\_\_, (ed.), Problems of the Malayan Economy, Eastern Universities Press, 3rd -rev. edn., Singapore 1960.
- Loh Fook Seng, P., The Malay States, 1877-1895, Oxford University Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1969.
- MacIntyre, S. C., Through Memory Lane, University Education Press, Singapore, 1973.
- Mackenzie, W. J. M., Political Identity, Manchester University Press, Manchester, 1978.
- Mackie, J. A. C., Konfrontasi: The Indonesia-Malaysia Dispute 1963-1966, Oxford University Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1974.

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

McKie, R., Malaysia in Focus, Angus and Robertson, Sydney, 1963.

McVey, R. T., The Calcutta Conference and the Southeast Asian Uprisings, Cornell University, Ithaca, N.Y., 1958.

- Mahathir bin Mohamad, The Malay Dilemma, Federal Publications, Kuala Lumpur, 1970.
- Majul, C. A., Muslims in the Philippines, University of the Philippines Press, Quezon City, 1973.
- Marshall, D., Singapore's Struggle for Nationhood, 1945-1959, University Education Press, Singapore, 1971.
- Masanobu Tsuji, Singapore: The Japanese Version, Mayflower-Dell, London, 1966.
- Maxwell, G., The Civil Defence of Malaya, Hutchinson and Company, London, 1944.
- Maxwell, W. G. and Gibson, W. S. (eds.), Treaties and Engagements Affecting the Malay States and Borneo, Truscott and Son, London, 1924.

Means, G. P., Malaysian Politics, University of London Press, London, 1970.

Mehden, F. R. van der, Religion and Nationalism in Southeast Asia, University of Wisconsin Press, Madison, 1963.

Miller, H., A Short History of Malaysia, Frederick A. Praeger, New York, 1966. , Menace in Malaya, George G. Harrap, London, 1954.

\_\_\_\_\_, Prince and Premier: A Biography of Tunku Abdul Rahman Putra al-Haj, First Prime Minister of the Federation of Malaya, George G. Harrap, London, 1959.

Mills, L. A., British Malaya, 1824-1867, Oxford University Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1967 (reprint of 1960 edition).

Malaya: A Political and Economic Appraisal, University of Minnesota Press, Minneapolis, 1958.

and Thompson, V., Government and Nationalism in Southeast Asia, Institute of Pacific Relations, New York, 1942.

Milne, R. S., Government and Politics in Malaysia, Houghton Mifflin Company, Boston, 1967.

\_\_\_\_\_ and Ratnam, K. J., Malaysia: New States in a New Nation, Frank Cass, London, 1974.

Minogue, K. R., Nationalism, B. T. Batsford, London, 1967.

Mohamed Noordin Sopiee, From Malayan Union to Singapore Separation, Penerbit Universiti Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, 1974.

Mohamed Suffian bin Hashim, An Introduction to the Constitution of Malaysia, Government Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1972.

Morais, V. J. (compiler and publisher), Who's Who in Malaysia and Singapore, Kuala Lumpur, 1959-.

Muhammad Ghazali bin Shafie, Confrontation: A Manifestation of the Indonesian Problem, Government Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1964.

Muhammad Yunus Hamidi, Sejarah Pergerakan Politik Melayu Semenanjong, Kuala Lumpur, Pustaka Antara (1961?).

Nabir bin Haji Abdullah, Maahad II Ihya Assyariff Gunung Semanggol, 1934-1959.

Jabatan Sejarah, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, Kuala Lumpur, 1976.

- Ness, G. D., Bureaucracy and Rural Development in Malaysia, University of California Press, Berkeley, 1967.
- Nyce, R., Chinese New Village in Malaya: A Community Study, Malaysian Sociological Research Institute, Singapore, 1973.
- O'Balance, E., Malaya: The Communist Insurgent War, 1948-60, Faber and Faber, London, 1966.
- One of them [Abdul Majid bin Haji Zainuddin], The Malays in Malaya, Malaya Publishing House, Singapore, 1928.
- Ong Yoke Lin, Malaysia at the United Nations, Government Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1963.
- Ongkili, J. P., Modernization in East Malaysia, 1960-1970, Oxford University Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1972.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, Susuzan Totopot do Sabah (History of Sabah), Borneo Literature Bureau, Kuching, 1965.
- \_\_\_\_\_, The Borneo Response to Malaysia, 1961-1963, Donald Moore Press, Singapore, 1967.
- Onract, R., Singapore-A Police Background, Dorothy Crisp, London, 1947.
- Ooi Jin-bee, Land, People and Economy in Malaya, Longmans, Green and Company, London, 1963.
- Osborne, M. E., Singapore and Malaysia, Cornell University Press, Ithaca, N.Y., 1964.
- Owen, F., The Fall of Singapore, Michael Joseph, London, 1960.
- Palit, D. K., The Campaign in Malaya, English Book Store, New Delhi, 1960.
- Pang Cheng Lian, Singapore's People's Action Party: Its History, Organization and Leadership, Oxford University Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1971.
- Panikkar, K. M., Asia and Western Dominance, George Allen and Unwin, new edn., London, 1959.
- Parkinson, C. N., Britain in the Far East: The Singapore Naval Base, Eastern Universities Press, Singapore, 1955.
- \_\_\_\_\_, British Intervention in Malaya 1867-1877, University of Malaya Press, Singapore, 1960.
- Parmer, J. N., Colonial Labor Policy and Administration: A History of Labor in the Rubber Plantation Industry in Malaya, c.1910-1941, J. J. Augustin Incorporated, New York, 1960.
- Payne, R., The White Rajahs of Sarawak, Robert Hale, London, 1960.
- Peet, G. L., Political Questions in Malaya, Cambridge University Press, London, 1949.
- Pringgodigdo, A. K., Sedjarah Pergerakan Rakjat Indonesia, Penerbitan Dian Rakyat, tjetakan ketudjuh, Djakarta, 1970.
- Pringle, R., Rajahs and Rebels: The Ibans of Sarawak under Brooke Rule, 1841-1941, Macmillan Company, London, 1970.
- Purcell, V., Malaya: Communist or Free?, Victor Gollancz, London, 1954.
- \_\_\_\_\_, The Chinese in Malaya, Oxford University Press, London, 1948.
- \_\_\_\_\_, The Chinese in Modern Malaya, Donald Moore Press, Singapore, 1956.
- \_\_\_\_\_, The Revolution in Southeast Asia, Thames and Hudson, London, 1962.

## BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Puthucheary, J. J., Ownership and Control in the Malayan Economy, Donald Moore, Singapore, 1960.
- Pye, L. W., Guerrilla Communism in Malaya (Its Social and Political Meaning), Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1956.
- Ratnam, K. J., Communalism and the Political Process in Malaya, University of Malaya Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1965.

and Milne, R. S., The Malayan Parliamentary Election of 1964, University of Malaya Press, Singapore, 1967.

- Recce, R. H. W., The Name of Brooke: The End of White Rajah Rule in Sarawak, Oxford University Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1982.
- Rees-Williams, D. R., et al., Three Reports on the Malayan Problem, Institute of Pacific Relations, New York, 1949.
- Reid, A.J.S., The Contest of North Sumatra, Oxford University Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1969.
- Richards, A. (ed.), The Sea Dayaks and Other Races of Sarawak, Kuching, 1963 (reprint of 1912 edition).
- Robinson, A., The Malayan Campaign in the light of the Principles of War, Royal United Service Institution, London, 1964.
- Robinson, J. B. P., Transformation in Malaya, Secker and Warburg, London, 1956.
- Roff, M. C., The Politics of Belonging: Political Change in Sabah and Satawak, Oxford University Press, Kuzla Lumpur, 1974.
- Roff, W.R., The Origins of Malay Nationalism, University of Malaya Press, Singapore, 1967.
- Rokkan, S., Citizens' Election Parties, Universitetsforlaget, Oslo, 1970.
- Romulo, C. P., Contemporary Nationalism and the World Order, Asia Publishing House, New York, 1964.

Rose, S., Britain and South-East Asia, Chatto and Windus, London, 1962.

- Royal Institute of International Affairs, Nationalism, Oxford University Press, London, 1939.
- Runciman, S., The White Rajahs, Cambridge University Press, London, 1960. Ruslan Abdulgani, Nasionalisme Asia, Jajasan Pantjaka, Djakarta, 1964.
- Rutter, O., British North Borneo, Constable and Company, London, 1922.
- Sadka, E., The Protected Malay States 1874-1895, University of Malaya Press, Singapore, 1968.
- Salleh Daud, UMNO, Image and Reality, UMNO Headquarters, Kuala Lumpur (1966?).
- Sandhu, K. S., Indians in Malaya: Some Aspects of Their Immigration and Settlement (1786-1957), Cambridge University Press, London, 1969.
- Sandin, B., The Sea Dayaks of Borneo, Macmillan, London, 1967.
- Scott, J. C., Political Ideology in Malaysia, Yale University Press, New Haven, 1968.
- Senu Abdul Rahman (ed.), Revolusi Mental, Penerbitan Utusan Melayu, Kuala Lumpur, 1971.
- Shellabear, W. G., Sejarah Melayu, Oxford University Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1967 (reprint of 1898 edition).

- Sheridan, L. A., Federation of Malaya Constitution, University of Malaya Law Review, Singapore, 1961.
- Short, Anthony, The Communist Insurrection in Malaya, 1948-1960, Frederick Muller Limited, London, 1975.
- Siew Nim Chee, Development Challenge in Malaysia, Ohio University, Athens, Ohio, 1968.

Silcock, T. H., The Economy of Malaya, Eastern Universities Press, 4th edn., Singapore, 1963.

\_\_\_\_\_, Towards a Malayan Nation, Donald Moore Press, Singapore, 1961.

\_\_\_\_\_ and Fisk, E.K. (eds.), The Political Economy of Independent Malaya, Australian National University Press, Canberra, 1963.

Simandjuntak, B., Malayan Federalism, 1945-1963, Oxford University Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1969.

Simson, I., Singapore; too little, too late-the failure of Malaya's Defences in 1942, Asia Pacific Press, Singapore, 1970.

Skinner, C., The Civil War in Kelantan, 1839, Malaysian Branch, Royal Asiatic Society, Singapore, 1965.

Slimming, J., Malaysia: Death of a Democracy, J. Murray, London, 1969.

Smith, T. E., Population Growth in Malaya, Royal Institute of International Affairs, London, 1952.

\_\_\_\_\_, The Background to Malaysia, Oxford University Press, London, 1963.

Snyder, L. L., The Dynamics of Nationalism, D. Van Nostrand Company, New York, 1964.

Soekarno, Nationalism, Islam and Marxism, Cornell University, Ithaca, N.Y., 1969.

Soctan Sjahrir, Nationalism and Internationalism, U Hla Aung, and edn., Rangoon, 1953.

Song Ong Siang, One Hundred Years' History of the Chinese in Singapore, University of Malaya Press, Singapore, 1967 (reprint of 1923 edition).

Stenson, M. R., Industrial Conflict in Malaya, Oxford University Press, London, 1970.

\_\_\_\_\_, Repression and Revolt: The Origins of the 1948 Communist Insurrection in Malaya and Singapore, Ohio University, Athens, Ohio, 1969.

\_\_\_\_\_. The 1948 Communist Revolt in Malaya: A Note on Historical Sources and Interpretation, Institute of Southeast Asian Studies, Singapore, 1971.

Swettenham, F., British Malaya, John Lane the Bodley Head, London, 1907.

Swift, M.G., Malay Peasant Society in Jelebu, University of London Press, London, 1965.

Syed Husin Ali, Malay Present Society and Leadership, Oxford University Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1975.

Tan Cheng Lock, A Collection of Correspondence (privately published), Singapore, 1950.

\_\_\_\_\_, A Collection of Speeches and Writings, Tiger Standard Press, (n.p., n.d.).

. Malayan Freedom and Independence (privately published) (n.p.), 1953.

252 BIBLIOGRAPHY
. Miscellaneous Speeches (privately published), Malacca (n.d.).
Tarling, N., Britain, the Brookes and Brunei, Oxford University Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1971.
Thayer, P. W., Nationalism and Progress in Free Asia, Johns Hopkins Press, Baltimore, 1956.
Thio, E., British Policy in the Malay Peninsula 1850-1910, University of Malaya Press, Singapore, 1969.
Thompson, V., Poismortem on Malaya, Macmillan Company, New York, 1943. , and Adloff, R., The Left Wing in Southeast Asia, William Sloane Associates, New York, 1950.
and Mills, L. A., Government and Nationalism in Southeast Asia, Institute of Pacific Relations, New York, 1942.
Tien Ju-Kang, The Chinese of Sarawak, University of London, London, 1953.
Tilman, R. O., Bureaucratic Transition in Malaya, Cambridge University Press, London, 1964.
Tregonning, K. G., North Borneo, HMSO, London, 1960.
1958; 2nd edn., 1965, as A History of Modern Sabah, 1881-1963, with an additional chapter covering 1946-63.
Tufo, M. V. del, Malaya: A Report on the 1957 Census of Population, Government Press, Singapore, 1948.
Tunku Abdul Rahman, May 13-Before and After, Utusan Melayu Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1969.
Turnbull, C. M., The Straits Settlements, 1826-67, University of London Press, London, 1972.
Ungku A. Aziz, Renchanaz Ekonomi dan Kemiskinan, Pustaka Melayu Singapura, 1959.
, Subdivision of Estates in Malaya, Government Press, Vol. 1, Kuala Lumpur, 1963.

Usha Mahajani, The Role of Indian Minorities in Burma and Malaya, Vora and Company Publishers, Bombay, 1960.

Vasil, R. K., Politics in a Plural Society, Oxford University Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1971.

\_\_\_\_\_, The Malaysian General Election of 1969, Oxford University Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1972.

Vaughan, J. D., The Manners and Customs of the Chinese of the Straits Settlements, Oxford University Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1971 (reprint of 1879 edition).

- Vorys, Karl von, Democracy without Consensus; Communalism and Political Stability in Malaysia, Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1975.
- Wang Gungwu, A Short History of the Nanyang Chinese, Donald Moore, Singapore, 1959.

- Wheatley, P., The Golden Khersonese, University of Malaya Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1961.
- Wheeler, R. L., The Modern Malay, George Allen and Unwin, London, 1928.
- Wilber, D. N. (ed.), The Nations of Asia, Hart Publishing Company, New York, 1966.
- Wilkinson, R. J. (ed.), Papers on Malay Subjects, Kuala Lumpur, 1925.
- Williams, T.R., The Dusun: A North Borneo Society, Holt, Rinehart and Winston, New York, 1965.
- Winstedt, R. O., Britain and Malaya, 1786-1948, Longmans, Green and Company, revised edn., London, 1949.
- \_\_\_\_\_, Malaya and its History, Hutchinson University Library, 2nd edn., London, 1951.
- Wolters, O. W., The Fall of Srivijaya in Malay History, Lund Humphries Publishers, London, 1970.
- Wong Choon San, A Gallery of Chinese Kapitans, Dewan Bahasa dan Kebudayaan Kebangsaan, Singapore, 1963.

Wong Hoy Kee, F. and Ee Tiang Hong, Education in Malaysia, Singapore, 1971.

- Wong Lin Ken, The Malayan Tin Industry to 1914, University of Arizona Press, Tucson, 1965.
- Wright, L. R., The Origins of British Borneo, University of Hong Kong Press, Hong Kong, 1970.
- Yeo Kim Wah, Political Development in Singapore, 1945-1955, Singapore University Press, Singapore, 1973.
- Yoji Akashi, The Nanyang Chinese National Salvation Movement, 1937-1941. Centre for East Asian Studies, University of Kansas, 1970.
- Zainal Abidin bin Abdul Wahid (ed.), Glimpses of Malaysian History, Dewan Bahasa dan Pustaka, Kuala Lumpur, 1970.
- Zaini bin Mohd. Isa, Kebudayaan dan Adat Resam Kadazan dan Murut, Pustaka Aman, Kota Bharu, 1969.

# 4. Articles

Abdul Rahman bin Karim, 'Northern Borneo Nationalism: the Threat to Malaysia', Eastern World, 17, No. 6, London, June 1963, pp. 14-17.

Ahmad Ibrahim, 'Malaysia As A Federation', Jernal Undang-Undang; Journal of Malaysian and Comparative Law, 1, Pt. 1, Kuala Lumpur, May 1974, pp. 1-27.

- Akashi, Yoji, Japanese Military Administration in Malaya-Its Formation and Evolution in Reference to Sultans, the Islamic Religion, and The Moslem-Malays, 1941-1945', Asian Studies, 7, No. 1, April 1969, pp. 81-110.

<sup>(</sup>ed.), Malaysia: A Survey, Frederick A. Przeger, New York, 1964.

Wheare, K. C., Federal Government, Oxford University Press, London, 1967.

Japanese Rule, 1942-1945', Malaysian Journal of Education, 13, No. 1/2, December 1976, pp. 1-46.

- Allen, R., 'Britain's Colonial Aftermath in Southeast Asia', Asian Survey, 3, No. 9, September 1963, pp. 403-14.
- Arasıratnam, S. 'History, Nationalism and Nation Building; The Asian Dilemma', an Inaugural Lecture delivered at the University of New England, Armsdale, New South Wales, on 29 April 1974.
- Armstrong, H. F., 'The Troubled Birth of Malaysia', Foreign Affairs, 41, No. 4, New York, July 1963, pp. 673-93.
- Bass, J., 'Malaysia and Singapore; Moving Apart?', Asian Survey, 9, No. 2, February 1969, pp. 122-9.
- Bellows, T. J., 'The Singapore Party System', JSEAH, 8, No. 1, March 1967, pp. 122–38.
- Bradley, C. P., 'Rupture in Malaysia', Current History, 50, No. 294, February 1966, pp. 98-105.
- Burridge, K. O. L., 'Racial Relations in Johore', Australian Journal of Politics and History, 2, No. 2, May 1957, pp. 151-68.

Butwell, R., 'A Chinese University for Malaya', Pacific Affairs, 26, No. 4, December 1953, pp. 344–8.

Carnell, F. G., 'Communalism and Communism in Malaya', Pacific Affairs, 26, No. 2, June 1953, pp. 99-117.

- \_\_\_\_\_, 'Constitutional Reform and Elections in Malaya', Pacific Affairs, 27, No. 3, September 1954, pp. 216–35.
- \_\_\_\_\_, "The Malayan Elections', Pacific Affairs, 28, No. 4, December 1955, pp. 315-30.

Chaudhuri, N. C., 'Subhas Chandra Bose-His Legacy and Legend', Pacific Affairs, 26, December 1953, pp. 349-57.

- Ch'en Su-ching, 'The Chinese in Malaya', Pacific Affairs, 26, No. 3, September 1948, pp. 291-5.
- Cohen, S. P., 'Subhas Chandra Bose and the Indian National Army', Pacific Affairs, 36, No. 4, Winter 1963-64, pp. 411-29.
- Corry, W. C. S., 'The Malayan Scene', Journal of the Royal Central Asian Society, 48, London, Pt. 1, January 1956, pp. 20-8.

Crisswell, C. N., 'The Origins of the Limbang Claim', JSEAS, 2, No. 2, September 1971, pp. 218-29.

Dhu Renick, Jr., R., 'The Emergency Regulations of Malaya; Causes and Effect', JSEAH, 6, No. 2, September 1965, pp. 1-19.

Dobby, E. H. G., 'Malayan Prospect', Pacific Affairs, 23, No. 4, December 1950, pp. 392-401.

Enloe, C., 'Issues and Intergration in Malaysia', Pacific Affairs, 41, No. 1, Fall 1068.

PP- 372-85.

- Freedman, M., 'The Growth of a Plural Society in Malaya', Pacific Affairs, 33, No. 2, June 1960, pp. 158-68.
- Funston, J., 'The Origins of Parti Islam Se Malaysia', JSEAS, 7, No. 1, March 1976, pp. 58-73.

Sains, Kamasyarakatan dan Kemanusiaan, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, 23-25 October 1974. Mimeographed.

- Gamba, C., 'Labour and Labour Parties in Malaya', Pacific Affairs, 31, No. 2, June 1938, pp. 117-30.
- Ghosh, K. K., 'The Indian National Army-Motives, Problems and Significance', Asian Studies, 7, No. 1, April 1969, pp. 4-30.
- Glick, H. R., 'The Chinese Community in Sabah and the 1963 Elections', Asian Survey, 5, No. 3, March 1965, pp. 144-51.
- Grossholtz, J., 'An Exploration of Malaysian Meanings', Asian Survey, 6, No. 4. April 1966, pp. 227-40.
- Hairi Abdullah, 'Kebangkitan dan Gerakan Tentera Selendang Merah dalam Sejarah Daerah Muar dan Batu Pahat', JEBAT, 3/4, 1972/75, pp.6-15.
- Hawkins, G., 'First Steps in Malayan Local Government', Pacific Affairs, 26, No. 2, June, pp. 155-8.
- "Reactions to the Malayan Union', Pacific Affairs, 19, No. 3, September 1946, pp. 279-85.
- Hughes-Hallett, H. R., 'A Sketch of the History of Brunei', JMBRAS, 17, Pt. 2, August 1940, pp. 23-42.
- Ingleson, J. E., 'Britain's Annexation of Labuan 1846; The Role of James Brooke and Local Influences', University Studies in History, 5, No. 4, Nedlands, Perth, 1970, pp. 33-71.
- Ishak bin Tadin, 'Dato Onn and Malay Nationalism, 1946-1951', JSEAH, 1, No. 1, March 1960, pp. 56-88.
- Itagaki, Yoichi, 'Some Aspects of the Japanese Policy for Malaya under the Occupation, with Special Reference to Nationalism' in K. G. Tregonning (ed.), Papers on Malayan History, University of Malaya Press, Singapore, 1962, pp. 256-67.
- John, D. W. and J. C. Jackson, 'The Tobacco Industry of North Borneo: A Distinctive Form of Plantation Agriculture', JSEAS, 4, No. 1, March 1973, pp. 88-106.
- Kahin, G. M., 'Malaysia and Indonesia', Pacific Affairs, Vol. 37, No. 3, 1964, pp. 253-70.
- Khoo Kay Kim, 'Komunisma di Tanah Melayu: Peringkat Awal', Jernal Sejarah, 10, 1971/72, pp. 89–97.

\_\_\_\_\_, 'The Origin of British Administration in Malaya', JMBRAS, 39, Pt. 1, 1966.

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

, 'Ibrahim Yaacob dan KMM', Widya, No. 21, May 1979, pp. 34-41.

Lebra, J., 'Japanese Policy and the Indian National Army', Asian Studies, 7, No. 1, April 1969, pp. 31-49.

- Lee, A., 'The Chinese and Malay Dilemmas in Malaysia', Pacific Community, 3, No. 3, April 1972, pp. 561-71.
- Lee, E., 'The Emergence of Towkay Leaders in Party Politics in Sabah', JSEAH, 9. No. 2, September 1968, pp. 306-24.
- Lee Ting Hui, 'Singapore under the Japanese', JSSS, 16, Pt. 1, 1961, pp. 31-69. Leufer, M., 'Astride the Straits of Johore; The British Presence and Common-

wealth Rivalry in Southeast Asia', Modern Asian Studies, 1, 1967, pp. 283-312.

, 'Communal Violence in Singapore', Asian Survey, 4, No. 10, October 1964, pp. 1115-21.

, 'Indonesia and Malaysia; The Diplomacy of Confrontation', The World Today, June 1965, pp. 250-60.

Leys, Peter, 'Observations on The Brunei Political System 1883-1885' (with notes by Robert M. Pringle), JMBRAS, 41, Pt. 2, December 1968.

Lim San Kok, 'Some Aspects of the Malayan Chinese Association, 1949-69', JSSS, 26, No. 2, 1971, pp. 31-48.

Lockard, C. A., 'Leadership and Power within the Chinese Community of Sarawak; A Historical Survey', JSEAS, 2, No.2, September 1971, pp. 195-217.

Loh Fook-Seng, P., 'A Review of the Educational Development in the Federated Malay States to 1939', JSEAS, 5, No. 2, September 1974, pp. 225-18.

Low, H., 'Seleulah (Book of Descent) of the Rajas of Brunei', et al., JSBRAS, No. 5, June 1880, pp. 1-35.

MacFadyen, E., 'A Political Future for British Malaya', Pacific Affairs, 17, No. 1, March 1944, pp. 49-55.

McGee, T. E., 'The Malayan Elections of 1959; A Study in Electoral Geography', The Journal of Tropical Geography, 16, October 1962, pp. 70-90.

McIntyre, D., 'Political History 1896-1946' in Wang Gungwu (ed.), Malaysia-A Survey, Frederick A. Praeger, New York, 1964, pp. 138-48.

Mackae, J. A. C., 'Azahari's Young Men', Nation, Sydney, 12 January 1963, p. 7.

- Maryanov, G. S., 'Political Parties in Mainland Malaya', JSEAH, 8, No. 1, March 1967, pp.99-110.
- Maxwell, G., 'Problems of Administration in British Malaya', British Malaya, February and April-June 1943.

"Britain's Intervention in Malaya: The Origin of Lord Kimberley's Instructions to Sir Andrew Clarke in 1873', JSEAH, 2, No. 1, 1966.

- Meadows, M., 'The Philippine Claim to North Borneo', Political Science Quarterly, 77, No. 3, September 1962, pp. 321-35.
- Means, G. P., 'Eastern Malaysia: The Politics of Federation', Asian Survey, 8, No. 4, April 1968, pp. 289-108.

BIBLIOGRAPHY 247 , 'Malaysia-A New Federation in Southeast Asia', Pacific Affairs, 36, No. 2. Summer 1961, pp. 118-59. \_\_\_\_, 'The Role of Islam in the Political Development of Malaysia', Comparative Politics, 1, No. 2, January 1969, pp. 264-84. Milne, R. S., 'Malaysia: A New Federation in the Making', Asian Survey, 1, No. 2. February 1961, pp. 76-82 \_\_\_\_\_, 'Malaysia', Asian Survey, 4, No. 2, February 1964, pp. 694-701. \_\_\_\_\_, 'National Ideology and Nation-Building in Malaysia', Asian Survey, 10, No. 7, July 1970. Malaysia', Asian Survey, 13, No. 10, October 1973, pp. 891-907. 1965, pp. 104-17. Asian Survey, 6, No. 3, March 1966, pp. 175-84. and Ratnam, K. J., 'Patterns and Peculiarities of Ethnic Voting in Sabah 1967', Asian Survey, 9, No. 5, May 1969, pp. 171-81. No. 2, Summer 1970, pp. 201-26. \_\_\_\_. "The Sarawak Elections of 1970: An Analysis of the Vote", ISEAS, 1. No. 1. March 1972, pp. 111-22. Mohammad Hatta, 'One Indonesian View of the Malavsia Issue', Asian Survey, 5. No. 3, March 1965, pp. 139-43-Morrison, I., 'Aspects of the Racial Problem in Malaya', Pacific Affairs, 22, No. 3, September 1949, pp. 210-51. DD. 178-84. Ness, G. D., 'Modernization and Indigenous Control of the Bureaucracy in Malaysia', Asian Survey, 5, No. 9, September 1965, pp. 467-72. Ongkili, J. P., 'A Decade of Growth for People of Sarawak', Smuits Times, Kuala Lumpur, 12 February 1974. \_\_\_\_\_, 'A Look at Sabah's Progress: A Decade of Growth', Straits Times, Kuala Lumpur, 7 March 1974. \_\_\_\_\_, 'Adult Education for the British Borneans', North Borneo News and Sabah Times, 25 October 1962. \_\_\_\_\_, 'Analysis... The Sabah Claim', Sunday Mail, Kuala Lumpur, 15 July 1071. , 'Darurat dan British, 1948-1960: Suatu Penghargaan', Jernal Sejarah, 12,

\_\_\_\_\_, 'Darurat dan British, 1948–1960: Suatu Penghargaan', Jernal Sejarah, 12, 1973/74. pp. 58–73.

, 'Kelekaan Ekonomi Kompeni Berpiagam Sabah, 1881-1941', Maleysia in History, Malaysian Historical Society, 16, No. 1, June 1973, pp. 9–15.

\_\_\_\_, 'Malayain History: The Challenges', The Sanday Mail, Kuala Lumpur, 21 October 1973. (Also as 'Writing Malaysia's National History', Kinabels Sabah Time, 12 January 1974.)

Tribune, 21 and 22 February 1975.

\_\_\_\_\_, 'Nationalisma Filipina dan Konvenshen Perlembagaan 1971', Jenal Sejarak, 10, 1971/72, pp. 112-33.

. Penggunaan Sejarah Socio Budaya dalam Usaha Memupok Keperibadan Kebangsaan (The Use of Socio-Cultural History in the Efforts to Form a National Identity)', Southeast Asian Archiver, Petaling Jaya, 5, July 1972, pp. 70–83.

\_\_\_\_\_\_. 'Students and Political Change in Southeast Asia', Kinabalu Sabah Times, 29 June 1970.

. 'The British and Malayan Nationalism, 1946-1957', JSEAS, 5, No. 2, September 1974, pp. 255-77.

. The Philippine Claim', Opinion, 1, No. 4, Kuala Lumpur, June 1969.

. The Sabah Claim'. Sunday Mail, Kuala Lumpur, 8 July 1973.

White Rajahs', Far Eastern Economic Review, 78, No. 41, 7 October 1972.

Parmer, J. N., 'Malaysia 1965: Challenging the Terms of 1957', Asian Survey, 6, No. 2, February 1966, pp. 111-18.

Pluvser, J. M., 'Malayan Nationalism: A Myth', JHSUM, 6, 1967/68, pp. 26-40.

P'ng Poh Seng, 'The Kuomintang in Malaya, 1912-1941', JSEAH, 2, No. 1, March 1961, pp. 1-41.

Purcell, V., 'A Malavan Union: The Proposed new Constitution', Pacific Affairs, 19. No. 1, March 1946, pp. 20–40.

. The Crisis in Malayan Education', Pacific Affairs, 26, No. 1, March 1953, pp. 70-6.

Radin Somarno, 'Malay Nationalism', JSEAH, 1, No. 1, March 1960, pp. 1-28.

Ratnam, K. J., 'Constitutional Government and the "Plural Society"', JSEAH, 2, No. 3, October 1961, pp. 1-10.

Rees-Williams, D. R., 'The Constitutional Position in Malaya', Pacific Affairs, 20, No. 2, June 1947, pp. 174–8.

Rend, A., 'The Kuala Lumpur Riots and the Malaysian Political System', Australian Outlook, 23, No. 3, December 1969, pp. 258-78.

Roff, M. C., 'Sabah's Political Parties and the 1967 State Election', International Studies, 9, No. 4, Bombay, April 1968, pp. 431-56.

\_\_\_\_\_\_. The Malayan Chanese Association, 1948-65', JSEAH, 4, No. 2, Sepsember 1965, pp. 40-53.

\_\_\_\_\_, 'The Polines of Language of Malaya', Asian Survey, 7, No. 5, May 1967,

pp. 316-28.

Roff, W. R., 'Kaum Muda-Kaum Tua: Innovation and Reaction Amongst the Malays 1900-1941' in K. G. Tregonning (ed.), Papers on Malayan History, University of Malaya Press, Singapore, 1962, pp. 162-92.

Rudner, M., 'The Draft Development Plan of the Federation of Malaya 1950-55', JSEAS, 3, No. 2, March 1972, pp. 61-96.

\_\_\_\_\_, 'The Malaysian General Election of 1969: A Political Analysis', Modern Asian Studies, 4, No. 1, 1970, pp. 1-21.

\_\_\_\_\_, 'The Organization of the British Military Administration in Malaya, 1946-48', JSEAH, 9, No. 1, March 1968, pp. 95-106.

Sadka, E., Malaysia: The Political Background' in T. H. Silcock and E. K. Fuk (eds.), The Political Economy of Independent Malaya, Australian National Univesity Press, Canberra, 1963, pp. 28–58.

- Sandhu, Kernial Singh, 'Emergency Resettlement in Malaya', The Journal of Tropical Geography, 18, August 1964, pp. 157-83.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 'The Saga of the Malayan Squatter', JSEAH, 5, No. 1, March 1964, pp. 143-77.
- Sartono Kartodirdjo. 'Kolonialisme dan Nasionalisme di Indonesia Abad XIX-XX', Lembaran Sedjarah, No. 1, Jogjakarta, December 1967.
- Short, A., 'Communism and the Emergency' in Wang Gungwu (ed.), Malaysia-A Survey, Frederick A. Pracger, New York, 1964, pp. 149-60.

\_\_\_\_\_, 'Nationalism and the Emergency in Malaya' in M. Leifer (ed.), Nationalism, Revolution and Evolution in Southeast Asia, University of Hull, Hull, 1970, pp. 43-58.

Sidhu, J. S., 'Decentralisation of the Federated Malay States 1930-34", Peninjina Sejarah, 1, No. 1, June 1966, pp. 17-28.

Silcock, T. H. and Ungku A. Ariz, 'Nationalism in Malaya' in W. L. Holland (ed.), Asian Nationalism and the West, Macmillan, New York, 1953, pp. 269–345.

Singhal, D. P., 'Nationalism and Communism in South-East Asia', JSEAH, 3, No. 1, March 1962.

\_\_\_\_\_, 'The United States of Malaysia', Asian Survey, 1, No. 8, August 1962, pp. 16–22.

- Smith, T. E., 'The Malayan Elections of 1959', Pacific Affairs, 33, No. 1, March 1960, pp. 38-47.
- Soh Eng Lim, 'Tan Cheng Lock: His Leadership of the Malayan Chinese', JSEAH, 1, No. 1, March 1960, pp. 29–55.
- Starner, F. L., 'Malaysia and the North Borneo Territories', Asian Survey, 3, No. 11, November 1963, pp. 519–34.
- Stenson, M. R., 'The Malayan Union and the Historians', JSEAH, 10, No. 2, September 1969, pp. 344-54

\_\_\_\_\_, 'The Persatuan Melayu Selangor: An Early Malay Political Association', JSEAH, 9, No. 1, March 1968, pp. 117–46.

#### BIBLIOGR APHY

Numin Times, 'Malay Chinese Goodwill Move-Nine Leaders Work for Racial Hairmony', 11 January 1940.

Sobky Lavel, "Pasang Surus Pohisk Hussein Onn", Massika, No. 10, October 1973, pp. 2-8.

Servermerayan, V., 'Singapore in Malaysia', International Studies, 10, No. 1, July 1050, pp. 1–41

Serverselo, Seedjarah Pergerakan Nasional', Himpunan Mahasiswa Mesin, Universitas Troukri, Djakarta (n.d.), Mimeographed.

Tokdir, Alegahbana, S. et al. (eds.), The Cultural Problems of Malaysia in the Context of Southouse Asia, Public Printers, Kuala Lumpur, 1967.

Tilman, R. O., 'Electrons in Sarawak', Anan Survey, J. No. 10, October 1963, pp. 527-48.

Malayna and Singapore: The Failure of a Federation' in R. O. Tilman (ed.), Man, Statt and Society in Contemporary Southeast Asia, Pall Mall Press, London, 1963, pp. 490–505.

Tracgers, F.N., 'The Federation of Malaysia' in T. M. Franck (ed.), Why Federations Fail, New York University Press, New York, 1968, pp. 125-66.

Trogomming, K. G., 'North Borneo, 1957' Pacific Affairs, 31, No. 1, March 1958, pp. 05-73.

The Mat Salleh Revolt (1894-1905)', JMBRAS, 29, Pt. 1, 1956, pp. 25-36.

ind.), Papers on Maleyan History, University of Malaya Press, Singapore, suita.

Trucks, Carl A., 'The Origin of the Kanchu Systems, 1740-1860', JMBRAS, 44.

Tamitu Ahdul Rahman, 'Malayna: Key Area in Southeast Asia', Foreign Affairs, 43. No. 4, July 1965, pp. 659-70.

Tammull, C. M., Bernsh Planning For Post-War Malaya', JSEAS, 5, No. 2, September 2076, pp. 239-54.

Ungitu A. Anne, "Co-operation is the Key to Rural Success", Straits Times, 17 Octuber 1965.

......Fourgentss on the Sands of Time-The Malay Poverty Concept over 50 Stars from ZaTis as Ann and the Second Malaysia Plan. Paper presented at the Milatoynar Economic Association meeting on Malaysian Economic Development and Policies, Kush Lompur, March 1974.

Provenny and Rastal Development in Malaysia', Kajian Ekonomi Malaysia, n. Nis. n. June 1966, pp. 71–96.

The Causes of Powersy in Malayan Agriculture' in Lim Tay Boh (ed.), Problem of the Malayan Economy, Eastern Universities Press, 3rd revised edn., Snijapowe, 1966, pp. 19-26.

\_\_\_\_\_, "The Development and Utilization of Labour Resources in Southeast Auia' in P. W. Thayer, Nationalism and Progress in Free Asia, Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore, 1956, pp. 195-203.

\_\_\_\_, 'The Remedy for Rural Poverty' in Lim Tay Boh (ed.), Problems of the Malayan Economy, Eastern Universities Press, 3rd revised edit., Singapore, 1960, pp. 27–32.

van der Kroef, J. M., 'Communium and Chinese Communisismi in Sarawski', The China Quarterly, No. 20, October-December 1964, 55 18-66

, 'Indonesia, Malaya and the North Borneo Crisis', Asian Survey, 3, No. 4. April 1963, pp. 173-81.

\_\_\_\_\_, "The Sarawak-Indonesian Border Insurgency", Modern Acian Studies, 2, No. 3, 1963, pp. 245-65.

Vaul, R. K., 'The 1964 General Elections in Malaya', International Studies, 7, No. 1, July 1965, pp. 20-65.

Vlieland, C. A., 'The 1947 Censos of Malaya', Pacific Affairs, 22, No. 5, March 1949, pp. 59-63.

Wan A. Hamid, 'Religion and Culture of the Modern Malay' in Wang Gungwu (ed.), Malayna: A Survey, Frederick A. Praeger, New York, 1964, pp. 179-80.

Wang Gungwu, 'Communism in Asia', JHSUM, 5, 1966;67, pp. 1-12.

\_\_\_\_\_, 'Malayan Nationalism', Journal of the Royal Central Asian Society, 43. Pt. 3, pp. 317-28.

\_\_\_\_\_, 'Malaysia: Contending Elites', Current Affairs Bulletin, University of Sydney, 47, No. 3, 28 December 1970, pp. 35-48.

\_\_\_\_\_, 'Nation Formation and Regionalism in Southeast Ana', in M. Grant (ed.), South Ania Pacific Cruis, Dodd, Head and Company, New York, 1989, pp. 125-35.

\_\_\_\_\_, 'Political Change in Malaysia', Pacific Community, 2, No. 4, July 1977, pp. 687–96.

\_\_\_\_\_, 'Sun Yat-sen and Singapore', JSSS, 15, Pt. 2, December 1959, pp. 59-68.
\_\_\_\_\_, 'Traditional Leadership in a New Nation; The Chanese in Malaya and Singapore' in S. Takdir Alsgabbana et al. (eds.), The Caltural Problems of

Malaysia in the Context of Southeast Asia, Public Printers, Kinala Lumpur, 1987, pp. 170-87.

Yarwood, A. T., 'The Overseas Indians: A Problem in Indian and Imperial Politics at the end of Woeld War F, Australian Journal of Politics and History, 14, No. 2, August 1968, pp. 204–18.

Yeo Kim Wah, 'The Ants-Federation Movement in Malaya, 1946–48, JSEcKS, 4. No. 1, March 1973, pp. 31–51.

Zikmund II, J., 'National Anthems as Polinical Symbols', Australian Journal of Politics and History, 15, No. 3, December 1988, pp. 75–80.

# 5. Party Documents

Alliance, 'Alliance Manifesto for [the 1953] Federal Electrons', Minneographesi, TCLP.

#### **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

Alliance Round Table', 12 November 1954. Mimeographed.

Alliance National Council, 'The Road to Independence (Menuju Kearah Kemerdekaan)', Alliance Headquarters, Kuala Lumpur, 1955. Mimeographed.

- Democratic Action Party, 'Towards a Malaysian Malaysia!' [1969 DAP Election Manifesto]. Mimeographed.
- Gerakan Rakyat Malaysia. Election Manifesto: 3rd General Elections 1969, Kuala Lumpur, 1969.
- Malay Nationalist Party, 'The Manifesto of the Malay Nationalist Party, Malaya, with Regard to the British "White Paper on Malayan Union"'. Central Committee, Kuala Lumpur, 1946.

Malayan Chinese Association, Memorandum of Chinese Education in the Federation of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, 1954.

Malayan Communist Party, 'Party Directive of 1 October 1951'.

- Malaysian Chinese Association, MCA 20th Anniversary Souvenir, Kuala Lumpur, 1969.
- Penang Chancse Constitutional Consultative Committee, The Humble Petition of the Chancse Town Hall-Penang, the Chancse Chamber of Commerce-Penang, the Stratic Chances British Association-Penang to the Right Honourable Arthur Greech Jones, P.C., M.P., H.M. Sceretary of State for the Colonies, 9 March 1947.
- People's Progressive Party, 'People's Progressive Party of Malaya Manifesto 1969', Ipoh. 1969. Mimeographed.
- PUTERA-AMCJA. The People's Constitutional Proposals for Malaya, Ta Chong Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1947.
- Sarawak Alliance, 'Constitution and Rules of the Sarawak Alliance Party; Adopted by the Sarawak Alliance National Council on 21ts January 1963, and amended by the National Council on 30th and 31st March 1964 and on 18th October 1965', Alliance Headquaters, Kuching (n.d.).
- Sarawak Chinese Association, "Sarawak Chinese Association Manifesto, "We Believe in Unity", Kuching (n.d.).
- Sarawak United People's Party, 'Constitution and Rules of the Sarawak United People's Party', Kuching (n.d.).
- United Malays National Organization, Penyata Tahunan UMNO Malaysia 1966-70, Pejabat Setiausaha Agong UMNO Malaysia, Kuala Lumpur (n.d.). \_\_\_\_\_\_\_, Ten Years of UMNO, Daud Press, Penang, 1957.
- \_\_\_\_\_, UMNO Due Pulek Tahun, Ibu Pejabat UMNO, Kuala Lumpur (1966).

- United Party, 'Constitution and Rules of the United Party (Sabah)', Jesselton (n.d.).
- United Sabah National Organization, 'Constitution of the United Sabah National Organization', Jesselton (n.d.).

# 6. Unpublished Theses and Documents

- Abdul Latiff bin Sahan, 'Political Attitudes of the Malays, 1945-1955', B.A. Academic Exercise, University of Malaya, 1959.
- Abdul Majid, 'The Malayan Union and the Malay Press', B.A. Academic Exercise, University of Malaya, 1963.
- Abd. Malek Hj. Md. Hanafiah, 'Sejarah Perjuangan Ketatuan Melayis Muda, 1937-1945', B.A. Hons. Academic Excercise, Department of History, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, 1974.
- Abdul Razak bin Hussein, Tun, First Malaysia Plan: Fall Text of Speeck .... at the House of Representatives on the 15th December 1965, Kuala Lampur. Princed.
- Awang Had bin Salleh, 'Malay Teacher Training in British Malaya (1878–1941): A General Survey', B.Ed. Thesis (Post-Graduate), University of Malaya, 1967.
- Bamadhaj, Halinah, 'The Impact of the Japanese Occupation of Malaya on Malay Politics and Society', M.A. Thesis, Auckland University, 1975.
- Chan Heng Chee, 'The Malayan Chinese Association', M.A. Thesis, University of Singapore, 1965.
- Cheah Boon Kheng, 'The Malayan Democratic Union, 1945-1948', M.A. Dissertation, University of Malaya, 1974.
- Clark, M. F., 'The Malayan Alliance and its Accommodation of Communal Pressures, 1952-1962', M.A. Thesis, University of Malaya, 1964.
- Dalton, J. B., 'The Development of Malayan External Policy, 1997–1965', D.Phil. Thesis, Oxford University, 1967.
- Funston, N. J., 'Writings on May 13', paper presented to Seminar Aliran Kini Dalam Sains Kemasyarakaran dan Kemanusiaan, Universiti Kehangsaan Malaysia, 23-25 October 1974.
- Ghazali Basri, 'Hilir Perak: Sejarah Hubungan Ras Zaman Pendindukan Jepun schingga Pemerintahan Tentera Inggeris (BMA), 1942-1946', B.A. Hinn, Thesis, Department of History, University of Malaya, 1974/75.
- Haas, R. H., 'The Malayan Chinese Association, 1958–1959: An Analysis of Differing Conceptions of the Malayan Chinese Role in Independent Malaya', M.A. Thesis, University of Northern Illinois, 1967.
- Harra, N. K., 'Malaya's Foreign Relations, 1957-1965', M.A. Thesis, University of Malaya, 1965.
- Ishak bin Tadin, 'The United Malays National Organization under Dates' Oten, 1946–1951', B.A. Academic Exercise, University of Malaya, 1959.
- Institute of Southeast Asian Studies, 'Tan Cheng Lock Papers' ('TCLP'), eighteen folios, mostly in mimeographed form, deposited with the Institute in 1971.

### BIBLIOGRAPHY

Jan, J. P., "Nationality and Treatment of Overseas Chinese in Southeast Asia", Ph.D. Thesis, New York University, 1960.

- Khong Kim Hoong, 'Communalism and the Eviction of Singapore from Malaysa', B.A. Academic Exercise, University of Malaya, 1969.
- Khoo Kay Kim, 'The Beginnings of Political Extremism in Malaya, 1015-1035', Ph.D. Thesis, University of Malaya, 1074.
- Law Terk Soon, 'Malaysia-Singapore Foreign Policies in Southeast Asia rotx-rotx', Ph.D. Thesis, Australian National University, 1971.
- Lee Ab-chai, 'Policies and Politics in Chinese Schools in the Straits Settlements and Federated Malay States, 1786–1941', M.A. Thesis, University of Malaya, 7657.
- Lee, E., 'Chinese Towkays in the Political Process of Sabah (North Borneo): From Colony to Malaysian State', M.A. Dissertation, Cornell University, 7670.
- Leving, Stephen, 'Sources, Agencies and Manifestations of Overseas Chinese Nationalism in Malaya, 1041–1045', Ph.D. Thesis, University of California, Los Angeles, 1976.
- Lim Huck-eee, E., 'The Malayan Civil Service, 1896–1941', B.A. Thesis, University of Malaya, 1960.
- MacDougall, J. A., 'Shared Burdens: A Study of Communal Discrimination by Polincial Parties in Malaysia and Singapore', Ph.D. Dissertation, Harvard University, 1968.
- Merdeka Convention, 'Merdeka Convention; Papers and Documents', London, 1957. Mimeographed.
- Moore, D.E., 'The United Malays National Organization and the 1959 Electrons', Ph.D. Dissertation, University of California, Berkeley, 1960.
- Musik Mantrak, 'Sejarah Masyarakat Majemuk di Mukim VII, Batu Pahat, Johor. 1900–1945', B.A. Hons. Thesis, Department of History, University of Malaya, 1974/75.
- Nam Tae Yue, 'Malaysia and Singapore: The Failure of a Political Experiment', Ph.D. Thess, University of Iowa, 1969.
- Nik Ahmad ben H.N. Hassan, 'The Malay Vernacular Press', B.A. Thesis, University of Malaya, 1958.
- Nuperos. 'Philippine Foreign Policy on the North Borneo Question', Ph.D. Thesin, University of Pittsburgh, 1969.
- Penner, R., 'The Evolving Politics of Singapore', Ph.D. Thesis, University of Penney/ivanua, 1964.
- Ruhmut Sarspan, "Kegiatani Politik Orangi Melayu di Tahuni 1930an", B.A. Academic Exercise, University of Malaya, 1970.
- Ruktukamul Barman, 'The Foreign Policy of Malaya, 31 August 1957 to 16 September 1965', Ph.D. Thesis, Indian School of International Studies, Delhi, 1967.
- Remhaede, J. M., 'Nationalism and Confrontation in the Southeast Asian Islands; The Sources of Indonesian Foreign Policy', Ph.D. Thesis, Tulane University, 1967.
- Renick, Roderick, 'Emergency Regulations of Malaya: Background Organ-

ization Administration and Use as a Socialising Technique', M.A. Thesis, Tulane University, 1964.

- Richards, R. A., 'Government in North Borneo', University of New England, 27 September 1961.
- Samuel, D. S., 'A Comparative Study of the Malayan and Singapore Legislatures, 1943-1959', M.A. Thesis, University of Singapore, 1966.
- Stephens, D.A., "Why UPKO was Dissolved", February 1969. Original Typescript. In possession of author.
- Stockwell, Anthony John, 'The Development of Malay Politics During the Course of the Malayan Union Experiment, 1943-1948', Ph.D. Dimertation, University of London, 1973.

Tan Cheng Lock Papers: see Institute of Southeast Asian Studies (above).

- Tan Hock Seng, 'The Left-Wing in Malaya, 1945-1957". B.A. Academic Exercise, University of Malaya, 1960.
- Tan, K. C., 'The Federation of Malayna; Some Aspects of Political Geography', Ph.D. Thein, University of London, 1965.
- Taylor, S. R., 'The North Borneo Dispute: Its Political and Legal Implications', M.A. Thesis, The American University, 1968.
- Tunku Abdul Rahman, 'Form of Government', 21 March 1955. Mimeographed, TCLP.
  - \_\_\_\_\_, 'The Position of the Rulers and Constitutional Reforms', 17 March 1955. Mimeographed, TCLP.
- Ungku A. Aziz, 'Facts and Fallacies on Malay Economy', 'Merdeka Convention; Papers and Documents', London, 1957. Mimeographed.
- \_\_\_\_\_, 'Poverty and Rural Development in Malaysia', Inaugural Lecture, University of Malaya, 1963.
- Wang Gungwu, 'Chinese Politics in Malaya', Undated Essay, Institute of Southeast Asian Studies, Singapore. Mimeographed.
- Yap Hyun-phen, 'The Founding of Labuan, 1846', B.A. Academic Exercise, University of Singapore, 1958.
- Yung, Yuet-hing, R. M., 'Contributions of the Chinese to Education in the Straits Settlements and the Federated Malay States, 1900–1944", M.A. Thesis, University of Malaya, 1967.

# 7. Select List of Newspapers Used

Borneo Bulletin (Kuala Belant)

Majlis (Kuala Lumpur)

Malay Mail (Kuala Lumpur and Singapore)

Malaya Tribune (Singapore)

Malayan Times (Kuala Lumpur and Singapore)

North Borneo News and Sabah Times (subsequently Sabah Times and latterly Kinabala Sabah Times, Jesselton/Kota Kinabalu)

Sarawak Tribune (Kuching)

Sungapore Free Press (Sungapore)

Singapore Standard (Singapore)

## BIBLIOGRAPHY

Smith Budgert (Kuala Lumpur and Singapore) Smith Edve (Renang) Smith Edve (Renang) Smith Timer (Kuala Lumpur and Singapore) Smidry Timer (Kuala Lumpur and Singapore) Smidry Timlow (Kuala Lumpur) Unsam Melayu (Kuala Lumpur) Unsam Melayu (Kuala Lumpur) Unsam Melayu (Kuala Lumpur) Unsam Melayu (Kuala Lumpur)

# 8. Select List of Periodicals Used

Asian Studies (Quezon City) Asian Survey (Berkeley) Australian Journal of Politics and History (Brisbane) British Malaya (London and Kuala Lumpur) Far Eastern Economic Review (Hong Kong) JEBAT (Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, Kuala Lumpur) Jernal Sejarah (formerly Journal of the Historical Society, University of Malaya-JHSUM-Kuala Lumpur) Journal of Southeast Asian History (JSEAH; later renamed Journal of Southeast Asian Studies-JSEAS-Singapore) Journal of the Malayan Branch, Royal Asiatic Society (JMBRAS; formerly Journal of the Straits Branch, Royal Asiatic Society-JSBRAS; later Malayan was changed to Malaysian-Singapore) Journal of the Royal Central Asian Society (London) Mastika (Kuala Lumpur) Modern Asian Studies (London) Pacific Affairs (Vancouver) Pacific Community (Tokyo)

# Index

- ABDICATION, 45-6
- Abdul Karim Rashid, 20
- Abdul Rahman bin Mohd. Yasin, 45, 87
- Abdul Razak bin Dato Hussein, Dato, 110, 115, 183, 208, 216, 219, 224; ser NCC; NOC
- Abdullah Kamel, 20
- Abell, Sir Anthony, 149-51, 165
- Aborigines, 78, 96; see Indigenous people
- Abrogation, 187
- Acculturation, 198
- Agricultural development, 225; ser Rural development
- Ahmad Boestamam, 20, 61
- Alliance, vii, 92, 94, 96–8, 105, 109, 114, 113, 115, 117, 119, 114, 136, 183, 185, 190–1, 196, 198–9, 202–3, 205, 217, 219; London delegation, 115; mity factors, 116-18, 195; election manifesto, 116–18, 199; Special Independent Commission, 117–18; *per Federation of Mulaya*; Malayan Chinese Association (MCA): UMNO
- All-Malaya Chinese Schools Management Association, 111
- All-Malaya Council of Joint Action (AMCJA), 60-1, 66-8, 155; see PUTERA-AMCIA
- Angkatan Pemuda Insaf (API), 62, 88
- Angkatan Wanita Sedar, 62
- Anglo-Dutch Treaty, 8
- Anglo-Kedah Agreement, 43
- Anglo-Siamese Treaty, 9
- Anti-British League, 143
- Arbitration, 192
- Assimilation, 1, 14.95
- Association, 14
- Autonomy, 11, 30, 53, 160, 170; see Selfrule
- Azad Hind Government, 26, 28; ser Bose, Subhas Chandra; Indians
- Azahari, A. M., 161, 168, 171

- BAHASA MALAYSIA, 225; see Language; Malays; Schools
- Bajau, 2, 4, 16, 27, 197
- Bank Pertanian, 225, 227; ser Agricultural development; Credit
- 'Bargain', 215-28, 232; ser Malays
- Barisan Bertindak Bahasa Kebangsaan, 195; see Language
- Barisan Nasional, 232-3
- Barisan Pemuda Kesatuan Melayu Muda, 20
- Barisan Rakyat Jati Sarawak (BARJASA), vii, 169
- Barisan Sosialis, 160, 182
- Barnes, L. J., 107
- Barnes Committee, \$1
- Barnes Report, 107-8, 110; see Education
- Berita Malai, 20
- Bidayuh, 4; see Land Dayaks
- Bisaya, 4
- Bornean Federation, 149-51, 161-70; see Malaysia proposals
- Bose, Rash Behari, 25
- Bose, Subhas Chandra, 17-18, 26; see Indian Independence Movement
- Boycott, 22, 51-2, 64, 112, 115-16, 155, 199
- Braddell, Sir Roland, 83
- Briggs Plan, 85. 93; see Emergency; KMT; New Villages
- Brithik: Adviser, 19–11, 56, 117, Adviser, ory Council, 15; Commonwealth, 120; indirect rule, 10–11; intervention, 8–9; Milhary Administration, 75; North Borneo Chartered Company, 14; postwar policy, 06, 44; Resident, 9–11; are Brooke, Federated Malay States (FMS); North Borneo Chartered Company; Strain Settlements; Unfederated Malay States
- Brooke, 8, 12, 14, 19, 27, 137, 141
- Brooke, Anthony, 139-40, 142-3
- Brooke, Bertram, 142

## INDEX

Brooke, Charles, 5. 12-13

Brooke, Charles Vyner, 13, 138-41

Brooke, James, 11-12

Brunci, 1-4, 171, 171; see Malayan Union: Federation proposals

Bruneis 4

Bumiputra, 197, 200-1, 204, 219-24, 228; see Indigenous people; Malava Burhanuddin Alhilmy (Dr), 48, 61

- CABINET SYSTEM, 91, 216; ser Federal Cabinet
- Cash crops, 227
- Central Advisory Committee, 107
- Central Education Committee, 111
- Central Executive Committee (CEC), 157
- Central Indian Association of Malaya (CIAM), 18
- Ceylon Tamil Association, 60
- Cheeseman, H. R., 64
- Chen Tien 81
- Cheteria a
- Chiang Kai-shek, 28; see KMT
- Chin Peng. 80-1
- China Press. 84, 111
- Chinese: anti-Japanese activities, 22-4, 68, 75: baba, 5; immigration, 5; indentured labour, 5; industry, 6, 227; miners, 6; politics, 5, 18, 59; language, 194, 201; traders, 5, 15; see Alliance; Citizenship; Communist; IMP; MCA; MCP; Malayan Union; New Villages

Churchill, Sir Winston, 86

- Citizenship, 29-30, 38-9, 42, 48, 50, 54, 56, 18. 63-4. 83. 89-90, 105-6, 112-14. 116, 167, 223; see Dual citizenship; Federation of Malaya; Malayan Umon; Malays; Naturalization
- Clandestine Communist Organization (CCO), 143-5, 190
- Clarke, Sir Andrew, 9
- Clementi, Sir Cecil, 11
- Clerical Union, 60

Coalition, 62, 65-7, 91, 155-6, 232-3

- Cobbold Commission, 165-6
- Colonialism, 68, 112, 144-5; see British; Brooke
- Common market, 160-1, 191-2; see Tariff Advisory Board
- Commonwealth Parliamentary Association (CPA), 163-4
- Communal bargaining, 92; cooperation, 158, 190; riots, 203-8, 231; tensions, 87, 181; voting system, 95; see Communalism; Communist; Racial riots

Communalism, vii, viii, 1, 29, 65, 88, 93, 222

- Communism, 81, 87-8, 90, 115, 151; see Emergency; KMT; MPAJA; New Villages
- Communist, 17-18, 23, 65, 67, 76, 84, 143, 145, 159-60, 188-9; see Chinese: Communism; Emergency
- Communities Liaison Committee (CLC), 81-4. 02. 118. 216
- Conference of Rulers, 55, 119-20, 171, 221; ser Federation of Malaya; Malayan Union: Malava
- Conscription, 84; ser National Service Act Constituency Delineation Commission, 95

Constitutional Commission, 120

- Constitutional Commission Report, 119
- Constitutional Conference, 117
- Constitutional monarchy, 119
- Conra 145
- Council Negri, 143. 147; ser Sarawak
- Council of Races, 65
- Council of Sultans, 40, 55-6
- Credit, 218-20, 227; see Poverty; Rural development
- Crown Colony, 7, 10-11, 28, 53, 137-8, 141, 156; see British
- Cultural adaptation, 1
- Culture System, 14
- Custom, 168
- DALFORCE, 21
- Dato Orang Kaya Menteri Selangor, 51
- Dato Panglima Bukit Gantang, 48, 51, 81.97
- Dato Setia Raya Kelantan, 51
- Datu Bandar, 12
- Datu Imam, 12
- Datu Mustapha, 151, 189
- Datu Patinggi, 12
- David, V., 197
- Dayak Association of Sarawak (DAS), 141
- Dayaks, 2, 12, 16, 169, 197
- Decentralization, 11
- Decolonization, 30, 169
- de Cruz, Gerald, 59, 66, 77

Deculturation, 197

- Democracy, 62-3, 65, 91-2, 96-8, 147, 155. 187. 197; see Federation proposals; Malayan Union
- Democratic Action Party, 197, 199, 200-2, 205
- Demonstration, 45-7, 51, 64, 68, 185; see Racial riots

Depression, 7

Devan Nair, C. V., 183, 197, 200

Dewan Negara, 120, 167

- Dewan Ra'ayat, 120, 127, 160, 167, 181-2, 220
- Discriminatory bill, 65
- Djakarta Agreement, 194
- Double Tenth Uprising, 25
- Dual citizenship, 114: see Citizenship; Naturalization

Dutch, 12, 14, 121

## EAST INDIA COMPANY, 8

Eber, John, 59, 66

- Education (4, 64, 83, 92, 103-7, 116, 44, 14), 160, 164, 194, 196, 207, 207, 1010ral system of, 109-10, 2010ra building, 107-7, Ordinance, 1931, 103, Ordinance, 1937, 111; pre-sar, 160, 195, Ordinance, 1937, 111; pre-sar, 103, 195, Ordinance, 1937, 111; pre-sar, 103, 195, Ordinance, 1937, 111; pre-sar, 111; presar, 111; pre-sar, 111; presar, 111; pre-sar, 111; presar, 111; presar, 111; presar, 111; presar, 111; presar, 111; presar, 111; prepart, 111; prepar
- Elections, 11, 19, 40, 55, 81, 83, 92, 97, 119, 127-8, 130, 147-8, 159, 163, 167-9, 182, 199, 200; fections (1955), 94-8, 105, 116-17, 124, 127, 139, 157, elections (1964), 185, 189, 196-7, 202, 212; elections (1959), 195-209, 222; elections (1974), 216, zer Democracy; Federation of Malays; Malayan Union; Racial rios
- Emergency, 75, 91, 115, 124, 144, 152, 188, 203, 208, 215-16; see Communism; MCP; MPAJA; KMT
- Employment, 2-3. 7. 125-6, 221-2, 224-5. 227; see Labour; Unemployment
- English language, 48, 106, 109, 168, 194; see Education; Language; Schools
- Ethnic groups, 1, 19, 90; see Indigenous people

Exploitation, 2, 5, 125, 144, 153, 200, 226 Ex-Service Comrades' Association, 60 Extremism, 45

- FACTIONALISM, 127, 156, 233; see Party politics
- Federal Agricultural Marketing Authority (FAMA), 225, 227
- Federal Cabinet, 120, 156, 172, 182, 187, 215, 224; see Federal Legislative Council; Federation Constitution; Federation of Malaya

Federal Elections Committee, 98

Federal Executive Council, 11

- Federal Industrial Development Authority (FIDA), 228
- Federal Land Consolidation and Rehabilitation Authority (FELCRA), 225-6
- Federal Land Development Authority (FELDA), 125, 225-6
- Federal Legislative Council, 55, 58, 83, 90, 96; see Federal Constitution; Federation of Malaya
- Federated Malay States (FMS), 3, 6-7, 9-11, 105-6; see British; Straits Settlements; Unfederated Malay States (UFMS)

Federation, 52, 54, 65, 68

- Federation Agreement, 88, 90, 106; see Federation Constitution; Federation of Malaya
- Federation Alliance Government, 158; see Alliance
- Federation Constitution, 129-30, 167, 223; see Federal Cabinet; Federal Legislative Council; Federation of Malaya

- Federation of Malaya, 53-9, 67, 75, 152-3, 157, 170; ser Federation Agreement; Malaysia Agreement; Self-government
- Federation proposals, 59-66, 75; see Federation of Malaya
- Fenn, Dr William P., 108; see Fenn-Wu Report
- Fenn-Wu Report, 108-10; ser Education
- First Election Report, 96

First Malaysia Plan, 123-4, 218-20, 231-2 Foster, Sir John, 53

Fujiwara Kikan, 10

at all calls in a second the

GAMBIER, 5

Gent, Sir Edward, 51-4, 58 Gerakan, 197-9, 201-2, 205, 232

Giyu Gun, 21

Giyu Tei. 21

Goh Keng Swee, 157, 186

Goode, Sir William, 162

Great Spirit of Cosmocracy, 25; ser Japanese Occupation

Greater East Asia Co-Prosperity Sphere, 25; see Japanese Occupation Guerrillas, 86-7; see Communist; MPAJA Guillemard, Sir Lawrence, 11

Gurney, Sir Henry, 79-80, 84-6

HADJI MOEK, 76 Hamzah bin Haji Taib, Dr. 46

Federation of Chinese Guilds and Associations, 113

Hartal, 66; see Passive resistance

- Harun bin Haji Idris, Datuk, 151, 205; ser
- Menteri Besar; Racial riots; UMNO
- Hassan Manan, 20
- Head-hunting, 25
- Hikayat, 4
- Hizbul Muslimin, 46, 77

Hoahm, Philip Senior, 59, 155

Hone, Sir Ralph, 149-50

- IBANS, 4, 12, 25, 27, 138, 141, 169, 171; see Sea Dayaks
- Ibrahim Yaacob, 19-22
- Illanuns, 4
- Immigration, 15, 58, 67, 165-6
- Independence of Malaya Party (IMP), 92-4, 97, 115-16; see Chinese; Onn bin Jaafar Indian Independence Movement, 17
- Indian National Congress, 26
- Indians: anti-Japanese activities, 25, 27; immigration, 5-8; Immigration Committee, 7; Immigration Fund, 7; IMP support, 93; nationalism, 7; National Army (INA), 25, 28; Chambers of Commerce, 60
- Indigenous people, 1-3, 5, 12, 14-16, 19, 24-5, 29, 154, 169, 227-8
- Indirect rule, 9, 53; see British
- Indonesian Confrontation, 181, 188-9, 191, 194, 196-7; see Federation of Malava
- Inter-Governmental Committee (IGC), 166, 168
- International Band for Reconstruction and Development (IBRD), 123, 126
- Ishak Haji Muhammad, 20, 61
- Islam, 1, 4, 41, 56, 98, 127-9, 166, 185, 196; see Religion
- Ismail bin Dato Abdul Rahman, Dr. 46
- JAAFAR SIDEK, 20
- Japanese Military Administration, 21
- Japanese Occupation, 7-9, 13, 17, 19-30, 39, 45, 59, 67, 77-8, 106, 137; see MPAJA; Second World War
- Jus soli citizenship, 42, 56-8, 88, 112-13, 222, 232; see Citizenship; Malayan Union; Malaya; Naturalization
- Kadazan, 2, 4, 27, 169, 197
- Kalong Ningkan, Stephen, 189, 198
- Kangany system, 7
- Kangchu system, 5
- Kaum Muda Islamic, 18
- Kayans, 4. 141
- Kedah Malay Association, 48

- Kedayan, 4. 141
- Kelabit, 4
- Kempeitai, 27
- Kenyah, 4. 141
- Kesatuan Melayu Johor, 46
- Kesatuan Melayu Muda (KMM), 18-20, 22, 28, 61, 77, 91
- Kesatuan Melayu Singapura (KMS), 28
- Kesatuan Raayat Indonesia Semenanjong (KRIS), 21-2, 61, 91
- Khaw Kai Boh, 216
- Kho Peng Loong, 141
- Kinabalu Guerrillas, 24
- Korom, 24
- Kuomintang (KMT), 17-18, 23, 28, 59; see Chinese; Communist; Emergency; MCP Kwok Fen Nam, Albert, 24
- LABOUR, 2-3, 7, 65, 124, 160, 222, 227; see Employment; Indigenous people; Kangany system; Kangchu system
- Labour Front, 157
- Labour Party of Malaya, 96-8, 127, 197, 199, 208
- Labuan, 138
- Land: development, 15, 199, 218-19; fragmentation, 125; landlessness, 3, 5; landlordism, 124; Malay reservations, 128; ser Malays; Poverty; Rural development; Second Malaysia Plan

Land Dayaks, 141

- Language, 58, 84, 89, 105, 112, 118, 167, 194-7. 223, 225-6; ser Citizenship; National language; Malayan Union; Schools
- Lau Pak Khuan, 113
- Lee Kuan Yew, 157-9, 163-5, 181-3, 185-6, 190-3, 231; see Malayan Union; Singapore Separation
- Lee Siok Yew, 216
- Lee Tiang Keng, \$3, 91
- Leong Yew Koh, 111
- Lim Chong Eu, Dr, 196-7
- Lim Hong Bee, 59
- Lim Kean Chve. so
- Lim Swee Aun. Dr. 202
- Lim Yew Hock, 157, 192
- Local authority, 17, 46, 146-7
- MACAPAGAL, DIOSDADO, 188; see Indonesian Confrontation; Sabah MacDonald, Malcolm, 52-4, 82-4, 138, 149-51, 162; see Malayan Union MacGillvray, Sir Donald, 115
- wacounvray, Sir Donaid, 11
- MACHINDA, 184, 187

- MacMichael, Sir Harold, 39. 42-4. 47-9
- MacMichael Mission, 38-9 MacMichael Treaties, 51
- Mahathir bin Mohamad, 201
- Mahmud bin Mat, Dato, 91
- Mailis. 47. 82
- Majlis Amanah Ra'ayat (MARA), 204. 225-8
- MAJUIKAN, 227
- MAJUTERNAK, 227
- Malacca Sultanate, 1
- Malay National Union of Sarawak (MNUS), 141
- Malay Nationalist Party, 46, 49, 58, 61-2, 65, 77, 91; see PKMM
- Malaya-Singapore merger, 154-61
- Malayan Alliance, 182; see Alliance
- Malayan Chinese Association (MCA), 68, 93-4, 109, 111-12, 115, 129, 183-4, 191, 194, 196, 206, 222, 232; see Alliance; Malayan Union; UMNO
- Malayan Civil Service, 19
- Malayan Communist Party (MCP), 18, 23, 28, 60, 65-6, 75-82, 85, 88, 90-3, 115, 144, 152, 200; see Communism; KMT; MPAJA
- Malayan Democratic Union (MDU), 59-60, 65, 77, 91, 155
- Malayan Indian Congress (MIC), 28, 60, 68, 91, 96, 115, 129; see Alliance
- Malayan New Democratic Youth League, 60
- Malayan People's Anti-British Army (MPABA), 76-8
- Malayan People's Anti-Japanese Army (MPAJA), 21, 23, 26, 29, 60, 75, 77; see Communist; Emergency; Guerrillas; KMT; Second World War
- Malayan People's Republic, 21, 80
- Malayan Races Liberation Army (MRLA), 78-9, 81, 85
- Malayan Union, vii, 29, 38–9, 52, 55, 59, 64, 67, 75, 82, 89, 92, 122, 138–9, 150–2, 197; structure, 49, 02, 1022, 138–9, 150–2, 46–5, 69, 53, 57, citizenship in, 41; Malay reactions 10, 44–53, 75, 142; Kuala Kangar meetings, 52; communal problems, 67, set Alliance; Elections; MCA; Malays; UMNO
- Malays: society. 1-3; psychology, 2; literature, 4; rights, 9, 29-30, 47, 49, 51, 54, 56, 53, 65, 64, 85-6, 112, 115, 123-3, 138, 184, 193, 196-7, 223; religion and custom, 10; Brooke rule, 12; in politics, 18, 28, 47, 63, 77, 92; radicals, 19, 28, 62,

184; Congress, 19, 47-8, 61; and Japanese, 22, 24, 27, 53; Malaya belongs to, 10, 67, \$2. 07: rulers. 18-0. 40. 46. 80. 117-18 185, 221; Malay Peninsula, 18-68; Advisory Council, 40-1, 56; language, 48. 17. 61-4. 68. 100-10. 168. 184. 104-6. 221; land reservations, 48, 68, 84, 121; post-war politics, so; solidarity, st; control of immigration, 58; needs, 62; Melayu, 61; traditional society, 67; and non-Malays, 67, 77, 122, 141, 188; nationalism, 68, 122; special position of, 68, 130, 184-5, 200, 231-2; political and economic bargain, 81-4, 114, 126-10; reaction to Briggs Plan, \$7; constitutional definition of 80: education 105-6: in commetce and industry, 125, 227; Sarawak belongs to, 141: Malaysia, 200; see Alliance; Bumiputes; Education: Federation of Malaya: Malayan Union: Malaysia proposals; PUTERA-AMCJA; Racial riots; Sino-Malay relations; Sultans: UMNO

- Malaysia Agreement, 160-1, 170, 172, 185
- Malaysia Day, 161, 167-8, 172, 182; see Federation of Malaya
- Malavsia proposals, 162
- Malaysian Agricultural and Research Development Institute (MARDI), 225, 227
- Malaysian Constitution, 173
- Malaysian Industrial Development Finance (MIDF), 226
- Malaysian Malaysia, 181-6, 190-1, 193, 197, 201, 231; see Elections
- Malaysian Solidarity Consultative Committee (MSCC), 163-4
- Malaysian Solidarity Convention (MSC), 166, 171, 184-5, 191
- Malaysian Trade Union Congress, 197
- Mao Tse-tung, 93
- Marcos, Ferdinand, 194; see Indonesian Confrontation; Sabah
- Marshall, David, 81, 156-7, 159, 192
- Mat (Muhammad) Salleh, 16
- Melanaus, 2, 4, 27, 169
- Member System, 90-1, 156-7
- Menteri Besar, 56, 117, 171, 205-6
- Merdeka, 97, 105, 121, 219
- Merdeka Day, 113-14, 120
- Migration, 1, 3; see Immigration
- Milanos, 141
- Min Yuen, 79; see Communist
- Mohammad Hatta, 22
- Mohammed Eusoff, Dato Haji, 87
- Mokhtaruddin Lasso, 77

Muhammad Ghazali Shafie, 165 Murder, 16, 79, 142 Murutx, 4, 25, 141 Musa Ahmad, 34, 77 Mustapha bin Datu Harun, Datu, 169 Mustapha bin Osman, Dr, 83 Mustapha Jin Husein, 10

NANYANG STANG PAG 84 National Association of Perak (NAP), 96-7 National Consultative Council (NCC), 216 224" or Racial riots National Goodwill Committee, 215 National language, 111, 116, 129, 165 are Education; Federation of Malaya; Malays National Operations Council (NOC), 204. 206-7, 215-16, 222; see Racial riots National Service Act. 84 National unity, 216, 224; ser Racial riots Nationalism, 14, 21, 27-8, 10, 54, 56, 77, 94, 108, 145, 170 Native courts, 168 Native law 168 Naturalization, 42, 57, 89, 114, 167; see Citizenship Nchru, Jawaharlal, 28 Netherlands East Indies, 12 New Economic Policy (NEP), 215-28, 232; see Malays: Second Malaysia Plan New Villages, 85-6, 93, 222; see Briggs Plan; Communist; Emergency Ng Kam Poh, Dr. 202

Nik Ahmad Kamil bin Haji Mahmood, Dato, 91, 110

- North Borneo Cession Order-in-Council, 138
- North Borneo Chartered Company, 5, 8, 15-17, 19, 27, 137; see British
- OCTOBER 1951 DIRECTIVE, 80
- Oil, 145, 150, 172-3
- Oil palm, 199
- O. K. K. Sendomon bin Gunsanad, 17
- Onan bin Haji Siraj, 20
- Ong Eng Guan, 159
- Ong Hap Leong, 143
- Ong Kee Hui, 161, 164, 187
- Onn bin Jaafar, Dato, 45-7, 51-2, 81-3, 91-2, 97; see Alliance; Malayan Union; UMNO

PACHIK AHMAD, 20 Padi, 124, 199; see Rice

- Pahang Wataniah, 23
- Pangiran Mahkota, 11
- Pangkor Engagement, 9
- Pan-Malayan Council of Joint Action (PMCIA), 60, 62, 66, 77
- Pan-Malayan Federation of Trade Unions (PMFTU), 60
- Pan-Malayan Islamic Party (PMIP), vii, 96-7, 115-16, 127, 129, 196, 199-200, 202-3
- Pan-Malayan Malay Congress, 51
- Parliament, 119-20, 127, 167, 186
- Partai Kebangsaan Melayu (PKMM), 49
- Partai Rakyat, 127, 168, 171, 199, 202-3
- Parti Bangsa Dayak Sarawak (PBDS), 232
- Parti Islam, 232; see Party Negara
- Party Negara, 96-8, 115-16, 127
- Party Pesaka Anak Sarawak (Pesaka), 169
- Party politics, 91-4, 169, 181-6, 232; see Malayan Union; Federation of Malaya
- Passive resistance, 66; see Hartal
- Patriotism, 46, 49, 56; see Democracy; Second World War
- Peasants' Union, 62
- Pembela Tanah Air (PETA), 21, 61, 91
- People's Action Party (PAP), vii, 157-9. 182-5, 190-3, 196-7, 202; see Lee Kuan Yew
- People's Progressive Party (PPP), 111, 116, 127, 184, 196, 199-201, 203
- Pepper, 5, 145
- Perak Malay Alliance, 48
- Perak Malay League, 96-7
- Pergerakan Melayu Semenanjung, 45, 47
- Persatuan Melayu Johor, 45
- Persatuan Melayu Kelantan, 47
- Persekutuan Tanah Melayu, 55; see Federation of Malaya; Malaysia Agreement
- Pertubuhan Nasional (PERNAS), 228
- Petroleum, 167, 172; see Oil
- Pineapple industry, 6
- Polarization, 86-7; see Race; Sino-Malay relations
- Politics, 11, 17–19, 21, 77, 98, 184, 193–8, 223–4; see Malayan Union; Malays; Party politics; Singapore Separation
- Population, 7-8
- Poverty, 125, 185, 200-1, 217, 224, 226-7; see Rural development; Rural poverty; Second Malaysia Plan

Privy Council, 141; see Malayan Union Purcell, Victor, 100

- Purceii, victor, 109
- Pusat Tenaga Raayat (PUTERA), 62, 67-8; -AMCJA, 91-2, 155; -PMCJA, 62-6

- RACE racial composition, 153-4; racial equality, 197; racial minorities, 95; racial polarization, 181: racial riots, 29, 75, 130. 181, 184, 193, 199-200, 207; racial unity, 75-08. 140. 152: racism. 180: see Communal riots: Malays: Polarization
- Radicalism, 18; see Malays
- Raffles Stamford 8
- Rahman Talib Education Report, 111; see Education
- Rajah of Sarawak, 11; see Brooke
- Rajaratnam S 160
- Rashid Mydin, 77, 81
- Razak Education Report, 110-11; see Education
- Reid Commission, 112-13
- Religion, 63, 97-8, 128, 165; see Islam
- Rendel, Sir George, 156
- Rendel Commission Report, 156
- Rendel Constitution, 157, 192
- Rice, 121, 225; ser Padi
- Rosly bin Dhoby, 142
- Rotating monarchy, 171; ser Conference of Rulers
- Rubber, 2, 6, 121-4, 145, 158, 199, 218, 220
- Rubber Industry Smallholders' Development Authority (RISDA), 227
- Rukunegara, 221-4; see Racial riots
- Rural development, 123, 125, 196, 199, 218-21, 226, 228; see Land development; New Economic Policy; Poverty; Second Malavsia Plan
- Rural Industrial Development Authority (RIDA), 125
- Rural poverty, 122, 125; see Poverty
- Rural-urban migration, 220; ser Unemployment
- SABAH: Advisory Council, 16; Japanese in, 24-5, 29; Sabah Legislative Council, 16-17, 147-8; local councils, 148; Philippine claim to, 181, 188-9, 194; Sabah Provisional Association, 14; State elections, 198; ser Bornean Federation; Federation of Malaya; Malayan Union; Sabah Alliance
- Sabah Alliance, 169, 187; see Alliance, Sabah
- Sabah Chinese Association (SCA), 169; see Sabah
- Saberkas, 48
- Sago, 145
- Sakais, 3
- Saleh Hakim, 83
- Sambanthan, Tun V. T., 117

- Sandys, Duncan, 159
- Sarawak: Constitution (1041), 11: self-rule. 17; anti-lapanese activities, 24, 20; Treaty of Protection, 119; anti-cession activities, 141: Supreme Council, 141, 167: Council Negri, 146, 167, 189; Divisional Advisory Councils of, 147; see Alliance; Elections; Federation of Malava; Malayan Union
- Sarawak Advanced Youths' Association (SAYA), 141
- Sarawak Alliance, 170, 188; see Sarawak
- Sarawak Anti-Fascist League, 143
- Sarawak Chinese Association (SCA), 169
- Sarawak Civil Service, 146
- Sarawak Communist Organisation (SCO), 141: ser CCO
- Sarawak Liberation League, 141
- Sarawak National Party (SNAP), 168, 212: see Alliance; Federation of Malava; Malayan Union; Malays
- Sarawak Overseas Chinese Democratic Youth League, 141
- Sarawak United People's Party (SUPP), vii, 144, 168-70, 184, 187; see Alliance; Elections; Federation of Malava; Malayan Union; Malays; SNAP
- Sardon bin Jubir, 48
- Saudata, 77
- Schools, 14. 105-6, 144. 219, 225-6; see Education; Language, National language Sea Dayaks, 4, 141
- Second Malaysia Plan, 124-5, 217-18, 220, 224, 226; ser NEP; Rural development
- Second World War, 1, 6, 10-11, 17-19, 58, 88, 106, 116, 123, 137, 143, 149, 151; see Japanese Occupation
- Security, 79, 116-17, 130, 156, 159, 162, 164. 196; see Communist; Emergency; National security: Racial riots
- Seenivasagam, D. R., 201
- Seenivasagam, S. D., 201
- Self-government, 14, 17, 19, 49-50, 54-5. 59-60, 66, 81, 90-2, 94, 98, 105, 115-17, 130, 148, 165, 169, 192; see Democracy; Elections; Federation of Malaya; Malavan Union
- Selangor Malay Association, 48
- Senu bin Abdul Rahman, 48, 201

Sin Chew Jit Pao, 84

- Singapore: fall of, 19, 23; Federation, 152, 157, 160-1: see Alliance: Federation of Malaya; Malayan Union; Malays; Singapore Separation
- Singapore Alliance Party, 183

Singapore Federation of Trade Unions (SFTU). 60 Singapore Malay Union, 48 Singapore Separation: Agreement, 186: Bornean reactions to, 187-90; anatomy of, 100-1; see Singapore Sin-kheh, 5 Sino-Japanese War, 5-6, 18 Sino-Malay relations, 76-7, 82, 84, 111, 193, 208; see Chinese; Malays Socialism, 98, 162; see Communism; Labour Party of Malaya; PUTERA-AMCIA Socialist Front, 106: see Socialism Soekarno, 22, 188-0, 194: see Indonesian Confrontation Special Branch, 77, 79: see Communist: Emergency: Racial riots Special Training School (101 STS), 75; see Special Branch State Economic Development Corporation (SEDC), 227-8 Stephens, Donald A., 151, 161, 164-5, 168-9. 187-9 Stewart, Duncan, 142 Straits Chinese British Association (SCBA), 60: see Chinese Straits dollar, 24 Straits Legislative Council 10: see British-FMS: Straits Settlements: UFMS Straits Settlements, 6-11; see British; FMS; UFMS Subsistence farming, 121 Sultan Idris Training College (SITC), 105-6 Sultans, 1-2, 4, 22, 43-4, 118; see Conference of Rulers; Malays; Selfgovernment Sulus, 4, 16 Swettenham, Frank, 41 Syed Hussein Alatas, Professor, 197 Syed Jaafar Albar, 184 Syed Nasir bin Ismail, 195 TAHARUDDIN AHMAD, 20 Tan Bak Kim, 141 Tan, C. C., 83 Tan Chee Khoon, Dr. 197 Tan Cheng Lock, Dato Sir, 19, 60, 66, 82-4. 93, 109; see MCA; Malayan Union Tan Melaka, 76-7 Tan Siew Sin, 183, 193, 206, 216; see MCA; Federation of Malaya Tan. T. H., 115 Tariff Advisory Board, 161, 191; ser

Common market; Federation of Malava; Singapore Separation Tax. 167 Temenggong Ibrahim, 5 Templer, Sir Gerald, 80, 86, 91 Tenancy, 220; see Land Terrorism, 77, 79-81: see Communist MCP Thio Chan Bee, 151 Thuraisingham, E. E. C., 82-4, 91, 109-10, 317 Timber, 145, 167 Tin, 2-1, 5, 121, 158 Tobacco, 145 Toh Chin Chye, 157, 182, 186 Too Joon Hing, 81, 196 Tse Shuen Sung, 143 Tunku Abdul Rahman, 42, 81, 85, 93, 115, 118, 126, 152-3, 159-61, 170-2, 182-4, 186-8, 190-1, 193, 215-16, 224; see Alliance; Malayan Union; Malays; Singapore Separation; UMNO Tunku Yaacob ibni Al-Marhum Sultan Abdul Hamid Halim Shah, or Turnbull, Sir Roland, 150

- U THANT'S REPORT, 174
- Ulama, 4; see Islam; Religion
- Unemployment; 220-1; see Employment; Labour
- Unfederated Malay States, 10-11, 52, 105-6; see FMS; Straits Settlements
- Ungku Abdullah, 46
- Union of Malaya, 38; see Malayan Union
- United Chinese School Teachers Association, 111
- United Democratic Party (UDP), 184, 196-7
- United Front, 161, 163, 165
- United Malays National Organization (UMNO), vii, 46, 50-3, 58, 60-3, 64, 67, 81, 91-4, 97, 109, 113-15, 129, 183, 185, 191, 194-6, 200-1, 205-6; ret Allinace, Elections, Federation of Malaya; MCA; Malays; Party politics; Singapore Separation
- United Malaysian Chinese Organization (UMCO), 199
- United National Kadazan Organization (UNKO), 169

United Nations Charter, 49

United Party, 169

- United Pasok Momogun Kadazan Organization (UPKO), vii, 169, 187
- United Sabah National Organization

(USNO), vii, 169, 232 Urban Development Authority, 227-8 Utusan Melayu, 47, 82, 185

VEERAPAN, V., 197 Veto, 56; see Sultans Von Overbeck, Baron, 14

WADDELL, SIR ALEXANDER, 162 Wang Gungwu, Professor, 197 Warta Malaya, 177 Warta Negara, 47 Watanbe, 20 Watanbe, 20 Watanerston, Sir David, 165 Wazir, 4 Welfare association, 93 White, D. C., 162 Women's Federation, 60 Wong Lin Ken, 192 Wong Pow Nee, 165

Wu Teh-yau, Dr, 108; see Fenn-Wu Report Wu Tian Wang, 50

YANG ISP PARTUAN AGONG, 119-20, 128, 167, 170, 172-3, 195, 215, 223; Jer Malays Soltani Yang di-Pernan Besar, 119 Yang di-Pernan Negara, 137, 167, 182; see Yang di Apernan Negara, 137, 167, 182; see Yaoh Teck Chye, 197 Yochi Itagaki, 21 Yong Shook Lin, 8]

ZAINAL ABIDIN BIN AHMAD (ZA'BA), 47, 51, 83